

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2016

Socioeconomic Status Mobility and Lifetime Exposure to Discrimination on Cardiovascular Disease Events

Nkenge H. Jones-Jack *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the Epidemiology Commons, and the Quantitative, Qualitative, Comparative, and <u>Historical Methodologies Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Nkenge Jones-Jack

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Angela Prehn, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. JaMuir Robinson, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. John Oswald, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2016

Abstract

Socioeconomic Status Mobility and Lifetime Exposure to

Discrimination on Cardiovascular Disease Events

by

Nkenge Hawanya Jones-Jack

MPH, University of Alabama, Birmingham, 1997

BS, University of Alabama, Birmingham, 1994

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

August 2016

Abstract

Blacks in the United States have the highest rates of hypertension in the world, and their cardiovascular disease mortality rates are higher than for any other population group as a result of traditional risk factors such as obesity and stronger family history. However, additional underlying factors, such as social determinants of health (e.g., socioeconomic status [SES]) and macrosocial factors (e.g., racism), also correlate with adverse health outcomes. This study investigated whether the interaction between SES mobility over the lifecourse and lifetime racial discrimination influenced the extent to which hypertension contributed to the cardiovascular disease health disparities observed among Blacks in the Jackson Heart Study (JHS). Using a socioecological framework, cross-sectional data collected from the baseline period on a cohort of 5,302 JHS participants were analyzed with multiple regression techniques. The study findings indicated that SES mobility, as measured by education, predicted both the racial discrimination exposure and the burden that individuals experience. However, neither SES mobility nor racial discrimination had any effect in moderating the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease when examined individually or collectively. This study examined a new approach for measuring the influence of racial discrimination on health outcomes. Multidisciplinary public health and research partners should continue to advance understanding of the complex health impact of such experiences on individuals and the dynamics that create racial factors in order to effect social change.

Socioeconomic Status Mobility and Lifetime Exposure to

Discrimination on Cardiovascular Disease Events

by

Nkenge Hawanya Jones-Jack

MPH, University of Alabama, Birmingham, 1997

BS, University of Alabama, Birmingham, 1994

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

August 2016

Dedication

First and foremost, I give all the praise to my Lord and Savior because it is only through Him that all things are possible. This dissertation is dedicated to my incredible parents, Stanley and Catherine Jones, who taught me the importance of knowledge and hard work at an early age. You instilled the philosophy that knowing and doing "just enough to get by" was not enough; hence, my continued quest to learn. Thank you for always being my rock, knowing the heights to which I could soar, and giving me the greatest of opportunities. I especially dedicate my dissertation to my loving husband, Leonard Jack, Jr., and amazing children, Yahzarah and Koben Jack. You all have been on this journey with me daily, sacrificing countless hours of family time, and continuing to love, support, and tolerate me through all of my highs and lows along the way. To my husband, thank you for your tremendous patience and insightful understanding of what this process required. Your confidence in my ability and celebration of every milestone along the way reignited excitement to continue moving forward. To Yahzarah and Koben, the amount of love, encouragement, and patience you have given me has been incredible. From sitting with me while I work to making me smile, laugh, and feel lighthearted, in spite of myself, your love never fails. You have a very special way of giving me focus and purpose in all that I do. I hope that being a part of this journey with me has inspired you to know that you too can persevere through challenging tasks and accomplish marvelous things. Last, but certainly not least, I want to thank my brothers, Jawanza and Koro Jones, aunts, uncles, nieces, cousins, in-laws, church family, friends, and colleagues for their unwavering prayers, encouragement, and support.

Acknowledgments

As I reach this incredible milestone in my life, I would like to acknowledge the support of some incredible people in my life. First, I would like to first like to thank my dissertation committee Chair, Dr. Angela Witt Prehn, for her knowledge, time, support, and expertise in guiding me through this process. The impact that you have had on my life is surely to be realized for many years to come. Thank you to my remaining committee members, Dr. JaMuir Robinson and Dr. John Weiland Oswald, for your comments and support in further refining my research.

I would also like to thank the Jackson Heart Study (JHS) for use of their expansive dataset. Thank you to Dr. Mario Sims and Dr. DeMarc Hickson for their time in answering questions regarding JHS methodology and the development of an analysis plan that was best suited for my study. I would acknowledge Stanford Mwasongwe for creating my JHS data set.

A special thank you to my high school Advanced Placement English teacher, Linda Patterson, for teaching me the art of writing thoughtful, well-constructed, and grammatically correct papers. All of your red pen corrections were not in vain.

Finally, I would like to thank some special friends and colleagues who have continued to support me in various ways over the years, including: Kelli Pack Smith, Belinda Gaston, Dr. Tekeda Ferguson, Dr. Machell Town, Dr. Laurie Elam-Evans, Dr. Chinaro Kennedy Chukwu, Kartena Hall, Walter Sykes, Dr. Andrea Morris, and Dr. Sandra Hayes.

List of Tables vi
List of Figures viii
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study 1
Introduction1
Background
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses
Research Question 1
Research Question 2
Research Question 3
Research Question 4
Conceptual Framework
Nature of the Study
Operational Definitions of Key Terms15
Assumptions18
Limitations and Delimitations
Significance of the Study
Conclusions
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Introduction

Table of Contents

Overview of CVD Burden in the United States	
CVD Differences Between Blacks and Whites	27
Risk Factors Contributing to CVD Prevalence Differences by Race	
Social Determinants of Health and CVD Risk	48
The Influence of SES on Health Outcomes	49
The Meharry-Hopkins Cohort Study: Are Affluent Blacks Protected?	60
The Importance of Race	
The Connection between Racism and Health Disparities	69
Defining Racism	72
Racism: The Chronic Stressor	73
The Relevance of Racism to Health	76
Conceptual Framework	
CVD Burden in Mississippi	96
Review of the Jackson Health Study	
Overview of JHS study findings	
Research Gaps within JHS	104
Conclusions (Impact for Social Change)	104
Chapter 3: Research Method	106
Introduction	106
Research Design and Rationale	107
Research Questions	108
Methodology	115

Sampling Procedures	
Study Population	
Sample Size	
Study Instrument	121
Study Variables	124
Demographic Variables	
SES Variables	125
SES Mobility	
Discrimination Variables	
Cumulative Discrimination Exposure and Burden	135
Hypertension Variables	136
CVD Variables	136
Covariates	
Data Access	140
Data Analysis	141
Analysis for Research Questions 1 and 2	
Analysis for Research Questions 3 and 4	
Ethical Considerations	147
Summary	148
Chapter 4: Results	149
Introduction	149
Research Questions	

	Descriptive Statistics for Analysis Variables	154
	Participants	154
	Preliminary Analysis Procedures	164
	Preliminary Comparative Analyses	164
	Coding of Variables	173
	Assessing the Relationship Between Independent Variables and	
	Dependent Measures	174
	The Relationship Between SES Mobility and Exposure to Discrimination	
	(Research Question 1)	180
	The Relationship Between SES Mobility and Levels of Burden Due to	
	Exposure to Discrimination (Research Question 2)	183
	The Relationship Between Hypertension, SES Mobility, Levels of	
	Discrimination, Levels of Burden Due to Exposure to Discrimination,	
	and Cardiovascular Disease (Research Question 3)	186
	The Relationship Between Hypertension, SES-Racism, and Cardiovascular	
	Disease (Research Question 4)	189
	Summary of Findings	193
Ch	apter 5: Discussion	195
	Introduction	195
	Summary and Interpretation of the Findings	195
	Limitations of the Study	202
	Recommendations for Future Research	205

Implications for Social Change	209
Conclusions	212
References	214
Appendix A: JHS Eligibility Form	263
Appendix B: JHS Parental SES Form	272
Appendix C: JHS Personal Data/SES Form	278
Appendix D: JHS Sitting Blood Pressure Form	290
Appendix E: JHS Medication Survey Form	294
Appendix F: JHS Discrimination Form	310
Appendix G: JHS Mauscript Proposal Form	322
Appendix H: Reprint Permission from Annual Review of Public Health	336
Appendix I: Reprint Permission from Sage Publications	337

List of Tables

Table 1. Description of the Multilevels of Racism 71
Table 2. Description of JHSDIS Constructs 123
Table 3. Frequencies: Demographics of Study Participants 157
Table 4. Frequencies: Childhood Demographics for Education and Income $(n = 2590) 160$
Table 5. Frequencies: Covariates Used in the Analysis
Table 6. Frequencies: Descriptive and Comparative Analysis of Lifetime Racial
Discrimination
Table 7. Bivariate Regression Results for Lifestyle Behaviors, Risk Factors, Social
Stressors, and Exposure to Discrimination (N = 1963) 175
Table 8. Logistic Regression Results for Lifestyle Behaviors, Risk Factors, Social
Stressors, and Level of Burden Due to Lifetime Exposure to Racial Discrimination
(N = 1959)
Table 9. Logistic Regression Results for Demographic Factors, Lifestyle Behaviors, Risk
Factors, Social Stressors, and Likelihood of Having Cardiovascular Disease (N =
1963)
Table 10. Logistic Regression Results for SES Mobility and Lifetime Discrimination
Exposure (N = 2254)
Table 11. Logistic Regression Results for SES Mobility and Burden Levels ($N = 2551$)
Table 12. Binomial Logistic Regression - Cardiovascular Disease and Hypertension 187

- Table 15. Logistic Regression Results for SES-Racism Effect (Income), Hypertension,and Cardiovascular Disease (N = 2289)192

List of Figures

Figure 1. Causal pathway between Levels of SES Mobility and Levels of Cumulative
Perceived Lifetime Racial Discrimination moderated by Age and
Gender7
Figure 2. Causal pathway between Levels of SES Mobility and Levels of Burden
Attributed to Lifetime Racial Discrimination moderated by Age and
Gender9
Figure 3. Causal pathway between hypertension and CVD outcomes moderated by levels
of the SES mobility, perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, or
burden10
Figure 4. Causal pathway between hypertension and CVD outcomes moderated by the
SES-Racism Effect11
Figure 5. Macrosocial conditions, socioeconomic position, risk factors and CVD risk
historical, geographic, and life course context13
Figure 6. A framework for the study of racism and health
Figure 7. A bar graph showing the distribution of hypertension by gender and age170
Figure 8. A bar graph showing the distribution of CVD by gender and age170

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

Blacks in the United States are documented to have hypertension rates higher that any other population group (Flack, Ferdinand, & Nasser, 2003; Go et al., 2012; Kurian & Cardarelli, 2007; Quinones, Liang, & Ye, 2012; Williams, 2009). While there are numerous risk factors that have been examined and found to be correlated to hypertension, researchers have not been able to consistently justify why adverse CVD health outcomes occur among Blacks across the spectrum of many risk factors. A fundamental risk factor for overall health is socioeconomic status (SES); yet, Blacks in the United States at all levels of SES experience higher rates of CVD compared to their White counterparts. However, research investigating the role of macrosocial factors, such as racism, as an underlying cause of health disparities is immature (Gee & Ford, 2011; Gee, Walsemann, & Brondolo, 2012; Krieger, 2000; Shuey & Willson, 2008; Sims et al., 2012; Williams & Jackson, 2005; Williams & Mohammed, 2013).

This study was designed to assess the relationship between exposure to lifetime racial discrimination and changes in SES over the lifecourse, so as to provide new insight on why Blacks are more likely than Whites to have higher rates of hypertension and poor CVD outcomes. This chapter offers some background on the relevance of this study, explains the public health problem, states the research questions that the study will answer, the conceptual frameworks used to justify the study, and the how this study contributes to the field of public health.

Background

Socioeconomic status (SES) has been well-documented as a strong predictor of adverse cardiovascular health outcomes (Banks, Marmot, Oldfield, & Smith, 2006; Do & Finch, 2008; Lynch & Kaplan, 2000). SES is frequently based on several parameters beyond just income and education, and interacts with complex demographic, environmental, and social attributes which further contribute to adverse health outcomes (Wamala, Lynch, & Kaplan, 2001). Studies have historically found that lower SES during childhood typically remains consistent into adulthood (Corcoran, 1995; Hardaway & McLoyd, 2008; Johnson-Lawrence, Kaplan, & Galea, 2013; Kearney, 2006), and SES mobility strongly impacts health status in adulthood (Hardaway & McLoyd, 2008; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013). A recent study comparing the SES trajectories of adults from Alameda County, CA for nearly 30 years found that as SES improved, CVD mortality risk decreased, even after adjusting for age, race/ethnicity, marital status, and gender (Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013). However, Hardaway et al. (2008) argued that SES mobility studies have not adequately considered the significance of race. Furthermore, Mays et al. (2007) argued that even when adjusting for SES, Blacks suffer from excess overall death at a rate equivalent to 1.1 million years of life lost, or roughly 38,000 deaths per year. Hence, race should not be used as a proxy for SES (Jones, 2002; Kawachi et al., 2005).

Racism occurs at multiple levels and contributes to inequities in the allocation of services, goods, resources, and health outcomes (Jones, 2000). Some researchers argue that although social stressors (e.g., racism) are not responsible for lower SES, it has been

strongly suggested that the stressors associated with lower SES often directly or indirect influence health and well-being (Schulz et al., 2001; Thoits, 2010). Although all individuals' experiences are impacted on some level by stress, it could be argued that Blacks generally experience more stress and are more greatly impacted due to racial discrimination. It is important to note that Black-White differences in cardiovascular disease exist among Blacks across SES groups (Krieger et al., 2013; Williams & Jackson, 2005; Wyatt, Williams, et al., 2003).

Researchers have explored various approaches of how the stress associated with perceived racism may transcend multiple aspects of an individual's life. These aspects include:

- residentially segregated communities;
- stereotypical or derogatory media portrayals;
- level of control or flexibility at work;
- availability, quality, and affordability of resources and services; and
- understanding of cultural differences (Brondolo, Gallo, et al., 2009; Myers, 2008; Williams, Mohammed, Leavell, & Collins, 2010).

Of greater concern are the multiple pathways through which racism affects health (Brondolo, Gallo, et al., 2009). While several studies exploring SES mobility have similar findings, Hardaway et al. (2008) acknowledges the failure to understanding the consequences of racism on social mobility creates unique challenges for Blacks.

Problem Statement

Hypertension is considered to be the most important risk factor for CVD (Ferdinand & Sounders, 2006; Williams, 2009), and Blacks have the highest rates of hypertension in the world (Flack et al., 2003; Kurian & Cardarelli, 2007; Roger et al., 2010; Thomas, Thomas, Pearson, Klag, & Mead, 1997; Watson, 2008; Williams, 2009). Watson (2008) estimates that hypertension among Blacks may be correlated to CVD mortality rates that are 3-5 times greater than Whites. Blacks experience more CVD risk and burden as a result of traditional risk factors (e.g., higher rates of obesity, stronger family history); however, there are also additional underlying factors that contribute to this overwhelming disparity. Racial health disparities have long been suggested to be the result of differences in socioeconomic status (SES) indicators (e.g., education, income) (Farmer & Ferraro, 2005; Laveist, Thorpe, Galarraga, Bower, & Gary-Webb, 2009; Wang & Chen, 2011; Williams & Jackson, 2005; Williams, 2012). More specifically, life-long changes in SES such as SES mobility have been identified as a pathway linking lifecourse SES with CVD outcomes (Hogberg, Cnattingius, Lundholm, Sparen, & Iliadou, 2011; James et al., 2006; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Pensola, 2003; Pollitt, Rose, & Kaufman, 2005). Race combined with income gradient is a strong predictor in determining housing conditions, neighborhood characteristics, quality of education, purchasing power, social class, and political influence (Dupre, 2008; Jones, 2000; PolicyLink, 2007; Subramanian et al., 2005; Weden et al., 2008).

Sentinel research also suggests that the negative impact of social stressors (i.e., racism) that Blacks have experienced over generations is associated with higher levels of

resting blood pressure (Clark, Anderson, Clark, & Williams, 1999; Harrell, Hall, & Taliaferro, 2003; James et al., 2006; Mays et al., 2007). However, there is limited research that explores the pathway by which the combination of SES and racism impact CVD outcomes.

In order to address the burden of CVD among Blacks, it is important to further investigate the underlying causes. This study examined data from a cohort of more than 5,000 Blacks enrolled in the Jackson Heart Study (JHS). It was specifically designed to explore potential interactions between the levels of SES and levels of racism (i.e., SES-Racism Effect), and how the multiple effects of these interactions moderate the relationship between hypertension and CVD outcomes among a population of Blacks in Jackson, MS. Mississippi has the highest prevalence of CVD in the nation (CDC, 2013a), and overall CVD mortality rates that far exceed the U.S. rates of CVD mortality (Taylor, 2005). In addition, Mississippi has the largest proportion (36%) of Blacks in the United States (Taylor, 2003).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to demonstrate whether or not racism contributes to the CVD health disparities observed among Blacks in the Jackson Heart Study (JHS), and to what extent. More specifically, this study investigated how Blacks in the JHS cohort experience racism at different levels of SES mobility, and how the interaction between SES mobility and racism (SES-Racism Effect) influences the extent to which hypertension leads to CVD outcomes observed among participants in the JHS. Quantitative analysis of this secondary dataset was conducted to first determine whether a relationship between levels of perceived racial discrimination over the lifecourse and SES mobility exists. Using secondary data from the Jackson Heart Study provided a unique opportunity to examine the interaction between social, racial, psychological, and environmental factors in combination with traditional and nontraditional biological data. The methods used in this study emphasize that social influences on health and environmental context are unavoidably linked to individual health risk.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The research questions in this study examined the relationship between SES mobility and discrimination attributed to race, and if these constructs moderated the relationship between hypertension and CVD. Hypotheses were identified to empirically test each research questions as follows:

Research Question 1

What is the relationship between levels of SES mobility, as measured by the change in SES from childhood to adulthood, and levels of lifetime racial discrimination, as measured by the occurrence of cumulative perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race?

Hypothesis 1: Increasing levels of SES mobility are associated with decreasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race after adjusting for the following covariates, identified based on previous studies and determined to have a statistical association (p<0.20) in the current sample: BMI (kg/m²⁾, smoking status, physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol

consumption, diet, total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and John Henryism, financial adversity/stress, and job strain.

 Null Hypothesis 1: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure was attributed to race after adjusting for identified covariates.

If an association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race was identified, the following subhypotheses were also tested (Figure 1):

Hypothesis 1b: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race was inversely moderated by age. Null Hypothesis 1b: There are no statistically significant differences in the association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race when moderated by age.

Hypothesis 1c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race was more strongly moderated by males than females.

Null Hypothesis 1c: There are no statistically significant differences in the association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race when moderated by males than females.



Figure 1. Causal pathway between Levels of SES Mobility and Levels of Perceived Lifetime Racial Discrimination moderated by Age and Gender.

Research Question 2

What is the relationship between levels of SES mobility, as measured by the change in SES from childhood to adulthood, and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination, as measured by the extent of life stressfulness, difficulty, and productivity as a result of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race?

Hypothesis 2: Increasing levels of SES mobility are associated with decreasing levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination after adjusting for the following covariates, identified based on previous studies and determined to have a statistical association (p<0.20) in the current sample: BMI (kg/m²), smoking status, physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol consumption, diet, total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and John Henryism, financial adversity/stress, and job strain.

• Null Hypothesis 2: There are no statistically significant associations between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination after adjusting for identified covariates.

If an association between levels of SES mobility and levels burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination was identified, the following subhypotheses were also tested (Figure 2):

- Hypothesis 2b: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race was inversely moderated by age.
- Null Hypothesis 2b: There are no statistically significant differences in the association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination when moderated by age.
- Hypothesis 2c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race was higher in males than females.
- Null Hypothesis 2c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination was moderated by gender.



Figure 2. Causal pathway between Levels of SES Mobility and Levels of Burden Attributed to Lifetime Racial Discrimination moderated by Age and Gender.

Research Question 3

Do the levels of SES mobility, perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, or burden moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease (Figure 3)?

- Hypothesis 3: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was inversely moderated by increasing levels of SES mobility.
- Null Hypothesis 3: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was not moderated by increasing levels of SES mobility.
- Hypothesis 3b: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was positively moderated by increasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race.
- Null Hypothesis 3b: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was not moderated by increasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race.
- Hypothesis 3c: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was positively moderated by increasing levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination.

 Null Hypothesis 3c: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was not moderated by increasing levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination.



Figure 3. Causal pathway between hypertension and CVD outcomes moderated by levels of the SES mobility, perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, or burden.

Research Question 4

If a relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race is found (i.e., SES-Racism Effect), does the SES-Racism Effect moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease?

- Hypothesis 4: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was positively moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.
- Null Hypothesis 4: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was not moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.



Figure 4. Causal pathway between hypertension and CVD outcomes moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.

Conceptual Framework

The investigation of social determinants (e.g., SES) encourages more in-depth understanding of how and why some individual-level risk factors (e.g., obesity, smoking, physical inactivity) affect some populations in greater proportion. By definition, SES is an influential determinant as it impacts the context of one's surroundings and availability of resources (Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013). Changes in SES over the lifecourse can either facilitate or inhibit health-promoting practices during critical life periods, such as during childhood or later life (Hardaway & McLoyd, 2008; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Pollitt et al., 2005). Moreover, macrosocial factors contribute to the establishment of policies, practices, and social norms that have been directly and indirectly associated with adverse health outcomes (Ahmed, Mohammed, & Williams, 2007; Brondolo, Gallo, & Myers, 2009; Thoits, 2010; Wise, Jhally, Young, Rabinovitz, & Media Education Foundation, 2008). For example, racism is hypothesized to be an underlying cause of health disparities because it is associated with the unequal distribution of privileges, resources, and power (Brondolo, Gallo, & Myers, 2009; Jones, 2002). A host of theoretical frameworks have been proposed to explore the racism-health dynamic (Ahmed et al., 2007; Clark, Anderson, Clark, & Williams, 1999; Myers, 2008; Williams & Mohammed, 2013); however, research that actually demonstrates the processes for how racism and health are related is still in its infancy (Brondolo, Gallo, et al., 2009).

To further examine the relationship between racial discrimination and poor health, this research study was guided by the combination of two theoretical frameworks that illustrate multiple pathways by which social determinants, specifically exposure to racism, lead to adverse health outcomes. Figure 5 examines the interconnected pathway by which macrosocial factors, such as racial discrimination, influence both socioeconomic position and risk factors to determine CVD outcomes inclusive of life course, historical, and geographic context (Harper, Lynch, & Smith, 2011). Figure 6 illustrates racism as a basic cause of health outcomes, which manifest through a pathway of proximal causes over time (Williams & Mohammed, 2013). This framework also acknowledges that there are social inequities occurring at each stage of the process that determine an individual's health response. The first framework implies that socioeconomic position determines the prevalence of risk factors, and therefore extent of CVD in a population; yet, the second framework expands this concept by illustrating the steps by which a macrosocial factor (i.e., racism) influences the multiple risk factors that cause adverse health outcomes over time. The rationale for the selected frameworks and a more in depth examination of these constructs is presented in the next chapter.



Figure 5. Macrosocial conditions, socioeconomic position, risk factors and CVD risk historical, geographic, and life course context. From "Social Determinants and the Decline of Cardiovascular Diseases: Understanding the Links," by Harper et al., 2011, *Annual Review of Public Health*, 32(1), p. 40. Reprinted with permission requested from *Annual Reviews of Public Health*. The model implies that the prevalence of risk factors establishes the level of CVD in a population (arrow 1), these risk factors are influenced by both the extent of macrosocial factors (arrow 2) and socioeconomic position (arrow 3), socioeconomic position is determined by macrosocial conditions (arrow 4), and all of these constructs are dynamically connected and embedded in multiple environments.



Figure 6. A framework for the study of racism and health. From "Racism and Health I:

Pathways and Scientific Evidence," by Williams and Mohammed, 2013, *American Behavioral Scientist*, 57(8), p. 1157. Reprinted with permission from Sage Journals.

Nature of the Study

This research study was based on a cross-sectional analysis of data extracted from the Exam 1 period (2004) of the Jackson Heart Study (JHS) to examine the causal pathway by which racial discrimination impacts CVD. The JHS has collected data on constructs used to measure racial discrimination in the domains of everyday experiences, major life events (lifetime), burden of discrimination, and the effect of skin color (Payne et al., 2005; Sims et al., 2012). SES mobility was calculated using variables to define the change in SES from childhood to adulthood. To understand this pathway, the presence of a SES-Racism Effect was examined by understanding the relationship between SES mobility and perceived lifetime racism; examining how levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime racism independently affect the association between hypertension and CVD; and understanding whether the SES-Racism Effect (e.g., low, high) modified the association between hypertension and CVD outcomes.

Access to JHS data was granted based on a research proposal that I submitted and which was approved by JHS faculty. The JHS research proposal described the study and the variables needed for analysis, from which a study specific dataset was created.

Operational Definitions of Key Terms

The key terms used throughout this study were based on variables derived from JHS data collection forms. Some variables are calculated variables that were defined by JHS researchers, while others were recoded for the purpose of this research based on cutpoints identified in the literature.

Body mass index (BMI): A calculated measure using an individual's height and weight to assess overweight/obesity status and health risk (CDC, 2011a).

Burden of lifetime racial discrimination: A calculated variable based on three JHS measures of stressfulness due to discrimination attributed to race (Sims, et al., 2012).

Cardiovascular Disease: A term used to represent a wide range of conditions categorized by the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision [ICD-10] codes, including heart attack, stroke, and coronary heart disease (CHD; Go et al., 2012).

Cumulative discrimination: A calculated measure that combines the frequency of discrimination exposure and burden to determine its overall impact.

Exposure to lifetime racial discrimination: A factor measured by JHS as a composite of exposure to discrimination attributed to race occurring across different domains throughout an individual's lifetime (Sims et al., 2012).

Health disparities: Described as both inequality and inequity in access to, utilization of, and quality of care and/or services, as well as the environments, that affect the health status or health outcomes of individuals and populations (Carter-Pokras & Baquet, 2002). CDC (2014) defines health disparities as a health differences among populations groups that experience greater systematic social and economic disadvantages as a result of historical and discriminatory barriers.

Hypertension (HTN): This study used JHS' definition of a systolic blood pressure of 140mmHg or greater, and diastolic blood pressure was 90mmHg or greater (Sims et al,

2012). JHS participants taking antihypertensive medications were also identified as hypertensive.

John Henryism: An individual with a strong behavioral tendency or drive to meet environmental or occupational demands through hard work and determination as a strategy for coping with difficult social and economic stress (Payne et al., 2005; Subramanyam et al., 2013).

Parental education attainment: Assessed in the JHS as a self-reported measurement of the highest level of school completed by each parent (Parental Socioeconomic Status Form, 2001).

Perceived racial discrimination: The perception that certain racial/ethnic populations experience differential or negative attitudes, judgment, or unfair treatment compared to a other racial/ethnic groups (Clark et al., 1999; Pascoe & Smart Richman, 2009; Williams, Neighbors, & Jackson, 2003).

Physical Activity: In the context of this study, measured as any physical movement (e.g., walking, biking, gardening, dancing) performed on most days during a week over an extended period of time (NIH, 2011).

Racism: A systematic or institutional belief that members of a certain racial/ethnic population have abilities, characteristics, or qualities that are inferior to other racial groups, which may be used to oppress or maintain power over that population (Hoyt, 2012; Jones, 2000).

Risk Factors: Individual characteristics (such as age, gender, and race) or the behaviors (poor dietary practices, tobacco use, and physical inactivity) that may contribute to adverse health outcomes (CDC, 2007).

Socioeconomic status: A demographic variable that is a composite of social (i.e., education), economic (i.e., income), and work status (i.e., employment) indicators; indicators which are independent of one another, but often related (CDC, 2014).

SES mobility: Changes in the upward or downward trajectory of an individual's socioeconomic status measured between childhood and adulthood (Pollitt et al., 2005).

Social determinants of health: The social, economic, political conditions that shape an individual's health, as well as the systems available to prevent and manage health outcomes (CDC, 2014; Wilcox, 2007).

Assumptions

As in any research study, certain assumptions about the population, the data, or other aspects of the study are essential. I assumed that JHS participants are comfortable self-reporting data related to sensitive topics, such as racial discrimination, without bias. The JHS is the largest single site study focusing on the CVD outcomes and associated risk factors among Blacks (Taylor, 2003, 2005a). Moreover, the JHS was methodologically modeled after the larger multisite Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study, and roughly one-third of its original cohort has participated in the JHS (Wyatt, Diekelmann, et al., 2003). The ARIC study, initiated in 1987, was instrumental in providing extensive data that observed CVD differences between Whites and Blacks regarding physical, behavioral, and environmental indicators. The large number of Blacks that participated in the ARIC, including the entirely Black Jackson, MS cohort, served as a springboard for continued study of CVD outcomes. Therefore, the JHS is a uniquely stable population from which health data has been gathered for an extended time period.

For the purposes of this study, I assumed that all individuals living in Jackson, MS have comparable contextual beliefs, as well as generational and historical context, about how discrimination attributed to race is defined and perceived. Discrimination attributed to race was presumed to be synonymous with racism. Because all participants are confined to a single geographic area, I assumed that all participants have had the same opportunities over their lifecourse to be exposed to racial discrimination. I also assumed that the change in SES from childhood to adulthood is an accurate measure of SES mobility; and there are no significant fluctuations in between these two measurement periods, particularly given that only measure of SES can be captured from each time period.

Limitations and Delimitations

As with any research study, there are limitations in the strength of the study and its findings. First, this study is based on the analysis of secondary data; therefore, the use of fixed survey questions limits the specificity of the data. The data ascertained are related to discrimination attributed to race, and do not entirely encompass the definition of racism. Secondly, a cause-effect relationship cannot be demonstrated using this correlational study to assess how the relationship between hypertension and CVD over the lifecourse is moderated by racial discrimination and SES. Finally, the study measures only Blacks located in the metro Jackson, MS area, and any findings are not generalizable to geographic areas or other racial/ethnic populations that may experience racial discrimination. These limitations provide justification for further research to be conducted in a wider population, additional geographic locations, and using more specific methodologies.

Significance of the Study

The central goal of public health is the prevention of disease and improvement of overall health. Some of the milestones by which public health success was initially measured included the institution of sanitation services, the identification of penicillin, and the development of vaccines to eliminate many common infectious diseases (CDC, 2013b). In more recent years, key public health improvements have also included policies to reduce tobacco exposure and the reduction of heart disease and stroke deaths (CDC, 2013b). While all of these improvements have culminated in longer life expectancies and improved quality of life, macrosocial factors (e.g., SES mobility, racial discrimination) have historically diminished the potential for optimal health outcomes among Blacks. For example, the consequence of poor SES mobility among Blacks has been extensive multilevel deprivation that inhibits ability to adequately practice healthy behaviors. In addition, the social trauma of racial discrimination that Blacks experience over their lifecourse is multilevel deprivation in and of itself.

This study offers an opportunity to increase awareness concerning the long-term effects of perceived racial discrimination, even in subtle forms. Improving understanding of how lifetime racial discrimination may be directly or indirectly related to adverse CVD outcomes can serve as a platform to diminish or alleviate the environmental and social injustices experienced by Blacks in Jackson, MS. While racial discrimination is often based on the vantage point of the individual(s) often discrimination against, improvements in health disparities will depend upon all individuals being amendable to changing social norms. Creating equity regarding macrosocial issues may be a catalyst for eliminating CVD health disparities.

Conclusions

CVD is a major cause of morbidity and mortality among Blacks. Furthermore, the rates of hypertension in Mississippi have consistently been among the highest in the nation. This study explored how Blacks perceived their exposure to racial discrimination and the burden it has on them over their lifecourse, whether exposure and burden differ based on levels of SES mobility, and the association that both have the rates of hypertension and CVD outcomes among Blacks in Jackson, MS. In Chapter 2, the impact of social and economic well-being over the lifecourse (i.e., SES mobility) and racial discrimination on health outcomes was examined; thereby, identifying research gaps in understanding Black-White differences in CVD health outcomes and evidence to support continued investigation. Findings from this study provide further understanding to how racial discrimination contributes to poor health outcomes, and provide evidence for needed changes in policies, practices, infrastructure, and/or social norms in order to improve the racial disparities that exist for CVD and other diseases.
Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Blacks experience hypertension at higher rates than any other racial/ethnic population (Go et al., 2014; Howard et al., 2011; Mozaffarian et al., 2015; Quinones et al., 2012). Several studies have been conducted to investigate the role of traditional risk factors on hypertension prevalence among Blacks, such as:

- SES (Allen, McNeely, Waldstein, Evans, & Zonderman, 2014; Conroy, Sandel, & Zuckerman, 2010; Phelan, Link, & Tehranifar, 2010; Quinones et al., 2012),
- level of education (Non, Gravlee, & Mulligan, 2012; Subramanyam et al., 2013), and
- physical activity patterns (Bell, Lutsey, Windham, & Folsom, 2013; Bostean et al., 2013; Howard et al., 2011; Sallis, Floyd, Rodriguez, & Saelens, 2012).

Although these risk factors generally support a positive association with hypertension among Blacks when compared to White populations, the study findings have often failed to produce consistent, straightforward results that explain why health disparities exist between the two groups. Researchers have begun to speculate that socially-mediated factors, such as racism, may be the root cause of health disparities (Gee & Ford, 2011; Gee et al., 2012; Sims et al., 2012; Williams & Mohammed, 2013; Williams & Sternthal, 2010).

This chapter presents a review of the literature focusing on the potential connections between race, racism, socioeconomic status mobility (SES mobility), and hypertension by examining these variables, as well as the larger issues related to health

disparities between races, what is known about cardiovascular disease, and how the Jackson Heart Study was used as a basis for this research. Prior knowledge of seminal research in the field of social determinants of health and health disparities provided a list of keywords that were used to initiate the research found within this chapter. Synonyms and alternative terms were also used to thoroughly assess the literature. Electronic databases, including ProQuest, PubMed, Google Scholar, and EBSCO Host, were used to identify published research based on the following terms or phases: *cardiovascular disease (CVD) among Blacks/African Americans, differences in hypertension prevalence between Blacks and Whites, CVD risk factors and health disparities, social determinants of health and CVD, SES and hypertension, racism and hypertension, racism and cardiovascular disease, racism and health disparities. SES mobility and health. SES mobility and CVD, SES mobility and racism, racism as a chronic stressor on health,* and the Jackson Heart Study.

The preliminary literature review was limited to peer review journal articles, books, internet-based resources, and presentations published between 2010 and 2016. However, publications from earlier time periods that were regularly found in the reference list were also reviewed for inclusion as historical context to justify the research. The search outcomes were carefully evaluated for incorporation into the literature review based on their relevance to the research project, ability to support the importance of the research, or identify gaps for continued investigation.

This literature review presents relevant contextual information to guide a study on the relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime racism, and whether or not the interaction of these two constructs impact the relationship between hypertension and CVD. In this chapter, I provide an overview of research on the burden of cardiovascular disease in the United States, the Black-White differences in CVD health outcomes and risk factors, and the rationale for the inclusion of social constructs (i.e., racism and SES mobility) as contributing to health disparities. A review of prior research was conducted to assess the multiple factors that influence racial disparities in CVD outcomes, as well as justification to support racial discrimination and SES mobility as having an important role in the health outcomes of Blacks.

This section includes a discussion of how racism is defined and provides evidence for the presence and magnitude of racial discrimination across multiple domains. Research also reflects the relevance of SES mobility as a function of CVD risk, and how the trajectory of SES measures may be correlated to sociocultural norms (e.g., racism). This chapter concludes with a summary of studies that have been conducted using data from the Jackson Heart Study to investigate the prevalence of racism, and its impact on hypertension, among Blacks in the Jackson metro area of Mississippi.

Overview of CVD Burden in the United States

CVD is a term used to represent a wide range of conditions categorized by the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision [ICD-10] codes. For the purposes of this research, CVD was defined primarily as heart attack, stroke, and coronary heart disease (CHD). With the exception of the influenza pandemic of 1918, CVD has consistently prevailed as the leading cause of death since 1900 (Go et al., 2014; Mozaffarian et al., 2015; Roger et al., 2012). CVD has had consistently high prevalence in the United States; almost one in three Americans will be diagnosed with cardiovascular disease in their lifetime (Go et al., 2014; Mozaffarian et al., 2015; Roger et al., 2012). Despite the high prevalence, since 1950, CVage-adjusted mortality rates in the United States have declined approximately 60%, a public health accomplishment acclaimed as one of the most notable of the 20th century (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 1999; Kramer, Valderrama, & Casper, 2015). According to the most recent estimates, the 2013 overall death rate from CVD was 222.9 per 100,000, which is a decline of 28.8% since 2003 (Mozaffarian et al., 2015).

Despite these gains, CVD continues to rank as the leading cause of death in the United States. In 2013, more than 2,200 deaths per day were attributed to CVD in the United States alone, approximately one death every 40 seconds (Mozaffarian et al., 2015). However, this estimate varies significantly by demographic factors. The 2013 mortality data documented more CVD deaths among males (269.8 per 100,000) compared to females (184.8 per 100,000) for the first time since 1983 (Mozaffarian et al., 2015). Furthermore, an estimated 43.9% of all Americans will have at least one type of CVD by 2030 (Mozaffarian et al., 2015), which indicates the possibility that the prevalence of CVD is rising. This is due largely to lifestyle factors such as poor nutrition and inadequate physical activity which increases individuals' risk at younger ages (Go et al., 2014; Mozaffarian et al., 2015).

Although CVD may affect individuals of all age, racial/ethnic, sociodemographic, and geographic populations, researchers agree that age is the most influential predictor of CVD risk (Kramer et al., 2015; Quinones et al., 2012; Roger et al., 2011). A cross-section of the 2007-2010 NHANES population indicated that the prevalence of CVD increased exponentially with age. Adults between the ages of 20-39 had prevalence rates below 15%, with more than a two-fold higher prevalence (nearly 40%) observed for adults between the ages of 40-59 (Go et al., 2012). Go et al. (2012) further documented that this pattern continues for adults 60-79, and at least 80 years of age (more than 70% and 80%, respectively).

Data gathered by the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI) from 1980 to 2003 also shows an increasing CVD incidence and prevalence across the life course. NHLBI documented that men experience their first cardiovascular event at an average rate of 3 per 1000 among men aged 35 to 44, which escalates to a rate of 74 per 1000 among men aged 85 to 94 (Go et al., 2014). Whereas the first cardiovascular event for women typically occurs 7-10 years later than males of comparable age groups (Go et al., 2014; Maas et al., 2011), the CVD incidence rates of males and females are more similar in later life (Go et al., 2014; Kramer et al., 2015; Maas et al., 2011). However, Maas et al. (2011) argued that although men and women share similar risk factors, there are gender-specific differences in the attention given to these risk factors that may attribute to an underestimate of CVD rates in women.

A comparison of NHANES data (1988-1994 vs. 1999-2004) showed that the prevalence of CVD among women aged 35-54 has increased as men of similar age have decreased (Maas et al., 2011). The correlation between age and risk of CVD is particularly concerning given that *Baby Boomers* (adults born between 1946 and 1964) are reaching the age of high risk and comprise roughly one-fourth of the U.S. population

(King, Matheson, Chirina, Shankar, & Broman-Fulks, 2013). In an analysis comparing NHANES data from 1988-1994 to 2007 and 2010 (i.e., previous generation to baby boomers, respectively), King et al. (2013) found the Baby Boomer generation to be less healthy than the previous generation, largely due to increased rates of hypertension, diabetes, obesity, and elevated cholesterol levels. This large segment of the U.S. population may strain the health care system and its resources as they access care for a host of conditions, including CVD (King et al., 2013). In addition, the baby boomer generation itself is likely to have disparities in CVD outcomes when the group's racial differences are explored similar to other population subgroups.

Although attention has been paid to the correlation between age and CVD, less exploration has been conducted into the disproportionate rate of CVD burden repeatedly documented among specific racial/ethnic populations (e.g., Blacks); this difference warrants immediate attention (Go et al., 2012; Jolly, Vittinghoff, Chattopadhyay, & Bibbins-Domingo, 2010). The disparity between races has implications for both prevention and treatment of CVD, but first, the potential sources of the differences must be explored.

CVD Differences Between Blacks and Whites

Since the mid-1980s, efforts have been made to address the sizeable gaps and persistent inequalities in health status and life expectancy that exist between Whites and other racial/ethnic populations in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 2012; Kochanek et al., 2013; Kramer et al., 2015; Safford et al, 2012). A 1986 study released by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services noted that CVD accounted for 24% of excess deaths among Black males and 41% among females; these rates were 30% and 18% higher than their White counterparts, respectively (Wyatt, Williams, et al., 2003). In 2010, over two decades later, more than one-fourth of the racial gap in life expectancy due to CVD mortality remained (Kramer et al., 2015).

Despite the substantial decline in CVD mortality rates during the last several decades in the overall population and national efforts to improve racial/ethnic health disparities, significant disparities in CVD mortality rates between Blacks and Whites remain (Bostean et al., 2013; Kramer et al., 2015; Safford et al., 2012). In 1950, the difference in the age-adjusted death rate between Blacks and Whites was 1.9 (586.7 compared to 584.8, respectively; Williams & Jackson, 2005). The stark black-white gap of 71.4 (324.8 compared to 253.4, respectively) has decreased since 2000 (Williams & Jackson, 2005) to 23.6 in 2009 (141.3 compared to 117.7, respectively; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013). While prevention efforts are reaching their intended target audiences, the magnitude of the reach continues to not uniformly be observed.

Researchers agree that racial disparities are better illustrated by race-sex differences (Go et al., 2012, 2014; Kochanek et al., 2013; Kramer et al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2015). The National Health and Nutrition Education Survey (NHANES) estimated 2010 prevalence rates for CVD at 36.6% and 32.4% for White males and females, respectively, compared to 44.4% and 48.9% for their Black counterparts (Go et al., 2012). In 2013, the overall mortality rates from CVD for White males were reported at 270.6 per 100,000, but 356.7 per 100,000 among Black males

(Mozaffarian et al., 2015). Although CVD death rates are lower among women, a wide gap still exists between races. In 2013, White females had an annual CVD death rate of 183.8 per 100,000 persons compared to Black females at 246.6 (Mozaffarian et al., 2015). The disparities Blacks experience are displayed not only as higher CVD mortality rates, but also as higher incidence of first cardiovascular event occurring at younger ages.

While CVD mortality rates are higher among Blacks than any other population group, some have suggested that the age of disease onset creates black-white differences in CVD prevalence and mortality that are even more alarming (Jolly et al., 2010; Kramer et al., 2015). In a cross-sectional study of NHANES survey data between 1996 and 2006, Jolly et al. (2010) observed significant differences between Blacks and Whites when prevalence ratios are stratified by age group. Blacks under the age of 44 were twice as likely to have a cardiovascular event compared to their White counterparts, with differences gradually diminishing as age increased (Jolly et al., 2010). Jolly et al. (2010) found similar patterns for black-white differences for all cardiovascular-related disease conditions (e.g., heart failure, stroke, myocardial infarction)., Jolly et al. (2010) posited that differences in prevalence ratios by age group remained even after controlling for CVD risk factors, comorbidities, socioeconomic factors, and access to health care.

Kramer et al. (2015) observed similar differences in age-specific heart disease mortality rates from 2008-2010 comparing race-sex groups across the lifestage. Black males and females aged 35-39 were more than twice as likely to experience premature death due to heart disease than their White counterparts (50.3 and 24.5 per 100,000 vs. 22.5 and 9.5 per 100,000, respectively), a disportionate trend was found to continue across the lifestage until 65 to 69 years of age (Kramer et al., 2015). In fact, blacks males are reported to have the lowest life expectancy and highest rates of mortality when compared to other race-sex groups across the United States (Chae, Lincoln, Adler, & Syme, 2010; Kochanek et al., 2013; Kramer et al., 2015). Hence, there are possibly environmental factors (e.g. community-level inequities) or social norms (e.g. racism) that strongly influence the observed differences between these racial groups.

Researchers have also investigated differences in the mortality rates of specific CVD-related conditions (i.e., coronary heart disease (CHD), stroke, heart attack). In 2011, the stroke death rate among Black males and females (55.3 and 47.0 per 100,000, respectively) far exceed the overall rate of 37.9 per 100,000 (Mozaffarian et al., 2015). The excess burden of death from stroke has been observed in Blacks 45 to 74 years of age, indicating a relative risk 47% greater than that of Whites at comparable ages (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013). Ford (2011) investigated trends in CVD mortality rates among people with and without hypertension. Data from NHANES I (1971-1992) and NHANES III (1988-2006) indicated continuing disparities between Blacks and Whites (Ford, 2011). Data show that the CVD mortality rates among Blacks exceeded Whites in both cohorts among individuals with (NHANES I: 13.3 versus 9.3 per 1000 person-years; NHANES III: 8.1 versus 6.2 per 1000 person-years) and without hypertension (NHANES I: 7.2 versus 5.5 per 1000 person-years; NHANES III: 4.5 versus 3.0 per 1000 person-years; (Ford, 2011). The mortality rate over the course of the two cohort periods reduced by 3.1 per 1000 among Whites, and 5.2 per 1000 among Blacks; therefore, the mortality gap between the population groups was estimated to have

shrunk from 4.0 per 1000 person-years to 1.9 per 1000 person-years (Ford, 2011). Despite this shrinking gap, CVD remains a major public health concern among Blacks for numerous reasons. Although Blacks (excluding recent immigrants) comprise substantially less of the population compared to Whites (13.1% vs. 77.9%, respectively; U.S. Census Bureau, 2014), they experience disproportionately higher rates of chronic disease risk factors, inadequate access to health care and resources, and have a life expectancy approximately three years less than their White counterparts (Mozaffarian et al., 2015; Office of Minority Health & Health Equity (OMHHE), 2014).

Risk Factors Contributing to CVD Prevalence Differences by Race

CVD is a complex disease with multiple risk factors, both traditional and nontraditional. Nontraditional risk factors often reflect social phenomena, which are outside of an individual's control. Researchers agree that traditional risk factors are commonly observed as contributors to elevated CVD risk include obesity, physical inactivity, family history, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes (Bauer, Briss, Goodman, & Bowman, 2014; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013; Djoussé et al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2015; Sallis et al., 2012). The racial differences in the prevalence of these risk factors have been widely explored, and research suggests that some risk factors occur more frequently among Black populations (Djoussé et al., 2015; Holmes, Hossain, Ward, & Opara, 2013; Quinones et al., 2012; Thacker et al., 2014).

Obesity and physical inactivity. Multiple studies have been conducted to assess racial differences in CVD risk factors, such as obesity and physical inactivity. Overall,

Blacks are more likely to experience a higher prevalence of obesity and physical inactivity than their White counterparts.

Ogden, Carroll, Kit, & Flegal (2014) reported NHANES prevalence estimates for 2011-2012 indicating that Blacks were more likely to be obese (47.8%) compared to Whites (32.6%). Researchers generally agree that Black women have a higher rates of corpulence than their male counterparts (Flegal, 2012; National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), 2012; Ogden et al., 2014, 2014; Romero, Romero, Shlay, Ogden, & Dabelea, 2012; Schiller, Lucas, Ward, & Peregoy, 2012). Data reported from NHANES 2011-2012 show age-adjusted obesity prevalence estimates at 29.2% for Black women and 15.9% for Black men, compared to 15.3% for White women and 11.2% for White men. Fakhouri, Ogden, Carroll, Kit, & Flegal (2012) found the highest rates of obesity occur among Black women aged 65 and older. Data analyzed from the NHANES, 2007-2010, indicated that 53.9% (aged 65-74) and 49.4% (aged 75 and older) of Black women were obese, compared to 38.9% and 27.5% of White women, respectively; however, obesity rates among men were lower and no significant differences were observed between racial groups. Obesity rates by race and sex seem to follow similar trends as the two risk factors are often strongly correlated (Burke & Heiland, 2011; National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), 2012; Schiller et al., 2012). The elevated obesity rates observed among Blacks are proposed to account for at least 30% of the black-white gap in life expectancy (Krueger & Reither, 2015); however, data from the Southern Community Cohort Study (2002-2009) found BMI >40 to be more strongly associated with excess CVD mortality among White males and females, HR=2.10, 95% CI [1.15,

3.83] and HR=2.62, 95% CI [1.41, 4.87], respectively, than their Black counterparts, HR=1.40, 95% CI [0.92, 2.14] and HR=1.17, 95% CI [0.78, 1.75] (Cohen et al., 2012). This suggests that the impact of the Black-White difference in obesity observed across studies is inconsistent; therefore, other factors (e.g. age, education, SES, community-level factors, social norms, and public policies) may need to be considered in conjunction with obesity to understand its impact on CVD health disparities.

Additionally, researchers contend that the higher overall prevalence of obesity among Blacks may be linked to environmental and social factors more than level of education or income (Bower et al., 2015; Kirby, Liang, Chen, & Wang, 2012; Thorpe, Bell, et al., 2015; Thorpe, Kelley, et al., 2015). Specifically, residential environment has been found to be positively correlated with obesity risk. Bower et. al (2015) found Black women to have a 1.06 times greater risk of obesity for every one-point increase in the degree to which Blacks are isolated from Whites. While disparities in obesity rates between Black and White men are not consistently exhibited (Burke & Heiland, 2011), Thorpe et al. (2015) demonstrated that environmental and social residential conditions may contribute to the differences that do occur. Data from the 2003 National Health Interview Survey found Black men to have 1.29 greater odds of obesity compared to White men; whereas the Exploring Health Disparities in Integrated Communities Study, a cross-sectional study of Black and White adults of comparable median incomes living in contiguous census tracks in Southwest Baltimore, Maryland, illustrated similar risk (OR=1.06; Thorpe, et al., 2015). Hence, chronic disease risk factors, such as obesity, should not be solely address on an individual level.

Physical activity is customarily measured only as leisure time activity. Few studies have measured the differences in physical activity by race/ethnicity, and consistently reported Blacks to be less active than Whites (Bell et al., 2013; Buchowski et al., 2010; Burke & Heiland, 2011; Marquez, Neighbors, & Bustamante, 2010; Sallis et al., 2012; Schiller et al., 2012; Wang & Chen, 2011; Wilson-Frederick et al., 2014). In 2010, data from NHIS showed that 30.8% of Whites were physically inactive compared to 41.3% of Blacks, based on the Federal 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans (Schiller et al., 2012). In the Continuing Survey of Food Intake by Individuals (CSFII) conducted from 1994 to 1996, controlling for education and income had minimal impact on the differences in participation in physical active among Blacks adults (20 and older) compared to Whites, OR=0.69, 95% CI [0.49, 0.96] vs. OR=0.63, 95% CI [0.45, 0.89] (Wang & Chen, 2011). Moreover, Bell et al. (2013) compared of Blacks and Whites in the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study and found that although physical activity patterns between Blacks and Whites were similar to other studies, physical activity and CVD incidence were inversely related in both racial groups, after adjusting for potential confounders (such as age, sex, education, smoking status, alcohol usage, etc.).

The racial differences in physical activity are further separated by gender and age groups. Black women engage in work-related and leisure time physical activity less frequently than White women (Burke & Heiland, 2011; Schiller et al., 2012). Schiller et al. (2012) found that among adult women (aged 18 and older) who participated in the 2010 NHIS, Black women were more physically inactive than White women at 46.8%

and 30.9%, respectively, OR=2.15, 95% CI [2.06, 2.24]. However, Buchowski et al.(2010) found that White women who were likely to experience moderate to severe obesity as sedentary behavior increased. White women in the highest quartiles of sedentary behavior (>12 hrs/day) had a OR=4.03, 95% CI [3.08, 5.28] of severe obesity compared to OR=1.56, 95% CI [1.35, 1.81] among Black women in the same sedentary behavior quartile (Buchowski et al., 2010).

The gap in physical inactivity among racial groups has been noted to increase as the population increases in age. Data analyzed from NHANES III, 1988-1994, indicated that 48.4% of Black women 65-84 were physically inactive, compared to 30.8% of White women, OR=2.62, 95% CI [1.82, 3.76], after adjusting for age and education; physical inactivity rates among men were much lower at 27.7% and 17.7%, respectively, OR=1.88, 95% CI [1.19, 2.97] (Sundquist, Winkleby, & Pudaric, 2001). It is important to acknowledge, however, that physical activity among Blacks may be underreported due to how it is generally measured.

Although many studies measure physical activity based on leisure activities, Sallis et al. (2012) stated that there are actually four categories of physical activity: leisure/recreational/exercise, occupation/school, transportation, and household. Hence, Blacks may actually be more physically active than routinely documented when considering the other less frequently measured categories (He & Baker, 2005; Kurian & Cardarelli, 2007; Marquez et al., 2010; Sallis et al., 2012). Although Blacks are more likely to never engage in leisure-time physical activity compared to their White counterparts, Black men and women were more likely to have jobs that require strenuous activities at least most of the time (34.1% and 31.1%, respectively) compared to Whites (30.7% and 21.8%, respectively; (He & Baker, 2005). Interestingly, leisure-time physical activity among Whites decreased as education decreased, and work-related physical activity among Blacks decreased as education increased (He & Baker, 2005). Several other studies support the finding that Blacks are more likely to engage in occupational physical activity (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 2011; Marquez et al., 2010; Marshall et al., 2007), and leisure physical inactivity is strongly correlated to social class (Marshall et al., 2007). In fact, neighborhoods with high racial/ethnic (95%) and low-SES populations (\leq 5% without college education) are 46% less likely to have at least one park or recreational facility (Sallis et al., 2012). Although few studies have investigated the relationship between physical activity and CVD risk in Blacks (Shiroma & Lee, 2010), the link between physical activity and obesity is well established. Diet also has significant consequences for health, and cholesterol is a key metric for CVD risk.

Cholesterol. Individuals with increased prevalence of obesity and physical inactivity are also more likely to be at increased risk for other CVD risk factors (Abell et al., 2008). Interestingly, there appears to be no significant difference in the prevalence of elevated total cholesterol between Blacks and Whites (Hurley, Dickinson, Estacio, Steiner, & Havranek, 2010). In fact, researchers posit that Blacks appear to have lower age-adjusted prevalence of elevated cholesterol than Whites (Fryar, Hirsch, Eberhardt, Yoon, & Wright, 2010) despite greater consumption of high fat, high cholesterol foods (Williams, 2009). Furthermore, Fryar et al. (2010) found that Whites exhibit higher age-adjusted prevalence of a diagnosed and undiagnosed comorbid combination of elevated

cholesterol and hypertension compared to Blacks (9.3% vs. 8.9%, respectively). Researchers argue that Blacks historically have had physically active occupations that protected their cholesterol levels and CVD risk; however, this finding is likely waning as adults aged 35-44 report a 56% prevalence of sedentary occupations lifestyles (Harman et al., 2011).

Diabetes. The presence of comorbid conditions, such as diabetes only serves to exacerbate the prevalence of CVD morbidity and mortality in the affected population. In 2010, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2014) reported that adults (aged \geq 20 years of age) were 1.8 and 1.5 times more likely to be hospitalized for a heart attack and stroke, respectively; hence, diabetes may be considered to be potentially the most influential risk factor to CVD. Individuals with diabetes are consistently reported to be between two to four times more likely to experience a cardiovascular event (e.g., heart attack or stroke) (American Heart Association, 2012; World Heart Federation, 2013). Furthermore, approximately 65% of people with diabetes die as a result of heart disease or a stroke (American Heart Association, 2012). The overall prevalence of diabetes has accelerated rapidly in the last two decades; however, racial/ethnic and socioeconomically disadvantaged populations are affected more substantially than their White counterparts (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014). Data from multiple sources clearly reflects that Blacks have diabetes rates significantly higher than Whites (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013; Chatterjee et al., 2013; Fryar et al., 2010; Gaskin et al., 2013). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2011) indicated that the age-adjusted prevalence of Blacks diagnosed with diabetes rose from 4.5% to

9.0%, compared 2.6% to 5.8% among Whites, from 1980 to 2009. Fryar et al. (2010) suggests that the risk factors commonly found among individuals at greater risk for CVD, such as obesity, hypertension, and dyslipidemia, are also more common among Blacks than Whites with diabetes. In addition, researchers posit that elevated diabetes prevalence among Blacks is often patterned by socioeconomic factors (Gaskin et al., 2013; Sims et al., 2011). Sims et al. (2011) found that low-incomes Blacks have greater risk of diabetes than high-income Blacks, RP=1.94, 95% CI [1.28, 2.92] and RP=1.35, 95% CI [1.04, 1.74], respectively). The increased health risk associated with lower SES is not isolated to Blacks alone, as Gaskin et al. (2013) found that the odds of having diabetes was similar for Blacks and Whites who experience the disadvantage of living in impoverished neighborhoods. However, poverty in Black communities is more prevalent (Gaskin et al., 2013); thereby promoting negative CVD-related health outcomes and further magnifying the diabetes-CVD mortality association. Another risk factor that has been documented to have significantly disproportionate prevalence rates in Blacks is hypertension.

Hypertension. Hypertension has been considered the most important CVD risk factor (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013; Cuffee, Hargraves, & Allison, 2012; Gillespie & Hurvitz, 2013; Holmes et al., 2013; Mozaffarian et al., 2015; Yoon et al., 2015), and at 44.9% and 46.1% for males and females, respectively, Blacks in the United States have the highest rates of hypertension in the world (Cuffee et al., 2012; Dolezsar, McGrath, Herzig, & Miller, 2014; Fuchs, 2011; Hicken, Lee, Morenoff, House, & Williams, 2014; Holmes et al., 2013; Mozaffarian et al., 2015; Quinones et al., 2012). Hypertension is more likely to be undiagnosed or uncontrolled among Blacks, and therefore is associated with a significantly higher CVD mortality rates . Watson (2008) estimated that hypertension among Blacks may be correlated with CVD mortality rates that are three to five times greater than Whites.

Go (2014) noted that among Blacks, hypertension contributes to higher rates of nonfatal strokes, fatal strokes, heart disease mortality, and end-stage renal disease (OR= 1.3, 1.8, 1.5, and 4.2, respectively) compared to the general population. Comparative analysis of race-sex group data indicated 2010 mortality rates for hypertension per 100,000 to be 50.2 for Black males and 37.1 for Black females compared to 17.2 and 15.0, respectively, for their White counterparts (Go et al., 2014). Similar Black-White differences are observed in prevalence rates of hypertension.

Empirical evidence suggests that the prevalence rate of hypertension is roughly 40% among Blacks, compared to approximately 27% among Whites (Go et al., 2014; Hicken et al., 2014), Rates of hypertension are higher among men in both racial groups, <45 years of age; however, adults aged 45 to 54 have similar rates of hypertension, which become higher in women after age 55 (Go et al., 2014). NHANES data reported over three separate time periods indicate age-adjusted prevalence rates of hypertension in Black women as slightly higher (38.2-42.9%) than Black men (37.5-40.1%; (Mozaffarian et al., 2015). Moreover, data indicated that even after controlling for known hypertension risk factors (i.e., age, education, household income, martial status, gender, BMI, physical activity, smoking, and alcohol use), a statistically greater risk for hypertension among Blacks persisted compared to Hispanics, OR=2.12, 99% CI [1.90, 2.35] (Holmes et al., 2013) and Whites, OR=2.74, 95% CI [2.32, 3.25] (Kershaw et al., 2011).

Raising further concern, researchers have begun to report hypertension in children as a mounting public health concern (Assadi, 2012; Brady, Fivush, Parekh, & Flynn, 2010; Freedman et al., 2012; Rosner, Cook, Daniels, & Falkner, 2013). In 1999, researchers analyzed of NHANES III data (1988-1994) to find that the mean systolic BP for Black girls age 6-9 was 96.4 mm Hg compared to 95.4 mm Hg among White girls (Winkleby, Robinson, Sundquist, & Kraemer, 1999). A similar pattern of black-white differences is observed for boys across age groups, but initiates during age 10-13 (Winkleby et al., 1999). However, Rosner et al. (2009) discovered that the prevalence of hypertension among normal weight children (age 1-17) was significantly higher among Black boys compared to White boys, OR=1.14, 95% CI [1.03, 1.27], p < 0.01; yet, the rate of prehypertension was higher among Black girls of normal weight compared to White girls, OR=1.32; 95% CI [1.17, 1.49], p < 0.001. More recent analysis comparing NHANES III to NHANES data (1999-2008) revealed that the increase in childhood obesity has increased the odds of elevated blood pressure in children (OR=1.27, P=0.069; Rosner, Cook, Daniels, & Falkner, 2013). Brady et al. (2010) revealed Black-White differences in blood pressure (BP) are observed in children <13 and \geq 13 years of age. A cross-sectional analysis of children (aged 3-20) referred for nephrology and hypertension care across three different facilities (i.e., University of Michigan, Johns Hopkins University, and Children's Hospital at Monteflore) found that Black children aged 13 and older observed higher rates of elevated blood pressure compared to their White counterparts (Brady et al., 2010). Although the mean systolic BP gradually increases as age increases for both racial groups, the Black-White differences remain and gradually

widen (Brady et al., 2010). Given that Blacks are more likely than Whites to display onset of hypertension approximately five years earlier, have a hypertensive family history, are significantly less likely to have adequate BP control (even with the use of medications), and experience more severe hypertension increasing the implications for greater CVD morbidity and mortality in adulthood (Fuchs, 2011; Gillespie & Hurvitz, 2013; Kramer et al., 2015).

Family history. Historic evidence from epidemiologic studies supports the association of family history with increased predisposition to CVD risk (Kurian & Cardarelli, 2007; Lloyd-Jones et al., 2004; Valdez, Greenlund, Khoury, & Yoon, 2007). Valdez et al. (2007) explained that in the case of multidimensional diseases such as CVD, differentiating genetic causes from environmental causes is often difficult. However, determining whether or not a first or second-degree relative has also been affected by CVD can be a useful assessment strategy (Mozaffarian et al., 2015).

Results from a longitudinal study that followed a dual cohort of male Black students from Meharry Medical College and White students from Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine for a median period of 29 years support the claim that family history plays a significant role in Blacks' risk for hypertension and CVD (Thomas, Thomas, Pearson, Klag, & Mead, 1997). Thomas et al. (1997) found that the presence of parental hypertension was a strong influence in predicting disease manifestation in Blacks during adulthood. Thomas et al. (1997) noted that the prevalence rates of hypertension among the Black cohort significantly increased as parental hypertension changed from both parents being negative (39%), mother only (41.4%), father only (60.5%), to both parents positive (73.7%). Thomas et al. (1997) found parental history of hypertension to positively associated with race; the Black physicians from Meharry having a relative risk of 2.53 higher than the White physicians from Johns Hopkins, 95% CI [1.55-4.13], P<0.001.

In a population-based epidemiologic study, the offspring of Framingham Study participants were studied as a cohort to determine whether or not parental CVD could be used to positively predict CVD among the offspring. The participants in this study were at least 30 years of age, had no CVD at the onset of the study, and both parents were members of the original Framingham Study cohort (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2004). Lloyd-Jones et al. (2004) found that parental CVD increased the strength of association for CVD among both men and women (age-adjusted OR=2.6 and 2.3 times, respectively) when at least one parent had early onset of CVD (defined as father <55 years of age or mother <65 years of age). Mozaffarian et al. (2015) agrees that individual are predisposed to genetic factors, which are strongly influenced by the clustering of environmental, lifestyle, and other risk factors within families. No only does the extent of familial association increase CVD, but so does the age of the parental event. For example, a heart attack in one parent over the age of 50 increases an individuals odds of having a heart attack by 1.67; however, if both parents have heart attacks and are over the age of 50, the odds of a heart attack increase to 2.90 (Mozaffarian et al., 2015). Comparatively, Mozaffarian et al. (2015) reported that heart attacks experienced by younger parents (<50 of age) exponentially increases risk (OR=2.36 for one parent vs. OR=6.56 for both parents). Researchers also found that adjustment for traditional risk factors did not

diminsh the association of parental CVD with CVD incidence in their offspring (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2004). Because the evidence of family history has been so compelling, researchers now advocate screening of all children and youth who have at least one first degree relative with CVD or diabetes as a prevention strategy to identify families at increased risk of obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, metabolic syndrome, and CVD (Valdez et al., 2007).

Moreover, Reis et al. (2006) analyzed data from the Family Strategies Concentrating on Risk Evaluation (SCORE), a community-based cohort of children and their parents in Pittsburgh, PA, to discover that children may serve as the index case for families at elevated risk for CVD. There were a total of 141 children who participated in this study, with demographics consisting of an average age of 10.5 ± 3.4 years, predominately Black (69%), and male (60%), and 108 parents with a mean age of $38.5 \pm$ 7.5 years, mostly Black (60%), and female (83%) (Reis et al., 2006). Researchers found that a strong correlation between children with CVD risk factors and the presence of the same risk factors among their parents (Reis et al., 2006). In fact, children who were obese ($\geq 95^{\text{th}}$ percentile) or had a waist circumference greater than 85th percentile were almost 6 times more likely to have parents who were obese (BMI ≥ 30) or had abnormally large waist circumference (adjusted for age, race, and gender of the parent and age of the child OR=5.97 and 5.65, respectively) (Reis et al., 2006).

Effectiveness of hypertension control. The American Heart Association defines normal blood pressure as a systolic blood pressure (SBP) less than 120 mm Hg, and a diastolic blood pressure (DBP) less than 80 mm Hg (Mozaffarian et al., 2015). However,

there are differences not only in the prevalence of diagnosed hypertension between Blacks and Whites, but also the prevalence of controlled hypertension.

When determining the percentage of patients who achieve target blood pressure (BP) by race, the Black-White differences in BP control become more evident. From 2011-2012, Blacks were more likely to than Whites to take antihypertensive medication (77.4% vs. 76.7%, respectively; Mozaffarian et al., 2015), yet Blacks to have 40% greater odds of have uncontrolled BP (Delgado, Jacobs, Lackland, Evans, & Mendes de Leon, 2012). Sehgal (2004) noted that the Black-White difference in reaching target BP is only about 8% (68% versus 77%, respectively) when both groups have comparable baseline BPs (e.g., 6 mm Hg above a target DBP). However, the Black-White difference in reaching target BP significantly increased from 19% (58% versus 77%, respectively) to 30% (47% versus 77%, respectively) as baseline blood pressures for Blacks increased (8) mm Hg and 10 mm Hg above a target DBP, respectively), while that of Whites remained constant (e.g., 6 mm Hg above a target DBP; (Sehgal, 2004). These findings support the rationale for why Blacks often require at least two or more antihypertensive medications to achieve BP control (Delgado et al., 2012; Ferdinand & Sounders, 2006; Fernandez et al., 2011; Watson, 2008). The inability of Blacks to achieve adequate BP control contributes even further to complexities of the CVD epidemic.

In a cohort of more than 1000 low-income, hypertensive Blacks, Fernandez et al. (2011) investigated the effectiveness of combined provider and patient-level interventions. Findings indicated that gaps in blood pressure control are typically not the result of lack of awareness or poor health literacy among Blacks, but rather numerous

44

patient-level barriers (e.g., behavioral, psychosocial, environmental) to achieving and maintaining BP control (Fernandez et al., 2011). In other words, there are multilevel factors and socioenvironmental conditions that may lie outside of an individual's domain but influence one's ability to adequately manage hypertension, which warrant further investigation.

Environmental influence. Recent studies have addressed the importance of evaluating the role that the environment plays in significantly shifting the continuum of health outcomes based on SES, noting significant difference between Black and White populations (Conroy et al., 2010; Gaskin et al., 2013; Kershaw et al., 2011; Thorpe, Bell, et al., 2015). Whites of low socioeconomic status are more likely to have better health care, job opportunities, access to resources and services, and living conditions than their Black counterparts of comparable financial means (Kennedy, Paeratakul, Ryan, & Bray, 2007; Subramanian, Acevedo-Garcia, & Osypuk, 2005; Williams & Jackson, 2005). Blacks of lower SES are disportionately exposed to deleterious neighborhoods characteristics, which exert negative effects on multiple aspects of their health and wellbeing, unlike their White counterparts (Johnson, 2011; Jones-Jack, Jack, Jr., Jones, & Scribner, 2010). Evidence reflects that Black neighborhoods, often also low-income neighborhoods, have multiple inequities (e.g., depleted community resources, limited employment opportunities, increased crime rates) that facilitate greater potential for adverse health conditions for the residents of those communities (Schootman, Andresen, Wolinsky, Malmstrom, Miller, & Yan, 2007; Weden, Carpiano, & Robert, 2008). Jones-Jack et al. (2010) maintains that poor neighborhood characteristics are strongly correlated to limited access to healthy food options, quality health care facilities, reliable transportation, and other environmental factors that derail an individual's ability to achieve good health or effectively manage chronic health conditions. For example, the physician-to-patient ratio in Black neighborhoods is substantially lower (ranging from 1:10,000 to 1:15,000) compared to White neighborhoods (1:300) (Jones-Jack et al., 2010); and predominantly Black neighborhoods have a higher concentration of fast food restaurants per square mile compared to predominantly White neighborhoods (2.4 versus 1.5, respectively; Block, Scribner, & DeSalvo, 2004). Hence, place is also an important consideration in understanding disparities in CVD outcomes.

Cumulative disadvantage. Blacks experience more disease risk and burden as a result of traditional CVD risk factors (e.g., higher rates of obesity, stronger family history); however, there are additional underlying factors that contribute to this overwhelming disparity. Research suggests that Blacks are more likely to have exposure to multiple risk factors simultaneously, which creates a synergistic effect culminating in even more negative consequences over time (Flack et al., 2003; Kurian & Cardarelli, 2007; Watson, 2008; Williams, 2009). Although genetic factors (e.g., elevated cholesterol and blood pressure) may predispose certain individuals to CVD, it is the combination of those genes with lifestyle (e.g., physical inactivity and poor diet) and environmental (e.g., neighborhood characteristics and social injustices) factors that create the excess burden of CVD morbidity and mortality (Cubbin et al., 2006; Sundquist et al., 2006). In a study of urban neighborhoods in Sweden, Sundquist et al. (2006) found that in neighborhoods with high rates of violent crimes and unemployment, men, OR= 1.75, 95% CI [1.37,

2.22] and OR= 2.05, 95% CI [1.62, 2.59], respectively and women, OR= 1.39, 95% CI [1.19, 1.63] and OR= 1.50, 95% CI [1.28, 1.75], respectively) were more likely to experienced CHD. Adding to the multifaceted nature of this disease, lifestyle factors and environmental conditions are strongly linked to not only families, but also SES (Johnson, 2011; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Jones-Jack et al., 2010).

Researchers agree that lower SES is directly and indirectly associated with cumulative disadvantage because individuals lack the skills and resources necessary to adequately maintain health-promoting lifestyles (Gaskin et al., 2014; Dupre, 2008; Kim & Richardson, 2011; Shuey & , 2008). More importantly, the experiences and risk factors that result from deprivation build upon one another over the life course (Hertzman, 2004; James et al., 2006); hence, elderly individuals are more likely to have poorer health due to accumulated health risks (Dupre, 2008).

However, the results of cumulative disadvantage studies across the life-course are somewhat conflicting. After acknowledging that Blacks have poorer health outcomes in later life than Whites, Kim and Richardson (2011) indicated that loss of income and assets in later life attributed to substantial reduction in physical performance, particularly among women; however, the rate of this decline was comparable for Blacks and Whites after controlling for SES. Conversely, other researchers contend that Blacks at higher levels of education experience greater disparity in health outcomes than Blacks at lower levels of education (Farmer & Ferraro, 2005; Shuey & Willson, 2008), but in older ages, Blacks continue to have a faster rate of physical decline compared to Whites, regardless of education (Delgado et al., 2012; Fakhouri et al., 2012; Shuey & Willson, 2008). Although Shuey and Willson (2008) maintained that increased income and wealth is equally advantageous for both Blacks and Whites in later years, the inability of Blacks to translate income into wealth only further supports the cumulative disadvantage (Jones-Jack et al., 2010). Finally, Dupre (2008) found that the impact of educational differences appears to diminish across age because individuals of lower educational levels have higher mortality rates at younger ages, leaving only the strongest survivors of the disparity group for comparison in later life. It is important to note that the observed differences in cumulative disadvantage across the life-course are possibly linked to how the constructs used to measure SES (e.g., income, education, employment status, wealth) differ across studies (Shuey & Willson, 2008). Therefore, researchers need to cast a wider net in understanding the totality of these risks and linking them to health outcomes.

Social Determinants of Health and CVD Risk

Berkman and Kawachi (2014) provided significant evidence to indicate that as early as the seventeenth century, researchers have understood that social conditions play an integral role in health and well-being. Social epidemiology is defined as a branch of epidemiology that encompasses numerous disciplines (e.g., sociology, anthropology, politics, and psychology), to comprehensively investigate "nontraditional" factors, or social determinants, that directly or indirectly influence health (Berkman & Kawachi, 2014). It also encourages more in-depth understanding of how and why some individuallevel risk factors (e.g., obesity, smoking, physical inactivity) affect some populations in greater proportion by allowing social conditions that either facilitate or inhibit healthpromoting practices to be examined as a correlate of health. Wilcox (2007) theorized that social determinants of health assist researchers in understanding how factors considered to be "upstream" affect factors "downstream" (p. 1). As social epidemiology is intended to deepen our understanding of causation, Berkman & Kawachi (2014) argued that multifaceted philosophical questions must be addressed (e.g., addressing issues of accountability and determining where responsibility for the patterns of disease and social inequality lie). Social determinants of health enable researchers to explore multiple mechanisms that may account for differences in health disparities between Black and White populations.

The Influence of SES on Health Outcomes

SES is a multidimensional construct that researchers have commonly implicated as an influential determinant in the health disparities observed between racial groups (Harper et al., 2011; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Jolly et al., 2010; Laveist et al., 2009; Subramanyam et al., 2013; Williams, 2012). The CDC (2011d) defined SES as an integrated measurement of an individual's economic (e.g. income), social (e.g. education), and work status (e.g. occupation). However, studies that investigate the impact of SES on health outcomes inconsistently use these indicators to measure SES (Farmer & Ferraro, 2005; Glymour, Avendano, & Kseschi, 2014; Kennedy et al., 2007; Laveist et al., 2009).

Though education and income are commonly used markers to determine SES (Glymour et al., 2014; Kennedy et al., 2007), SES may be defined solely based on educational attainment. Using this single construct, researchers have found strong evidence correlating poor educational attainment with poor health outcomes (Banks et al.,

2006; Conroy et al., 2010). For example, prevalence rates were 14.3% for diabetes,

46.3% for hypertension, and 17.1% for heart disease among individuals with low years of schooling, compared with 9.5%, 37.0%, and 12.0% among individuals with high years of schooling, respectively. Conroy, Sandel, and Zuckerman (2010) maintained that despite this evidence, SES based on education does not determine other social determinants, such as income; nor are the result of difference in health outcomes necessarily the result of the interaction of income and education (Kennedy et al., 2007). Meaning, it is possible for individuals of lower educational attainment to have a high socioeconomic position, and vice versa. Yet, other researchers argued the contrary (Do & Finch, 2008; Finch et al., 2010; Iton, 2005; Jones-Jack et al., 2010; Schulz et al., 2008). Finch et al. (2010) specifically addressed this issue by describing not only the difference in educational attainment by poverty level based on U.S. Census data, but also suggested that the data underestimate the true differences in education across neighborhoods of varying SES. In addition, researchers (Finch et al., 2010; Kennedy et al., 2007) argued that there is ambiguity about the interaction between income and education when demographic factors (e.g. age, race, and sex) are considered.

Regardless of the construct used to measure SES, researchers have validated that the extent of one's financial means impacts the context of their surroundings and availability of resources, directly relating to their health outcomes (Harper et al., 2011; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Laveist et al., 2009; Williams, 2012). Individuals of higher SES are far more likely to experience positive health outcomes, while those of lower SES experience negative health outcomes (Galea, Tracy, Hoggatt, DiMaggio, & Karpati, 2011; Harper et al., 2011; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Williams, 2012). Though the SES phenonmenon is not distinctive to any one country, the strength of the association seems to be more profound in the United States than elsewhere (Iton, 2005; Kawachi & Subramanuan, 2014). For example, a study was conducted to compare the association of SES and health behavior practices (i.e., diet, physical activity, smoking, and alcohol consumption) in China compared to the United States (Kim, 2004). Researchers found that individuals at the highest SES levels in China showed an inverse relationship to healthy behavior (OR=0.19), whereas in the United States, there was a direct correlation between highest levels of SES and increased healthy behaviors (OR=3.81; (Kim, 2004). Banks, Marmot, Oldfield, and Smith (2006) found that although differences in SES gradients and health status in England paralleled the United States, the prevalence rates of all diseases studied were significantly higher in the United States at each SES level. Prevalence rates of hypertension, for example, were documented at 36.7%, 34.6%, and 30.3% for England and 46.3%, 43.6%, and 37.1% for the United States at low, medium, and high-income gradients, respectively (Banks et al., 2006). Within the United States, the economic divide between the wealthy and the poor continue to widen (Kawachi & Subramanuan, 2014).

Economic divide. Unfortunately, a recent study determined that the gap between the wealthy and the poor in the United States has increased more than four-fold in the past 20 years, and the economic divide distinctly lies along racial lines (Kochhar, Taylor, & Fry, 2011; Shapiro, Meschede, & Sullivan, 2010). A prospective study that followed a cohort of families from 1984 to 2007 revealed the Black-White gap in wealth increased from \$20K to \$95K during this time period (Shapiro et al., 2010); however, Domhoff (2011) estimated the wealth gap between average White and Black families to be 15-fold during 2007. If home equity is excluded from calculations to determine wealth, the income and wealth ratio by race escalates to 100:1 (Domhoff, 2011). Domhoff (2011) posited that while those with the top 20% of income control approximately 85% of the wealth in the United States, those at the bottom 40% of income hold a mere 0.3% of the wealth.

Although the concentration of wealth distribution has historical context that dates back to the 19th century (Domhoff, 2011), the wealthy have continued to gained more resources over time as the poor have retained less of what they had (Domhoff, 2011; Rigney, 2010; Shapiro et al., 2010). These observed gaps in wealth may be hypothesized to impact, either directly or indirectly, the social and environmental factors observed in Black and White communities, which are known to have strong linkages to health outcomes.

SES mobility. Researchers have historically noted that one's health is strongly linked to the SES characteristics of the community in which they reside, even after contolling for education and income (Braveman, Cubbin, Egerter, Williams, & Pamuk, 2010).

Early in the foundation of social epidemiology, Krieger et al. (1997) stated, No single 'factor' accounts for links between socioeconomic position and health. Instead, numerous investigators have delineated myriad interconnected pathways, preceding conception and ending at death, whereby people's health is harmed or helped by their standard of living, workplace conditions, and social and psychological interactions with others at home, work, and other public settings. (p. 343)

Researchers have determined that an environment of life-long poverty or socioeconomic disadvantage strongly impacts an individual's health status in adulthood (Conroy et al., 2010; Galobardes, Lynch, & Smith, 2007; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013). There are multiple indicators of socioeconomic status (SES), such as education, income, wealth, employment status, occupation, and home ownership, which may have a different periods of validity or impact on health outcomes at different stages throughout the lifecourse. There are four primary causal pathways used to explore SES across the lifecourse, including: 1) *latent effects* (early life adversities increasing later life risk); 2) *pathway effects* (early life experiences creating a life trajectory that effects that impact adult health); 3) social mobility (changes in SES from early life to adulthood determining adult health); and 4) cumulative effects (the accrual of early and later life experiences to influence health) (Adler & Stewart, 2010; Pollitt et al., 2005). Each hypothesis is based on the premise that measures of SES, socioeconomic advantage or disadvantage, during childhood has some bearing on one or more periods during adulthood, and culminate in impacting adult health outcomes (Conroy et al., 2010; Galobardes et al., 2007).

Recent studies support an inverse association between lifecourse SES and CVDrelated health outcomes (Adler & Stewart, 2010; Berry et al., 2012; Hogberg et al., 2011; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Roberts et al., 2010; Wamala et al., 2001). Gebreab et al. (2015) identified adult socioeconomic positioning as a strong predictor of cardiovascular events in women. However, life-long (early and later life combined) socioeconomic disadvantage increased CHD risk by 4.2-fold compare to women who had not experienced any socioeconomic disadvantage (Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Wamala et al., 2001).

Researchers have identified SES mobility as a pathway linking lifecourse SES with CVD outcomes (Hogberg et al., 2011; James et al., 2006; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013). Pollitt et al. (2005) argues that previous studies typically compare only unwavering low and high SES trajectories; little empirical evidence was found to assess how improved or diminished SES mobility is associated with CVD risk factors or CVD morbidity and mortality.

Studies that have examined the link between SES mobility on CVD outcomes (Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Pensola, 2003) or hypertension (Hogberg et al., 2011; James et al., 2006), which included upward and downward mobility, agreed that individuals of high and increasing SES had lower risk. Johnson-Lawrence et al. (2013) found an inverse relationship in the proportional hazard ratios for CVD mortality across progressive income trajectory categories in the Alameda County study. Findings indicated a higher hazard ratio among individuals of stable low SES compared to moderately low SES, HR=2.52, 95% CI [1.77, 3.59], as well as compared to upwardly mobile individuals, HR=12.92, 95% CI [4.05, 41.21], with results persisting after controlling for age, race, marital status, and gender (Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013). In a cohort of men in Finland, Pensola (2003) discovered that the CVD mortality rate was

higher among those who experienced consistently low or upward SES mobility (3.55 and 2.29, respectively) compared to men who experienced downward SES mobility (1.27).

Similar results were observed in studies examining the association of SES mobility on hypertension risk. Among participants of the Swedish Twin Registry, Hogberg et al. (2011) found that individuals whose SES mobility remained low throughout their lifecourse had a higher prevalence rate of hypertension (15.4%), compared to those who experienced upward mobility (12.5%), downward mobility (10.8%), or stable high SES (8.0%). James et al. (2006) found increased risk of hypertension among a stable low SES group compared to a stable high SES reference group, OR= 7.27; 95% CI [1.91, 27.51], in a study of Black men in Pitt County, North Carolina. However in this study, downward mobility had greater association with hypertension risk, OR= 5.87; 95% CI [1.25, 27.49], than upward mobility, OR=3.85, 95% CI [0.91, 16.13] (James et al., 2006). These studies support SES during childhood as having a strong influence on CVD outcomes during adulthood. Considering that Blacks experience greater CVD mortality rates and socioeconomic disadvantage throughout the lifecourse than whites (Williams & Collins, 1995), exploring the role of lifecourse SES on the racial disparities in CVD outcomes may provide useful insight.

Data from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study was analyzed to evaluate the multiple indicators of SES (e.g., parental or adulthood education, occupation, and home ownership) at three time points during an individual's life (i.e., early-life, young adulthood, and mid-to-older adulthood), as well as a summary score representing the lifecourse SES, and the impact of SES on heart failure incidence (Roberts et al., 2010). Roberts et al. (2010) found that not only were Blacks more likely to be exposed to low SES during early life, but they were also more likely to experience a higher prevalence of CVD risk factors regardless of early life SES than their White counterparts. Consequently, Blacks had a greater overall age-adjusted incidence rate of heart failure than Whites (5.23 events per 1,000 person-years vs. 3.18 events per 1,000 person-years, respectively; Roberts et al., 2010). Moreover, even Blacks of high summary SES experienced greater incidence of heart failure than Whites of low summary SES (4.38 events per 1,000 person-years vs. 3.99 events per 1,000 person-years, respectively; Roberts et al., 2010). Researchers noted that parental education was a strong predictor of heart failure for both racial groups; however unlike Whites, Blacks were also adversely impacted by the lack of parental home ownership (Roberts et al., 2010). Although this study suggests that early life SES shapes exposure to risk factors that increase health outcomes in adulthood among both Blacks and Whites, questions remain about why disparities among Blacks continue to exist.

In addition to increased CVD morbidity, childhood SES disadvantage also increases risk for CVD mortality among Blacks. Researchers discovered a 1.32-fold increased risk of CVD mortality among men who experience socioeconomic disadvantage during childhood, which remained after adjusting for behavioral risk factors and socioeconomic position in adulthood (Kauhanen et al., 2006). Mays et al. (2007) argued that even when adjusting for SES, Blacks suffer from excess death at a rate equivalent to 1.1 million years of life lost, or roughly 38,000 deaths per year. **Role of place.** Recent studies have addressed the importance of evaluating the role that place plays in significantly shifting the continuum of health outcomes based on SES (Chen & Paterson, 2006; Conroy et al., 2010; Do & Finch, 2008; LaVeist, Gaskin, & Trujillo, 2011). LaVeist et al. (2011) recently investigated three models to determine the whether or not living in a predominantly minority neighborhood negatively impacts health, living in neighborhoods with high rates of poverty impact health, or if it is some combination of both.

Using a sample of over 17,000 White, Black, and Hispanic adults, LaViest et al. (2011) assessed five measures of health status (i.e., self-reported general health status, mental health status, diabetes, hypertension, and/or stroke). The researchers found that a high poverty community (i.e. place) was a stronger predictor of poorer health than a highly minority-based community (i.e. race) for general health (OR=1.386 vs. 1.058, p < 0.001), mental health (OR=1.304 vs. 348, p < 0.05), and diabetes (OR=1.202 vs. 1.052, p < 0.05). However, being Black was associated with twice the hypertension risk than living in a high poverty community (LaVeist et al., 2011). Overall, researchers found that minority communities were more likely to have greater health risk due to the neighborhood characteristics that were strongly influenced by high poverty (e.g., limited access to resources, higher crime rates, higher unemployment rates, poorer quality of education); these were also more likely to be Black communities.

Blacks are more frequently exposed to deleterious neighborhoods charactersitics, which exert negative effects on multiple aspects of their health and well-being, than their
White counterparts (Diez Roux & Mair, 2010). The U.S. Census Bureau (2010) recently cited that although the overall poverty rate was 15.1%, it was approximately substantially lower for Whites (9.9%) and almost double for Blacks (27.4%). Other researchers concur that Black neighborhoods are often also low-income neighborhoods, and have multiple inequities that facilitate greater potential for adverse health conditions for the residents of those communities (Schootman, Andresen, Wolinsky, Malmstrom, Miller, & Yan, 2007; Weden, Carpiano, & Robert, 2008).

Researchers noted an extensive list of objective and subjective characteristics for which community equality can be assessed (Gary, Stark, & LaVeist, 2007; Jones-Jack et al., 2010; Schootman et al., 2007; Weden, Carpiano, & Robert, 2008). Objective characteristics included the availability or quality of housing and neighborhood conditions, such as pollution, noise emission from traffic or industries, garbage collection, street lighting, banking services, recreational facilities, public transportation, number of grocery stores, and the condition or presence of sidewalks and yards surrounding homes (Mackenbach et al., 2014; Schootman et al., 2007; Weden et al., 2008). Subjective characteristics related more to how individuals feel about their neighborhood in terms of factors such as drug and/or gang activity, safety of roads, crime activity, frequency of fast food restaurants, quality of available resources and services, billboards and signage, and graffiti (Schootman et al., 2007; Weden et al., 2008).

Interestingly, early researchers associate the depravity of low SES conditions as imposing psychological risks on the resident population (Gary et al., 2007; Kauhanen et al., 2006). However, Gary et al. (2007) suggested that Blacks were less likely to view their neighborhood conditions as imposing severe problems, and more likely to indicate a sense of neighborhood cohesion, even in the absence of the availability of a community leader. This cohesive community experienced by Blacks was found to be associated with lower concentrations of anxiety, stress, and depression compared to their White counterparts (Kauhanen et al., 2006). Some data suggest that the more positive mental health status noted by Gary et al. (2007) may be attributed to subjective neighborhood assessments, and have a stronger association to health outcomes than objective neighborhood conditions (Ludwig et al., 2012). Ludwig and colleagues (2012) recommended that the measurement of both neighborhood aspects is needed to determine the impact of health because race and neighborhood disadvantage are explicitly intertwined.

It is important to again note that SES is based on several parameters beyond just income and education, and interacts with complex demographic, environmental, and social attributes. Several researchers argue that race combined with income gradient is a strong predictor in determining housing conditions, neighborhood characteristics, quality of education, purchasing power, social class, and political influence (Gary et al., 2007; Gee & Ford, 2011; Schootman et al., 2007; Weden et al., 2008). Moreover, Blacks isolated to low income neighborhoods, devoid of access to adequate resources and services, are typically burdened by unfair societal practices, such as higher rates of crime, drug activity, and exposure to trash (Dinwiddie, Gaskin, Chan, Norrington, & McCleary, 2013). Adding to the complex pathways by which SES mediates health outcomes is the effect that SES has on overall well-being.

The Meharry-Hopkins Cohort Study: Are Affluent Blacks Protected?

Although lower SES influences a plethora of mechanisms that underlie poor health outcomes, it should not be assumed that higher SES offers protective health benefits (Weden et al., 2008). Williams et al. (2010) stated that despite the greater risk for living in poverty and greater risk of mortality among Blacks, elevated mortality rates for all causes persist among Blacks even after controlling for SES and education. Williams et al. (2010) also argued that although Black populations are more likely to live in poverty, the outcomes routinely resulting from these circumstances do not completely explain the disparities in health. The Meherry-Hopkins Cohort Study is a prime example of these inconsistencies (Thomas et al., 1997).

A cohort of Black medical students from Meherry Medical College and White students from Johns Hopkins University were followed over a 23-35 year period. At follow-up, Thomas et al. (1997) found that Black physicians were more likely to develop hypertension, RR=2.00, 95% CI [1.6, 2.6], $p \le 0.001$, CVD incidence, RR=1.65, 95% CI [1.13, 2.41], and coronary heart disease, RR=1.18, 95% CI [0.36, 3.84] than their White counterparts, after multivariate adjustment for factors such as age, cigarette smoking, BMI, and systolic blood pressure. The author argued that certain confounders found in several other studies, such as education and SES, are eliminated because all participants are physicians (Thomas et al., 1997). Yet other socially-mediated confounders remain (e.g., differences in stressful experiences and exposure to racism/discrimination); understanding of their role in health outcomes is essential. The John Henry (JH) scale was used in the Meherry-Hopkins cohort study to measure one's ability to manage environmental psychosocial stress. While the results of this study did not indicate an association between JH and hypertension for either population, differences in how Black and White cultural experiences influence psychosocial stressors (e.g., racism) were not assessed (Thomas et al., 1997). This study suggests that despite education and affluence, Blacks of higher SES have the potential for health outcomes more similar to Black of lower SES than Whites of high SES. Interestingly, the hypertension prevalence rates in the Meharry cohort exceeded that of the at-large Black male population (Thomas et al., 1997), suggesting that this sample may not be reflective of the overall population of Whites or Blacks (Baum, Garofalo, & Yali, 1999). The contradictions found between studies of education and affluence indicate that there is a need for additional research to establish a better understanding of differences in psychosocial stress exposures and coping mechanisms by race; additional research may assist in explaining why disparities in CVD occur regardless of education and income.

Thomas et al. (1997) did, however, explore the circumstances pertaining to perceived stress that allowed the Hopkins cohort to have more job control than the Meharry cohort. Although both cohorts had extensive debt after completing medical school, the environmental culture of Meharry Medical College led the Meharry cohort to be more likely (75%) to pursue opportunities to work in medically underserved areas and receive debt forgiveness; while the Hopkins cohort was more likely to opt for more lucrative medical specialties (Thomas et al., 1997). Furthermore, rural environments may have positioned the Black cohort to be less likely to have a regular health care provider, availability to adequate health care facilities or services, or the flexibility to take time away from work than their White counterparts (Thomas et al., 1997).

Although the reason for the gaps in access and resources were not provided, one may speculate that choosing to work in an underserved area is likely devoid of supportive resources (e.g, network of physicians to distribute responsibility). In addition, it is important to note that more than 90% of the Black study participants were male (Thomas et al., 1997), and there may be other characteristics specific to Blacks males (e.g., lack of trust, lack of peer respect, fear) that limit health seeking practices (Thomas et al., 1997).

The Importance of Race

Historically, race has been a socially-defined construct that frequently reflects a ideologic, economic, and sociopolitical hierachy, which in turn serves to mediate the perpetuation of health disparities (Jones, 2000; Jones et al., 2008; Kawachi et al., 2005; McFayden, 2009; Mersha & Abebe, 2015; Thomas et al., 1997). Although the term *race* is solely based on the physical and cultural characteristics of a group (Jones, 2000; Kawachi et al., 2005; Kawachi et al., 2005; Thomas et al., 1997), it has historical context dating back to the institution of slavery. Kawachi et al. (2005) attributed the development of the term to the "pre-Civil War debate" used to provide rationalization for why Blacks could acceptably be used as slaves because they were inferior to Whites (e.g., differences in cranial size existed between the races; p. 344).

While the basis for these claims are completely without merit, biologically-based research (i.e., the human genome project) has continued to posit that genetic differences in disease susceptibility are based on racial differences (Kawachi et al., 2005). However,

the explanation that these genetic differences are based on "race" should give pause to those who advocate this belief because other African-originating populations display significantly different health outcomes (Kawachi et al., 2005). For example, Kawachi et al. (2005) argued that although Blacks suffer from excessive rates of hypertension and diabetes, these rates are documented to be approximately two to five times greater than that of non-United States-based populations who share the same genetic makeup (e.g.,West Africans). Hence, researchers have commonly using race as a proxy for other indicators such as SES, class, and culture (Jones, 2002; Kawachi et al., 2005; Williams & Sternthal, 2010). Both race and social class play a vital role in health status; however, researchers are challenged in defining the effects of them as independent, yet interactive, constructs largely because race and class are highly correlated (Isaacs & Schroeder, 2004; Kawachi et al., 2005).

Kawachi et al. (2005), Jones (2002), and Williams and associates have all argued that if health status was truly based on SES, then low income Blacks and low income Whites would have similar outcomes. As such, researchers (Lynch & Kaplan, 2000; Matthews & Gallo, 2011) suggested that sociology-based perspectives recommend measurement strategies based on social class. For example, the Weberian tradition imposes that society should be stratified by class, status, and political power so that groups share in "life chances" (Lynch & Kaplan, 2000). The Weberian tradition also recognizes that class systems emphasizes the concept of "working class, who were at a competitive disadvantage in the marketplace because they had fewer goods, abilities, and skills that they might exchange for income" (Lynch & Kaplan, 2000, p. 15). Acceptance of this philosophy, however, would require that low income Whites be considered socially in the same fashion as individuals that have been historically promoted as being inferior. While Americans have been conditioned to be acutely aware of race, the notion of class gives pause to the consideration that upward mobility in "the land of opportunity" is limited (Isaacs & Schroeder, 2004; Williams & Sternthal, 2010). Not accepting the philosophy that poor Blacks and Whites be viewed equally has been the basis for creating and continuing to fuel the multiple disparities in the lives of Blacks, which lead to disparities in health outcomes. LeBron and colleagues (2015) and Kawachi et al. (2005) contended that both race and class be considered as codeterminants of health disparities, mediated by racism as a pathway.

To effectively address issues of health disparities, some researchers argue that differences in social class must be examined in combination with race (Isaacs & Schroeder, 2004; Jones, 2002; Kawachi et al., 2005; LeBrón et al., 2015). Diemer et al. (2013) defined social class as "denoting power, prestige, and control over resources and focus on the two most prominent ways that psychologists have conceptu-alized and measured aspects of social class. The first approach, socioeconomic status (SES), indexes one's position within a power hierarchy via relatively objective indicators of power, prestige, and control over resources, such as income, wealth, education level, and occupational prestige" (p. 3).

White privilege. The history of inequality in this country is based on racism and discrimination (Hudson, Puterman, Bibbins-Domingo, Matthews, & Adler, 2013). Poor SES Whites have often supported policies, practices, and social norms that counter the

political or economic interests that best align with their SES, in order to have certain (i.e., better) rights and privileges common to others who share their racial identity (Hughey, Embrick, & Doane, 2015; Kawachi et al., 2005; Wise et al., 2008). In the 1960s, President Lyndon Johnson stated, "If you can convince the lowest white man that he's better off than the best colored man, he won't notice you picking his pocket. Hell, give him somebody to look down on, and he'll empty his pockets for you" (Kawachi et al., 2005, p. 349). Hence, the structuring of housing policies, educational systems, employment opportunities, and civil rights have created the system of racism that gave unfair and unjust advantages primarily to White population groups, regardless of SES. This system of racism that created unfair advantage for all White people (e.g., power, resources, prestige), regardless of their socioeconomic position, is also known as *White privilege* (Hughey et al., 2015; Rigney, 2010; Wise et al., 2008).

Not only does White privilege create opportunities or advantages for Whites that other racial/ethnic groups do not have, but it also defines how Whites view the world, as well as how the world views them (Holladay, 2000; McIntosh, 1989; Wise et al., 2008). McIntosh summed up the concept in stating, that White privilege is being "taught to see racism only as individual acts of meanness, not in invisible systems conferring dominance on my group" (pg. 1). Social systems have conditioned Whites to think that they are entitled to such treatment (Holladay, 2000; Hughey et al., 2015; Wise et al., 2008); therefore, Whites may potentially never encounter the reversed experience that many Blacks routinely endure, which begets a sense of violation, anger, worthlessness, and unrelenting stress. Moreover, White privilege serves as an underlining cause of the health disparities that Blacks experience, which results in unequal access to healthpromoting resources (e.g., close proximity to healthy food choices, availability of quality health care) and opportunities for the development of sustainable behaviors (e.g., availability of nutritious foods, safe environments for regular exercise) (Jones-Jack et al., 2010).

Whites are afforded the luxury to remain oblivious to how the same institutional systems that are inherently protective for them create barriers for others. How an individual is viewed by the institutional systems they are required to navigate, and the inroads or roadblocks that those systems impose upon them, is essential in understanding the behavioral choices available to them, and hence their ability to thrive, manage stress, and have an overall sense of well-being. Addressing health disparities requires not only the elimination of unmerited favor that gives power and privilege to Whites, but also raising awareness to the spoke and unspoken biases that influence social systems and norms.

Inequity among racial groups. Shaw-Ridley and Ridley (2010) contended that efforts to understand and address the fundamental causes of health disparities are misguided, because the interplay of humans, their environments, and social conditions are vastly complex, and the examination of the health disparities phenonmenon does not embrace a historical perspective rooted in power, politics, and racism. Dating as far back as the early 1900s, W.E.B. Du Bois (1906) documented the need to address poorer health among Blacks through social reform. Since then, researchers have continually cited the persistent nature of health disparities as a benchmark for Black health, and the necessity to change the laws and practices that perpetuate social and structural inequalities (Jones-Jack et al., 2010; Taylor, 2015). However, many researchers have been known to use the term "disparity" interchangeably with "inequality" and "inequity."

Carter-Pokras and Baquet (2010) discussed how the interchanging of these terms has created disagreement and confusion regarding whether or not either term includes any judgement of unfair treatment or centers around avoidable decisions. More importantly, policy makers allocate resources and impose political agendas based on the interpretation of "who is deciding what is avoidable and unjust, and how it is decided" (DuBois, 1906). For example, improvements in health disparities cannot occur if Blacks are simply provided equal access to healthy food choices in low income communities, but there is no equity in the quality or cost (Shaw-Ridley & Ridley, 2010). Hence, there is a strong argument to shift from a focus of population groups having equal access, resources, opportunities, etc. to efforts that create equity among these groups. For example, Shapiro et al. (2010) highlighted that even when Blacks and Whites have income equality, Blacks are still twice as likely to experience discriminatory high-cost lending practices, which leads to greater risk for foreclosure. Wise (2007) further added that it was these inequities in lending practices that facilitated the wealth gap by allowing even low income Whites the advantage of owning their own home. Over time, generational advantages were created as the wealth from these assets were passed down. More clearly stated, White privilege allowed low income Whites to incur greater wealth than Blacks of higher earning potential (Carter-Pokras & Baquet, 2002).

Though income provides individuals with access to resources, Domhoff (2011) argued that wealth is a resource in achieving power and better health outcomes. Given the impact of poverty on Blacks, Wyatt et al. (2003) contended that Blacks have little or no opportunity to achieve wealth because they are twice as likely to live in deprived commuities and be unemployed; therefore, Blacks are less likely to have resources (e.g., health insurance) and access healthcare in a timely manner (Mays, Cochran, & Barnes, 2007; McFayden, 2009; Whitfield et al., 2014). Furthermore, researchers have begun to suspect that the negative impact of social stressors that Blacks have experienced as a result of generations of repeated exposure to racism is associated with higher levels of resting SBP (Harrell, Hall, & Taliaferro, 2003; James et al., 2006; Mays et al., 2007; Muennig & Murphy, 2011).

To this end, there is more than one ideology used to permeate the mechanisms that allow racism to affect hypertension. Williams and Neighbors (2003) described these ideologies as: (a) restricting socioeconomic achievement (i.e., opportunities for education, employment, and income) as a means of ultimately affecting health; (b) depriving access to goods, services, and resources (e.g., medical facilities, standards of treatment and care, built environments) that promote health; and (c) tolerance or adoption of stereotypes, characterizations, or beliefs that potentially encourage adverse health outcomes. Wyatt et al. (2003) suggested that although attitudes about racism have dramatically changed, discriminatory attitudes "continue to coexist with a desire to maintain at least some social distance from blacks" (p. 316). This school of thought displays little commitment to change or prevent the implementation of policies that would rectify the practice of White privilege (Williams & Neighbors, 2001; Wise et al., 2008). In order for improvements in health disparities to occur, racism needs to be more widely observed as fundmental contributor to adverse health outcomes, and greater commitment to preventing the permeation of racism within societal institutions is essential (Williams & Wyatt, 2015).

The Connection between Racism and Health Disparities

There are social, political, and cultural norms that support many of the multilevel injustices that drive health disparities (Jones, 2000; Krieger, 2012; Rigney, 2010; Williams & Mohammed, 2013; Williams, 2012). Racism is hypothesized to be an underlying cause of health disparities. *Racism* has been defined as a system of practices, policies, beliefs, attitudes, and institutional norms that tends to assert opportunity and worth to some individuals, but disparage and create disadvantage for others due to the observed physical characteristics of populations or communities (Blank, Dabady, & Citro, 2004; Oakes & Kaufman, 2006; Williams & Chung, 2004). More generically, the term itself has long been associated with unequal distributions of privileges, resources, and power (Brondolo, Brady ver Halen, Libby, & Pencille, 2009; Jones, 2002); however, clarity on how racism may be consistently defined and objectively measured is needed (Atkins, 2014). Furthermore, Williams and Mohammed (2013) contended that the strong association observed between SES and race in the United States is perpetuated by the historical injustices of racism. Like White privilege, the Matthew Effect is the presence of structural and cultural barriers that have historically created inequalities observed between individuals or communities, with Blacks having experienced generations of

disadvantage and inequality at much greater proportion than their White counterparts. The term *Matthew Effect*, coined by sociologist Robert Merton (2000), originates from the Bible's Book of Matthew and is based on the concept that "the rich get richer while the poor get poorer" (Rigney, 2010, p. 1).

Williams and Mohammed (2013) and others (Brondolo, Gallo, & Myers, 2009; Jones, 2002) define racism as occurring at multiple levels (e.g., institutional, personallymediated/interpersonal, internalized, cultural), and frameworks have been developed to depict the pathways through which racism mediates health outcomes (Paradies, 2006). While the health outcomes that may result from exposure to racism are not specifically related to the type of racism exposure, Table 1 describes the levels of racism and provides examples of how each type may manifests itself in society.

Table 1

Types of Racism	Description	Manifestations	Example
Institutionalized Racism	Differential or restricted access to material goods, services, opportunities, and power between racial groups	 Unearned privileges Unfair societal norms Structural barriers 	 Access to quality education Safe, clean environments Voting rights Representation in government offices
Personally- mediated/ Interpersonal Racism	"assumptions about the abilities, motives, and intentions" (Jones, 2000. p. 1212) or actions toward an individual or group based on race that is prejudicial or discriminatory	 Intentional Unintentional Lack of respect Unwarranted suspicion Devaluing Dehumanization 	 Poor or no service Lowering of standards Omitting or limiting information Hate crimes Subtle or blatant messages of rejection or exclusion
Internalized Racism	"acceptance by members of the stigmatized races of negative messages about their own abilities and intrinsic worth" (Jones, 2000, p. 1213)	 Embracing "whiteness" or societal opinions Eroded self value Helplessness/ Hopelessness 	 Preference for lighter skin tone Use of racial nicknames Giving up on personal dream or talents
Cultural Racism	Explicit and implicit communication	• Media portraying of minorities in a stereotypical or derogatory manner	 Drug dealers or nannies in movies Absentee or unfit parents

Description of the Multilevels of Racism

Defining Racism

Racism continues to be a manifestation of social systems and institutions, varying in degree from blatant actions (e.g., hate crimes) to more common subtle expressions (e.g., stereotypical references, interpersonal discrimination, individual biases) (Williams & Neighbors, 2001). For example, Shaver and Shavers (2006) stated that almost half of the nearly 7,500 hate crimes reported in the United States during 2002 were motivated by race. At the opposite end of the spectrum, the hiring of Blacks has been documented to decline when the race of the hiring manager is not of the same racial group as the applicants.

In a 30-month study of a large nationwide retailer, more than 1,500 managers were assessed to understand the hiring practices of approximately 100,000 entry-level employees at more than 700 stores across the United States (Giuliano, Levine, & Leonard, 2009). Researchers found that when Blacks managers were replaced with White managers, the hiring rate of Black employees dropped from 21% to 17%; while the rate of hiring for White employees increased from 60% to 64% (Giuliano et al., 2009). This pattern is even more prominent in southern states; the hiring rate for Black employees fell from approximately 29% to 21% (Giuliano, Levine, & Leonard, 2009). Regardless of whether it occurs in the social norms of organizational policies and practices or interpersonal interactions, the more subtle perceptions of racism documented in empirical research are often self-reported subjective measurements (Giuliano et al., 2009).

Review of the literature indicates that the degree to which racism occurs (or is interpreted) may have broad variation, even among individuals of the same racial

population, based on numerous factors, such as personal experiences, historical events, attitudes and beliefs, demographics, and coping abilities (Das, 2013; Myers, 2008; Paradies, 2006), that impact how individuals interpret social interactions. Moreover, Myers (Giuliano et al., 2009; 2008) suggested that Blacks have been conditioned to have "more sensitive racial filters and lower response thresholds that may predispose them to interpret a wider range of experiences and events as 'racially meaningful'; and have a more intense reaction to them" (p. 14), particularly when the experience is construed as ambiguous.

Racism: The Chronic Stressor

The extent to which an individual experiences stress (e.g., harm, loss, threat, or other challenges) is often subjectively appraised (Brondolo, Brady ver Halen, Libby, & Pencille, 2009; Hicken et al., 2014; Vines et al., 2006; Williams, 2012). Chronic stress may contribute to an array of negative psychosocial characteristics, such as feelings of depression, hopelessness, life dissatisfaction, vulernability, deprivation, dependence, and helplessness versus feelings of happiness, security, stability, power, self-confidence, and self-motivation (Das, 2013). Some researchers argue that although lower SES is not definitively responsible for chronic stress, it has been strongly suggested that the stressors associated with lower SES often directly or indirect influence health and well-being (Subramanyam et al., 2013; Thoits, 2010).

Thoits (2010) also explained how the impact of a single stressor can proliferate into other areas or domains of an individual's life. For example, the responsibilities of caregiving to an elderly parent can lead to financial challenges, marital problems, interference with work performance, depression or other personal health issues.

Furthermore, stressors can proliferate over an individual's life course, as well as across generations. Individuals who experience the stress of childhood poverty report a greater frequency of poverty in adulthood (Baum et al., 1999; Conroy et al., 2010; Harper et al., 2011; Hogberg et al., 2011; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Pollitt et al., 2005; Ratcliffe, McKernan, & Institute, 2010). In acknowledging the potential processes of cumulative advantage/disadvantage (i.e., stress proliferation vs. the Matthew Effect), the difference in the two processes is that one occurs at the individual level over a period of time, whereas the other is the result of structural and/or cultural forces impacting the individuals at the aggregate level (Baum et al., 1999; Schulz, Parker, Israel, & Fisher, 2001; Thoits, 2010). The effects of racism occur in both.

Thoits (2010) argued that there is unequal distribution of stress by age, sex, SES, and race, which parallels disparities in both physcial and mental health issues; specifically, higher rates of stress are reported among adolescence/young adult and older age groups, women, persons of lower SES, education, or "occupational prestige," and Blacks. Although all individuals experience and are impacted on some level by stress, it could be argued that Blacks generally experience more stress and are more greatly impacted. While it may be hypothesized that Blacks of lower SES are exposed to greater doses of chronic stress, it is important to note that Black-White differences in cardiovasuclar disease exist among Blacks across SES groups (Hicken et al., 2014; Jolly et al., 2010; Williams & Mohammed, 2013; Williams, 2012). Therefore, the unanswered question is whether there are chronic stressors commonly experienced by Blacks,

regardless of SES, that have greater impact or are more difficult to recover from (e.g., racism, discrimination).

Williams and Mohammed (2013) contended that race-related stress often imposes an additional layer of chronic stressors, typically not associated with White populations, which likely exacerbate the significance of many other life stressors. Conversely, Brondolo et al. (2009) argued that acts of racism not only impact those who are targeted, but also those who observe and enact the behavior, because it influences one's own selfperception, their perception of others, and the social environment around them. Reactions to racially-motivated experiences may generate self-perceptions that are minimalizing or threatening for the targeted population, but empowering or self-promoting for nontargeted populations.

Racism has routinely been viewed as a vehicle for Whites to maintain privileges, resources, and influences (Dolezsar, McGrath, Herzig, & Miller, 2014; Thoits, 2010; Williams & Mohammed, 2013; Williams, 2012; Wise et al., 2008); these perspectives have contributed to the establishment of policies, practices, and social norms that have directly and indirectly been associated with adverse health outcomes (Ahmed, Mohammed, & Williams, 2007; Brondolo, Gallo, et al., 2009; Thoits, 2010; Wise et al., 2008). For example, Executive Order 12898 is a government policy established in 1994 by President Clinton that required the Environmental Protection Agency to defined the parameters of environmental justice for minority and low SES populations (Adler & Newman, 2002). Despite the establishment of this policy, lack of enforcement in poor minority communities continues to translate to greater exposure to environmental risk factors (e.g., landfills, noise, crowding, deteriorated housing). As such, it is estimated that the relative risk for mortality in poor minority communities is 1.9 to more than 5 times greater than in communities without environmental risks, which are typically predominantly White communities (Adler & Newman, 2002).

Researchers have explored various dimensions of how stress associated with perceived racism may transcend multiple aspects of an individual's life (e.g., residentially segregated communities; stereotypical or derogatory media portrayals; level of control or flexibility at work; availability, quality, and affordability of resources and services; understanding of cultural differences; (Ahmed et al., 2007; Brondolo et al., 2009; Din-Dzietham et al., 2004; Wise, 2010). Of greater concern are the multiple pathways through which racism affects health (Brondolo et al., 2009).

The Relevance of Racism to Health

Jones (2002) stated that "'Racial health disparities are produced on at least three levels: Differential care within the health care system, differential access to health care, and differences in exposures and life opportunities that create different levels of health and disease" (p. 8). While it is important to specifically address each of these aspects of racism, it can be argued that the difference in exposure and life opportunities is a precursor for the previous two levels. A host of theoretical frameworks have been proposed to explore the racism-health dynamic (Williams & Mohammed, 2013; Williams, Mohammed, Leavell, & Collins, 2010); however, research that actually demonstrates the processes for how racism and health are related is still emerging (Williams & Mohammed, 2013). While there has been a growing interest in efforts to understand the relationship between racial discrimination and poor health outcomes, publications centered around this topic are more frequently conceptual than empirical. Empirical research has often had results that are widely inconsistent from one study to the next. The foundation of this research study is that there are obvious differences in quality, frequency, or availability of exposures and life opportunities, which commonly occur along color lines; these differences are significant enough to drastically skew health outcomes. Hence, it is important that conceptual frameworks used to assess racial discrimination, as a pertinent risk factor for hypertension and CVD among Blacks, clearly articulate the interconnectedness of the constructs previously identified and the implication of their collective measurement.

Association between racism and CVD outcomes. The literature review indicated mixed results regarding whether or not the perceived racism that Blacks experience predisposes them to greater risk for adverse health outcomes (Brondolo, Love, Pencille, Schoenthaler, & Ogedegbe, 2011; Chae et al., 2010; Cuffee, Hargraves, & Allison, 2012; Dolezsar et al., 2014; Guyll, Matthews, & Bromberger, 2001; Hicken et al., 2014; Krieger et al., 2013; Sims et al., 2012). Some empirical studies have documented a positive association between exposure to racism and increased risk for hypertension and CVD related outcomes (Roberts, Vines, Kaufman, & James, 2008; Sims et al., 2012). Conversely, earlier studies indicate little or no association between racial discrimination and adverse health outcomes (Barksdale et al., 2009; Brown, 2004; Krieger, 1990; Peters, 2006). These earlier studies have inconsistent results that may be attributed to significant variations in measurement strategies, study quality, population, setting, sample size, perceptions of racism, and frequency of exposure. In a U.S. study of 109 Black and 225 White women, Troxel et al. (2003) observed a linear increase between combined stress (i.e., life events, ongoing stressors, economic hardships, and unfair treatment) and thickening of the carotid wall in the heart among Blacks; however, no association was observed among Whites.

Studies that do link chronic stressors experienced by Blacks (many of which may be rooted in racially motivated discriminatory practices) to increased CVD risk (e.g., hypertension), often possible physiological explanations. Researchers attribute the carotid wall thickening to increased exposure to chronic stressors begins earlier in life for Blacks, thereby resulting in an accelerated CVD incidence trajectory (Troxel et al., 2003). Cozier et al. (2006) discovered an association between racial discrimination and hypertension among some participants of from the Black Women's Health Study cohort. Most of the women in the study had experienced some form of racial discrimination. At least one experience of personally-mediated racism per month was reported by 48% of women, and was more common among obese women (BMI of 30 kg/m² or greater) (Cozier et al., 2006). In addition, 70% of women reported at least one situation in which they experience institutionalized racism, which was more common among highly educated women (Cozier et al., 2006). Furthermore, both forms of racism were more likely to occur among women who were born in the United States and raised in predominantly White neighborhoods (Cozier et al., 2006). However, the association between

hypertension and racism was only observed within subgroups of women. Women born primarily in the Caribbean and Central and South American had incidence rate ratios of 1.6 and 1.8 among those who experienced personally-mediated and institutional racism, respectively; and women who grew up in primarily White neighborhoods and experienced personally-mediated racism had an IRR of 1.7, but no association for institutionalized racism (Cozier et al., 2006).

Secondary analysis of the "Everyday Life for Black American Adults" Study (Brown, 2004) examined the correlation of racial discrimination and blood pressure among more than 200 Blacks (147 women, 64 men) between the ages of 25 and 79, with 86% of participants being <60 years of age. While this study explained 27% of the variance in systolic blood pressure and 17% of the variance in diastolic blood pressure, overall findings indicated that chronic stress does not have negative effects on the blood pressures of highly educated, middle income Black adults

Some researchers argue that an inverse relationship between racial discrimination and hypertension exists (Roberts et al., 2008; Singleton et al., 2008). Blacks, who do not express their feelings about being exposed to racial discrimination, may be internalizing their feelings. The lack of acknowledgement of racial discrimination, or an inability to identify it, seems to generate similar findings as those among individuals who accept or keep quiet about unfair treatment (Barksdale et al., 2009; Roberts et al., 2008; Singleton et al., 2008). For example, the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study was conducted among a sample of 831 Black men, 1134 Black women, 1006 White men, and 1106 White women between the ages of 25-37 over a 7-year period (Krieger & Sidney, 1996). From this large prospective study, Krieger and Sidney (1996) found that there was a positive relationship between racial discrimination and elevated blood pressure among professional Blacks, but it was a U-shaped association among working-class Blacks. In fact, working-class Black women were more likely to have an increased risk difference (RD) for elevated systolic blood pressure if they accepted exposure to racial discrimination and kept it to themselves, compared to women of comparable SES who vocalized their concerns, RD=4.3, 95% CI [-0.3, 8.9]; this risk was observed to a lesser extent among for professional Black women, RD=1.3, 95% CI [-4.9, 7.6] (Krieger & Sidney, 1996). Among Black men, the risk of elevated systolic blood pressures among working-class occurred in those who accepted racial discrimination, but discussed it with others (3.6) compared to professional Black men (-0.9; Barksdale et al., 2009). Furthermore, lower blood pressures (7 mmHg and 9-10 mmHg) were observed among both working-class and professional workers, respectively, who challenge racially discriminatory treatment (Chae et al., 2010; Din-Dzietham et al., 2004; Krieger & Sidney, 1996; Roberts et al., 2008).

These findings are similar to Din-Dzietham et al. (2004), who found that among Black women in the Metro Atlanta Heart Disease Study, those who reported having zero exposure to race-based discrimination at work had an age-adjusted odd ratio of 1.4 for hypertension. Chae et al. (2010) and Roberts et al. (2008) agreed that Black men who deny having exposure to racial discrimination were at the greatest risk for hypertension. Specifically, Chae et al. (2010) found a positive association between perceived racial discrimination and increased CVD risk among Black men who had less internalization of negative racial attitudes, particularly among Black men reporting two and three or more exposures (OR=4.93 and 4.37, respectively). Even more striking is that Black men found to have the worst CVD outcomes were those who had high internalized racism, but reported no racial discrimination exposure (Chae et al., 2010).

Conversely, Paradies' (2006) systematic review of the literature evaluated 171 empirical studies, and 36% of the studies (n=61) found a significant association between negative physical health outcomes and self-reported racism. Only 1% of the studies indicated a negative association, with the remaining 63% reflecting no association at all. Of those studies where a positive association was found, the majority of the negative physical health outcomes were associated with hypertension (n=19; Paradies, 2006). One explanation for the inconsistencies found across studies is that a consensus or standard measurement strategy to be used across studies has yet to be determined.

The ability of Blacks to cope with experiences of racism has also been shown to adversely impact health outcomes. The social history of the United States triggers guarded tendencies (e.g., suspiciousness, mistrust) among Blacks when engaging in interracial interactions, and learned coping strategies are based on continued anticipation or expectation of racially discriminatory occurrences (Myers, 2008; Singleton et al., 2008). Individual experiences interpreted as social rejection (i.e., racism) become embedded, as memories are used to cognitively appraise potentially harmful future encounters and avoid them (Mays et al., 2007). Gardner, Pickett, and Brewer (as cited in Mayes et al., 2007, pp. 213-214) conducted an experiment and found that individuals remembered experiences of social rejection more frequently than those who experienced social acceptance. Hence, researchers essentially have identified racism as pyschosocial stressor that causes many Blacks to be in a constant state of guarded awareness of any perceived differences that may be attributed to race; yet an individual's ability to cope with this constant stressful state varys not only by individual but also by situation or circumstance (Brondolo et al., 2007; Brondolo, Brady ver Halen, et al., 2009 Singleton et al., 2008).

In laboratory-based studies, the chronic stress imposed by racism and the ability to cope with the ongoing appraisal of environmental and interpersonal situations has been suggested to explain the differences in rates of hypertension between Blacks and Whites (Gee et al., 2012; Singleton et al., 2008). Guyll et al. (2001) contended that although Black women displayed higher diastolic blood pressure (DBP) than White women after experiencing subtle forms of discrimination (e.g., not being treated with respect or courtesy, treated as though others are better than you, receiving poorer quality customer service), DBP was even higher among Blacks when they perceived the discrimination was racially motivated.

Furthermore, researchers (Hicken et al., 2014; Singleton et al., 2008; Vines et al., 2006) agree that the extent to which Black's blood pressure levels are influenced by their exposure to racism depends on the the strategies they use to cope with the the stressful experience. For example, a random survey of Black women aged 20-80 found that women who utilized passive coping strategies (e.g., accepting or internalizing experiences of racial discrimination) were 4.4 times more likely to have hypertension than women who responded with active coping (e.g., addressing their anger, talking to

someone; Krieger, 1990). Singleton et al. (2008) found that Blacks who chose to avoid or passively cope with racism had higher systolic blood pressure (SBP) and DBP (124.18 and 78.18 mmHg, respectively) compared to those who addressed their feelings (117.59 and 74.15 mmHg, respectively). However, other researchers challenge the correlation of BP to exposure to racism and chronic stress, because laboratory-based studies may not accurately depict the impact of racism on BP under "real-world" conditions (Brondolo et al., 2007; Hill et al., 2007).

Measurement of racial discrimination. In measuring racial discrimination, it is important to delineate the factors that contribute to the challenges in clearly determining the impact of racism. Today's expressions of racial discrimination may occur as subtle, perhaps unintentional, behaviors (e.g., interrupting an individual attempting to share information or asking fewer questions vital to health), which are sometimes difficult to recognize and even more difficult to prove (Williams & Mohammed, 2013). Furthermore, racial discrimination may occur across multiple domains (e.g., neighborhood demographics, educational quality, employment opportunities, access to resources, health outcomes) and have cumulative effects on an individual or population (Jones, 2000; Krieger, 2012; Sims et al., 2012; Tarman & Sears, 2005; Williams & Mohammed, 2013; Williams, 2012).

There are several different instruments that have been used to measure racial discrimination. While some of these scales are commonly used and have provided reasonable support for racial discrimination as a contributor to poorer health outcomes, there are some important hindrances to the consistency and reliability of these

instruments (Atkins, 2014; Blank et al., 2004). Researchers have frequently used race, racism, and discrimination interchangeably; therefore, there is no consistent terminology to assess the construct of racial discrimination (Bastos, Celeste, Faerstein, & Barros, 2010; Sellers, Bonham, Neighbors, & Amell, 2009; Sweet, McDade, Kiefe, & Liu, 2007; Williams et al., 2012). In addition, the gauge for intensity, duration, and frequency of exposure to racial discrimination varies across scales (Atkins, 2014; Bastos et al., 2010; Blank et al., 2004; Sims, Wyatt, Gutierrez, Taylor, & Williams, 2009). Although racism is a multidimensional construct, researchers typically only utilize instruments that measure a single aspect of how racism impacts a population (Sims et al., 2012, 2009). There are three scales commonly used to capture these singular measurements of discrimination:

The Discrimination Scale (Krieger & Sidney, 1996; Krieger, 1990) measured individuals' perceptions of racial discrimination, as well as their responses to perceived unfair treatment, to examine its association to elevated blood pressure. Results from the CARDIA Study were based on approximately 4,000 Black and White total adults in a prospective multisite study across multiple life domains during the 7th year of the study (Krieger & Sidney, 1996). Although there were slightly more Whites, the racial composition was relative comparable. Krieger and Sidney (1996) found that 77% and 84% Black women and men, respectively, experienced racial discrimination in one of the seven domains assessed, with at least 50% of them having experienced racial discrimination in three or more settings. Furthermore, Blacks (particularly women) were almost 20% more likely

than Whites not to respond or act on the unfair treatment they experienced (Krieger & Sidney, 1996). This instrument was also found to have high reliability for both Blacks and Whites (0.81 and 0.77, respectively; (Krieger, Smith, Naishadham, Hartman, & Barbeau, 2005).

Everyday Racial Discrimination Questionnaire (Williams et al., 1997) is among • the most widely used discrimination scales in epidemiologic and public health research. It measures perceptions of discrimination based on socioeconomic position and the impact of day-to-day exposures to perceived race-related stress on health outcomes. Data from this study consisted of approximately 1100 adults from the Detroit metro area during 1995, with relatively equal representation of Blacks and Whites (Williams et al., 1997). An assessment of racial differences in indicators of SES, social class, and stress indicated that Blacks has significantly higher values for all indicators, except chronic stress. For example, Williams et al. (1997) found that Blacks were 1.6 times more likely to have less than high school education, four times more likely to have income less than \$10K, and almost twice as likely to not have supervisory/managerial type jobs. Furthermore, reported Blacks being twice as likely to experience financial and stress and lifeevents, as well as 2-7 times more likely to experience multiple discriminatory events (Williams et al., 1997). Although Blacks had poorer overall health status, the psychological well-being was poorer among Whites, suggesting that Blacks have better coping mechanisms. Although this scale has been found to have good internal reliability (0.88; Williams et al., 1997), the validity of the instrument has

been questioned due to the neutral terminology used to define/describe racial discrimination (Bastos et al., 2010).

Perceived Racism Scale (McNeilly et al., 1996) was developed to measure the frequency of exposure to both individual and institutional racial discrimination across multiple domains (i.e., job-related, within academic settings, and in general public domain). This scale also measures exposure to racist statements, as well as individual's emotional and behavioral coping responses. The sample size of this study was considerably smaller (< 200 adults), more unevenly distributed by gender (almost twice as many women than men), and younger (predominately college students) than the previous studies (McNeilly et al., 1996). In addition, there was no White comparison population. This scale displayed the greatest amount of internal reliability, with a score of 0.96 for lifetime discrimination and 0.92 for behavioral coping (McNeilly et al., 1996).</p>

Researchers (Bastos et al., 2010; Williams et al., 2012) agree that the effect that exposure to racial discrimination potentially has on pathways of disease and health outcomes may vary depending on how racism is manifested (e.g., job-related discrimination, exclusion/rejection, threats/aggressive behaviors or acts). Little or no evidence is available regarding the effect of internalized racism, whether dose-response from exposure exists, how racism exposure interacts with other social factors to influence health outcomes, and how racial discrimination can be comprehensively assessed over the lifecourse (Chae et al., 2010; Williams & Mohammed, 2013). Hence, there is a need to address some of these conceptual and measurement issues.

Racial discrimination and health care. Exposure to racism has also been speculated to impede trust in the healthcare system, specifically the development of beneficial patient-provider relationships (Brondolo, Brady ver Halen, et al., 2009; Hausmann, Kressin, Hanusa, & Ibrahim, 2010; Klonoff, 2009; Musa et al., 2009). For example, a study of a diverse cohort of approximately 55,000 California residents revealed that compared to Whites, all other race/ethnic populations were less likely to receive preventive care services (Trivedi & Ayanian, 2006). Study participants who reported discrimination exposure were statistically less likely to receive four of the six preventive care services (i.e., diabetic foot exams, HbA1c testing, cholesterol testing, and influenza vaccination), even after adjusting for demographics, perceived health status, and frequency of doctor visits (Trivedi & Ayanian, 2006). Interestingly, Blacks were also less likely than Whites to receive four of the six services even after adjusting for perceived discrimination (Trivedi & Ayanian, 2006). However, Hausmann, Jeong, Bost, and Ibrahim (2008) argued that although persons who perceive negative discrimination had lower healthcare utilization rates, those rates were not statistically significant after controlling for demographic variables (e.g., race, education, income, health coverage), and other factors that guide patient behaviors should be considered. For example, Blacks may be less likely to utilize or receive healthcare services in part due to limited trust in the healthcare system.

Researchers posit mistrust of the healthcare system and healthcare providers, largely initiated by the Tuskegee Syphilis study's legacy, but also including factors such as other systematic efforts to 'treat' minority groups without adequate informed consent, conspiracy theories, physician biases, and disparities in access to health care services (Klonoff, 2009; Musa et al., 2009). In a study of Medicare enrollees aged 65 years and older in Pennsylvania, Blacks were found to have less trust in their healthcare provider, and more trust in social networks that may provide health information (e.g., family, friends, church leaders) than Whites (Musa et al., 2009). Musa et al. (2009) further postulated that the level of trust observed by older Blacks in this population is likely to be higher than that of Blacks in younger age groups, due to an increase need for continuity of care and more frequent provider-patient interactions in later life. These findings support the need for standard tools to measure aspects of racism (e.g., discrimination in healthcare). Improved techniques for the measurement of racial discrimination may provide parameters by which healthcare providers can improve or repair the generational distrust of Black patients. The elevation of racial discrimination in healthcare may potentially constitute significant improvements in health disparities.

SES associated stress. In earlier sections of this chapter, the relationship of SES to health outcomes was addressed. The social benefits afforded to individuals of higher SES may create assumptions that they experience less overall chronic stress than individuals of lower SES. Myers (2008) argued that being of lower SES and person of color is a dual social burden. As such, Blacks are commonly and disproportionally burdened by complex macrosocial issues (e.g., poverty, residential segregation, resource deprivation), which demands overutilization of already deprived community resources and significantly increases one's exposure to chronic stress.

Some reseachers agree that individuals of lower SES are more likely to experience repetitive exposure to economic hardships, other stressful life events, or even some combination of the two over their lifecourse or within a short period of time (e.g., 1-2 years; Libman, Fields, & Saegert, 2012; Kapuku, Treiber, & Davis, 2002). Some studies indicate that Blacks with more education or middle-class income are more likely to report racially-motivated experiences, and suffer more emotional distress as a result of such experiences than lower income Blacks (Sellers et al., 2009; Sellers, Neighbors, & Bonham, 2011); whereas, other research depicts lower income Blacks as more likely to be subjected to racism due to limited decision-making ability over work-related demands (e.g., number of tasks to complete in an allotted period of time, length of a workday, flexibility for time off (Myers, 2014; Sellers et al., 2009).

Skin color. The skin color of Blacks varies widely from very fair to very dark complexions. Some researchers contend that skin color, as opposed to race, predisposes Blacks to hypertension due to a more graduated risk of racism exposure (Monk, 2015; Hall, 2007; Sweet et al., 2007). An empirical test to determine whether or not skin color was correlated with differences in exposure to racial discrimination revealed that dark-skinned Blacks were approximately 11 times more likely to have frequent exposures to racial discrimination than light-skinned Blacks (Klonoff & Landrine, 2000).

Klonoff and Landrine (2000) also found that men were three times more likely than women to have a high frequency of exposure to racial discrimination. Hall (2007) maintained that dark-skinned Black males are more likely than light-skinned Black males to be vilified by Whites, the media, and law enforcement as having committed heinous crimes, simply because the contrast of their skin color represents nonconformity with mainstream American norms. Black males, particularly those of darker skin, are acutely aware that "given the power of the media to impose and to monitor norms, such victimization may keep those who are otherwise ordinary law abiding citizens under constant emotional and psychological stress" (Hall, 2007, p. 207).

Analysis of CARDIA study data indicated that Blacks of darker skin tone had higher systolic blood pressures (118.6 mmHg vs. 115.7 mmHg) and were more likely to take antihypertensive mediation (14.37% v. 9.34%) compared to Blacks of lighter skin tone, respectively (Sweet et al., 2007). These findings were attributed to darker skin tone Blacks experiencing more chronic stress associated with racial discrimination than lighter skin tone Blacks (Sweet et al., 2007), suggesting that the American society generally views darker skin color as more threatening.

Skin color has also been considered a potential confounder of SES (Klag et al., 1991; Sweet et al., 2007). For example, researchers have postulated that dark-skinned Blacks are more likely to have lower income and less prestigous jobs than light-skinned Blacks (Sweet et al., 2007). Researchers disagreed about whether or not skin color and SES interact to affect blood pressure (Hall, 2007; Klag et al., 1991; Sweet et al., 2007). Klag et al. (1991) observed a 2-point increase in SBP and DBP for each measured increase in skin darkness, with dark-skinned Blacks having the highest blood pressures.

Conversely, Sweet et al.'s (2007) findings illustrated that as SES increased, blood pressure decreased among light-skinned Blacks in a protective pattern similar to that observed among Whites; however, increasing SES had no effect on blood pressure among dark-skinned Blacks. Although Klag et al. (1991) suggested that dark-skinned Blacks suffer greater burden of psychosocial stressors (i.e., racism) and hypertension attributable to the combination of darker skin color and SES, the association of factors may actually be more complex. However, Sweet et al. (2007) supported Hall's (2007) argument that it is the social experiences, more so than SES, of dark-skinned Blacks that contribute to higher blood pressures.

There does not appear to be consensus about whether or not specific groups of Blacks have greater exposure to racism or discriminatory practices than others. The lack of consensus regarding perceived racism within the Black population results from inconsistencies in the focus of the study participants (e.g., age, SES, skin color), differences in how racism is measured, whether or not coping ability is assessed, and how the process used to connect racism to health outcomes (Sellers et al., 2009; Sweet et al., 2007). In addition, the perceptions of exposure to racism and ability to cope with occurrences vary greatly across individuals and events. Further investigation is necessary to better understand the association racism has to hypertension, and identify opportunities for social changes that may improve this health disparity. Empirical studies have demonstrated that racism strongly influences SES, and SES is a known indicator of health risk. Therefore, there is a convincing argument to investigate SES and racism concurrently.

Conceptual Framework

There are multiple models that have been developed to explore the relationship of racial discrimination and health outcomes, and each model focuses on different aspects of

their connection. Some frameworks proved to be less of an appropriate fit for this study than others due to the approach for measuring the racism-health relationship. For instance, Pascoe and Smart Richman (2009) developed a model that measured different pathways by which experiences of perceived racial discrimination may mentally and physically affect health outcomes. The pathways illustrated in this model are mediated by physiology, behavioral, and physical stress responses (Pascoe & Smart Richman, 2009), and do not consider the role of institutional, socioeconomic, or cultural exposures. In addition, the impact of racism exposure over the life course is not measured. Cuffee et al. (2012) developed a conceptual model adapted the Model of Perceived Discrimination and Health Outcomes to identify intervening opportunities between perceived discrimination and hypertension. However, the basis of this model was to hypothesize that the pathway racial discrimination to adverse health outcomes was influenced by aspects of the patientprovider relationship (i.e., trust in providers, communication, patient self-efficacy), along with genetic and sociodemographic factors (Cuffee et al., 2012).

Krieger (2012a) recently crafted a complex ecosocial model to illustrate how exposure to racism occurs simultaneously in occupational, environmental, and social domains, along with historical and generational context, over the life course in a multilevel ecosystem (e.g., area, regional, national). Krieger's study (2012a) found that while more than 85% of participants reported high exposure to at least 1 of the 3 domains for racism, Blacks experienced the most racism exposure (with 20 to 30% experiencing high exposure in all three domains). Moreover, individuals experience the impact of exposure, susceptibility, and resistance to injustice practices simultaneously because their race, SES, gender, and other social characteristics are embodied simultaneously. Therefore, an ecosocial approach is needed in order to fully understand the impact of both individual and collective harm on the health of Blacks. Although this framework has a comprehensive approach, it considers indicators of social and economic depravity that are more associated with the domains (e.g., exposure to toxins and pathogens, marketing of harmful products to targeted audiences, and resistance or injustice to discriminatory behaviors and practices) than the individual. Therefore, the pathways to assess the impact of racism in this framework do not align with the focus of this study.

Gee et al. (2012) developed a conceptual model describing how racism affects the life course trajectory to create disparities in life expectancy. Researchers compared a typical life course trajectory with a life course trajectory influenced by racism to illustrate that individuals who do not have exposure to racism experience longer prenatal, education, work, and retirement periods, which culminates in a longer life trajectory (Gee et al., 2012). Conversely, individuals in a life course trajectory shaped by racism experience greater mid-life periods of poor health, incarceration, and unemployment, thereby creating a shorter life trajectory (Gee et al., 2012). However, this framework does not include indicators of SES, which overlooks a key element of the study.

There are two theoretical frameworks identified that most closely align with the constructs in this literature review and delineate the relationship between them. First, Harper et al. (2011) developed a model to examine how the role of social determinants in CVD outcomes is embodied by life course, historical, and geographic context. As shown in Figure 5, the model implies that the level of CVD in a population is contingent upon
socioeconomic position determining the prevalence of risk factors; however, both the distribution of socioeconomic position and risk factors are dynamically influenced by macrosocial conditions across time and place (Harper et al., 2011). This study was used for a global examination of the interconnected pathway for investigating CVD, and imparts empirical evidence to show that socioeconomic depravity can occur without causing increases in CVD risk (Harper et al., 2011). Hence, Harper et al. (2011) urges that "their effect [social determinants] are conditional on the strength of the links between macrosocial changes and more proximal causes of disease" (p. 54). Although this study did not address issues of racism or racial discrimination as a macrosocial condition, and no publications were identified which applied this model specifically to a study of racial discrimination, racial discrimination has previously been defined as a social determinant of health. Therefore, in addition to Harper's framework (2011), another framework was be used to systematically outline the proximal pathways by which exposure to racism leads to adverse health outcomes.



Figure 5. Macrosocial conditions, socioeconomic position, risk factors and CVD risk historical, geographic, and life course context. From "Social Determinants and the Decline of Cardiovascular Diseases: Understanding the Links," by Harper et al., 2011,

Annual Review of Public Health, 32(1), p. 40. Reprinted with permission requested from *Annual Reviews of Public Health*. The model implies that the prevalence of risk factors establishes the level of CVD in a population (arrow 1), these risk factors are influenced by both the extent of macrosocial factors (arrow 2) and socioeconomic position (arrow 3), socioeconomic position is determined by macrosocial conditions (arrow 4), and all of these constructs are dynamically connected and embedded in multiple environments.

Williams and Mohammed (2013) recently created a framework for examining racism and health (Figure 6). This model illustrates that racism and social status create the proximal pathways that link risk factors to adverse health outcomes. Specifically, Williams and Mohammed (2013) contend that "Racism is not only the determinant of intervening mechanisms, but its presence as a fundamental cause in a society can alter and transform the other social factors and can exacerbate the negative effects of other risk factors for health" (p. 1158). Because inequities occur at each stage of the process, it is often difficult to fully grasp the multi-layer, and likely cumulative, impact that racism has on health. Although not captured in the framework itself, researchers do recommend that exposure to racial discrimination be measured over the life course (Williams & Mohammed, 2013). Hence, although the entire framework was not be investigated in this study, it supports the constructs previously discussed in this chapter, and improves understanding of their relationship.



Figure 6. A framework for the study of racism and health. From "Racism and Health I: Pathways and Scientific Evidence," by Williams and Mohammed, 2013, *American Behavioral Scientist*, 57(8), p. 1157. Reprinted with permission from Sage Journals.

CVD Burden in Mississippi

Mississippi has the highest prevalence of CVD in the nation (CDC, 2013a), which is estimated to be approximately 30% higher than the overall U.S. prevalence rate ("The 2005 Mississippi State of the Heart Report," 2005). The state of Mississippi reported, in 2002, that the overall CVD mortality rate was 420.7/100,000 compared to 319.0/100,000 for the U.S. (Taylor et al., 2005; "The 2005 Mississippi State of the Heart Report," 2005). Moreover, data show elevated trends for CVD mortality rates among Blacks in Mississippi, particularly men, have remained since 1979, compared to rates for their White counterparts (Jones et al., 2000; "The 2005 Mississippi State of the Heart Report," 2005). Specifically, the Black-White gap reached as high as 46% higher in 1995 (Jones et al., 2000), but was reported at 18% in 2004 ("The 2005 Mississippi State of the Heart Report," 2005). Of greater concern, Mississippi investigators agreed that Black men experienced alarming rates of premature CVD mortality (under the age 65), which increased from 27% in 1979 to 45% in 2004; yet, rates among White men hovered between approximately 25% to 30% during the same time period (Jones et al., 2000; "The 2005 Mississippi State of the Heart Report," 2005). It is likely that a combination of factors (e.g., elevated rates of hypertension, increased exposure to lower SES, and stress induced by racism) may explain the differences in black-white mortality distribution.

Not only is Mississippi a state where Blacks have some of the highest rates of hypertension in the country, but it is also a state with high poverty and a complex racial history. There were 10 states in 2009 that had hypertension prevalence rates greater than or equal to 30.6%; however, the prevalence of hypertension in Mississippi was the highest in the country (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2010). Similar to CVD mortality rates in Mississippi, Jones et al. (2000) estimated that Black men experience hypertension rates roughly four-fold greater than White men.

The U.S. Census Bureau ("Mississippi QuickFacts from the U.S. Census Bureau," 2011) indicated that Mississippi has a higher population of Blacks and individuals living below the poverty compared to the United States overall (37.0% versus 12.6% and 21.8% versus 14.3%, respectively). Finally, Mississippi has a long, and sometime highly

publicized, history of racism. Even as recently as August 2011, blatant hate crimes were committed against a Black male for no other reason than the color of his skin (CNN, 2011). Though some may consider this an isolated incident, Blacks in Mississippi may believe that they experience a greater degree of racial assaults on a regular basis, and therefore may face higher levels of race-based stress.

Review of the Jackson Health Study

The Jackson Heart Study (JHS) cohort is a viable population to investigate the correlation of psychosocial factors (e.g., racism) and SES on hypertension risk among Blacks. JHS was a collaborative longitudinal study primarily focused on understanding and preventing the causes of CVD among Blacks. Since 2000, JHS has been the largest single-site epidemiologic study to understand CVD among Blacks (Taylor, 2003), thereby creating the opportunity to investigate strategies to prevent adverse CVD outcomes among Black in manner that is likely more relevant and comprehensive than other studies.

JHS grew out of findings from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study, which indicated that Blacks who had a myocardial infarction were not only more likely to die before being admitted to the hospital and less likely to receive cardiac process, but also more likely to the be hypertensive and of lower SES (Taylor et al., 2005). Although there were four ARIC study sites, the Jackson, Mississippi location was the only one that was predominantly Blacks, and researchers initiated the JHS to further understand CVD preventative strategies that may be more impactful among Blacks. In addition, Mississippi has the largest proportion (36%) of Blacks in the United States (Taylor, 2003). A cohort of 5,302 Blacks was recruited from the three counties that comprise the Jackson metropolitan area, through a combination of recruitment strategies: random (17%), volunteer (22%), current enrollment in the ARIC Study (30%), and family members of enrollees (31%). All participants were required to be noninstitutionalized adults between the ages of 35-84; however, adult family member aged 21-34 were also included the study. Furthermore, retention of study participants for long-term follow up is high due to the limited migration of this population outside of the metropolitan area (Taylor, 2003).

To date, JHS has collected data at three different intervals, including Exam 1 (2004), Exam 2 (2005-2008), and Exam 3 (2009-2012). Data collection includes a mixture of biomedical sampling (i.e., obtained from medical history, physical exam, and blood and urine samples) and personal interviews of each participant; hence, researchers have been able to compile an wide array of information about not only traditional CVD risk factors, but also aspects of psychosocial functioning, spirituality, stress, racism and discrimination exposure, socioeconomic position, and access to health resources, which may be compared to medical records over time (Taylor et al., 2005). The extensive data collected by the JHS furthers the opportunity to provide evidence related to the ongoing debate on the effect that racism may have on health outcomes (e.g., hypertension) among Blacks, and whether or not measures of SES contributes to the effect observed.

Overview of JHS study findings

As of 2012, three studies have been conducted to explore racism in the JHS cohort. One study was conducted to test the multidimensional Jackson Heart Study

Discrimination (JHSDIS) Instrument (Sims et al., 2009). Another investigated the association of perceived discrimination with hypertension among cohort participants (Sims et al., 2012). Finally, Hickson et al. (2012) examined the association between discrimination and abdominal fat among JHS men and women.

Preliminary findings from the testing of the JHSDIS instrument (JHS data collected from 2000-2004) revealed that racial discrimination is a cause for concern among Blacks in Jackson, MS. Roughly all JHS participants (n=5200) completed the JHSDIS instrument. Most Blacks indicated having experienced some type of discrimination, and nearly half of the discrimination documented was attributed to race (Sims et al., 2009). Each construct was also analyzed to determine differences by age group (21-34, 35-44, 45-64, and 65+) and sex. There was a higher occurrence of everyday discrimination compared to other types, particularly among those ages 21-44. Among the nine domains of everyday discrimination assessed, individuals 21-44 perceived discrimination at higher rates (68-74%) than individuals of all other age groups (22-68%) for five of the nine domains (Sims et al., 2009), but were also higher for the remaining domains. However, the population subgroup found to be most impacted by discrimination depended on the construct of discrimination being measured.

For major life events, racial discrimination occurred more frequently among individuals aged 35-64 compared to all other age groups, and was reported most frequently at work (68-70% vs. 54-64%, respectively) or when trying to get a job (49-52% vs. 31-45%, respectively; Sims et al., 2009). As age groups increased, individuals seem to have been more impacted by the burden that discrimination had on their life.

Among individuals age 21-34, 14% reported that discrimination made life stressful, 20% reported that it interfered with the fullness of their life, and approximately 24% reported it made life hard (Sims et al., 2009). However, rates for the same measures were 24%, 38%, and 42%, respectively among those 45-64 (Sims et al., 2009). Minimal difference was reported by age for how skin color affected treatment by Blacks and Whites. Across all constructs and for the majority of the domains, males reported higher rates of perceived discrimination even though there are almost twice as many females in the study. In addition, discrimination rates were lower overall in the 65 and older age group, which may be attributed to females living longer, and therefore comprising a larger proportion of the respondents in this age category.

Sims et al. (2012) analyzed JHS data to ascertain if health behaviors (e.g., unhealthy eating, sedentary lifestyle, tobacco, and alcohol use) partially mediated a positive association between perceived discrimination and hypertension among Blacks, and if effect modification by gender existed. The dichotomous responses for domains of each discrimination category were combined to generate a score, and then stratified into low or high quartiles based on race as an attributor. As such, the association between perceived discrimination and hypertension was estimated before and after controlling for age, gender, health behaviors, and SES (i.e., education, income, and occupation). Data were also stratified by gender, but no interaction was found (Sims et al., 2012).

Sims et al. (2012) found that although the prevalence of hypertension was slightly higher among women (64%) compared to men (60%), men reported higher levels of everyday, lifetime, and burden of discrimination attributed to race (27.1%, 45.8%, and

40.3%, respectively) compared to women (18.4%, 33.7%, 29.8%, respectively). However, women were more likely than men to indicate that life was very stressful as a result of lifetime discrimination (27.2% vs. 19.6%, respectively; (Sims et al., 2012).

Researchers found a positive association between high levels of lifetime discrimination and measures of high SES; however, health behaviors varied in terms of the category of discrimination which were associated as depicted in Table 3 (Sims et al., 2012). Higher BMI was associated with everyday discrimination; physical activity with both everyday and lifetime discrimination; and smoking, dietary fiber, and sodium intake with everyday and burden from discrimination (Sims et al., 2012). Alcohol intake was not found to have an association to discrimination.

Furthermore, Sims et al. (2012) found that the association of hypertension and discrimination was largely influenced by the measures used to define discrimination. Hypertension was not associated with everyday discrimination; however, the participants in the JHS had a 4% increase in hypertension prevalence for each increase in standard deviation for lifetime discrimination, PR=1.04; 95% CI [1.01,1.06] (Sims et al., 2012). Even after controlling for health behaviors, the association persisted. Additionally, individual who reported lifetime discrimination in at least one domain and had high burden of discrimination were also found to have a 9% higher prevalence of hypertension, even after controlling for demographic factors, such as age, gender, SES, PR for Q4 vs. Q1= 1.09, 95% CI [1.02,1.16], P for trend=0.01 (Sims et al., 2012). There was a 2% increase in hypertension prevalence for each increase in standard deviation in burden of discrimination; however, the association loses its statistical significance after

controlling for health behaviors, PR=1.02, 95% CI [1.00,1.05] (Sims et al., 2012). Interestingly, high levels of lifetime discrimination were associated with hypertension regardless of the attributing factor (racial or nonracial), PR=1.07, 95% CI [1.01,1.14] compared to PR=1.08, 95% CI [1.00,1.16], respectively); however, elevated hypertension rates were associated with an increased burden of discrimination only when it was attributed to racial factors, PR attributed to race=1.08, 95% CI [1.02, 1.14] compared to PR attributed to nonracial factors=1.03, 95% CI [0.96,1.10] (Sims et al., 2012).

The study conducted by Sims et al. (2012) is among the first to examine multiple measures of discrimination and their association with hypertension, and revealed that high levels of lifetime discrimination and burden from discrimination were most impactful on blood pressure. This finding provides weight for understanding how the stress of discriminatory experiences, particular those that impact the necessary functions of one's life (e.g., the ability to work, live in a safe environment, having adequate housing) and the extent of exposure (e.g., over the course of one's lifetime), contribute to adverse health outcomes. Sims et al. (2012) posit that the lack of association between everyday discrimination and hypertension is because this measure of discrimination may only reflect brief changes in blood pressure; whereas high levels of lifetime discrimination or high burden from discrimination reflect more sustained blood pressure changes (Sims et al., 2012). Although the JHS is the largest CVD study among Black conducted to date, its results are not generalizable to Blacks nationwide. The history of racial tension in Mississippi may increase the potential for lifetime discrimination or

greater burden, even from a single instance, resulting either from personal experiences, attitudes, or beliefs regarding what is fair.

Research Gaps within JHS

The JHS data provides significant insights into the interactions between race and other factors related to health status. However, continued investigations of these data to examine the interaction of other factors that may explain the CVD disparities observed among Blacks are needed. Use of different study designs, better discrimination measurements, and effect modification of coping strategies are some of the recommended research methods endorsed by Sims et al. (2012) to improve understanding of how discrimination affects hypertension.

It is important to note that JHS data has not been examined to assess the association between discrimination and hypertension across all exam periods for which data was collected. In addition, measures of SES only reflected the participant's education, income, and occupation; however, JHS also collected data pertaining to parental SES and neighborhood SES. Perhaps exploration of these measures of SES, either individually or collectively, can further guide our understanding of how CVD health disparities manifest.

Conclusions (Impact for Social Change)

The purpose of this study is to provide additional support to the argument of whether or not racism contributes to the health inequalities between Blacks and Whites, and how. The literature cited throughout this chapter provides insight on how an individual's SES, beginning in childhood and continuing over their lifecourse, strongly influences multiple aspects of their social and economic well-being. In addition, the cited literature described mixed results about whether or not racial discrimination contributes to the health disparities experienced by Blacks. The lack of standardized measurement strategies used to assess racism are likely a major reason for those inconsistencies. Hence, further research should seek to develop methods to define the impact of racism exposure over the lifecourse. Research gaps also exist in understanding whether or not the racial discrimination that Blacks experience over their life course are moderated by an individual's level of SES.

The study aims to advance Sims' research on the influence of perceived lifecourse racial discrimination and levels of SES, measured over the lifecourse, on increased rates of hypertension and CVD outcomes among Blacks in Jackson, MS. Chapter 3 identifies research questions and define the methods that were used to address these research gaps. The findings contribute greater understanding to the racial dynamics that influence poor health outcomes, and provide evidence for needed changes in policies, practices, infrastructure, and/or social norms in order to improve the racial disparities that exist for CVD and other diseases.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to demonstrate whether or not racism contributes to the cardiovascular disease (CVD) health disparities observed among Blacks in the Jackson Heart Study (JHS), and to what extent. More specifically, this study investigated how Blacks in the JHS cohort experience racism at different SES levels, and how the interaction between SES mobility and racism influences the extent to which hypertension leads to CVD outcomes.

This research project was conducted using secondary data from Exam 1 of the Jackson Heart Study (JHS). The JHS is a large, single-site cohort study that has prospectively examined genetic and psychosocial factors that influence hypertension, heart disease, stroke, and other health outcomes among the Black population of more than 5,300 men and women in the Jackson, MS metro area (Fuqua et al., 2005; Taylor, 2003, 2005b; Taylor et al., 2005). During Exams 1 (2004) and 3 (2009-2012), JHS collected data on constructs used to measure discrimination in the domains of everyday experiences, major life events (lifetime), burden of discrimination, and the effect of skin color. For the purposes of this study, only a cross-sectional analysis of data collected from the baseline period (Exam 1) was used to explore the interaction between SES mobility over the lifecourse and lifetime racial discrimination (i.e., SES-Racism Effect).

Because the Exam 3 were not available for analysis at the time of this study (M. Sims, personal communication, August 29, 2013), this study provides some baseline information about whether Blacks who report higher burden of the SES-Racism Effect

are more likely to experience a higher prevalence of hypertension and CVD compared to Blacks who report lower burden of the SES-Racism Effect. The results of this study may provide further opportunity to compare the impact of the SES-Racism Effect at different time periods.

In this chapter, the methodology used to conduct this research study is described in detail. This chapter begins with the identification of the research questions to be answered. Next, a description of the research design, study population, instruments, variables, and the analytic plan used to guide this investigation are illustrated. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the methodological concerns that pose potential threats to the study's validity.

Research Design and Rationale

This study was based on a quantitative cross-sectional analysis of secondary data to examine the causal pathway by which racial discrimination impacts CVD. To understand this pathway, the presence of a SES-Racism Effect was examined by understanding the relationship between SES mobility and perceived lifetime racism. Additional analysis was conducted to explore whether age, gender, or both influence the strength or direction of this relationship. Figure 1 below illustrates the causal path using a moderated effect; gradient shading is used to denote the change in the strength or direction between the independent variable (i.e., levels of SES mobility) and the dependent variable (i.e., levels of perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure). This model (Figure 2) was repeated with a different dependent variable (i.e., levels of burden attributed to lifetime racial discrimination). Next, I examined how SES mobility and perceived lifetime racial discrimination independently effect the association between hypertension and CVD. Figure 3 provides a visual illustration for how SES mobility, perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, and burden may independently moderate the pathway between hypertension and CVD. The previously described analyses investigated perceived lifetime racism using constructs to independently measure both racism exposure and burden. Based on the findings of these analyses, the racism construct determined to have the strongest association was used to define the SES-Racism Effect. Finally, I explored whether the SES-Racism Effect (e.g., low, high) modifies the association between hypertension and CVD outcomes. The relationship between hypertension and CVD has been well-established in the literature (Flack, Ferdinand, & Nasser, 2003; Go et al., 2012; Williams, 2009; Wyatt et al., 2008). Figure 4 illustrates how the SES-Racism Effect may moderate the causal pathway between hypertension and CVD. Hence, this study focused on four main research questions. These research questions are listed below, along with the related hypotheses and statistical tests. In addition, all hypotheses were adjusted for the following covariates: age, gender, BMI (kg/m^2) , smoking status (current, former, never), physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol consumption, diet (% fat consumption), total cholesterol (mg.dL), LDL (mg/dL), HDL (mg/dL), and John Henryism.

Research Questions

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What is the relationship between levels of SES mobility, as measured by the change in SES from childhood to adulthood, and levels of

lifetime racial discrimination, as measured by the occurrence of cumulative perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race?

- Hypothesis 1: Increasing levels of SES mobility are associated with decreasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race after adjusting for the following covariates, identified based on previous studies and determined to have a statistical association (p<0.20) in the current sample: BMI (kg/m²), smoking status, physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol consumption, diet, total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and John Henryism, financial adversity/stress, and job strain.
- Null Hypothesis 1: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure was attributed to race after adjusting for identified covariates.

If an association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race was identified, the following subhypotheses were also tested (Figure 1):

Hypothesis 1b: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race was inversely moderated by age. Null Hypothesis 1b: There are no statistically significant differences in the association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race when moderated by age. Hypothesis 1c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race was more strongly moderated by males than females.

Null Hypothesis 1c: There are no statistically significant differences in the association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race when moderated by males than females.

- Independent variables: Levels of SES mobility (4 categorical variables), Age (5 interval variables), and Gender (2 categorical variables)
- Dependent variable: Levels of Lifetime Racial Discrimination Exposure (3 categorical variables)
- Statistical Test: Polytomous Logistic Regression



Figure 1. Causal pathway between Levels of SES Mobility and Levels of Perceived Lifetime Racial Discrimination moderated by Age and Gender.

Research Question (RQ2): What is the relationship between levels of SES mobility, as measured by the change in SES from childhood to adulthood, and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination, as measured by the extent of life stressfulness, difficulty, and productivity as a result of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race?

- Hypothesis 2: Increasing levels of SES mobility are associated with decreasing levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination after adjusting for the following covariates, identified based on previous studies and determined to have a statistical association (p<0.20) in the current sample: BMI (kg/m²), smoking status, physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol consumption, diet, total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and John Henryism, financial adversity/stress, and job strain.
- Null Hypothesis 2: There are no statistically significant associations between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination after adjusting for identified covariates.

If an association between levels of SES mobility and levels burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination was identified, the following subhypotheses were also tested (Figure 2):

- Hypothesis 2b: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race was inversely moderated by age.
- Null Hypothesis 2b: There are no statistically significant differences in the association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination when moderated by age.

- Hypothesis 2c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race was higher in males than females.
- Null Hypothesis 2c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination was moderated by gender.
 - Independent variables: Levels of SES mobility (4 categorical variables), Age (5 interval variables), and Gender (2 categorical variables)
 - Dependent variable: Levels of Burden Attributed to Lifetime Racial Discrimination (3 categorical variables)
 - Statistical Test: Polytomous Logistic Regression



Figure 2. Causal pathway between Levels of SES Mobility and Levels of Burden Attributed to Lifetime Racial Discrimination moderated by Age and Gender. Research Question 3 (RQ3): Do the levels of SES mobility, perceived lifetime

racial discrimination exposure, or burden moderate the relationship between hypertension

and cardiovascular disease (Figure 3)?

- Hypothesis 3: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was inversely moderated by increasing levels of SES mobility.
- Null Hypothesis 3: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was not moderated by increasing levels of SES mobility.
- Hypothesis 3b: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was positively moderated by increasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race.
- Null Hypothesis 3b: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was not moderated by increasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race.
- Hypothesis 3c: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was positively moderated by increasing levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination.
- Null Hypothesis 3c: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was not moderated by increasing levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination.

• Independent variables: Hypertension (dichotomous variable), Levels of SES mobility (4 categorical variables), Levels of perceived racism exposure (3 categorical variables), and Levels of perceived racism burden (3 categorical variables)

- Dependent variable: Cardiovascular Disease (dichotomous variable)
- Statistical Test: Multivariate logistic regression



Figure 3. Causal pathway between hypertension and CVD outcomes moderated by levels of the SES mobility, perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, or burden.

Research Question 4 (RQ4): If a relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race is found (i.e., SES-Racism Effect), does the SES-Racism Effect moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease?

- Hypothesis 4: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was positively moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.
- Null Hypothesis 4: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was not moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.
 - Independent variable: Hypertension (dichotomous variable) and SES-

Racism Effect (categorical variable)

- Dependent variable: Cardiovascular disease (dichotomous variable)
- Statistical analysis: Multivariate logistic regression



Figure 4. Causal pathway between hypertension and CVD outcomes moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.

Methodology

Although there are a variety of recruitment techniques typically used by researchers to recruit participants into a study (e.g., social marketing, researcherresearched contextual matching, participatory action), JHS researchers recommended that the recruitment techniques used for the JHS tackle the long-standing issues for Black populations, such as distrust of research motives and practices, negative stereotypes, and fear of abuse (Sims et al., 2009). Researchers for the JHS recognized that mistrust and cultural insensitivity were barriers for the recruitment and retention of Blacks participating in the Jackson cohort of the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study (Fuqua et al., 2005; Sims et al., 2009; Wyatt, Diekelmann, et al., 2003). Consequently, the population used for the JHS has been uniquely defined and developed through the culmination of lessons learned from previous research conducted within the Jackson, MS community.

Researchers have utilized the JHS Participant Recruitment and Retention Survey

(PPRS) as the initial basis for determining specific factors and experiences that either promoted or inhibited participation in the ARIC study or the intended protocol for the JHS. This is especially true among individuals at the younger and older ends of the projected age range (Wyatt, Diekelmann, et al., 2003). PRRS was a pilot project to identify effective strategies to engage Black's ongoing participation in a research study (Wyatt, Diekelmann, et al., 2003). Specifically, the aims of the PRRS included improved understanding of:

- factors that facilitated and inhibited participation among Jackson Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study (ARIC) cohort participants and dropouts,
- 2. enabling or hindering factors for participation, particularly among younger and older Black adults in the Jackson community, and
- 3. how typical experiences related to participation in a research study may influence the JHS research protocol (Wyatt, Diekelmann, et al., 2003).

PRRS provided quantitative and qualitative results, which were culturally appropriate and community specific, as the theoretical basis for the Community-Driven Model used to recruit and retain the cohort of participants for the JHS.

Although the JHS is similar to the Framingham Heart Study, one of the first prospective cohort studies to examine the physical and lifestyle patterns related to CVD development (Arruda, 2013), the JHS focused solely on the Black community and used a Community-Driven Model (Wyatt, Diekelmann, et al., 2003). Wyatt et al. (2003) described community-based approaches to research as "a step toward resolving the potential conflicts between science and community needs and addressing the problems of implementation..." in a manner that is "particularly effective in studies with health screenings, illness identification, referrals and assistance with behavioral changes" (p. 444).

Community members offer the wisdom of community strengths and assets, as well as social/political challenges and barriers, providing a bridge to trusted community networks. To this end, the development of the Community-Driven Model based on PRRS positioned the Jackson community members to be an integral part of process for developing the JHS research protocol, serving as coinvestigators in the study, and contributing to the dissemination process of study findings (Wyatt et al., 2003). Researchers and community members were aware of the need to maintain ongoing reciprocal trust and respect, as well as balanced distribution of power, to prevent undermining the overall study results. Therefore, recruitment for the JHS was based on a community participatory strategy, which demonstrated respect for individuals in Jackson, MS communities; a model that has successfully used for more than a decade.

Sampling Procedures

JHS participants were recruited based on a combination of four sampling frames. First, a sample of individuals from the participant pool of the Jackson, MS site of the ARIC study was recruited. When the JHS began, a total of 3371 ARIC participants were still alive, with ages ranging from 57 to 76. However, death of ARIC cohort participants caused reduction of the eligible sample to 3027. Second, individuals were chosen randomly from the Accudata America commercial listing, which provided a list of the majority of households in the Jackson metro area with individuals at least 35 years of age (n=123,403). The listing of Accudata household was connected to Census data to identify neighborhoods with the greatest prevalence of Blacks (neighborhoods with less than 30% Black residents were deleted from the list). Third, volunteers were accepted if they met the Census-match for age, sex, and socioeconomic status (SES) criteria for the Jackson metropolitan statistical area (MSA). Finally, family members of participants recruited from the ARIC, random, and volunteer samples of the JHS study were recruited if they had at least two full siblings and four first degree relatives who resided in the Jackson MSA who were also willing to participate in the study. Unlike the samples recruited from the other sampling frames, participants of the family component were eligible to participate at the age of 21 (with no upper age limit), but continued to be matched to the distribution of the Jackson MSA population for age, sex, and SES (Fuqua et al., 2005).

Study Population

To be eligible to participate in the JHS, participants were required to be Blacks who resided within three counties (i.e., Hinds, Madison, and Rankin) that comprise the Jackson, MS metropolitan statistical area (MSA), were noninstitutionalized, and were between 35 to 84 years of age as of September 1, 2000 (n=76,420; Fuqua et al., 2005; Jackson Heart Study, 2001). In an effort to identify a sample representative of the Jackson metro area, demographic factors (i.e., age, sex, and socioeconomic status) were matched to the distribution of the geographic population (Fuqua et al., 2005). While there is a vast age range of participants that were eligible for participation, Fuqua et al. (2005) noted that the majority of study participants aged 35 to 54 and more likely to be of middle to high SES. In addition, JHS made further allowances to include specific population groups, including women in their final trimester of pregnancy, women postpartum less than three months, individuals with language problems who had someone to serve as an interpreter, and individuals who were temporarily outside of the study area during the time of recruitment (Jackson Heart Study, 2001). Based on the inclusion criteria, the individuals who were subsequently excluded included individuals who resided outside the tri-county study area, were identified by the trained recruiters to be physically or mentally incapable, or indicated that relocation would occur within 12 month of the study's initiation (Fuqua et al., 2005; Jackson Heart Study, 2001). In addition, any individuals who resided within group settings containing 10 or more adults, in which nine or more were not related to one another, were not eligible to participate in this study. Examples of these group settings include prisons, dormitories, military quarters, and nursing and mental facilities (Jackson Heart Study, 2001). For the purposes of this research study, additional exclusion criteria were imposed. Participants who were identified during analysis to have incomplete or missing discrimination, hypertension, CVD outcomes, or demographic data will be excluded from this study analysis. In addition, participants that were identified by Sims et al. (2012) to attribute their lifetime discrimination exposure to nonracial factors were also excluded from analysis to align with the research questions, which specifically center around factors related to racial based discrimination.

Sample Size

The JHS has prospectively monitored 5301 Black adults at Exam 1. Fuqua et al.

(2005) described that while the original sample size for the study was 6500, power analysis proved that all study questions could be adequately measured with a sample of 5500. The sample was divided as follows: 30.7% consisted of ARIC Study participants (n=1.626), 17.4% comprised the random selection (n=921), 29.6% represented the volunteer sample (n=1570), and 22.4% constituted the family sample (n=1185) (Fugua et al., 2005). The sample is a representation of adults between the ages of 35 and 84 who reside in the Jackson, MS tri-county area. While the entire sample was used for this study, participants with incomplete data were dropped from the final sample used for analysis. Similar to a previously conducted study, participants were excluded from analysis if all discrimination data (n=283), education (n=20), or hypertension (n=59) are missing, providing a final sample size of 4939 participants (Sims et al., 2012). To align with the research questions, participants that were identified by Sims et al. (2012) to attribute their lifetime discrimination exposure to nonracial factors were also excluded from analysis (n=1626). Although the size of the existing sample is known, an additional power analysis was conducted to ensure that the final sample size was sufficient enough to answer the research questions.

Preliminary "posteriori" power analysis was conducted using G*Power 3.1.7 (Erdfelder, Faul, & Buchner, 1996; Faul, Erdfelder, Lang, & Buchner, 2007) to determine the feasibility of the JHS sample in addressing the research questions. Given that the sample size for the study is known (n=3313), a posteriori power analysis was used to determine whether or not the sample provides adequate power for the study. A multiple regression design was selected to solve for power based on a sample size of 3300, and using a two-sized t-test with an alpha significance level of 0.05 (JHS Coordinating Center, 2008). The analysis controlled for SES and racism as independent variables, and accounted for the adjustment of the 12 identified covariates. The analysis revealed that this study has more than adequate statistical power (80%) to detect a small effect (0.10) of SES mobility and racial discrimination on the relationship between hypertension and CVD (Research Question 3).

Study Instrument

To assess the interaction of racism and biological factors that affect CVD health outcomes, JHS devised the JHS Discrimination Instrument (JHSDIS), which is an adaptation of multiple previously developed and tested racism measurement instruments (Sims et al., 2009). While there are some discrimination scales that are highly regarded and widely used by other researchers, none of them comprehensively measure the multidimensional construct; therefore, " no gold standard measure of discrimination exists" (Sims et al., 2009, p. 56). Wyatt et al. (2003) advised that to appropriately "tease out the complex additive and interactive relationships that are likely to account for the relationship of various dimensions of racism and cardiovascular disease in African Americans" a multidimensional discrimination scale would be needed. Hence, the JHS used a combination of the Discrimination Scale (Krieger, 1990), Everyday Racial Discrimination Questionnaire (Williams, Yu, Jackson, & Anderson, 1997), and Perceived Racism Scale (McNeilly et al., 1996) to more comprehensively measure how participants identified their experiences and reactions to institutional and personally mediated racism (Payne et al., 2005; Sims et al., 2012, 2009). The combined effect of these instruments

provided a unique opportunity to examine the usefulness of a multidimensional instrument, better understand the complex factors associated with racial discrimination, and how they may contribute either directly or indirectly to hypertension among Blacks.

This revised instrument stratifies discrimination into two categories (i.e., everyday and major life events). In addition, JHSDIS measures the frequency of exposure to discrimination, the physical or personal attributes for which the discrimination is targeted, the individual's coping strategy, and perceptions of how one's skin color effects their treatment by Whites or Blacks. Overall, these various domains measure perceived/personally mediated racism. These measures are the classified as four major constructs (see Table 4). Table 2

Description	of JHSDIS	Constructs
-------------	-----------	------------

Discrimination Construct	Conceptual Indicator	
Everyday Discrimination Major Life Events	 Occurrence and frequency (Number of times, number of years ago, number of months ago, number of months) Targeted attribute (age, sex, race, height or weight, other) Coping strategy (speak up, accept it, ignore, try to change, keep to self, work harder, pray, avoid, violence, forget, blame self, other) Occurrence (At school, getting a job, at work, getting housing, getting resources/money, getting medical care, in public, other) Overall lifetime frequency (Number of times, number of years ago, number of months ago) Targeted attribute (age, sex, race, height or weight, other) 	
Burden	 Coping strategy (speak up, accept it, ignore, try to change, keep to self, work harder, pray, avoid, violence, forget, blame self, other) Lifetime frequency Stressful life Life mode hard due to discrimination 	
Skin Color	 Life made hard due to discrimination Less productive life Treatment by Whites Treatment by Blacks 	

The JHSDIS instrument has high overall reliability, with the internal consistency of everyday (α =0.88) and lifetime discrimination (α =0.78) being similar to values as the commonly used scales previously mentioned (Sims et al., 2009); however, the internal reliability of emotional and behavioral coping was lower (0.66; Sims et al., 2009). JHS attributes the lower reliability score for coping to differences in the measurement of

coping (individual in JHS vs. global in previous studies) and sample population (men and women in JHS vs. women only in previous study) (Sims et al., 2009).

Study Variables

All of the variables used in this study originated from the JHS. The dataset was drawn from a variety of JHS data collections forms, further described below. Additional variables were created to represent cumulative scores that were used in the study. All data collection forms from which variables for this study were drawn are included as appendices. All data collection forms are available on the JHS website, and communication with a JHS researcher revealed that formal approval for the usage of these forms was not required (M. Sims, personal communication, August 29, 2013).

Demographic Variables

The following variables to assess demographic information regarding study participants were drawn from the JHS Eligibility Form (Appendix A):

- ID Number the ID number is a unique identifier given to each participant, which is used consistently across all data collection forms as a method of correlating an individual participant's responses.
- Date of Interview The date that the interview was conducted is a numeric variable that includes a two-digit month, two-digit, day, and four-digit year to capture the date that the information for each participant was collected.
- Gender The participant's gender was recorded as a dichotomous variable for which participants self-report as either "Male" or "Female."

 Age – The participant's age was a numeric variable based on a two-digit month, two-digit, day, and four-digit year that identifies the participant's date of birth.
 Each participant's age at the time of Exam 1 was calculated based on the date of the interview. Age was then be categorized into an interval variable that was used for analysis, which includes 5 age groupings: 35-44, 45-54, 55-64, 65-74, and 75-84.

SES Variables

For the purposes of this study, SES mobility represented a calculated indicator derived from variables used to measure childhood and adult SES. The variables used to measure the childhood SES construct were taken from the Parental Socioeconomic Status Form (Appendix B); whereas, adult SES were taken from the Personal Data/Socioeconomic Status data collection form (Appendix C). All variables for childhood SES are listed first. Childhood SES was based on a cumulative score (ranging from 0 to 28) derived from not only from parental employment and education variables, but also access to resources during early life experiences suggested to be related to health outcomes. The coding mechanism used for the childhood SES variables was consistent with previous JHS research (Subramanyam et al., 2013). Adult SES also represented a cumulative score (ranging from 0 to 19) constructed from variables used to measure education, income, and occupation, with coding mechanism consistent with previous JHS research (Sims et al., 2012; Subramanyam et al., 2013). A cumulative score for both childhood and adulthood SES was calculated based on the sum of the respective variables, and each summary score was divided into lower and upper strata based on the median value.

Childhood SES was tracked using a variety of factors:

- ID Number The ID number is a unique identifier given to each participant, which is used consistently across all data collection forms as a method of correlating an individual participant's responses.
- Father's employment The father's level of employment was given a score of 0 to 4 based on a combination of three variables. First, the status of the participant's father, or male custodian, being gainfully employment during the time the participant was growing up was measured using the responses: yes, no, there was no father/male guardian was present, or don't know. Responses of no were scored as 0 (unemployed); no father/male guardian was present or don't know will be coded as missing. All responses of yes were used to categorize employment based on two text variables that relate to the description of the father's primary job and the father's primary work duties during the participant's childhood. The father's employment was divided into four discrete categories with scores of 1 through 4 (1=production/construction, 2=service, 3=sales, 4=professional/managerial).
- Father's education The father's level of education was given a score of 0 to 5 based on a combination of two variables. First, the father's highest level of education was measured using a categorical responses, including number of years in school up to grade 12, some vocational/trade school with no certificate,

vocational/trade school with certificate, some college with no degree, associate degree, bachelor's degree, and graduate degree. Responses captured as the completion of grades 1 through 11 were scored as 0 (no high school diploma). The completion of grade 12 was scored as 1 (high school diploma). In addition, vocational/trade school with no certificate and some college with no degree are both scored as a 2; associate degree is a 3, bachelor's degree is a 4, and graduate degree is a 5. If the father had less that a 12th grade education, they were asked if they had received a GED. A response of yes (GED received) was scored as 1, and no GED was scored as 0.

• Mother's employment – The mother's level of employment was given a score of 0 to 4 based on a combination of three variables. First, the status of the participant's mother, or female custodian, being gainfully employment during the time the participant was growing up was measured using the responses: yes, no, there was no mother/female guardian was present, or don't know. Responses of no were scored as 0 (unemployed); no mother/female guardian was present or don't know was coded as missing. All responses of yes were used to categorize employment based on two text variables that relate to the description of the mother's primary job and the mother's primary work duties during the participant's childhood. The mother's employment was defined into four discrete categories with scores of 1 through 4 (1=production/construction, 2=service, 3=sales, 4=professional/managerial).

- Mother's education The mother's level of education was given a score of 0 to 5 based on a combination of two variables. First, the mother's highest level of education was measured using a categorical responses, including number of years in school up to grade 12, some vocational/trade school with no certificate, vocational/trade school with certificate, some college with no degree, associate degree, bachelor's degree, and graduate degree. Responses captured as the completion of grades 1 through 11 was scored as 0 (no high school diploma). The completion of grade 12 was scored as 1 (high school diploma). In addition, vocational/trade school with no certificate and some college with no degree are both scored as a 2; associate degree is a 3, bachelor's degree is a 4, and graduate degree is a 5. If the mother had less that a 12th grade education, they were asked if they had received a GED. A response of yes (GED received) was scored as 1, and no GED was scored as 0.
- Parent's residence Whether the parents/guardians owned or were buying, renting, or had other living arrangements during the participant's childhood (until the age of 10) was measured as a nominal variable, which was reverse scored as 2, 1, and 0, respectively.
- Quality of residence The following indicators measure housing quality during childhood. The response value for each indicator was totaled to create an overall value for quality of residence. For all indicators, yes responses were scored as 1, and no responses were scored as 0.

- Indoor Plumbing The availability of indoor plumbing at the place of residence during childhood (up to age 10) was measured as a dichotomous variable with a response of "Yes" or "No."
- Electricity The presence of electricity at the place of residence during childhood (up to age 10) was measured as a dichotomous variable with a response of "Yes" or "No."
- Household possessions The following indicators measure the availability of various household possessions during childhood. The response value for each indicator was totaled to create an overall value for household possessions. For all indicators, yes responses were scored as 1, and no responses were scored as 0.
 - Refrigerator The presence of a refrigerator at the place of residence during childhood (up to age 10) was measured dichotomous variable with a response of "Yes" or "No."
 - Car The existence of a family car during childhood (up to age 10) was measured as a dichotomous variable with a response of "Yes" or "No."
 - Telephone The availability of a telephone at the place of residence during childhood (up to age 10) was measured using a dichotomous variable with a response of "Yes" or "No."
 - TV The presence of a television at the place of residence during childhood (up to age 10) was measured using a dichotomous variable with a response of "Yes" or "No."
AC - Air conditioning at the place of residence during childhood (up to age 10) was measure using a dichotomous variable with a response of "Yes" or "No."

Adult SES: The variable categories defined below are derived from

- ID Number the ID number is a unique identifier given to each participant, which is used consistently across all data collection forms as a method of correlating an individual participant's responses.
- Education The participant's level of education was given a score of 0 to 5 based on a combination of two variables. First, the participant's highest level of education was measured using a categorical responses, including number of years in school up to grade 12, some vocational/trade school with no certificate, vocational/trade school with certificate, some college with no degree, associate degree, bachelor's degree, and graduate degree. Responses captured as the completion of grades 1 through 11 were scored as 0 (no high school diploma). The completion of grade 12 was scored as 1 (high school diploma). In addition, vocational/trade school with no certificate and some college with no degree are both scored as a 2; associate degree is a 3, bachelor's degree is a 4, and graduate degree is a 5. If the participant had less that a 12th grade education, they were asked if they had received a GED. A response of yes (GED received) was scored as 1, and no GED was scored as 0.
- Employment The participant's current employment status was measured using
 9 categorizes of employment, including full-time work, part-time work,

temporarily laid off work, sick/health leave from work, unemployed but looking for work, unemployed and not looking for work, homemaker, retired not working, retired but working for pay.

 Occupation – Regardless of employment status, participants were asked about their occupation. Two text variables that relate to the description of the participant's primary job and the participant's primary work duties were used to defined the participant's occupation into four discrete categories with scores of 1 through 4 (1=production/construction, 2=service, 3=sales, 4=professional/managerial).

Income – Income is accessed both as the income that the participant contributes, as well as total family/household income. Similar to how individuals benefit from the combined income of the household during childhood, the total family/household income during adulthood was used to determine SES mobility for the purposes of this study. Income was collected using 13 categorical responses (less than \$5K, \$5K-\$7,999, \$8K-\$11,999, \$12K-\$15,999, \$16K-\$19,999, \$20K-\$24,999, \$25K-\$34,999, \$35K-\$49,999, \$50K-\$74,999, \$75K-\$99,999, \$100K or more, don't know, or refuse). In accordance with previous JHS research that has utilizes this construct (Hickson et al., 2011, 2012; Sims et al., 2012), income was dichotomized into four nonoverlapping categories to represent poor (less than the poverty level), lower-middle (between 1 to 1.5 times the poverty level), upper-middle (greater than 1.5 but less than 3.5 times the poverty level), and affluent (at least 3.5 times the poverty level). Categorical

levels are based on a combination of family size, U.S. Census poverty levels, and year of baseline data (Sims et al., 2012).

SES Mobility

In an unpublished JHS manuscript proposal, Diez-Rouz et al. (in press) proposes that SES mobility is defined based on two separate cumulative scores for childhood SES and adult SES. The median value for each of these summative scores was used as the cutpoint to dichotomize childhood and adult SES into lower and upper strata. The lower and upper strata for childhood SES were matched with the lower and upper strata for adult SES to create four distinct, nonoverlapping groupings that illustrate the potential SES mobility pathways between childhood and adulthood. The Diez-Rouz manuscript proposal represents the first attempt to measure SES mobility in the JHS; hence, this methodology was used. These categories are as follows:

- 1. Stable High (HH) (Childhood high, Adult high)
- 2. Diminishing (HL) (Childhood High, Adult low)
- 3. Increasing (LH) (Childhood low, Adult high)
- 4. Stable Low (LL) (Childhood low, Adult low)

The Stable High group was expected to have the lowest risk, followed by Increasing, and Diminishing. The Stable Low group is expected to have the greatest risk. In studies that assessed trends of upward and downward mobility, researchers agreed that individuals of high and increasing SES had lower health risk (Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Pensola, 2003; Hogberg et al., 2011; James et al., 2006). If review of the data indicated that inadequate sample sizes were available for testing each of these subgroups, categories

were collapsed into High (including Stable High and Increasing) and Low (Stable Low and Diminishing).

Discrimination Variables

In previous JHS studies conducted by Sims et al. (2012) and Hickson et al. (2012), a methodology for scoring perceived discrimination was defined. For the purposes of this study, this construct was derived from multiple indicators used to measure perceived/personally mediated discrimination as previously established. Perceived discrimination was assessed using the JHS Discrimination Form (Appendix F) using indicators to document everyday and lifetime exposure to racial discrimination across nine domains, and whether or not experiences were attributed to race, skin color, or some other attribute. Participants responded "yes" or "no" (scored as 1 and 0, respectively) regarding whether or not unfair treatment was experienced in each of the following nine environments at any time during their lifetime: school, getting a job, at work, getting housing, getting money or resources, getting medical care, in a public place, getting services, or in some other environment. A composite score, ranging from 0 to 9, for each participant was used to capture lifetime exposure to perceived discrimination. In addition to exposure to racial discrimination, the burden that discrimination imposes on an individual was also assessed.

Previous JHS research has also examined the burden of discrimination within the JHS population. Sims et al. (2012) calculated the overall burden imposed by discrimination based on the cumulative scoring of three variables (i.e., stressfulness of experiences, interference in life, and life difficulty) that measure the stressfulness of exposure. The Likert responses for each of the variables were reverse coded; responses ranged from 1 to 4 for each variable. To understand lifetime burden of racial discrimination, an additional variable to capture the frequency of experience was added to this construct. A composite score, ranging from 4 to 16, for each participant was used to capture lifetime exposure to perceived discrimination. All variables to measure burden imposed by discrimination exposure are described below.

- Stress experienced The stressful experiences of unfair treatment have been over the participant's lifetime was measure based on 3 categorical responses (very stressful, moderately stressful, or not stressful), reverse scored as 4, 2.5, and 1, respectively.
- Inference in life The amount of inference discrimination had on the participant's life productivity was based on 4 categorical responses (a lot, some, a little, not at all), reverse scored as 4 through 1, respectively.
- Life difficulty The amount of difficulty created in the participant's life as the result of exposure to discrimination was measured based on 4 categorical responses (a lot, some, a little, not at all), and was reverse scored as 4 through 1, respectively.
- Frequency of experiences The current frequency of discrimination experiences is compared to when the participant was younger using 3 categorical responses (more frequent, about the same, and less frequent), which was reverse scored as 4, 2.5, and 1, respectively.

 Reason for treatment – The main reason for the unfair treatment was measured using 5 categories (age, gender, race, height/weight, other). However, for the purposes of this study, these responses were dichotomized as racial and nonracial.

Cumulative Discrimination Exposure and Burden

Cumulative discrimination values were determined based on the frequency of discrimination exposures, as a measure of the number of times discrimination was perceived, was summed across nine domains (i.e., school, getting a job, at work, getting housing, getting money or resources, getting medical care, in a public place, getting services, or in some other environment). Sims et al. (2012) derived exposure to lifetime discrimination by determining the median value for the discrimination exposure to create five distinct categories: no exposure to discrimination (score=0), low exposure (score ranging from 1 to 4), and high exposure (score ranging from 5 to 9), which were stratified by racial and nonracial attributed causes. For the purposes of this study, racism attributed to nonracial causes was excluded from the sample. However to create the cumulative lifetime racial discrimination exposure score, the sum of the frequency of exposure to racial discrimination across all domains was summarized and the median value was used to stratify exposure as follows:

- 1. No exposure to discrimination
- 2. Low racially attributed exposure to discrimination

High racially attributed exposure to discrimination
 In addition, the a burden score (cumulative burden attributed to lifetime racial discrimination) was determined by combining scores for perceived burden to racial

discrimination for the three domains: stress experienced, interfered with having full life, and made life difficult. The cumulative value for burden due to racial discrimination, ranging between 4 and 16 was dichotomized into lower and upper strata (based on the median). These strata for discrimination burden represent the potential overall impact of racism burden (low vs. high) on JHS participants.

Hypertension Variables

In this study, hypertension status was determined in the same manner as previously established JHS manuscripts. Hypertension was derived from the average of two blood pressure measurements taken 1 minute apart from the right arm of the participant who had been seated for at least 5 minutes (Harman et al., 2013; Sims et al., 2012; Wyatt et al., 2008). An individual was identified as hypertensive if the average systolic blood pressure was 140mmHg or greater, and diastolic blood pressure was 90mmHg or greater (Sims et al, 2012). Additionally, participants taking antihypertensive medications were also identified as hypertensive (Harman et al., 2013; Sims et al., 2012; Wyatt et al., 2008). Blood pressure measurement data was recorded on the JHS Sitting Blood Pressure Form (Appendix D), and usage of antihypertensive mediations was recorded on the Medication Survey Form (Appendix E). All medications, including dosage and frequency of administration, were precisely recorded and participants were asked if their medications were associated with a list of health conditions.

CVD Variables

Any participants of the JHS who reported experiencing myocardial infarction, angina, coronary revascularization, CHD, cerebrovascular disease, and stroke were considered to have CVD (USDHHS, 2008). Discussion with a JHS researcher revealed that the Exam 1 dataset contains a dichotomous variable that accounts for the presence of any CVD-related conditions previously identified versus no CVD (M. Sims, personal communication, November 6, 2013). This variable was used in all study analyses exploring CVD outcomes among JHS participants.

Covariates

The following variables were used as covariates in this study: BMI (kg/m^2) , smoking status, physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol consumption, diet, total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and John Henryism. Most of these variables were selected based on their previous use in similar JHS studies (Sims et al., 2012). Each covariate (with the exception of diabetes status) was based on the American Heart Association's (AHA) guidelines, which define Life's Simple Seven (LSS) using three derived levels of health status (i.e., poor, intermediate, and ideal). Life's Simple 7 (LSS) is a new health metric devised by the American Heart Association (AHA) to promote improvements in cardiovascular health by tracking modifiable risk factors (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2010; Thacker et. al., 2014). This new concept of prevention takes into consideration that the most effective strategies for avoiding clinical events over the lifecourse is to avoid adverse risk factors, empirical evidence that CVD risk factors frequently begin developing early in life, and the need for an appropriate balance between population and individual level approaches to health promotion and disease prevention (Lloyd-Jones et al, 2010). This construct is composed of four modifiable health behaviors (i.e., BMI, physical activity, healthy diet, and smoking status) and three modifiable biological

factors (i.e., blood pressure, total cholesterol, and fasting glucose; Lloyd-Jones et al, 2010; Thacker et al, 2014; Djousse et al, 2015).

Although individuals who adhere to ideal health practices are less likely to experience adverse health outcomes (Djousse et al., 2015; Lloyd-Jones et al., 2010), fewer than 1% of U.S. adults meet the standard of practicing all seven ideal metrics (Shay et al., 2012), Americans were least likely to met the ideal standard for a healthy diet (Shay et al., 2012), and variations in overall ideal LSS seem to be inversely observed by age group (Fang et al., 2012). The prevalence of data assessing LSS in African American populations is limited. Data from 2003-2008 NHANES found that none of the African Americans met all seven of the ideal (Shay et al., 2012), and prevalence estimates of meeting all seven ideal health practices was similar among non-Hispanic White populations as well (Alman et al., 2014; Oikonen et al., 2013).

BMI (body mass index) is defined using a standardized measurement of weight in kilograms divided by height squared in meters (Sims, 2012). The physical activity is derived from the JHS physical activity instrument (Dubbert et al., 2005) and based on the sum of active living, occupational, home life, and sports-related index scores (Sims, 2012). Alcohol consumption defined into four categories based on the number of drinks per week: none, 1 to 7 drinks, 8 to 14 drinks, and more than 14 drinks per week (Sims, 2012). Sims et al. (2012) also examined the percentage of dietary fat calories, sodium, potassium, calcium, and fiber related to the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertesnion (DASH) diet. Smoking status was defined as JHS participants who were current, former, or never cigarette smokers (Sims, 2012). Diabetes status is defined by the presence or

absence of diabetes (Diez-Rouz, in press). In addition, total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein (LDL), and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) are measured as mg/dL (Diez-Rouz, in press). Finally, the presence or absence of John Henryism was also be measured (Clark & Adams, 2004; Pascoe & Smart Richman, 2009; Subramanyam et al., 2013).

The LSS health factors and health behaviors were identified as being risk factors known to adversely influence health outcomes, and therefore critical to achieving ideal cardiovascular health. JHS determined each of these LSS covariates used categorical definitions that varied depending on the AHA recommendations (Djoussé et al., 2015). The dietary components were adapted based on JHS data available; fasting glucose was the only LSS variable not included as a covariate in this study. Body mass index (BMI) was defined as ideal (normal weight = $<25 \text{ kg/m}^2$), intermediate (overweight = $25 \text{ to } 29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$), and poor (obese = $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$). Physical activity was defined as ideal ($\geq 150 \text{ min/wk}$ of moderate or $\geq 75 \text{ min/wk}$ of vigorous activity), intermediate (1-149 min/wk of moderate or 1-74 min/wk of physical activity). Smoking was defined as ideal (never smoked or former smoker who quit >12 months prior to data collection), intermediate (former smoker).

The dietary LSS categories were based on individuals meeting a set of criteria, including: \geq 4.5 cups/day of fruits and vegetables, \geq two 3.5 ounce servings/wk of fish, \geq 3 one ounce servings/day of whole grains, <1.5g/day of sodium, and <36 fluid ounces of sugar-sweetened beverages. An individual was given one point for each criteria met, and ideal (4-5 points), intermediate (2-3 points), and poor (0-1 point) was based on the total number of criteria meet. Blood pressure was defined as ideal (untreated systolic BP <120 and diastolic BP < 80mm Hg), intermediate (untreated systolic BP \geq 120 and <140 or diastolic BP \geq 80 and <90mm Hg, or treated systolic BP <120 and diastolic BP <80mm Hg), and poor (systolic BP \geq 140 or diastolic BP \geq 90 mm Hg). Finally, cholesterol was defined as ideal (<200 mg/dL untreated), intermediate (\geq 200 and <240 mg/dL untreated, or <200 mg/dL treated), and poor (\geq 240 mg/dL). JHS defined the diabetes status categories prior to the adoption of the LSS definitions.

Data Access

The mechanism for noninvestigative researchers to acquire access to JHS data includes the submission of a manuscript proposal, which describes the intended study, variables needed, and analysis strategies. A JHS Manuscript Proposal was developed and submitted for reviewed by the JHS Publications and Presentations Subcommittee (Appendix G). A JHS investigator is required to participate in the development of manuscripts involving any noninvestigative researchers. For the purposes of this study, three JHS investigators were included as coauthors of that manuscript, including a lead mentor, a biostatistician, and the study's principal investigator. Additional coauthors include all Walden faculty serving on the dissertation committee.

All coauthors were required to provide a statement of agreement in support of the manuscript proposal submitted prior to the review process. Upon approval, a JHS Data and Material Distribution Agreement must be completed and approved to obtain access to

the requested data. The review of the data request may include email or phone follow-up questions to clarify request details. Data received was deidentified to protect study participants' personal information, and provided using a password electronic media. Use of the data requires adherence to the JHS Data and Materials Sharing Agreement. Failure to comply with the terms of this agreement may result in not only terminated access to JHS data, but also legal action initiated by multiple parties (e.g., JHS participants, their families, the federal government) (JHS, 2012).

Data Analysis

The dataset provided by the JHS was specifically created based on the variables included in the JHS Study Proposal. Upon approval of the proposal, the dataset was generated from secondary data that has already undergone an extensive data cleaning process. Some additional observations may be dropped from analysis based on missing data for calculated variables. SPSS version 21 statistical software was used to perform descriptive, trend, and moderated multiple regression analysis.

Measures of central tendency (e.g., frequency, median, standard deviations) were calculated for the univariate distribution for all JHS variables used in this study. Distributions were also be stratified by age and gender. In the process of defining calculated variables (e.g., levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime racism), cross-tabulation tables were generated to illustrate the frequency distribution across the strata (i.e., LL, LH, HL, HH). Contingency tables were evaluated to ensure that cell sizes are appropriate. In the event that cell sizes are too small (<50), calculated variables were redefined into broader categories (M. Sims, personal communication, June 5, 2014). In addition, covariates were independently be tested for collinearity. Variables determined to have high multicollinearity may be either eliminated or combined to create a composite index variable, depending on empirical justification. Covariates were added last to each model to determine the presence of confounding.

Analysis for Research Questions 1 and 2

RQ1 aimed to explore the relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, and factors (i.e., age and gender) that may moderate the relationship. Similarly, the aim of RQ2 was to explore the relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime racial discrimination burden. As such, the following analysis plan was applied to both questions. Multinomial logistic regression was used to measure the linear relationship between the levels of perceived lifetime racism and levels of SES mobility, and how the relationship was influenced by age and gender. First, a chi-square test was applied to the categorical variables, based on the appropriate degrees of freedom (df), to determine whether or not the distributions of SES mobility levels and racial discrimination patterns were statistically independent, with *p*-values (0.05) included to illustrate significance. This strategy was applied to each moderator and covariate to evaluate the contribution in the overall relationship. Only covariates with a bivariate association with the dependent variable at p<0.20 will be included in the multivariate model, suggested to be a standard practice (Greenland, 2007). Moderators and covariates were fit to the logistic model in a stepwise fashion. Model 1 for both research questions includes the independent and

dependent variables (i.e., SES mobility and perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure/burden, respectively). The evaluated covariates will be introduced as blocks in successive models; the stepwise addition will begin with demographics followed by adjustment for lifestyle behaviors, risk factors, and then other social stressors. Included in the output will be a parameter estimates table, which generates the B coefficient and p-value, and a classification table, which determines the accuracy of the model. If the p-value is less than the significance level of p<0.05, the H1a_{Null} hypothesis will be rejected; it will be concluded that a relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime racism exists.

Finally, if the regression analysis produces a large standard error or B coefficient, additional analysis will be conducted to investigate problems that may not be detected by SPSS version 21.0 (e.g., multicollinearity). A scatterplot will be used to detect whether or not the relationship between the independent and dependent variables monotonically increases or decreases (i.e., in a manner may or may not be linear), and to identify possible outliers.

Analysis for Research Questions 3 and 4

RQ3 aimed to explore if the relationship between hypertension and CVD end points is moderated by levels of SES mobility, perceived lifetime racial discrimination, or burden. Each of these moderators will be modeled separately. In addition, RQ4 investigated whether the relationship between hypertension and CVD cumulative incidence was moderated by the SES-Racism Effect. Since the hypotheses for both research questions have the same independent and dependent variables, the overall plan of analysis (Cox regression) was the same. Cox regression of CVD cumulative incidence observed during the period of risk was used to explore the influence of multiple variables on survival time. Estimating the potential impact of social constructs over the lifecourse (i.e., levels of SES mobility, levels of perceived lifetime racial discrimination, burden, and SES-Racism Effect) provided increased understanding of for whom or under what conditions the relationship between hypertension and CVD outcomes may change.

For RQ3, Cox regression models were used to analyze the association between all independent variables (levels of SES mobility, levels of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race, and burden due to racial discrimination) to determine which of these factors had the most robust relation to risk for CVD events, adjusting for covariate factors. Additional Cox regression models examined the extent to which SES-Racism Effect determines the occurrence of CVD events. Bivariate analysis was conducted to describe the direction and extent of each association, statistical significance, and intercorrelations among independent and dependent variables. Only covariates with a bivariate association with the dependent variable at p<0.20 were included in the model.

Moderators and covariates were fit to the cox regression model in a stepwise fashion. Three primary models were analyzed including the independent and dependent variables (i.e., hypertension and CVD, respectively), with each model examining the independent interaction of each moderator (i.e., levels of SES mobility, levels of perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, and burden attributed to lifetime racial discrimination). In addition, the evaluated covariates were introduced as blocks in successive models; the stepwise addition began with demographics followed by adjustment for lifestyle behaviors, risk factors, and then other social stressors. The hazard ratios for risk of CVD were used to illustrate differences across models. Consideration for time-dependent effects will be made. If the p-value is less than the significance level of p<0.05, the H1a_{Null} hypothesis was rejected; it was concluded that a relationship between respective independent and dependent variables exists.

Threats to Validity

Numerous factors can threaten the validity of inferences that may be drawn from a study. The ability of the study to answer hypothesized questions (i.e., internal validity), and the extent to which the results of the study may be generalized to other population groups or settings (i.e., external validity), both gauge how well the study may be perceived (Rothman, 2008; Woodward, 2005). This study utilized cross-sectional analysis of a survey conducted among a cohort of Blacks who reside in the Jackson, MS metro area. While the JHS's multilevel recruitment strategy illustrates careful consideration for the population demographics of Blacks in the Jackson metro area (Fuqua et al., 2005), no study is flawless.

Issues that affect internal validity are inherent to observational studies (Rothman, 2008); selection bias, confounding, and interaction effect may be potential causes for concern in this study. The individuals recruited for the JHS study consisted of a combination of previous study participants, volunteers, randomly selected individuals, and participant's family members (Fuqua et al., 2005; Wyatt et al., 2003). Study participants who decided to participate in JHS may have more proactive health behaviors

or some level of interest in CVD that creates selection bias when compared to the general population of the Jackson, MS metro area.

Understanding the frequency and extent of racism exposure that a participant may have experienced over their lifetime was subjectively monitored based on the participant's ability to recall these events. Some events may be easily recalled due to the extent to which the event impacted the individual; however, other events (e.g., subtle discriminatory experiences) may be dismissed, overlooked, or forgotten over time and not accurately captured in the data collected. Furthermore, how an individual perceives interracial interactions and the extent to which those interactions are acknowledged varies widely from one individual to the next. Finally, individuals who actively express interest in improving their health outcomes may be more attune to how stressors, such as racism, impact their health than the overall population. Sims et al. (2009) suggests the need to test the JHSDIS instrument not only among other racial/ethnic populations and geographic settings, but also exploring the effect on other health outcomes.

While the JHS is the largest study to explore CVD health issues solely among Blacks, the single-site study has a specific pool of study participants. The historical, cultural, and social dynamics that exist for Blacks in Mississippi, both previously and currently, may influence how participants perceive interracial interactions; dynamics that may be different in other states or geographic areas. Hence, the results of this investigation may only be generalizable to the population of Black adults within the Jackson, MS geographic area. It would be useful to replicate the JHS in another southern state with similar historical, cultural, and/or social dynamics, or other geographic areas, to determine which findings can be reproduced. In addition, only Exam 1 data will be analyzed for this study. Analysis of cross-sectional data collected at the onset of the study (i.e., Exam 1) may have similar or different outcomes from data collected at a later time period (i.e., Exam 3). At the onset of a study, participants may be more likely respond to survey questions based on perceived expectations or anxiety about the study outcomes; however at a later time period, participants may be more comfortable with the data collection process. Further investigation upon the availability of Exam 3 data will serve as an opportunity to compare the consistency of data over time.

Ethical Considerations

The data utilized for this study was received and analyzed in accordance with JHS guidelines. Acceptance of the data requires that a signed Data and Materials Distribution Agreement remain on file with JHS (Appendix F). JHS guidelines mandate that all data analyses are limited to the scope of work identified in the research proposal shared with JHS. JHS does not distribute the file linking participant name and demographic information to subject ID, therefore confidentiality of the study participants was maintained. Data was stored on my personal computer's external drive, which is password protected. Although the results of this study may be published, data will not be transferred to any other researchers. At least one JHS investigator served as a collaborator on this research project; therefore, any resulting publications must be reviewed for consistency and data interpretation prior to dissemination.

Given that this study employed secondary data analysis, it posed minimal risk to the JHS participants. Each participant provided informed consent when signing up for the original study, with the ability to withdraw from the study at any time. However, this study requires no further contact with study participants, use of incentives, or conflict of interest. An Institutional Review Board approved an application (IRB# 09-10-14-0138785) to conduct research through Walden University. Any identifying information contained within the dataset was included for analysis in an effort to maintain the anonymity of each participant.

Summary

This chapter provided detailed information on how this research project was conducted. The hypotheses used to answer each research questions, as well as a description of the study population, instruments, variables, and methodology used to guide this investigation have been illustrated. While this study included constructs and variable definitions based on previous JHS research, it also sought to define new constructs based on identify research gaps. Chapter 4 tests the relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime racism and factors that potentially impact the strength and direction of that association. It also tests the extent to which these constructs impact the relationship between hypertension and CVD outcomes. The results of these analyses provide insight into the possible impact of SES-Racism Effect and whether or not additional investigation is needed.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

This chapter presents the findings from analysis conducted with the Jackson Heart Study (JHS) data and illustrates how the data support the study research questions. First, modifications and rationale to the research plan are described, followed by descriptive data characterizing JHS variables such as the number of study participants, gender, age groups, income status, education levels, and occupation. A description and results of the statistical analysis to address the four research questions follow, which include detailed information about the independent and dependent variables, as well as covariates, used to support each research question. Finally, Chapter 4 concludes with a summary of the results.

Research Questions

Before describing the data that were analyzed, below is a review of the research questions identified in the previous chapter.

RQ1: What is the relationship between levels of SES mobility, as measured by the change in SES from childhood to adulthood, and levels of lifetime racial discrimination, as measured by the occurrence of cumulative perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race?

 Hypothesis 1: Increasing levels of SES mobility are associated with decreasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race after adjusting for the following covariates, identified based on previous studies and determined to have a statistical association (p<0.20) in the current sample: BMI (kg/m²⁾, smoking status, physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol consumption, diet, total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and John Henryism, financial adversity/stress, and job strain.

• Null Hypothesis 1: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure was attributed to race after adjusting for identified covariates.

If an association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race was identified, the following subhypotheses were also tested (Figure 1):

Hypothesis 1b: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race was inversely moderated by age. Null Hypothesis 1b: There are no statistically significant differences in the association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race when moderated by age.

Hypothesis 1c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race was more strongly moderated by males than females.

Null Hypothesis 1c: There are no statistically significant differences in the association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race when moderated by males than females.

RQ2: What is the relationship between levels of SES mobility, as measured by the change in SES from childhood to adulthood, and levels of burden attributed to perceived

lifetime racial discrimination, as measured by the extent of life stressfulness, difficulty, and productivity as a result of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race?

- Hypothesis 2: Increasing levels of SES mobility are associated with decreasing levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination after adjusting for the following covariates, identified based on previous studies and determined to have a statistical association (p<0.20) in the current sample: BMI (kg/m²⁾, smoking status, physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol consumption, diet, total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and John Henryism, financial adversity/stress, and job strain.
- Null Hypothesis 2: There are no statistically significant associations between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination after adjusting for identified covariates.

If an association between levels of SES mobility and levels burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination was identified, the following subhypotheses were also tested (Figure 2):

- Hypothesis 2b: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race was inversely moderated by age.
- Null Hypothesis 2b: There are no statistically significant differences in the association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination when moderated by age.

- Hypothesis 2c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race was higher in males than females.
- Null Hypothesis 2c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination was moderated by gender.

RQ3: Do the levels of the SES mobility, cumulative perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, or burden moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease?

Hypothesis 3: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is moderated by increasing levels of SES mobility.

Null Hypothesis 3: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is not moderated by levels of SES mobility.

Hypothesis 3b: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is moderated by increasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race. Null Hypothesis 3b: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is not moderated by levels of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race. Hypothesis 3c: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is moderated by increasing levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination. Null Hypothesis 3c: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is not moderated by levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination. Null Hypothesis 3c: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is not moderated by levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination. RQ4: If a relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race is found (i.e., SES-Racism Effect), does the SES-Racism Effect moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease?

- Hypothesis 4: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was positively moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.
- Null Hypothesis 4: The relationship between hypertension and CVD was not moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.

Data Retrieval

To acquire access to the secondary data used for this study, I developed a JHS Manuscript Proposal and submitted it for approval to the JHS Publications and Presentations Subcommittee (Appendix G). Upon approval, I also completed a JHS Data and Material Distribution Agreement and submitted it for approval prior to obtaining access to the requested data. De-identified data were downloaded from a passwordprotected link provided by JHS. During the process of reviewing and cleaning the dataset, I identified multiple problems. Several follow-up communications with JHS' coordinating center were required to request and understand the derived variables and variable formats not included in any of the variable lists or codebooks used to originally generate the data request, as well as appropriately differentiate multiple variables that represented the same indicator.

After receiving the derived variables, I determined that analysis of occupational data would need to be excluded from analysis. A derived variable was available to

categorize adult occupations; however, a comparable derived variable was not available for the parental occupation variable. An attempt to recode the text values for parental occupation into categories comparable to the adult occupation categories revealed incompatibility between the codes. Occupation was not used as a measure of SES mobility because a comparison of the adult and parental individual participants' responses for occupation indicated nonparallel values; therefore, no categorical variable for parental occupation was created for comparative analysis. Thus, SES mobility for occupation was not measured in this study.

In addition, adjustments in the original SES mobility construct were made. The original SES mobility construct was defined based on a manuscript proposal submitted to JHS, by a researcher previously associated with JHS, roughly a year prior to this study. However, the manuscript, and subsequent SES mobility construct, was never developed as planned. Thus, for this analysis the SES mobility construct definition was modified to measure the change in childhood to adult income and education independently, rather than as a cumulative measure. The terms *parental* and *childhood* are used interchangeably.

Descriptive Statistics for Analysis Variables

Participants

The dataset originally acquired from JHS contained data from 5,301 participants, from which participants were excluded if education (n = 289), hypertension status (n =274), cardiovascular disease status (n = 77), and lifetime discrimination (n = 1110) data were missing; a total of 4,117 participants remained (566 participants had multiple missing variables). Additional participants were excluded if their lifetime discrimination exposure was attributed to nonracial factors (i.e, age, gender, height, or some other factor, n = 1527). Data analysis were based on a final sample size of 2,590 participants who attributed lifetime discrimination exposure to race.

Table 3 provides descriptive data on the demographic characteristics of the study participants. The JHS dataset consists of 1,505 female respondents (58.1%) and 1085 male respondents (41.9%). The majority of respondents were equally distributed between the 45-54 and 55-64 age groups (28.6% and 27.6%, respectively), with a mean age of 56 years. Thirty-seven percent of participants had at least a college degree or greater education, while 15.9% had less than a high school diploma. The majority of respondents were employed in a managerial-professional job (40.4%). Occupational status reflected occupation over the adult lifetime, not current employment status. JHS used participant responses to derive two groups of categorical values for occupation (i.e., a three-category classification and a 12-category classification) based on the U.S. Census standard for job codes (Sims et al., 2011, 2012).

Table 3 also shows the distribution of income across 11 categories, with the majority of participants possessing higher income categories. However for the purpose of further analysis, a derived income variable provided by JHS was used to describe participants' socioeconomic status. It was based on the U.S. Census poverty estimates, which took into consideration total family income and number of household residents. The distribution of this derived income variable indicated that 11.6% were poor, 22.2%

and 30.0% were lower-middle and upper-middle income respectively, and 36.2% of respondents were classified as affluent (Table 3).

Frequencies: Demographics of Study Participants

Indicator	п	%
Gender		
Male	1085	41.9
Female	1505	58.1
Age Group		
35-44	515	19.9
45-54	741	28.6
55-64	714	27.6
65-74	485	18.7
75-84	135	5.2
Education Level		
Less than high school	413	15.9
High school graduate or equivalent	424	16.4
Some college, vocational, or trade	585	22.6
Associates degree	198	7.6
Bachelor's degree	468	18.1
Graduate degree (Master's or Ph.D.)	502	19.4
Employment Status		
Managerial-Professional	1047	40.4
Service	545	21.0

Indicator	п	%
Sales	480	18.5
Farming/ Construction/Production	518	20.0
Income Level		
< \$5,000	60	2.7
\$5,000 - \$7,999	91	4.1
\$8,000 - \$11,999	108	4.8
\$12,000 - \$15,999	137	6.1
\$16,000 - \$19,999	111	4.9
\$20,000 - \$24,999	193	8.6
\$25,000 - \$34,999	251	11.2
\$35,000 - \$49,999	351	15.7
\$50,000 - \$74,999	458	20.5
\$75,000 - \$99,999	234	10.5
\$100,000 or more	240	10.7
Socioeconomic Status		
Poor	257	11.6
Lower-Middle	494	22.2
Upper-Middle	667	30.0
Affluent	805	36.2

Table 4 illustrates data related to childhood demographics that are used to measure SES mobility based on education and income. The data show that fathers are more likely to have less than a high school education than mothers (76% vs. 64%); whereas mothers are more likely to have a college education or greater than fathers (7.8% vs. 4.4%). Indicators of childhood residential quality and material resources were used as a proxy for measuring the participants' parental income. Mississippi is known to be a highly rural and historically impoverished state. Data show that while it was common for participants to experience poor residential quality or access to material resources during childhood, participants were most likely to have electricity (76%), a refrigerator (69%), and a car (67%) during childhood and least likely to have air conditioning (21%).

Table 4

Frequencies: Childhood Demographics for Education and Income (N = 2590)

Indicator	п	%
Father's Education Level		
Less than high school	1847	76.4
High school graduate or equivalent	301	12.4
Some college, vocational, or trade	115	4.8
Associates degree	51	2.1
Bachelor's degree	67	2.8
Graduate degree (Master's or Ph.D.)	38	1.6
Mother's Education Level		
Less than high school	1580	64.0
High school graduate or equivalent	477	19.3
Some college, vocational, or trade	150	6.1
Associates degree	68	2.8
Bachelor's degree	112	4.5
Graduate degree (Master's or Ph.D.)	81	3.3
Childhood Residential Quality and Material		
Resources		
Indoor plumbing	1847	53.1
Electricity	1843	76.4
Refrigerator	1666	69.0

Indicator	п	%
Car	1612	66.8
Telephone	1158	48.1
Television	1050	50.4
Air conditioning	493	20.5

Each covariate (with the exception of diabetes status) was based on the American Heart Association's (AHA) guidelines, which define Life's Simple Seven (LSS) using three derived levels of health status (i.e., poor, intermediate, and ideal) (Thacker et al., 2014).

Table 5 provides descriptive statistics for the covariates used in the study. Among the variables identified as LSS for ideal cardiovascular health, smoking was the only variable with the majority of respondents having ideal health (85.2%). JHS participants most commonly experienced poor health in the areas of BMI (51.9%) and dietary intake (55.0%), followed by physical activity (46.9%). Further analysis found that the number of ideal LSS health factors or behaviors that participants practiced ranged from zero (6.8%) to five (0.23%), with participants being most likely to practice one (40.3%) or two (37.5) ideal LSS health factors or behaviors. Similar to previously cited studies (Djoussé et al., 2015; Thacker et al., 2014), none of the participants in this sample practiced all seven LSS components. Participants were mostly likely to be non-diabetic (44.8%).

Categorical responses for a total of 12 variables, used to defined the behavioral characteristics of John Henryism (JH), were reverse coded with values ranging from 0

(completely false) to 3 (completely true) and summed. Overall JH scores ranged from 7 to 36 (M = 29.64, SD = 4.33). More than half of participants reported a completely true response for 9 of the 12 behavioral characteristics of JH; the remaining characteristics showed participants with responses split between those behavioral characteristics being completely true and somewhat true. Hence, participants reported an elevated prevalence of JH overall. When exposure was divided into high and low exposure to JH across the median (Table 5), respondents more frequently experienced low JH status (57.8%). Finally, the prevalence of financial adversity experienced by participants was measured. A participant was categorized as having experienced financial adversity if the participant responded affirmatively that he/she or someone in their household had lost a job within the past 12 months or the participant's derived variable for unemployment was "Yes." About 8% of the JHS participants were identified as having experienced financial adversity (Table 5). The number of alcoholic drinks per week and per month were not included in Table 5 due to fewer than half of participants responding to this question. However, of those who answered the question, participants consumed between 0 to 30.4 alcoholic drinks per month (M = 4.96, SD = 7.27) and 0 to 7 per week (M = 1.24, SD =1.81).

Table 5

Frequencies: Covariates Used in the Analysis

Indicator	n %	
BMI		
Poor Health	1343 51.9	
Intermediate Health	880 34.0	
Ideal Health	363 14.0	
Physical Activity		
Poor Health	1217 46.9	
Intermediate Health	822 31.7	
Ideal Health	551 21.3	
Smoking Status		
Poor Health	342 13.4	
Intermediate Health	37 1.5	
Ideal Health	2176 85.2	
Nutrition		
Poor Health	1299 55.0	
Intermediate Health	1034 43.8	
Ideal Health	28 1.2	
Blood Pressure		
Poor Health	381 15.6	
Intermediate Health	1781 72.8	

Ideal Health	284	11.6
Total Cholesterol		
Poor Health	362	16.8
Intermediate Health	922	42.8
Ideal Health	871	40.4
Diabetes Status		
Diabetic	545	21.2
Pre-diabetic	872	33.9
Non-diabetic	1152	44.8
John Henryism		
Low exposure	1497	57.8
High exposure	1093	42.2
Financial Adversity		
No	2377	91.8
Yes	213	8.2

Preliminary Analysis Procedures

Preliminary Comparative Analyses

The independent variables used to examine the research questions are described in Table 6 below. Analysis indicated that 49.7% of the original JHS study population (n = 5301) attributed their lifetime discrimination exposure to race; however, 62.9% of participants, who met the study criteria of not having missing responses for education,

hypertension, and CVD (n = 4117), attributed their lifetime discrimination to race. Further analysis was conducted to examine the frequency of exposure to discrimination across nine domains (Table 6), as well as the perceived burden that racial discrimination may have contributed to one's lifetime experiences.

Discrimination descriptive data. Study participants experienced the fewest encounters of racial discrimination in the domains of getting housing, receiving medical care, or some "other" area. Participants did not respond to each of the discrimination domains as mutually exclusive settings. Therefore, nearly half of the study participants indicated experiences of racial discrimination in 6 out of the 9 domains, with the highest frequency of experience being in a work environment (75.4%). A total lifetime racial discrimination exposure score was created by recoding the dichotomous responses for each domain to 0 (No) and 1 (Yes) in order to calculate a cumulative value. Total lifetime racial discrimination exposure scores ranged from 0 to 9 (M = 3.67, SD = 1.92). The mean score was used as the cutpoint for determining that participants were more likely to have a low lifetime exposure to racial discrimination (66.8%), compared to no or high exposure (1.1% and 32.1%, respectively). Hence, lifetime discrimination was defined as a categorical dependent variable that contains three categories, no discrimination (0 on the discrimination scale), low discrimination (1 to 4 on the discrimination scale), and high discrimination (5 to 9 on the discrimination scale). While study participants must have attributed discrimination experiences to race, this response assessed the primary perception for discrimination experiences overall. Therefore, it may be possible for
individuals to attribute everyday discrimination to race, yet experience no lifetime racial discrimination exposure.

Chi-square tests for independence were conducted to determine whether relationships between lifetime discrimination and gender or age existed. Males were more likely than females (71.9% vs. 57.7%, respectively) to experience lifetime discrimination attributed to race, $\chi^2(1, n = 4117) = 84.13, p = 0.000, phi = 0.143$. While men more frequently attributed the lifetime discrimination that they experienced to race, women reported greater occurrence of lifetime racial discrimination across all domains (Table 6). When lifetime racial discrimination was stratified across age groups, older participants (age 75-84) were more likely than participants in the 34-44, 45-54, 55-64, and 65-74 age cohorts to attribute their lifetime discrimination to race (68.9% vs. 59.3%, 64.5%, 62.1%, 64.2%, respectively; $\chi^2(4, n = 4117) = 9.85, p = 0.0431, phi = 0.0489)$. However, adults aged 45-54 and 55-64 experienced a greater number of occurrences across domains (28.6% and 27.6%, respectively) compared to all other age groups.

Similarly, the results showed that all participants experienced some level of burden across each characteristic associated with lifetime racial discrimination. Overall burden attributed to racial discrimination was calculated based in the recoding and summation of three indicators as described in Chapter 3 (Table 6), with overall burden scores ranging from 2 to 12 (M=7.23, SD=2.38). The mean burden score showed that participants were equally likely to have a low and high burden from lifetime racial discrimination (49.9% vs. 50.1%, respectively). Overall, women experienced more burden than men (OR = 1.23, p < 0.05). SES mobility descriptive data. SES mobility was measured using two independent constructs based on the change in parental to adult income and education. Hence, education and income were each used as a proxy for measuring SES mobility. SES mobility is a categorical variable where a stable low SES mobility represents participants who consistently experienced a lower SES from childhood through adulthood; increasing includes participants who experienced an increase in SES from childhood to adulthood; diminishing includes participants who experienced a decrease in SES from childhood to adulthood; and stable high includes participants who consistently experienced a higher SES from childhood through adulthood. These SES mobility categories were measured identically for both income and educational indicators of this construct.

Table 6 also examines the childhood-adult education and income status as measures of SES mobility as previously defined. Contingency tables were used to illustrate four SES mobility trajectories used for each SES mobility indicator: 1) stable high (high childhood and high adult measure), 2) increasing (low childhood and high adult measure), 3) diminishing (high childhood and low adult measure), and 4) stable low (low childhood and low adult measure). The mean value of education was used as the cutpoint for determining high and low categories for adult education (M = 3.54, SD=1.75), as well as both father (M = 1.47, SD = 1.06) and mother's education (M = 1.74, SD = 1.29). A previous study comparing the educational status of adults with their parents used different measures of low educational attainment for each population due to the decline in high school dropout rates over time (Salsberry & Reagan, 2009). The distribution of education during adulthood (Table 3) compared to childhood (Table 4) demonstrated that adults tend to be more educated than their parents. Therefore, a higher threshold for low educational status was used for adulthood (i.e., less than a college degree) compared the parental education (i.e., high school diploma or less). Furthermore, an assumption was made that just as a household benefits from dual incomes, it would also benefit from one parent having greater education than the other. Data from Table 4 illustrates that mothers were more highly educated than fathers; mothers had a lower prevalence estimate for less than a high school education (64.0% vs. 76.4%, respectively) and high prevalence of having at least a college degree (7.8% vs. 4.3%, respectively). Therefore, because parental education data was available for both parents, parental education was stratified as low only if both parents had low educational status. When the educational status of both parents was combined, 79.0% of parental education was considered low compared to 62.5% of adult education. As such, analysis showed that more than half of participants (54.2%) had a stable low SES mobility status.

Measures of SES mobility using income were also analyzed. The derived JHS income variable was used as the measure of adult household income. The derived income status indicator consisted of four categorical measurements (i.e., poor, lower-middle, upper-middle, and affluent), which were collapsed to create high (upper-middle and affluent) and low (poor and lower-middle) strata. A proxy measure for childhood household income was calculated based on the collective indicators of home ownership status, residential quality, and household possessions. More than half (54.8%) of participants' parents were homeowners, while another 31.0% were renters and 14.2% had

some other living arrangement. The quality of childhood residence was determined based on a combination of participants having access to indoor plumbing (53.3%) and electricity (76.5%) during childhood, each with a dichotomous variable recoded as 0 ("No") and 1 ("Yes"), and the number of rooms within the residence (ranging from 1 to 17, M = 5.56, SD = 1.97). Finally, the household possessions (i.e., refrigerator, car, telephone, television, air conditioning) that participants had during childhood were calculated from a list of dichotomous variables in the same manner as residential quality. About half of all households had a telephone and a television during childhood, but were most likely to have a refrigerator (69.0%) and least likely to have air conditioning (20.5%). The average score for cumulative childhood SES was 10.65 (SD = 4.36), which appears to follow a normal distribution ranging from 0 to 26 (data not shown). Therefore, the high and low categories for childhood income were based upon the mean using a cutpoint of 11. The high and low childhood and adult values were combined to create the categories to measure SES mobility for income based on the previously defined categorical values.

Freque	ncies: 1	Descri	ptive a	and (Com	parative	Anal	vsis d	of L	ifetime	e Racia	l Dis	crim	inatic	эк
								/		. /					

Indicator	Ove	erall	Ma	ıles	Fen	nales
	N	%	Ν	%	N	%
Lifetime Discrimination Attributed to Race (<i>n</i> =4117)**						
No	1527	37.1	422	28.0	1105	42.3
Yes	2590	62.9	1085	72.0	1505	57.7
Domains of discrimination exposure (<i>n</i> =2590)						
At school/training	1374	53.1	578	42.1	796	57.9
Getting a job**	1462	56.4	671	45.9	791	54.1
At work	1954	75.4	816	41.8	1138	58.2
Getting housing*	441	17.0	214	48.5	221	51.5
Getting resources/money**	1211	46.8	576	47.6	635	52.4
Getting medical care**	428	16.5	140	32.7	288	67.3
In public places**	1224	47.3	583	47.6	641	52.4
Getting services	1251	48.3	527	42.1	724	57.9
In other ways	160	6.2	73	45.6	87	54.4
Burden of stressfulness due to lifetime discrimination*						
Very stressful	548	21.2	237	21.9	311	20.7
Moderately stressful	1411	54.6	615	56.8	796	53.1
Not stressful	625	24.2	232	21.9	393	26.2
Burden of discrimination made life harder**						
At lot	696	26.9	247	22.8	449	30.0
Some	777	30.1	332	30.6	445	29.7
A little	777	30.1	336	31.0	441	29.4
Not at all	333	12.9	169	15.6	164	10.9
Burden due to interference in life**						
At lot	551	21.4	197	18.2	354	23.6
Some	795	30.8	345	31.9	450	30.0
A little	865	33.5	347	32.1	518	34.6
Not at all	370	14.3	193	17.8	177	11.8

SES mobility based on education*						
Stable high	327	12.6	139	12.8	188	12.5
Increasing	643	24.8	259	23.9	3840	25.5
Diminishing	216	8.3	114	10.5	102	6.8
Stable low	1404	54.2	573	52.8	831	55.2
SES mobility based on income*						
Stable high	1281	49.5	562	51.8	719	47.8
Increasing	191	7.4	45	8.8	96	6.4
Diminishing	798	30.8	301	27.7	497	33.0
Stable low	320	12.4	127	11.7	193	12.8

Note. p-value comparisons for gender: **p*=value <0.05, ***p*-value <0.01

Hypertension and CVD both represent dependent variables that were measured in this study. The prevalence of hypertension and CVD in the study population were 62.7% and 10.2%, respectively. Figure 7 shows that the prevalence of hypertension was higher among females (64.1%) than males (60.7%), but a chi-square test for independence determined that differences by gender were not statistically significant, $\chi^2(1, n = 2590) = 3.64, p = 0.564, phi = -0.0375$. However, significant differences in the relationship between age and hypertension were observed as the prevalence of hypertension increases with age, $\chi^2(4, n = 2590) = 291.16, p < 0.001, phi = 0.335$. Figure 8 shows that the prevalence of CVD was higher among males (10.9%) than females (9.6%), and the prevalence of CVD between males and females (10.9% vs. 9.7%, respectively, $\chi^2(1, n = 2590) = 1.06, p = 0.3023, phi = 0.020$; yet, significant differences were again observed by age, $\chi^2(4, n = 2590) = 16.58, p = 0.002, phi = 0.081$.



Figure 7. A bar graph showing the distribution of hypertension by gender and age.



Figure 8. A bar graph showing the distribution of CVD by gender and age.

Coding of Variables

Prior to answering the research questions, the covariate, independent, and dependent variables were examined; the number of responses for each variable and the frequencies for each category were assessed. Two of the covariates (i.e., number of drinks per week and number of drinks per month) only had responses for half of the sample; therefore, these variables were not included in subsequent procedures. Instead, the binary variable measuring alcohol consumption in the past 12 months was used.

The categories of the following variables were collapsed either due to very low frequencies or to lack of convergence in the regression procedure: levels of lifetime exposure to racial discrimination, levels of burden attributed to a lifetime of racial discrimination, age group, nutrition, and smoking. First, only 29 participants had no lifetime exposure to racial discrimination (compared to 1731 with low and 830 with high lifetime racial discrimination); thus, the no lifetime racial discrimination category was collapsed with the low lifetime racial discrimination. Lifetime exposure to racial discrimination then became a binary variable: low vs. high discrimination exposure. Second, there were no participants who experienced no burden attributed to lifetime racial discrimination; therefore, this variable was measured using only two categories (i.e., low vs. high burden).

Third, due to lack of convergence in the logistic regression procedure, the fivecategory age group variable was collapsed into a three-category variable; the first two categories were combined into a single group (i.e., 35 to 54 years), the fourth and fifth categories were combined into a single group (i.e., 65 to 84 years), and the third category remained as previously defined (i.e., 55 to 64 years). Fourth, the third category of nutrition health only had 28 responses (in contrast to 1200 and 1034 for the first and second categories); therefore, this category was collapsed with the second category. Thus, this variable became a binary variable: poor vs. intermediate health. Last, the second category of the smoking health variable only had 37 responses (in contrast to 342 and 2176 for the first and third categories, respectively). Accordingly, the second category was integrated into the third category; the new binary variable has now been defined in terms of poor vs. ideal health.

Assessing the Relationship Between Independent Variables and Dependent Measures

An initial effort was made to include all the independent variables in the logistic regression models, but their models yielded nonconvergence. Hence, separate regression procedures were conducted, one for each dependent measure, to determine which independent variables significantly predicted the dependent variable. Only the independent variables that marginally (p < .10) or significantly (p < .05) predicted the dependent variable were included in the main logistic regression models.

Regression model for exposure to racial discrimination. As shown in Table 7, the following independent variables marginally or significantly predicted exposure to lifetime racial discrimination: physical activity, alcohol use, financial adversity, and the composite John Henryism measure of social stress. Therefore, only these independent variables were included in a single logistic regression model testing the relationship between SES mobility, age, and gender on exposure to racial discrimination.

				95% CI for <i>O</i>			
Variables	В	Sig.	OR	Lower	Upper		
Nutrition: poor vs. intermediate health ¹	.06	.535	1.06	.87	1.30		
Smoking: poor vs. ideal health ¹	.23	.169	1.26	.91	1.74		
Physical activity		.031					
Poor vs. intermediate health ¹	.29	.010	1.34	1.07	1.67		
Poor vs. ideal health ¹	.21	.107	1.23	.96	1.60		
No alcohol vs. alcohol in past year ¹	.38	.000	1.46	1.20	1.78		
BMI	.00	.571	1.00	.99	1.02		
HDL levels	15	.257	.86	.66	1.12		
LDL levels	06	.260	.94	.84	1.05		
No financial stress vs. financial stress ¹	.68	.000	1.97	1.43	2.72		
John Henryism	02	.076	.98	.96	1.00		

Bivariate Regression Results for Lifestyle Behaviors, Risk Factors, Social Stressors, and Exposure to Discrimination (N = 1963)

Note. OR = odds ratio. CI = confidence interval.

¹ Reference categories appear first in the group comparison.

Regression model for level of burden. The findings in Table 8 revealed that smoking and financial adversity significantly predicted level of burden due to lifetime exposure to racial discrimination in the model. Similar to the previous procedure, only these independent variables were included in a single logistic regression model testing the relationship between SES mobility, age, and gender on level of burden due to lifetime racial discrimination exposure.

				95% CI	for OR
Variables	В	Sig.	OR	Lower	Upper
Nutrition: poor vs. intermediate health ¹	06	.529	.94	.79	1.13
Smoking: poor vs. ideal health ¹	36	.018	.70	.52	.94
Physical activity		.547			
Poor vs. intermediate health ¹	.12	.272	1.12	.91	1.38
Poor vs. ideal health ¹	.06	.643	1.06	.84	1.34
No alcohol vs. alcohol in past year ¹	.02	.849	1.02	.85	1.22
BMI	.00	.700	1.00	.99	1.02
HDL levels	.02	.902	1.02	.80	1.29
LDL levels	03	.612	.98	.88	1.08
No financial stress vs. financial stress ¹	.33	.045	1.39	1.01	1.91
John Henryism total score	00	.705	1.00	.98	1.02

Logistic Regression Results for Lifestyle Behaviors, Risk Factors, Social Stressors, and Level of Burden Due to Lifetime Exposure to Racial Discrimination (N = 1959)

Note. OR = odds ratio. CI = confidence interval.

¹ Reference categories appear first in the group comparison.

Regression model for cardiovascular disease. The findings in Table 9 show that the following independent variables significantly predicted likelihood of having cardiovascular disease in the model: age, nutrition, HDL, and LDL levels. Thus, only these variables were included in the logistic regression procedure testing the relationship between SES mobility, and hypertension on the likelihood of having cardiovascular disease.

Logistic Regression Results for Demographic Factors, Lifestyle Behaviors, Risk Factors, Social Stressors, and Likelihood of Having Cardiovascular Disease (N = 1963)

				95% CI	for OR
Variables	В	Sig.	OR	Lower	Upper
Age group in years ¹		.006			
34 to 54 vs. 55 to 64	.44	.018	1.55	1.08	2.24
34 to 54 vs. 65 to 84	.59	.003	1.81	1.22	2.67
Gender: male vs. female ¹	.13	.437	1.13	.83	1.56
Nutrition: poor vs. intermediate health ¹	35	.028	.70	.51	.96
Smoking: poor vs. ideal health ¹	.08	.762	1.08	.66	1.78
Physical activity		.338			
Poor vs. intermediate health ¹	.05	.770	1.05	.75	1.48
Poor vs. ideal health ¹	28	.210	.76	.49	1.17
No alcohol vs. alcohol in past year ¹	12	.477	.89	.65	1.23
BMI	.01	.526	1.01	.99	1.03
HDL levels	51	.021	.60	.39	.93
LDL levels	19	.029	.83	.70	.98
No financial stress vs. financial stress ¹	.20	.434	1.23	.74	2.04
John Henryism total score	03	.105	.97	.94	1.01

Note. OR = odds ratio. CI = confidence interval. Overall model $\chi^2(13) = 29.91$, p < .01.

¹ Reference categories appear first in the group comparison.

The Relationship Between SES Mobility and Exposure to Discrimination (Research Question 1)

The first research question sought to determine the relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of lifetime discrimination attributed to race, and determine whether or not the relationship was moderated by age or gender. The first logistic regression was conducted with lifetime discrimination exposure as the dependent variable and SES mobility income and SES mobility education as the independent variables. To answer this first question, a hierarchical logistic regression procedure was conducted. In the first step, the demographic variables were entered into the equation; in the second step, the lifestyle variables were entered; in the third step, the social stressors were entered; in the fourth step, the independent variables were entered. Age and gender were also evaluated to assess their affect on the direction and/or strength of the relationship between lifetime racial discrimination exposure and SES mobility based on education or income. None of the interaction terms were found to be statistically significant, indicating that neither age nor gender moderated this relationship; therefore, these findings are not presented. Further analysis was conducted to assess the relationship between lifetime racial discrimination exposure and SES mobility based on education and income after controlling for gender and age. These results are presented in Table 10 below.

Table 10 displays the *p*-values, the exponentiated B values (Exp(B), odds ratios (OR), and the confidence intervals (CI) of the OR. The high discrimination group is the reference category. The findings in Table 10 indicate that after controlling for age,

gender, physical activity, alcohol, and social stressors, SES mobility in terms of education significantly predicted exposure to racial discrimination (p < .001). Specifically, respondents categorized as having stable low SES mobility based on education were less likely to experience a high level of discrimination than respondents who were categorized as having increasing SES mobility, OR = 1.63, 95% CI [1.31, 2.02], and respondents who were categorized as having stable high SES mobility, OR =1.38, 95% CI [1.05, 1.81]. However, SES mobility based on income did not significantly predict exposure to racial discrimination (p = .633). To ensure that the two measures of SES mobility were not closely interrelated, the relationship between education and income mobility were tested for collinearity. SES education mobility was not significantly related to SES income mobility $\chi^2(9) = 12.52$, p = .186. Moreover, this model did not show SES mobility to account for the variance (5.6%) in racial discrimination exposure.

Logistic Regression Results for SES Mobility and Lifetime Discrimination Exposure (N = 2254)

				95% CI	for OR
Variables	В	Sig.	OR	Lower	Upper
Age group in years ¹		.000			
55 to 64 vs. 34 to 54	10	.374	.91	.73	1.13
55 to 64 vs. 65 to 84	53	.000	.59	.46	.76
Gender: male vs. female ¹	.28	.003	1.32	1.10	1.60
Physical activity		.127			
Poor vs. intermediate health ¹	.21	.047	1.24	1.00	1.52
Poor vs. ideal health ¹	.05	.688	1.05	.83	1.34
No alcohol vs. alcohol in past year ¹	.19	.059	1.21	.99	1.48
No financial stress vs. financial stress ¹	.64	.000	1.90	1.40	2.58
John Henryism total score	01	.217	.99	.97	1.01
SES mobility in education ¹		.000			
Stable low vs. diminishing	.11	.520	1.12	.80	1.56
Stable low vs. increasing	.49	.000	1.63	1.31	2.02
Stable low vs. stable high	.32	.023	1.38	1.05	1.81
SES mobility in income ¹		.633			
Stable low vs. diminishing	.15	.345	1.17	.85	1.60
Stable low vs. increasing	06	.790	.94	.62	1.44
Stable low vs. stable high	.07	.638	1.08	.79	1.46

Note. Overall fit for the fourth and final step, $\chi^2(14) = 92.83$, p < .001, Nagelkerke $R^2 =$

.056.

¹ Reference categories appear first in the group comparison.

The Relationship Between SES Mobility and Levels of Burden Due to Exposure to Discrimination (Research Question 2)

The second research question sought to determine the relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden attributed to lifetime racial discrimination, and determine whether or not the relationship was moderated by age or gender. A binomial logistic regression was conducted with lifetime discrimination burden as the dependent variable and SES mobility income and SES mobility education as the independent variables. With the binomial logistic regression, there are only two categories of the dependent variable. So, the reference category was the low discrimination group. Therefore, all significant Exp(B) that were greater than 1, were more likely to be in the high discrimination group versus the low discrimination group. Conversely, all significant Exp(B) that were less likely to be in the high discrimination group versus the low discrimination group. As with the multinomial logistic regression, the independent variable categories are compared to their corresponding stable-low category (ex. stable-low income vs. stable-high income, increasing income, and diminishing income).

To answer this second question, a hierarchical logistic regression procedure was conducted as in the previous model. In the first step, the demographic variables were entered into the equation; in the second step, the lifestyle variables were entered; in the third step, the social stressors were entered; in the fourth step, the independent variables were entered. Similar to the previous research question, age and gender were also evaluated to determine the presence of effect modification. None of the interaction terms were found to be statistically significant, indicating that neither age nor gender moderated this relationship; therefore, these findings are not presented. Further analysis was conducted to assess the relationship between lifetime racial discrimination burden and SES mobility based on education and income after controlling for gender and age. These results are presented in Table 11 below.

As shown in Table 11, after controlling for age, gender, smoking activity, and social stressors, SES mobility based on education significantly predicted lifetime burden due to exposure to racial discrimination, p < .05. Specifically, respondents categorized as having stable low SES mobility in terms of education were more likely to experience a high burden due to racial discrimination than respondents who were categorized as having diminishing SES mobility, OR = .71, 95% CI [.53, .96]. Yet, SES mobility based on income did not significantly predict lifetime burden due to exposure to racial discrimination for the variance (1.6%) in racial discrimination burden.

				95% CI	for OR			
Variables	В	Sig.	OR	Lower	Upper			
Age group in years ¹		.145						
55 to 64 vs. 34 to 54	.15	.113	1.16	.97	1.40			
55 to 64 vs. 65 to 84	.17	.098	1.18	.97	1.45			
Gender: male vs. female ¹	.19	.018	1.21	1.03	1.42			
Smoking: poor vs. ideal health ¹	34	.005	.71	.56	.90			
No financial stress vs. financial stress ¹	.33	.026	1.39	1.04	1.85			
SES mobility in education ¹		.038						
Stable low vs. diminishing	34	.025	.71	.53	.96			
Stable low vs. increasing	.13	.186	1.14	.94	1.38			
Stable low vs. stable high	02	.860	.98	.77	1.25			
SES mobility in income ¹		.821						
Stable low vs. diminishing	01	.935	.99	.76	1.29			
Stable low vs. increasing	10	.586	.90	.63	1.30			
Stable low vs. stable high	08	.522	.92	.72	1.18			

Logistic Regression Results for SES Mobility and Burden Levels (N = 2551)

Note. Overall fit for the fourth and final step, $\chi^2(11) = 31.38$, p < .001, Nagelkerke $R^2 = .016$

¹ Reference categories appear first in the group comparison.

The Relationship Between Hypertension, SES Mobility, Levels of Discrimination, Levels of Burden Due to Exposure to Discrimination, and Cardiovascular Disease (Research Question 3)

The third research question sought to determine whether SES mobility, cumulative perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, and burden due to racial discrimination exposure would moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease. To address this research question, first a binomial logistic regression was performed to establish if there was a significant association between hypertension, the independent variable, and cardiovascular disease, the dependent variable. Hypertension was a dichotomous variable where 0 was no hypertension and 1 represented a hypertension diagnosis. Cardiovascular disease was also a dichotomous variable where 0 was no cardiovascular disease, and 1 indicted a cardiovascular disease diagnosis. Results of the binomial logistic regression indicated that there was a significant relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease, $\chi^2(1) =$ 177.779, p < .001, where the explained variability in cardiovascular disease status ranged from 3.3% (Cox and Snell R squared) to 6.9% (Nagelkerke R squared). The results also indicated that respondents with hypertension were 4.3 times more likely to have cardiovascular disease than those who did not have hypertension, Exp(B) = 4.369, p < .001 (Table 12).

Binomial Logistic Regression - Cardiovascular Disease and Hypertension

	В	SE	Wald	df	р	Exp(B)
Hypertension	1.474	.127	134.439	1	.000	4.369
Constant	-3.239	.117	767.344	1	.000	.039

To answer this third question, a hierarchical logistic regression procedure was conducted as in previous models. In the first step, the demographic variables were entered into the equation; in the second step, the lifestyle variables were entered; in the third step, the risk factors were entered; in the fourth step, the independent variables were entered; in the final step, the interaction terms were entered. The main terms (i.e., HTN and SES-E, SES-I, discrimination, and burden) were entered into the model separately before adding the interaction terms (results not shown). The findings in Table 13 indicate that SES mobility, cumulative perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, and burden due to racial discrimination exposure did not significantly moderate the relationship between hypertension and likelihood of cardiovascular disease.

Logistic Regression Results for SES Mobility, Discrimination Exposure, Burden Levels, Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Disease (N = 2590)

				95% Cl	for OR
Variables	В	Sig.	OR	Lower	Upper
Age group in years ¹		.001			
34 to 54 vs. 55 to 64 (Age 1)	.39	.031	1.48	1.04	2.10
34 to 54 vs. 65 to 84 (Age 2)	.69	.000	1.99	1.39	2.86
Nutrition: poor vs. intermediate health	33	.024	.72	.54	.96
HDL	45	.024	.64	.43	.94
LDL	27	.001	.76	.65	.90
Hypertension: no vs. yes (HTN) ¹	.40	.494	1.49	.48	4.61
SES mobility in education ¹		.056			
Stable low vs. diminishing	.09	.814	1.10	.50	2.40
Stable low vs. increasing	93	.012	.40	.19	.81
Stable low vs. stable high	46	.231	.63	.30	1.34
SES mobility in income ¹		.640			
Stable low vs. diminishing	.48	.354	1.62	.59	4.45
Stable low vs. increasing	.77	.201	2.16	.66	7.04
Stable low vs. stable high	.42	.406	1.52	.57	4.03
Burden: low vs. high ¹	.07	.792	1.07	.64	1.80
Discrimination: low vs. high ¹	.34	.211	1.41	.82	2.40

HTN x SES mobility in education ¹		.400			
HTN x SES-E 1	.07	.888	1.08	.39	2.95
HTN x SES-E 2	.72	.090	2.06	.89	4.76
HTN x SES-E 3	.05	.921	1.05	.39	2.81
HTN x SES mobility in income ¹		.963			
HTN x SES-I 1	22	.719	.81	.25	2.61
HTN x SES-I 2	33	.655	.72	.17	3.01
HTN x SES-I 3	12	.841	.89	.29	2.76
HTN x discrimination	21	.504	.81	.43	1.51
HTN x burden	34	.308	.71	.37	1.37

Note. Overall fit for the fifth and final step, $\chi^2(22) = 54.94$, p < .001.

¹ Reference categories appear first in the group comparison.

The Relationship Between Hypertension, SES-Racism, and Cardiovascular Disease (Research Question 4)

The fourth research question sought to determine whether the SES-racism effect would moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease. A SES-racism effect variable was created by combining SES mobility (of both education and income independently) and lifetime racial discrimination exposure to examine its interaction with hypertension. To answer this fourth question, a hierarchical logistic regression procedure was conducted as in previous models. In the first step, the demographic variables were entered into the equation; in the second step, the lifestyle variables were entered; in the third step, the risk factors were entered; in the fourth step, the independent variables were entered; in the final step, the interaction terms were entered. Neither the interaction nor the main effect terms were found to be significant when examining them independently. Hence, interaction terms are not reported. Furthermore, the inclusion of both SES-Racism variables (for education and income) in the model yielded missing output. As a result, the main effect terms are presented separately in Tables 14 and 15.

Logistic Regression Results for SES-Racism Effect (Education), Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Disease (N = 2289)

				95% CI for <i>O</i>		
Variables	В	Sig.	OR	Lower	Upper	
Age group in years ¹		.001				
34 to 54 vs. 55 to 64 (Age 1)	.37	.040	1.44	1.02	2.05	
34 to 54 vs. 65 to 84 (Age 2)	.67	.000	1.96	1.37	2.80	
Nutrition: poor vs. intermediate health	33	.024	.72	.54	.96	
HDL	43	.031	.65	.44	.96	
LDL	27	.001	.76	.65	.89	
Hypertension: no vs. yes (HTN) ¹	.15	.338	1.17	.85	1.60	
SES-Racism Effect for education ¹		.159				
Increasing SES - Low Racism (SESe-R 1)	27	.433	.77	.39	1.49	
Diminishing SES - Low Racism (SESe-R 2)	.50	.189	1.64	.78	3.44	
Stable low SES - Low Racism (SESe-R 3)	.19	.498	1.21	.69	2.13	
Stable high SES - High Racism (SESe-R 4)	56	.289	.57	.20	1.61	
Increasing SES - High Racism (SESe-R 5)	02	.950	.98	.49	1.97	
Diminishing SES - High Racism (SESe-R 6)	.13	.812	1.14	.39	3.29	
Stable low SES - High Racism (SESe-R 7)	.37	.234	.45	.79	.69	

Note. Only results for fourth and final step are reported. Overall ft for the fourth step,

 $\chi^2(13) = 49.39, p < .001.$ ¹ Reference categories represents Stable high SES – Low

Racism, which is consider optimal.

				95% CI for <i>OR</i>		
Variables	В	Sig.	OR	Lower	Upper	
Age group in years ¹		.000				
34 to 54 vs. 55 to 64 (Age 1)	.38	.031	1.47	1.04	2.08	
34 to 54 vs. 65 to 84 (Age 2)	.70	.000	2.02	1.42	2.87	
Nutrition: poor vs. intermediate health	36	.013	.70	.52	.93	
HDL	41	.038	.66	.45	.98	
LDL	27	.001	.76	.65	.89	
Hypertension: no vs. yes (HTN) ¹	.18	.270	1.19	.87	1.63	
SES-Racism Effect for income ¹		.709				
Increasing SES - Low Racism (SESe-R 1)	.30	.319	1.35	.78	2.46	
Diminishing SES - Low Racism (SESe-R 2)	.07	.720	1.07	.74	1.56	
Stable low SES - Low Racism (SESe-R 3)	14	.632	.87	.50	1.53	
Stable high SES - High Racism (SESe-R 4)	.21	.329	1.23	.81	1.85	
Increasing SES - High Racism (SESe-R 5)	.16	.747	1.17	.45	3.08	
Diminishing SES - High Racism (SESe-R 6)	.01	.978	1.01	.60	1.68	
Stable low SES - High Racism (SESe-R 7)	.71	.181	.49	.17	1.39	

Logistic Regression Results for SES-Racism Effect (Income), Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Disease (N = 2289)

Note. Only results for fourth and final step are reported. Overall ft for the fourth step, $\chi^2(13) = 49.2, p < .001.^1$ Reference categories represents Stable high SES – Low Racism, which is consider optimal.

Summary of Findings

The first research question sought to determine whether SES mobility would predict level of exposure to discrimination. The findings indicated that SES mobility, as measured by education, predicted level of exposure to racial discrimination. Specifically, respondents categorized as having stable low SES mobility based on education were less likely to experience a high level of racial discrimination than respondents who were categorized as having increasing and stable high SES mobility.

The second research question sought to determine whether SES mobility would predict burden levels due to exposure to discrimination. The findings indicated that SES mobility, as measured by education, predicted burden levels due to exposure to discrimination. Specifically, respondents categorized as having stable low SES mobility in terms of education were more likely to experience a high burden due to racial discrimination than respondents who were categorized as having diminishing SES mobility.

The third research question sought to determine whether SES mobility, level of exposure to racial discrimination, and level of burden would moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease. None of these variables had a moderating effect on the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease.

Finally, the fourth research question sought to determine whether the SES-racism effect (i.e., the interaction between SES mobility and level of discrimination exposure) would moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease. The

findings reveal that the SES-racism effect did not moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease.

Chapter 5: Discussion

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to evaluate whether there was a relationship between perceived lifetime racial discrimination and SES mobility, if the relationship was moderated by age or gender, and if the interaction of these variables moderated the relationship between hypertension and CVD. This study was conducted as an opportunity to enhance public health research methodologies regarding the measurement of racial discrimination's influence of CVD related health outcomes in Black populations in the United States. This study was also conducted to fill gaps in understanding how the role of racial dynamics, coupled with changes in socioeconomic mobility, influence poor health outcomes among Blacks in Jackson, Mississippi, and to provide evidence for needed changes in policies, practices, infrastructure, and/or social norms. Data from the Jackson Heart Study (JHS) were analyzed to measure outcomes to the research questions. This chapter addresses the findings of this research study, limitations of the study, recommendations for continued research, and implications for social change.

Summary and Interpretation of the Findings

There were four research questions used to explore whether or not exposure to racial discrimination had any bearing on the relationship between hypertension and CVD. The findings indicated that SES mobility, as measured by education, predicted both the exposure to perceived lifetime racial discrimination and the burden that participants experienced. Participants with stable low SES mobility based on education were less likely to experience a high level of racial discrimination exposure than respondents who

were categorized as having increasing and stable high SES mobility. Conversely, the same group was more likely to experience a greater burden from the exposure that they did experience than respondents who were categorized as having diminishing SES mobility. However, the remaining models illustrated that neither SES mobility nor racial discrimination had any effect in moderating the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease when examined individually or collectively.

In Chapter 2, the literature review described the role of both SES mobility and racial discrimination in contributing to adverse CVD-related outcomes. Studies that examined racial discrimination historically reported widely varied results, indicators of measurement, and population groups (Chae et al., 2010; Din-Dzietham et al., 2004; Dolezsar et al., 2014; Krieger et al., 2013; Krieger & Sidney, 1996; Roberts et al., 2008; Sims et al., 2012). While little evidence is available on strategies to comprehensively assess lifetime racial discrimination, this study does extend the results found in the CARDIA Study in which professional Blacks were found to be more strongly effected by racial discrimination experiences than working class Blacks (Krieger & Sidney, 1996).

However, unlike the CARDIA Study, expected elevated blood pressure results were not observed in this dissertation study. Bastos et al. (2010) and Williams et al. (2012) agreed, however, that the effect of racism on disease pathways vary based on how racism is manifested (e.g., job or provider-related, aggressive behaviors or actions, social rejection), and others (Chae et al., 2010; Williams & Mohammed, 2013) advise that understanding of whether or not any dose-response from exposure exists is unknown. Furthermore, previous research illustrated that differences in racial discrimination experiences were often influenced by gender and/or age (Chae et al., 2010; Dolezsar et al., 2014; Krieger & Sidney, 1996), yet that was not confirmed as a moderating effect by this study. Studies that demonstrated age or gender differences in racial discrimination were often smaller studies and had no or unequal comparable population. JHS has not only a large sample size, but also an appropriately representative cohort, which provides statistical power that may minimize age and gender differences that might otherwise be observed in smaller studies.

Similar to previous racial discrimination research, the literature depicted the SES mobility and SES constructs as being inconsistently measured across studies. SES mobility studies have based this construct on varied combinations of education, income, occupation, and/or wealth measurements (Adler & Stewart, 2010; Conroy et al., 2010; Pollitt et al., 2005). As expected, the findings of this study aligned with previous JHS research in which Sims et al. (2012) found that participants experiencing high levels of lifetime discrimination had high SES. However, the results of this dissertation study did not confirm increased risk of hypertension translating to the expected CVD outcome. Sims et al. (2012) included all measures of lifetime discrimination (e.g., weight, gender, racial) and only adult SES measurements, subtle differences that may have resulted in altered findings. This study also confirms the findings of Sellers et al. (2009) and Sellers, Neighbors, and Bonham (2011) demonstrating that middle-class Blacks of higher educational status more frequently encountered racially motivated experiences.

Conversely, research that actually examined SES mobility documented an inverse relationship between lifecourse SES and CVD (Adler & Stewart, 2010; Berry et al., 2012;

Hogberg et al., 2011; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Roberts et al., 2010; Wamala et al., 2001), with individuals of high and increasing SES mobility having the lowest risk (Hogberg et al., 2011; James et al., 2006; Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013). The SES mobility indicators used in this study, based on singular measurements of education and income, may attribute to why these findings were not confirmed. Measuring these indicators of SES in isolation as a proxy for SES mobility deprives the researcher from considering the long-term effects of additional socioeconomic circumstances that were not included. Singular measurements of SES mobility are therefore not only incomplete, but also fail to capture how health status is impacted by variations in the dimension of social stratification (Blank et al., 2004).

Moreover, aforementioned SES mobility investigations do not address any aspect of racial discrimination. Since racism serves to create unequal opportunities and worth, it makes sense that more affluent Blacks, who have the potential to possess similar privileges, resources, and power, pose the greatest threat. While previous racial discrimination studies may have taken into account participants of different SES levels, no studies were found that addressed the role that SES mobility plays in the extent of exposure or burden due to racial discrimination which individuals experience. To this end, the research presented in this study extends previous research by considering the addition of this element. The research questions for this study attempted to establish an interaction between commonly assessed contributors to health disparities and bridge research gaps that potentially attributed to the variations observed across studies. This study extends our understanding of how SES indicators are not only strongly patterned by race (Williams et al., 2010), but potentially also the social conditions of the community in which an individual lives.

This investigation was rooted in two conceptual frameworks. First, the framework created by Harper et al. (2011) suggested that CVD outcomes are the result of SES position guiding the prevalence of risk factors an individual is exposed to. However, the framework cautions that the effect of this relationship is conditional based on the strength of the linkage between macrosocial factors and proximal causes of disease over an individual's lifecourse, historical context, and geographic location. Although racism is considered a macrosocial factor, there are numerous other factors (e.g., political ideologies, cultural belief systems, economic philosophies) that may work in concert to effect this relationship differently than racism alone. This framework also examines the interaction of these dynamics across place and time. This study considers the impact of time, related to lifetime measurements, but not historical or geographic contexts. It is plausible that not only racial discrimination, but also SES mobility, are impacted differently as these contexts are observed individually and collectively.

The second framework, created by Williams and Mohammed (2013) contends that health disparities occur as a response to a multi-layered and cumulative impact of social factors negatively intervening on the proximal pathways that link risk factors to health outcomes. As Williams and Mohammed's (2013) framework emphasizes various social factors as intervening mechanisms on intricate and multidimensional processes, it is noted that there are numerous elements of this framework that were not included in the analysis of this study (e.g., societal institutions, societal resources, physiological responses). Given that this study only examines racism as it intervenes on some indicators of SES mobility, additional studies are warranted that can further extend this research to include more broadly measured constructs.

Both frameworks observe the interaction between SES mobility and racial discrimination as part of a larger, more complex model. This study lends support to the relationship between racial discrimination and social status; however, exclusion of the additional aspects of both models that were not measured in this study may have limited the ability to illustrate linkage to distal risk factors (i.e., hypertension) and adverse health outcomes (i.e., CVD).

Strengths of the study

Historically, Blacks are underrepresented in research studies, even though they are more likely to be disproportionately affected by chronic diseases; this combination increases the difficulty in exploring the possible influences that contribute to these health disparities (Diaz, Mainous, McCall, & Geesey, 2008; Fuqua et al., 2005; Schmotzer, 2012). The participation of Blacks in research studies across the United States is reported to range from 3% to 20% (Fuqua et al., 2005). Researchers have identified numerous reasons that contribute to these low participation rates, such as mistrust of researchers and/or healthcare systems, lack of minority researchers, cultural barriers, and failure of researchers to actively recruit Blacks (Diaz et al., 2008; Durant et al., 2014). The JHS was established as a follow-up to the ARIC study, a familiar and trusted research study among Blacks in metro Jackson, MS. There are few studies to date that have specifically focused and collected longitudinal data on CVD and a multitude of interconnected factors

that influence the manifestation of disease outcomes to the extent of the JHS (Taylor et al., 2005).

The JHS is the largest study of CVD among Blacks (Taylor et al., 2005). While this population cohort is restricted to a single site, the historical awareness of both blatant and subtle forms of racial discrimination in Mississippi creates an unparalleled snapshot in which to investigate issues that may affect Blacks across the nation. The large sample size of participants in the JHS provided the necessary power to detect small, but significant relationships between the variables of interest; thereby, giving strength to study findings and allowing for an in-depth examination of a complex phenomena.

In addition, JHS is a longitudinal study with data spanning more than 10 years, collected on a wide array of indicators. The vast array of indicators that have been collected and linked to CVD in JHS have supported advances to the field of social epidemiology and the role of social determinants of health in shaping health outcomes (Fuqua et al., 2005; Payne et al., 2005). It also provides objective data and outcomes, as well as identifies concrete and plausible areas around which to intervene.

Finally, this study investigated the complex, multidimensional experiences of Blacks from a unique perspective. Exploration of the literature to date found that there is little or no research that has been conducted to examine the relationship between SES mobility and perceived lifetime discrimination (Adler & Stewart, 2010), or how the combination of these two variables (i.e., SES-Racism effect) may influence the relationship between hypertension and CVD. Hence, this study conceptualizes a new mechanism for investigating the multifaceted pathway by which racism impacts health
outcomes. While this study did not demonstrate SES-Racism effect to be a moderator, the positive relationship between SES mobility and lifetime racial discrimination exposure warrants further investigation.

Limitations of the Study

As previous reported in Chapter 1, there are overall limitations in the strength of this study and its findings; therefore, these findings should be considered with caution. The Jackson Heart Study is a unique cohort in which to measure both perceived discrimination, as well as SES mobility, given that the data was collected in the backdrop of a geographic region known to have historical racial issues, SES disadvantage, and a high prevalence of CVD (Payne et al., 2005; Sims et al., 2009; Taylor, 2003) This study was based on secondary data analysis, which has limited specificity due to the use of fixed survey questions. The data ascertained measured aspects of discrimination attributed to race, and do not entirely encompass the definition of racism (Sims et al., 2012; Sims et al., 2009).

Racial discrimination is a very subjective construct with a wide range of interpretation that is personally mediated based on an individual's vantage point; whereas, racism may be thought of as more overt acts which could also be included under the umbrella of racial discrimination (Bonilla-Silva, 2001; Jones, 2000; Kumanyika & Jones, 2015). The survey questions used to measure discrimination do not account for differences in perceived discrimination. Differences in how an individual perceives racial discrimination may vary based on several factors such as coping mechanisms, situation or circumstances of the event, historical exposure, tolerance, or generational beliefs. The development of a standardized definition and understanding of what constitutes racial discrimination may reveal that the prevalence of both racial discrimination exposure and burden has been substantial under reported. Factors such as these may prevent a cause-effect relationship from being demonstrated using this correlational study to assess how the relationship between hypertension and CVD over the lifecourse is moderated by racial discrimination and SES.

Finally, the study measures only Blacks located in the metro Jackson, MS area, and any findings are not generalizable to geographic areas or other racial/ethnic populations that may experience racial discrimination. Blacks in Mississippi have exposures and experiences that are different from Blacks in other geographic areas. Furthermore, this study did not have a White population cohort to compare exposures and outcomes. The inability to compare differences in racial discrimination exposure between Whites and Blacks eliminates the opportunity to understand how the membership to a racial/ethnic group, including coping mechanisms or health-related behaviors commonly observed or practiced by a particular population group, may influence health outcomes (Brondolo et al., 2005). These limitations provide justification for further research to be conducted in a wider population, additional geographic locations, and using more specific methodologies.

SES mobility could not be measured as originally planned. Although derived categories for adult occupational data were provided by JHS, equivalent aggregate data for parental occupational was not (M. Sims, personal communication, December 16, 2014). As such, there was an inability to demonstrate SES mobility based on occupation. Furthermore, the SES mobility construct was initially a cumulative measurement based on previously developed research, which was later determined to be incomplete. Examining singular measures of SES limits the extent to which we can understand an individual's true SES mobility relative to other factors. This study assumes that individuals of stable low or diminishing SES mobility for education do not fair as well as an individual of higher educational status. However, it is quite plausible that these assumptions to not always hold true.

A person with only a high school diploma may have an income that categorizes them as being affluent. More than 80% of the participants in this study were found to have lower educational status (i.e., high school diploma or less), but roughly 66% had at least upper-middle income. Also, previous studies have found that even well-educated Blacks may have relatively poor health outcomes because they frequently reside in neighborhoods with less than desirable characteristics (Bucholz, Ma, Normand, & Krumholz, 2015; Jackson, Rowley, & Owens, 2012; Jones-Jack et al., 2010; LaVeist et al., 2011; Logan, 2011); hence, residential neighborhood characteristics may also need to be considered as a SES mobility component.

Furthermore, the childhood SES measurements (i.e., education and income) potentially introduce biases into the study. These measurements required adult participants to recall information about their parents' socioeconomic status, which they may not have been fully aware of or have the ability to recall accurately. It is difficult to determine whether this recall bias would be overestimated or underestimated. Prediction about the direction of this bias would require knowledge of the fluctuations in major socioeconomic influences that may have occurred over the wide timespan of the cohort.

Finally, this study only examined a cross-section of data collected at baseline. However, there are two additional exam periods that warrant further investigation (JHS, 2015). The snapshot of data analyzed may not provide a true synopsis of the effect racial discrimination on hypertension and CVD outcomes. Further investigation, such as a time series analysis, may provide additional insight on whether participants experience delayed adverse health outcomes associated with varying frequencies of racial discrimination exposure or burden.

Recommendations for Future Research

There continue to be inconsistencies in research examining the influence of racial discrimination on the health outcomes of Blacks. Chapter 2 documented previously conducted studies, described differences the population groups explored, and deficiencies in measurement strategies. While the JHS Discrimination Instrument Survey provided a more comprehensive approach for ensuring that the multiple factors that contribute to the layered mechanisms that drive the institution of racism were accounted for, there were additional aspects of this study that warrant further analysis. Focusing on lifetime racial discrimination exposure and burden did not consider how an individual's physiology prepares an armored defense and heighten sense of expectation of subsequent incidents. Sims et al. (2012) indicated that recent studies have suggested that "clinic measures of hypertension might be insufficient to detect associations with discrimination" (p. S263). Some researchers (Dolezsar et al., 2014) posited that ambulatory blood pressure

measurements may be necessary to more accurately link the effects of racially discriminatory experiences, particularly when focusing on everyday experiences. However, in an environment where racial discrimination has long been tolerated as commonplace, researchers must identify improved techniques to control for the acceptance and normalization of minimizing policies, practices, and social norms.

Although the JHS researchers utilized previous research to develop a discrimination construct that was more inclusive of aspects of discrimination found to either not be consistently measured across studies or found to be gaps in investigations (Sims et al., 2009), racial discrimination is still a subjective measurement. Additional questions about how racial discrimination is measured have yet to be addressed for this population cohort. For example, the magnitude to which one experiences an event identified as being *racially charged* may easily vary from one person to the next based on their level of tolerance, previous experiences/exposures, and coping mechanisms. Racial discrimination is a social stressor, and further study aligning JHS participants' reporting of racial discrimination exposure and burden with cortisol levels may enhance the validity of this measurement.

Substantial evidence has been generated to indicate that elevated, prolonged stress invokes physiological and hormonal responses that increase an individual's risk for adverse health outcomes (Thoits, 2010). However, social inequality is a source of various psychosocial stressors that are subtly, but often relentlessly, embedded in the daily aspects of disadvantaged populations. Researchers agree that individuals who experience social and economic inequality are at risk of greater emotional distress (Lamech & Haynes, 2015; Mildestvedt & Meland, 2007; Thoits, 2010). Social and economic inequality are often associated with increased feelings or perceptions of vulnerability, helplessness, deprivation, and dependence (Baum et al., 1999), as well as limited coping ability and motivation toward health-promoting behaviors (Mildestvedt & Meland, 2007). Further refinement of the JHS Discrimination Instrument Survey to address these gaps is warranted.

A strategy to expand this study would be to include subsequent examination periods. This study was conducted using only baseline data from the JHS cohort collected in 2004; however, the Discrimination Instrument was also used to collect data from this cohort during Exam 3 (2009-2012). A prospective analysis of the JHS cohort over time would provide a greater opportunity to understand if and how additional contextual factors (e.g., political changes, societal traumas) or continued personal experiences modify how individuals report their lifetime racial discrimination exposure and any burden it causes in their life. Similarly, SES mobility was only measured at baseline. The data collected during this exam period do not take into consideration recent changes in the economic climate of this country. Subsequent analysis may reveal a shift in the prevalence of individual who report upper-middle or affluent socioeconomic classification during adulthood. Finally, roughly 60% of JHS study participants had hypertension at baseline, and 10% had been diagnosed with CVD. However, hypertension and CVD are both health conditions that increase in prevalence as individuals age. Since the majority of study participants were <65 years of age, it is likely that the prevalence of CVD will increase as this longitudinal study progresses. The

influence of such factors on each of these constructs has the potential to demonstrate that SES-Racism Effect moderates the relationship between hypertension and CVD.

Future research needs to better understand how the impact of differing racial discrimination burden effect health outcomes. More specifically, additional research should examine whether or not there is a threshold of racial discrimination that an individual much reach before it considered to be detrimental to their health. Williams and Mohammed (2013) maintain that the age at which the initial experience occurs, the accumulation of those lifetime experiences, and the trajectory of illness is not clearly understood. Also, are Blacks predisposed to the impact of racial discrimination before birth? There have been generations of Blacks that have been exposed to structural, sociopolitical, and institutionalized racism. Gee and Ford (2011) suggest that more comprehensive research examining racism and health include the concept of intergenerational drag, which is the passing of "social assets and liabilities on to their descendants" (Darity Jr., Dietrich, & Guilkey, 2001, p. 435). In the same way that White populations a historically benefited from passing down wealth from one generation to the next (Domhoff, 2011; Kochhar et al., 2011), Blacks are also hypothesized to also pass down their experiences of historical trauma. The JHS cohort is uniquely positioned to have participants that not only span the continuum of adulthood, but also have family connections in some cases. Future research with JHS data may serve as a viable source to explore the exposure and burden of racial discrimination with family cohorts and their linkage to CVD related health outcomes.

The research maintains that a linkage between racial discrimination and CVDrelated health outcomes exists. However, this is undoubtedly a complex pathway, and identifying how to demonstrate this connection has been challenging. This research originally sought to examine SES mobility as a cumulative construct. However because details about the construct were not available, single indices of the construct were examined. From this perspective, the measurement of SES mobility observed in this study was incomplete because education and income alone are not explicitly predictive of changes in an individual's lifetime SES; meaning, an individual of low educational status may have a high income and vice versa. Therefore, future studies need to examine the role of the cumulative impact of not only education and income, but also occupation and wealth. Furthering this study with the use of a more complete SES mobility construct may yield different results.

Implications for Social Change

Because Blacks experience rates of hypertension and CVD that are higher than other racial ethnic populations, regardless of education and income, one must consider the influence of nontraditional social determinants of health. Since education-based SES mobility was found to predict level of exposure to racial discrimination and the burden that participants experienced, this study supports the fact that the institutional dynamics that create racial factors, as well as the impact of such experiences on individuals, are complex. Furthermore, translating this research into public health practice also requires the implementation of multifaceted investments to ameliorate these gaps in addressing health disparities (Krieger, 2012b; Kumanyika, 2012; Kumanyika & Jones, 2015; Williams & Mohammed, 2013).

Research has continued to peel back the layers of the onion in tackling chronic disease health improvements, addressing risk factors and social determinants of health, and developing modified methodologies. While this would certainly include patient-provider relationships, health promoting messages, and the availability of resources that are respectful, trustworthy, and culturally sensitive, history has shown that this barely scratches the surface. There are yet additional layers to be uncovered. Using traditional public health approaches to address social issues, like racism, seems to be the equivalent of tossing a pebble into raging rapids with the expectation of it having some impact. Focusing on the social determinants of health (e.g., education, food choices, improving physical activity, neighborhood poverty) continues to amplify that all is not fair or just, and fails to force discussions that sincerely unpack the underlying historical issues with transparency and demonstrate a true sense of equality for all lives (Kumanyika & Jones, 2015).

This country's sense of fairness influences how individuals of all backgrounds, SES groups, etc. can equitably take advantage of health care and resources, and are encouraged and supported to do so. The American Public Health Association's President, Camara Jones, argues that "Disparities arise from differences in quality of care, access to care & life opportunities, exposures & stresses" (2015). Unlike social determinants of health, social determinants of equity include systems of power which are mechanisms for decision making processes that can distribute resources in populations (e,g, racism, capitalism) (Kumanyika & Jones, 2015). In order to make impactful and sustainable social changes in minimizing adverse health outcomes among Blacks attributed to upstream racially discriminatory factors, society must embrace our common humanity to understand and accept that regardless of the tenacity of individual's effort, they will continue to experience health disparities in the face of contextual and structural lack (Krieger, 2012b; Kumanyika & Jones, 2015; Williams & Mohammed, 2013). The understanding that our health outcomes begin to be shaped early in life, long before the manifestation of any health condition, supports the need for Blacks to have the opportunity to level the playing field in a manner that is both equal and equitable. Consequently, the implementation of policies, practices, and changes to social norms are also necessary.

Williams and Mohammed (2013) posited that in order to rectify the institutionalized racism that lies within longstanding practices, policies, and social norms, a three-pronged approach is needed. Such as approach consists of:

- cultivating improved living, educational, and employment conditions, as well as income potential, that enhance access to resources and services that will improve health;
- 2. minimizing the societal messages and images that undergird the perpetuation of discrimination and prejudice at the societal and individual level; and
- implementing policies to support sustainable behavior change and empowerment over health outcomes at individuals and communities levels (Williams & Mohammed, 2013).

Implementing such strategies as a multi-layered effort may substantially minimize the extent to which Blacks perceive their experiences across domains (e.g., work/school, receiving services, public settings, receiving medical care) as racially discriminatory, as well as reduce the burden that such racism has had on their lives.

This research effort was important because it provides further evidence to show that while linkages between societal influences and social determinants of health exist, how individuals are ultimately impacted by the culmination of these experienced requires continued advancement. This study examined a new approach for measuring the relationship of racial discrimination on health outcomes, as well as understanding the contextual and relational factors that provide structure for a complex area of study. The JHS itself provides support for the fact that health is a function of a multifactorial interaction that includes biological changes, psychosocial functioning, environmental attributes, and institutional responsibility. The next step in advancing this field of study lies in creating a platform to engage both public health and nontraditional professionals in collaborative efforts to redefine and improve future parameters used to articulate strategies for routinely monitoring differential exposures, identifying the mechanisms (e.g., policies, structures, values, practices) that allow racism to exist, and actively engaging a national effort to eliminate the factors that perpetuate these conditions (Kumanyika & Jones, 2015).

Conclusions

In summary, the literature provides evidence to support perceived racial discrimination as a factor predisposing Blacks to elevated rates of hypertension. This

research illustrates that Blacks in the metro Jackson, MS area are not only likely to experience perceive racial discrimination over their lifecourse, but also attribute racial discrimination to having a burdensome impact on their life. This research also suggests that there is an association between levels of SES mobility based on education and levels of perceived racial discrimination exposure. While Blacks of stable high and increasing SES were found to be more likely to be impacted by exposure and burden attributed to racism, assumptions should not be made that Blacks of lower SES are not impacted.

Continued research is important to improve measurement strategies that more comprehensively capture these social constructs. In addition, both public health professionals and health care providers must be more astutely aware of the pervasiveness of racially discriminatory policies, practices, institutional barriers, and social norms that continue to exist in our society. Understanding that willingness to openly label and discuss the systems that allow racism to exist, not necessarily singling out an individual, may have tremendous influence in healing historical wounds, and ultimately diminishing health disparities.

References

- Abell, J. E., Egan, B. M., Wilson, P. W., Lipsitz, S., Woolson, R. F., & Lackland, D. T. (2008). Differences in cardiovascular disease mortality associated with body mass between black and white persons. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(1), 63-66. doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2006.093781
- Adler, N. E., & Newman, K. (2002). Socioeconomic disparities in health: pathways and policies. *Health Affairs*, 21(2), 60–76. doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.21.2.60
- Adler, N. E., & Stewart, J. (2010). Health disparities across the lifespan: Meaning, methods, and mechanisms. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1186*(1), 5–23. doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05337.x
- Ahmed, A. T., Mohammed, S. A., & Williams, D. R. (2007). Racial discrimination & health: Pathways & evidence. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, *126*(4), 318-327. Retrieved from http://scholar.harvard.edu/files/davidrwilliams/files/2007-racial_discrimination_and-williams.pdf?m=1355339369
- Allen, A. J., McNeely, J. M., Waldstein, S. R., Evans, M. K., & Zonderman, A. B. (2014). Subjective socioeconomic status predicts Framingham cardiovascular disease risk for whites, not blacks. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 24(2), 150–154.
- Alterman, T., Shekelle, R. B., Vernon, S. W., & Burau, K. D. (1994). Decision latitude, psychologic demand, job strain, and coronary heart disease in the Western Electric Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 139(6), 620–627.
- American Heart Assoication. (2012, February 27). Cardiovascular disease & diabetes. Retrieved from

http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/Conditions/Diabetes/WhyDiabetesMatters/Ca rdiovascular-Disease-Diabetes_UCM_313865_Article.jsp

- Arruda, H. (2013). History of the Framingham Heart Study. Retrieved from http:// http://www.framinghamheartstudy.org/about-fhs/history.php
- Assadi, F. (2012). The growing epidemic of hypertension among children and adolescents: A challenging road ahead. *Pediatric Cardiology*, 33(7), 1013–1020. doi.org/10.1007/s00246-012-0333-5
- Atkins, R. (2014). Instruments measuring perceived racism/racial discrimination: Review and critique of factor analytic techniques. *International Journal of Health Services : Planning, Administration, Evaluation, 44*(4), 711–734.
 doi:10.2190/hs.44.4.c
- Banks, J., Marmot, M., Oldfield, Z., & Smith, J. P. (2006). Disease and disadvantage in the United States and in England. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 295(17), 2037-2045. doi.org/10.1001/jama.295.17.2037
- Barksdale, D. J., Farrug, E. R., & Harkness, K. (2009). Racial discrimination and blood pressure: Perceptions, emotions, and behaviors of Black American adults. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 30(2), 104–111. doi.org/10.1080/01612840802597879

Bastos, J. L., Celeste, R. K., Faerstein, E., & Barros, A. J. D. (2010). Racial discrimination and health: A systematic review of scales with a focus on their psychometric properties. *Social Science & Medicine*, 70(7), 1091–1099. doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.12.020

- Bauer, U. E., Briss, P. A., Goodman, R. A., & Bowman, B. A. (2014). Prevention of chronic disease in the 21st century: Elimination of the leading preventable causes of premature death and disability in the USA. *The Lancet, 384*(9937), 45–52. doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60648-6
- Baum, A., Garofalo, J. P., & Yali, A. (1999). Socioeconomic status and chronic stress:
 Does stress account for SES effects on health? *Annals of the New York Academy* of Sciences, 896(1), 131–144. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08111.x
- Bell, E. J., Lutsey, P. L., Windham, B. G., & Folsom, A. R. (2013). Physical activity and cardiovascular disease in African Americans in ARIC. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 45(5), 901–907. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e31827d87ec
- Berkman, L. F., & Kawachi, I. (2014). A historical framework for social epidemiology:
 Social determinants of population health. In L. F. Berkman, Kawachi, I., & M. M.
 Glymour (Eds.), *Social Epidemiology* (New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
 doi:10.1093/med/9780195377903.003.0001)
- Berry, J. D., Dyer, A., Cai, X., Garside, D. B., Ning, H., Thomas, A., ... Lloyd-Jones, D.
 M. (2012). Lifetime Risks of Cardiovascular Disease. *The New England Journal* of Medicine, 366(4), 321–329. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1012848
- Blank, R. M., Dabady, M., & Citro, C. F. (2004). *Measuring racial discrimination*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Block, J. P., Scribner, R. A., & DeSalvo, K. B. (2004). Fast food, race/ethnicity, and income: A geographic analysis. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 27(3), 211–217. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2004.06.007

- Bonilla-Silva, E. (2001). Anything but racism: How sociologists limit the significance of racism. *Race and Society*, *4*(2), 117–131. doi:10.1016/S1090-9524(03)00004-4
- Bostean, G., Roberts, C. K., Crespi, C. M., Prelip, M., Peters, A., Belin, T. R., &
 McCarthy, W. J. (2013). Cardiovascular health: Associations with race–ethnicity, nativity, and education in a diverse, population-based sample of Californians. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 23(7), 388–394. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2013.04.012
- Bower, K. M., Thorpe, R. J., Yenokyan, G., McGinty, E. E. E., Dubay, L., & Gaskin, D.
 J. (2015). Racial residential segregation and disparities in obesity among women. *Journal of Urban Health*, 92(5), 843–852. doi:10.1007/s11524-015-9974-z
- Brady, T. M., Fivush, B., Parekh, R. S., & Flynn, J. T. (2010). Racial differences among children with primary hypertension. *Pediatrics*, *126*(5), 931–937. doi:10.1542/peds.2009-2972
- Braveman, P. A., Cubbin, C., Egerter, S., Williams, D. R., & Pamuk, E. (2010).
 Socioeconomic disparities in health in the United States: What the patterns tell us. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(S1), S186–S196. doi:10.2105/
 AJPH.2009.166082
- Brondolo, E., Brady ver Halen, N., Libby, D., & Pencille, M. (2009). Racism as a psychosocial stressor. In *The Handbook of Stress Science: Biology, Psychology, and Health* (New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company, pp. 167–184).
 Retrieved from

http://books.google.com/books?id=EXVlk8pnEKIC&pg=PA166&dq=The+Hand

book+of+Stress+Science:+Biology,+Psychology,+and+Health&source=gbs_toc_r &hl=en#v=onepage&q&f=false

- Brondolo, E., Gallo, L. C., & Myers, H. F. (2009). Race, racism and health: disparities, mechanisms, and interventions. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 32(1), 1–8. doi:10.1007/s10865-008-9190-3
- Brondolo, E., Kelly, K. P., Coakley, V., Gordon, T., Thompson, S., Levy, E., ...
 Contrada, R. J. (2005). The Perceived Ethnic Discrimination Questionnaire:
 Development and Preliminary Validation of a Community Version1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *35*(2), 335–365. Retrieved from
 http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.509.3707&rep=rep1&t
 ype=pdf
- Brondolo, E., Libby, D. J., Denton, E. -g., Thompson, S., Beatty, D. L., Schwartz, J., ...
 Gerin, W. (2007). Racism and ambulatory blood pressure in a community sample. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 70, 49–56. doi:10.1097/PSY.0b013e31815ff3bd
- Brondolo, E., Love, E. E., Pencille, M., Schoenthaler, A., & Ogedegbe, G. (2011).
 Racism and hypertension: A review of the empirical evidence and implications for clinical practice. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 24(5), 518–529.
 doi:10.1038/ajh.2011.9

Brondolo, E., Rieppi, R., Kelly, K. P., & Gerin, W. (2003). Perceived racism and blood pressure: A review of the literature and conceptual and methodological critique. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *25*(1), 55–65. doi:10.1207/S15324796ABM2501_08

- Brown, D. J. (2004). Everyday life for Black American adults: Stress, emotions, and blood pressure. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 26(5), 499–514. doi:10.1177/0193945904265667
- Bucholz, E. M., Ma, S., Normand, S.-L. T., & Krumholz, H. M. (2015). Race, socioeconomic status, and life expectancy after acute myocardial infarction. *Circulation*, 132, 1338-1346. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.017009
- Buchowski, M. S., Cohen, S. S., Matthews, C. E., Schlundt, D. G., Signorello, L. B.,
 Hargreaves, M. K., & Blot, W. J. (2010). Physical activity and obesity gap
 between black and white women in the southeastern U.S. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 39(2), 140–147. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2010.03.025
- Burke, M., & Heiland, F. (2011). Explaining gender-specific racial differences in obesity using biased self-reports of food intake and physical activity (White Paper No. 11-2). Federal Reserve Bank of Boston. Retrieved from http://www.bos.frb.org/economic/wp/wp2011/wp1102.pdf
- Carter-Pokras, O., & Baquet, C. (2002). What is a "Health Disparity"? *Public Health Reports, 117*(Sept-Oct), 426–434. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1497467/pdf/12500958.pdf
- CDC. (2007). CDC EXCITE Glossary. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/excite/library/glossary.htm#QR
- CDC. (2011a). Healthy Weight: Assessing Your Weight: BMI: About Adult BMI | DNPAO | CDC. Retrieved from

http://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/adult_bmi/index.html#Definitio

- CDC. (2011b). Social Determinants of Health Definitions. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/socialdeterminants/Definitions.html
- CDC. (2013a). CDC DHDSP Heart Disease Facts. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/facts.htm
- CDC. (2013b). Ten Great Public Health Achievements in the 20th Century | About | CDC. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/about/history/tengpha.htm
- CDC. (2014). Social Determinants of Health Definitions. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/socialdeterminants/Definitions.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013, November 22). MMWR: CDC Health disparities and inequalities report — United States, 2013. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 62(S3), 1–187. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/minorityhealth/CHDIR/2013/CHDIR2013_DataFigureSlides 508Compliant.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). *National diabetes statistics report: Estimates of diabetes and its burden in the United States, 2014.* Atlanta, GA:

U.S.: Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pubs/statsreport14/national-diabetes-report-web.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (1999, August 6). Achievements in public health, 1900-1999: Decline in deaths from heart disease and stroke - United States, 1900-1999. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 48*(30), 649–

656. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm4830a1.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2011, May 27). Contribution of occupational physical activity toward meeting recommended physical activity guidelines --- United States, 2007. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports*, 60(20), 656–660. Retrieved from

http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6020a4.htm

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2012, June 20). About CDC's Office of Minority Health & Health Equity (OMHHE). Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/minorityhealth/OMHHE.html
- Chae, D. H., Lincoln, K. D., Adler, N. E., & Syme, S. L. (2010). Do experiences of racial discrimination predict cardiovascular disease among African American men? The moderating role of internalized negative racial group attitudes. *Social Science & Medicine*, 71(6), 1182–1188. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.05.045
- Chatterjee, R., Brancati, F. L., Shafi, T., Edelman, D., Pankow, J. S., Mosley, T. H., ...
 Yeh, H. C. (2013). Non-traditional risk factors are important contributors to the racial disparity in diabetes risk: The atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 29(2), 290–297. doi:10.1007/s11606-013-2569-z
- Chen, E., & Paterson, L. Q. (2006). Neighborhood, family, and subjective socioeconomic status: How do they relate to adolescent health? *Health Psychology*, 25(6), 704–714. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.25.6.704

- Clark, R., & Adams, J. H. (2004). Moderating effects of perceived racism on john henryism and blood pressure reactivity in black female college students. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 28(2), 126–131. doi:10.1207/s15324796abm2802 8
- Clark, R., Anderson, N. B., Clark, V. R., & Williams, D. R. (1999). Racism as a stressor for African Americans: A biopsychosocial model. *American Psychologist*, 54(10), 805-816. Retrieved from

http://www.isr.umich.edu/williams/All%20Publications/DRW%20pubs%201999/ racism%20as%20a%20stressor%20for%20african%20americans.pdf

CNN. (2011, August 8). Video shows white teens driving over, killing black man, says DA. Retrieved from

http://www.cnn.com/2011/CRIME/08/06/mississippi.hate.crime/index.html

- Cohen, S. S., Signorello, L. B., Cope, E. L., McLaughlin, J. K., Hargreaves, M. K., Zheng, W., & Blot, W. J. (2012). Obesity and all-cause mortality among black adults and white adults. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 176(5), 431–442. doi:10.1093/aje/kws032
- Conroy, K., Sandel, M., & Zuckerman, B. (2010). Poverty grown up: How childhood socioeconomic status impacts adult health. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 31(2), 154–160. doi:10.1097/DBP.0b013e3181c21a1b
- Corcoran, M. (1995). Rags to rags: Poverty and mobility in the United States. *Annual Review of Sociology, 21*(1), 237–267. doi:10.1146/annurev.so.21.080195.001321

- Cozier, Y., Palmer, J., Horton, N., Fredman, L., Wise, L., & Rosenberg, L. (2006). Racial discrimination and the incidence of hypertension in U.S. black women. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 16(9), 681–687. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2005.11.008
- Cubbin, C., Sundquist, K., Ahlén, H., Johansson, S., Winkleby, M., & Sundquist, J. (2006). Neighborhood deprivation and cardiovascular disease risk factors:
 Protective and harmful effects. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, 34*(3), 228–237. doi:10.1080/14034940500327935
- Cuffee, Y. L., Hargraves, J. L., & Allison, J. (2012). Exploring the association between reported discrimination and hypertension among African Americans: a systematic review. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 22(4), 422–431.
- Dailey, A. B., Kasl, S. V., Holford, T. R., Lewis, T. T., & Jones, B. A. (2010).
 Neighborhood- and individual-level socioeconomic variation in perceptions of racial discrimination. *Ethnicity & Health*, *15*(2), 145–163.
 doi:10.1080/13557851003592561
- Darity Jr., W., Dietrich, J., & Guilkey, D. K. (2001). Persistent advantage or disadvantage?: Evidence in support of the intergenerational drag hypothesis. *The American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 60(2), 435.
- Das, A. (2013). How does race get "under the skin"?: Inflammation, weathering, and metabolic problems in late life. *Social Science & Medicine*, 77, 75–83. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.11.007
- Delgado, J., Jacobs, E., Lackland, D., Evans, D., & Mendes de Leon, C. (2012). Differences in blood pressure control in a large population-based sample of older

African Americans and Non-Hispanic Whites. *Journal of Gerontology: Series A*, 67(111), 1253–1258. doi:10.1093/gerona/gls106

Diaz, V. A., Mainous, A. G., McCall, A. A., & Geesey, M. E. (2008). Factors affecting research participation in African American college students. *Family Medicine*, 40(1), 46-51. Retrieved from

https://www.stfm.org/fmhub/fm2008/January/Vanessa46.pdf

- Diemer, M. A., Mistry, R. S., Wadsworth, M. E., López, I., & Reimers, F. (2013). Best practices in conceptualizing and measuring social class in psychological research:
 Social class measurement. *Analyses of Social Issues and Public Policy*, 13(1), 77–113. doi:10.1111/asap.12001
- Diez Roux, A. V., & Mair, C. (2010). Neighborhoods and health. *Annals of the New York* Academy of Sciences, 1186(1), 125–145. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05333.x
- Din-Dzietham, R., Nembhard, W. N., Collins, R., & Davis, S. K. (2004). Perceived stress following race-based discrimination at work is associated with hypertension in African-Americans. The metro Atlanta heart disease study, 1999-2001. *Social Science & Medicine*, 58(3), 449–461. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00211-9
- Dinwiddie, G. Y., Gaskin, D. J., Chan, K. S., Norrington, J., & McCleary, R. (2013).
 Residential segregation, geographic proximity and type of services used:
 Evidence for racial/ethnic disparities in mental health. *Social Science & Medicine* (1982), 80, 67–75. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.11.024
- Djoussé, L., Petrone, A. B., Blackshear, C., Griswold, M., Harman, J. L., Clark, C. R., ... Taylor, H. A. (2015). Prevalence and changes over time of ideal cardiovascular

health metrics among African–Americans: The Jackson Heart Study. *Preventive Medicine*, 74, 111–116. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.02.006

- Do, D. P., & Finch, B. K. (2008). The link between neighborhood poverty and health: context or composition? *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 168(6), 611–619. doi:10.1093/aje/kwn182
- Dolezsar, C. M., McGrath, J. J., Herzig, A. J. M., & Miller, S. B. (2014). Perceived racial discrimination and hypertension: A comprehensive systematic review. *Health Psychology*, 33(1), 20–34. doi:10.1037/a0033718
- Domhoff, G. W. (2011, January). Who rules America: Wealth, income, and power. Retrieved from

http://sociology.ucsc.edu/whorulesamerica/power/wealth.html?print

- Dubbert, P. M., Carithers, T., Ainsworth, B. E., Taylor, H. A., Jr, Wilson, G., & Wyatt, S.
 B. (2005). Physical activity assessment methods in the Jackson Heart Study. *Ethnicity & Disease, 15*(4 Suppl 6), S6–56–61. Retrieved from http://www.ishib.org/www.ishib.org/ED/journal/15-4s6/ethn-15-4s6-4.pdf
- DuBois, W. E. B. (1906). The health and physique of the Negro American. Report of a social study made under the direction of Atlanta University; Together with the proceedings of the Eleventh Conference for the Study of the Negro Problems, held at Atlanta University, on May the 29th, 1906. (Vol. 93). Atlanta, GA: Atlanta University Press. Retrieved from

http://sfxhosted.exlibrisgroup.com/waldenu?sid=google&auinit=WEB&aulast=D

uBois&atitle=The+health+and+physique+of+the+Negro+American&id=pmid:12 554583

- Dupre, M. E. (2008). Educational differences in health risks and illness over the life course: A test of cumulative disadvantage theory. *Social Science Research*, 37(4), 1253–1266. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2008.05.007
- Durant, R. W., Wenzel, J. A., Scarinci, I. C., Paterniti, D. A., Fouad, M. N., Hurd, T. C., & Martin, M. Y. (2014). Perspectives on barriers and facilitators to minority recruitment for clinical trials among cancer center leaders, investigators, research staff, and referring clinicians: Enhancing minority participation in clinical trials (EMPaCT). *Cancer, 120*, 1097–1105. doi:10.1002/cncr.28574
- Erdfelder, E., Faul, F., & Buchner, A. (1996). GPOWER: A general power analysis program. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 28*(1), 1–11. doi:10.3758/BF03203630
- Fakhouri, T. H., Ogden, C. L., Carroll, M. D., Kit, B. K., & Flegal, K. M. (2012, September). NCHS Data Brief: Prevalence of obesity among older adults in the United States, 2007-2010 (No. 106). Retrieved from http://198.246.98.21/nchs/data/databriefs/db106.pdf
- Farmer, M. M., & Ferraro, K. F. (2005). Are racial disparities in health conditional on socioeconomic status? *Social Science & Medicine*, 60, 191–204. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.04.026

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G* Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175–191.
- Ferdinand, K. C., & Sounders, E. (2006). Hypertension-related morbidity and mortality in African Americans—Why we need to do better. *The Journal of Clinical Hypertension*, 8(s1), 21–30. doi:10.1111/j.1524-6175.2006.05295.x
- Fernandez, S., Tobin, J. N., Cassells, A., Diaz-Gloster, M., Kalida, C., & Ogedegbe, G. (2011). The counseling african americans to control hypertension (CAATCH) trial: baseline demographic, clinical, psychosocial, and behavioral characteristics. *Implementation Science*, 6(1), 100. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-6-100.
- Finch, B. K., Do, D. P., Heron, M., Bird, C., Seeman, T., & Lurie, N. (2010).
 Neighborhood effects on health: Concentrated advantage and disadvantage. *Health & Place, 16*(5), 1058–1060. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.05.009
- Flack, J. M., Ferdinand, K. C., & Nasser, S. A. (2003). Epidemiology of hypertension and cardiovascular disease in African Americans. *The Journal of Clinical Hypertension*, 5(1), 5–11. doi:10.1111/j.1524-6175.2003.02152.x
- Flegal, K. M. (2012). Prevalence of obesity and trends in the distribution of body mass index among U.S. Adults, 1999-2010. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 307(5), 491-497. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.39
- Ford, E. S. (2011). Trends in mortality from all causes and cardiovascular disease among hypertensive and nonhypertensive adults in the United States. *Circulation, 123*, 1737–1744. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.005645

- Forsdahl, A. (1977). Are poor living conditions in childhood and adolescence an important risk factor for arteriosclerotic heart disease? *British Journal of Preventive & Social Medicine*, 31(2), 91–95. doi:10.1136/jech.31.2.91
- Freedman, D. S., Goodman, A., Contreras, O. A., DasMahapatra, P., Srinivasan, S. R., & Berenson, G. S. (2012). Secular trends in BMI and blood pressure among children and adolescents: The Bogalusa Heart Study. *Pediatrics*, *130*(1), e159–e166. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-3302
- Fryar, C. D., Hirsch, R., Eberhardt, M. S., Yoon, S. S., & Wright, J. (2010, April). NCHS Data Brief: Hypertension, high serum total cholesterol, and diabetes: Racial and ethnic prevalence differences in U.S. adults, 1999–2006 (No.36). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db36.pdf
- Fuchs, F. D. (2011). Why do Black Americans have higher prevalence of hypertension?:An enigma still unsolved. *Hypertension*, 57(3), 379–380.doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.163196
- Fuqua, S. R., Wyatt, S. B., Andrew, M. E., Sarpong, D. F., Henderson, F. R., Cunningham, M. F., & Taylor, H. A. (2005). Recruiting African-American research participation in the Jackson Heart Study: Methods, response rates, and sample description. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 15(4 Suppl 6), S6–18–29. Retrieved from http://mx1.ishib.org/ED/journal/15-4s6/ethn-15-4s6-18.pdf
- Galea, S., Tracy, M., Hoggatt, K. J., DiMaggio, C., & Karpati, A. (2011). Estimated deaths attributable to social factors in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, 101(8), 1456–1465. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2010.300086

- Galobardes, B., Lynch, J., & Smith, G. D. (2007). Measuring socioeconomic position in health research. *British Medical Bulletin*, 81-82, 21–37. doi:10.1093/bmb/ldm001
- Gary, T. L., Stark, S. A., & LaVeist, T. A. (2007). Neighborhood characteristics and mental health among African Americans and Whites living in a racially integrated urban community. *Health & Place*, *13*(2), 569–575. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2006.06.001
- Gaskin, D. J., Thorpe, R. J., McGinty, E. E., Bower, K., Rohde, C., Young, J. H., ...
 Dubay, L. (2013). Disparities in diabetes: The nexus of race, poverty, and place. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(11), 2147–2155.
 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301420
- Gebreab, S. Y., Roux, A. V. D., Brenner, A. B., Hickson, D. A., Sims, M.,
 Subramanyam, M., ... James, S. A. (2015). The impact of lifecourse
 socioeconomic position on cardiovascular disease events in African Americans:
 The Jackson Heart Study. *Journal of the American Heart Association, 4*(6), 829836. doi:10.1161/JAHA.114.001553
- Gee, G. C., & Ford, C. L. (2011). Structural racism and health inequities. *Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race, 8*(01), 115–132. doi:10.1017/S1742058X11000130
- Gee, G. C., & Payne-Sturges, D. C. (2004). Environmental health disparities: a framework integrating psychosocial and environmental concepts. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 112(17), 1645. doi:10.1289/ehp.7074

- Gee, G. C., Walsemann, K. M., & Brondolo, E. (2012). A life course perspective on how racism may be related to health inequities. *American Journal of Public Health*, *102*(5), 967–974. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300666
- Gee, Gilbert C. (2002). A multilevel analysis of the relationship between institutional and individual racial discrimination and health status. *American Journal of Public Health*, 92(4), 615–623. doi:10.2105/AJPH.92.4.615
- Gillespie, C., & Hurvitz, K. (2013). Prevalence of hypertension and controlled hypertension — United States, 2007–2010. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports, 62*(03), 144–148.
- Giuliano, L., Levine, D. I., & Leonard, J. (2009). Manager race and the race of new hires. Journal of Labor Economics, 27(4), 589–631. doi:10.1086/605946
- Glymour, M. M., Avendano, M., & Kseschi, I. (2014). Socioeconomic status and health.In L. F. Berkman, Kawachi, I., & M. M. Glymour (Eds.), *Social Epidemiology* (New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

doi:10.1093/med/9780195377903.003.0001)

- Go, A. S., Mozaffarian, D., Roger, V. L., Benjamin, E. J., Berry, J. D., Blaha, M. J., ... on behalf of the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. (2014). Heart disease and stroke statistics--2014 Update: A report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation, 129*(3), e28–e292. doi:10.1161/01.cir.0000441139.02102.80
- Go, A. S., Mozaffarian, D., Roger, V. L., Benjamin, E. J., Berry, J. D., Borden, W. B., ... on behalf of the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke

Statistics Subcommittee. (2012). Heart disease and stroke statistics--2013 Update: A report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation, 127*(1), e6–e245. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e31828124ad

- Greenland, S. (2007). Invited commentary: Variable selection versus shrinkage in the control of multiple confounders. *American Journasl of Epidemiology*, 167(5), 523–529. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm355
- Guyll, M., Matthews, K. A., & Bromberger, J. T. (2001). Discrimination and unfair treatment: Relationship to cardiovascular reactivity among African American and European American women. *Health Psychology*, *20*(5), 315–325. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.20.5.315
- Hall, R. E. (2007). Racism as health risk for African-American males: Correlations between hypertension and skin color. *Journal of African American Studies*, *11*(3-4), 204–213. doi:10.1007/s12111-007-9018-1
- Hardaway, C. R., & McLoyd, V. C. (2008). Escaping poverty and securing middle class status: How race and socioeconomic status shape mobility prospects for African Americans during the transition to adulthood. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 38*(2), 242–256. doi:10.1007/s10964-008-9354-z

Harman, J. L., Griswold, M. E., Jeffries, N. O., Sumner, A. E., Sarpong, D. F.,
Akylbekova, E. L., ... Taylor, H. A. (2011). Age is positively associated with
high-density lipoprotein cholesterol among African Americans in cross-sectional
analysis: The Jackson Heart Study. *Journal of Clinical Lipidology*, 5(3), 173–178.
doi:10.1016/j.jacl.2011.02.002

- Harman, J., Walker, E. R., Charbonneau, V., Akylbekova, E. L., Nelson, C., & Wyatt, S.
 B. (2013). Treatment of hypertension among African Americans: The Jackson Heart Study. *The Journal of Clinical Hypertension*, *15*(6), 367–374. doi:10.1111/jch.12088
- Harper, S., Lynch, J., & Smith, G. D. (2011). Social determinants and the decline of cardiovascular diseases: Understanding the links. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 32(1), 39–69. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031210-101234
- Harrell, J. P., Hall, S., & Taliaferro, J. (2003). Physiological responses to racism and discrimination: an assessment of the evidence. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93(2), 243. doi:10.2105/AJPH.93.2.243
- Hatch, S. L., & Dohrenwend, B. P. (2007). Distribution of traumatic and other stressful life events by race/ethnicity, gender, SES, and age: A review of the research. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 40(3-4), 313–332.
 doi:10.1007/s10464-007-9134-z
- Hausmann, L. R. M., Jeong, K., Bost, J. E., & Ibrahim, S. A. (2008). Perceived discrimination in health care and use of preventive health services. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 23, 1679–1684. doi:10.1007/s11606-008-0730-x
- Hausmann, L. R. M., Kressin, N. R., Hanusa, B. H., & Ibrahim, S. A. (2010). Perceived racial discrimination in health care and its association with patients' healthcare experiences: does the measure matter? *Ethnicity & Disease, 20*(1), 40–47.
 Retrieved from http://mx1.ishib.org/ED/journal/20-1/ethn-20-01-40.pdf

- Hertzman, C. (2004). The life-course contribution to ethnic disparities in health Critical perspectives on racial and ethnic differences in health in late life. In N. B.
 Anderson, R. A. Bulatao, & B. Cohen (Eds). *National Research Council (U.S.) Panel on Race, Ethnicity, and Health in Later Life*. (pp. 145–170). Washington, DC: National Academies Press. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/books/NBK25530/
- He, X. Z., & Baker, D. W. (2005). Differences in leisure-time, household, and workrelated physical activity by race, ethnicity, and education. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 20(3), 259–266. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.40198.x
- Hicken, M. T., Lee, H., Morenoff, J., House, J. S., & Williams, D. R. (2014).
 Racial/ethnic disparities in hypertension prevalence: Reconsidering the role of chronic stress. *American Journal of Public Health*, *104*(1), 117–123. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301395
- Hickson, D. M. A., Lewis, T. T., Liu, J., Mount, D. L., Younge, S. N., Jenkins, W. C., ...
 Williams, D. R. (2012). The associations of multiple dimensions of discrimination and abdominal fat in African American adults: The Jackson Heart Study. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 1–11. doi:10.1007/s12160-011-9334-5.
- Hickson, D. M. A., Roux, A. V. D., Wyatt, S. B., Gebreab, S. Y., Ogedegbe, G., Sarpong, D. F., ... Wofford, M. R. (2011). Socioeconomic position is positively associated with blood pressure dipping among African-American adults: The Jackson Heart Study. *American Journal of Hypertension, 24*(9), 1015–1021. doi:10.1038/ajh.2011.98

- Hill, L. K., Kobayashi, I., & Hughes, J. W. (2007). Perceived racism and ambulatory blood pressure in African American college students. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 33, 404–421. doi:10.1177/0095798407307042
- Hogberg, L., Cnattingius, S., Lundholm, C., Sparen, P., & Iliadou, A. N. (2011).
 Intergenerational social mobility and the risk of hypertension. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 66(6), e9. doi:10.1136/jech.2010.130567
- Holladay, J. R. (2000, November). White antiracist activism: A personal roadmap (Whiteness Paper No. 4). Crandall, Dostie & Douglass Books, Inc. Retrieved from http://www.tolerance.org/article/racism-and-white-privilege
- Holmes, L., Hossain, J., Ward, D., & Opara, F. (2013). Racial/ethnic variability in hypertension prevalence and risk factors in National Health Interview Survey. *Hypertension*, 2013, 1–8. doi:10.5402/2013/257842
- Howard, G., Cushman, M., Kissela, B. M., Kleindorfer, D. O., McClure, L. A., Safford, M. M., ... for the REasons for Geographic And Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) Investigators. (2011). Traditional risk factors as the underlying cause of racial disparities in stroke: Lessons from the half-full (empty?) glass. *Stroke*, *42*(12), 3369–3375. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.625277
- Hoyt, C. (2012). The pedagogy of the meaning of racism: Reconciling a discordant discourse. *Social Work*, *57*(3), 225–234. doi:10.1093/sw/sws009
- Hudson, D. L., Puterman, E., Bibbins-Domingo, K., Matthews, K. A., & Adler, N. E.(2013). Race, life course socioeconomic position, racial discrimination,

depressive symptoms and self-rated health. *Social Science & Medicine*, *97*, 7–14. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.07.031

- Hughey, M. W., Embrick, D. G., & Doane, A. W. (2015). Paving the way for future race research exploring the racial mechanisms within a color-blind, racialized social system. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *59*(11), 1347–1357. doi:10.1177/0002764215591033
- Hurley, L. P., Dickinson, L. M., Estacio, R. O., Steiner, J. F., & Havranek, E. P. (2010).
 Prediction of cardiovascular death in racial/ethnic minorities using Framingham risk ractors. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*, 3(2), 181–187. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.108.831073
- Isaacs, S. L., & Schroeder, S. A. (2004). Class—the ignored determinant of the nation's health. New England Journal of Medicine, 351(11), 1137–1142. Retrieved from http://depts.washington.edu/prehlth/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/Class-as-Ignored-Determinant-of-Health_NEJM.pdf
- Iton, A. (2005). Tackling the root causes of health disparities through community capacity building. *Tackling Health Inequities Through Public Health Practice*, 95, 115. Retrieved from http://chc.ucsf.edu/pdf/Iton-

Tackling%20The%20Root%20Causes%20of%20Health%20Disparities.pdf

Jackson, F. M., Rowley, D. L., & Owens, T. C. (2012). Contextualized stress, global stress, and depression in well-educated, pregnant, African-American women. *Women's Health Issues*, 22(3), e329–e336. doi:10.1016/j.whi.2012.01.003

- Jackson Heart Study. (2001, February 22). Jackson Heart Study Manual 2: Cohort procedures. Jackson Heart Study Coordinating Center. Retrieved from http://www.cscc.unc.edu/jhs/docs/manuals/m2_02222001.pdf
- James, S. A., Van Hoewyk, J., Belli, R. F., Strogatz, D. S., Williams, D. R., & Raghunathan, T. E. (2006). Life-course socioeconomic position and hypertension in African American men: The Pitt County Study. *American Journal of Public Health, 96*(5), 812–817. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2005.076158
- Johnson-Lawrence, V., Kaplan, G., & Galea, S. (2013). Socioeconomic mobility in adulthood and cardiovascular disease mortality. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 23(4), 167–171. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2013.02.004
- Johnson, R. C. (2011). The place of race in health disparities: How family background and neighborhood conditions in childhood impact later-life health. In H.
 Newburger, E. L. Birch, & S. Wachter (Eds.), *Neighborhood and life chances : how place matters in modern America*. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Jolly, S., Vittinghoff, E., Chattopadhyay, A., & Bibbins-Domingo, K. (2010). Higher cardiovascular disease prevalence and mortality among younger blacks compared to whites. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *123*(9), 811–818. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2010.04.020
- Jones, C. P. (2000). Levels of racism: A theoretic framework and a gardener's tale. *American Journal of Public Health*, *90*(8), 1212-1215. Retrieved from http://www.cahealthadvocates.org/_pdf/news/2007/Levels-Of-Racism.pdf

- Jones, C. P. (2002). Confronting institutionalized racism. *Phylon (1960-), 50*(1), 7–22. Retrieved from https://sph.umd.edu/sites/default/files/files/Jones-Confronting-Institutionalized-Racism_Phylon%202003.pdf
- Jones, C. P., Truman, B. I., Elam-Evans, L. D., Jones, C. A., Jones, C. Y., Jiles, R., ... Perry, G. S. (2008). Using "socially assigned race" to probe white advantages in health status. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 18(4), 496–504.
- Jones, D. W., Sempos, C. T., Thom, T. J., Harrington, A. M., Taylor Jr, H. A., Fletcher,
 B. W., ... Davis, C. E. (2000). Rising levels of cardiovascular mortality in
 Mississippi, 1979-1995. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences, 319*(3),
 131. doi:10.1016/S0002-9629(15)40710-4
- Jones-Jack, N. H., Jack, Jr., L., Jones, C. P., & Scribner, R. (2010). Dimensions of social inequity on African-American neighborhoods: The influence of segregation, disinvestment, and the accessibility of healthy foods. In L. Jack, Jr. (Ed.), *Diabetes in Black America: Public Health and Clinical Solutions to a National Crisis* (pp. 272–285). Munster, IN.: Hilton Publishing.
- Kapuku, G. K., Treiber, F. A., & Davis, H. C. (2002). Relationships among socioeconomic status, stress induced changes in cortisol. *The Society of Behavioral Medicine*, 24(4), 320–325.

Karlsen, S., & Nazroo, J. Y. (2002). Relation between racial discrimination, social class, and health among ethnic minority groups. *Journal Information*, 92(4).
doi:10.2105/AJPH.92.4.624
- Kauhanen, L., Lakka, H.-M., Lynch, J. W., & Kauhanen, J. (2006). Social disadvantages in childhood and risk of all-cause death and cardiovascular disease in later life: a comparison of historical and retrospective childhood information. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 35(4), 962.
- Kawachi, I., Daniels, N., & Robinson, D. E. (2005). Health disparities by race and class: Why both matter. *Health Affairs*, *24*(2), 343–352. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.24.2.343
- Kawachi, I., & Subramanuan, S. (2014). Income Inequality. In L. F. Berkman, Kawachi,
 I., & M. M. Glymour (Eds.), *Social Epidemiology* (New York, NY: Oxford
 University Press. doi:10.1093/med/9780195377903.003.0001)
- Kearney, M. S. (2006). Intergenerational mobility for women and minorities in the United States. *The Future of Children*, *16*(2), 37–53. doi:10.1353/foc.2006.0016
- Kennedy, B. M., Paeratakul, S., Ryan, D. H., & Bray, G. A. (2007). Socioeconomic status and health disparity in the United States. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 15(2), 13–23. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.166082
- Kershaw, K. N., Diez Roux, A. V., Burgard, S. A., Lisabeth, L. D., Mujahid, M. S., & Schulz, A. J. (2011). Metropolitan-level racial residential segregation and Black-White disparities in hypertension. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *174*(5), 537–545. doi:10.1093/aje/kwr116
- Kim, S. (2004). Contrasting socioeconomic profiles related to healthier lifestyles in China and the United States. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 159, 184–191. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh006

- King, D. E., Matheson, E., Chirina, S., Shankar, A., & Broman-Fulks, J. (2013). The status of Baby Boomers' health in the United States: The healthiest generation? *Journal of the American Medical Association Internal Medicine*, 173(5), 385-386. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.2006
- Kirby, J. B., Liang, L., Chen, H.-J., & Wang, Y. (2012). Race, place, and obesity: the complex relationships among community racial/ethnic composition, individual race/ethnicity, and obesity in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(8), 1572–1578. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300452
- Klag, M. J., Whelton, P. K., Coresh, J., Grim, C. E., & Kuller, L. H. (1991). The association of skin color with blood pressure in U.S. Blacks with low socioeconomic status. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 265(5), 599– 602. doi:10.1001/jama.1991.03460050053019.
- Klonoff, E. A. (2009). Disparities in the provision of medical care: an outcome in search of an explanation. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *32*, 48–63. doi:10.1007/s10865-008-9192-1
- Klonoff, E. A., & Landrine, H. (2000). Is skin color a marker for racial discrimination?
 Explaining the skin color–hypertension relationship. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 23(4), 329–338.
- Kochanek, K. D., Arias, E., Anderson, R. N., & others. (2013). NCHS Data Brief: How did cause of death contribute to racial differences in life expectancy in the United States in 2010 (No. 125). Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db125.pdf

- Kochhar, R., Taylor, P., & Fry, R. (2011). Wealth gaps rise to record highs between Whites, Blacks and Hispanics. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center. Retrieved from http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2011/07/26/wealth-gaps-rise-to-recordhighs-between-whites-blacks-hispanics/
- Kramer, M. R., Valderrama, A. L., & Casper, M. L. (2015). Decomposing Black-White disparities in heart disease mortality in the United States, 1973–2010: An ageperiod-cohort analysis. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 182(4), 302–312. doi:10.1093/aje/kwv050
- Krieger, N. (1990). Racial and gender discrimination: Risk factors for high blood pressure? *Social Science & Medicine*, 30(2), 1273–1281. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(90)90307-E
- Krieger, N. (2000). Discrimination and Health. In L. F. Berkman & I. Kawachi (Eds.), Social Epidemiology (pp. 36–75). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Krieger, N. (2012a). Methods for the scientific study of discrimination and health: An ecosocial approach. *American Journal of Public Health*, *102*(5), 936–944.
 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300544
- Krieger, N. (2012b). Who and what is a "population"? Historical debates, current controversies, and implications for understanding "population health" and rectifying health inequities. *The Milbank Quarterly*, *90*(4), 634–681. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0009.2012.00678.x

- Krieger, N., & Sidney, S. (1996). Racial discrimination and blood pressure: the CARDIA Study of young black and white adults. *American Journal of Public Health*, 86(10), 1370.
- Krieger, N., Smith, K., Naishadham, D., Hartman, C., & Barbeau, E. M. (2005).
 Experiences of discrimination: Validity and reliability of a self-report measure for population health research on racism and health. *Social Science & Medicine,* 61(7), 1576–1596. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.03.006
- Krieger, N., Waterman, P. D., Kosheleva, A., Chen, J. T., Smith, K. W., Carney, D. R.,
 ... Freeman, E. R. (2013). Racial discrimination & cardiovascular disease risk:
 My body my story study of 1005 US-Born Black and White community health
 center participants (U.S.). *PLoS ONE*, 8(10), e77174.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0077174
- Krueger, P. M., & Reither, E. N. (2015). Mind the gap: Race/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities in obesity. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 15(11). doi:10.1007/s11892-015-0666-6
- Kumanyika, S. (2012). Health disparities research in global perspective: New insights and new directions. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *33*(1), 1–5. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-112911-155504
- Kumanyika, S., & Jones, C. P. (2015, July 21). Naming and Addressing Racism: A Primer [Webinar]. Retrieved from http://apha.org/events-and-meetings/aphacalendar/webinar-events/naming-and-addressing-racism

- Kurian, A. K., & Cardarelli, K. M. (2007). Racial and ethnic differences in cardiovascular disease risk factors: a systematic review. *Ethnicity and Disease*, *17*(1), 143.
- Lamech, L. T., & Haynes, C. M. (2015). The unpredictability of prolonged activation of stress response pathways. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 209(6), 781–787. doi:10.1083/jcb.201503107
- LaVeist, T. A., Gaskin, D. J., & Trujillo, A. J. (2011, September). Neighborhood Poverty and Racial Composition Presentation. Presentation session at the 2011 Place Matters National Conference, Bellingham, WA. [PowerPoint Slides]. retrieved from

http://jointcenter.org/sites/default/files/Neighborhood%20Poverty%20and%20Ra cial%20Composition%20Presentation%20-

%20LaVeist%20Gaskin%20Trujillo_0.pdf

Laveist, T. A., Thorpe, R. J., Galarraga, J. E., Bower, K. M., & Gary-Webb, T. L. (2009).
Environmental and socio-economic factors as contributors to racial disparities in diabetes prevalence. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *24*(10), 1144-1148. doi:10.1007/s11606-009-1085-7

LeBrón, A. M. W., Schulz, A. J., Mentz, G., & White Perkins, D. (2015). John Henryism, socioeconomic position, and blood pressure in a multi-ethnic urban community. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 25(1), 24–30. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4385581/

- Lloyd-Jones, D. M., Nam, B. H., D'Agostino, R. B., Levy, D., Murabito, J. M., Wang, T. J., ... O'Donnell, C. J. (2004). Parental cardiovascular disease as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease in middle-aged adults. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 291(18), 2204-2211. doi:10.1001/jama.291.18.2204
- Logan, J. R. (2011). Separate and unequal: The neighborhood gap for Blacks, Hispanics and Asians in metropolitan America. *Project US2010 Report*. Retrieved from http://www.multiontwerp.nlmyimgwww.minoritynews.net/images/userfiles/Brow nhousingStudy.pdf
- Ludwig, J., Duncan, G. J., Gennetian, L. A., Katz, L. F., Kessler, R. C., Kling, J. R., & Sanbonmatsu, L. (2012). Neighborhood effects on the long-term well-being of low-income adults. *Science*, 337(6101), 1505–1510. doi:10.1126/science.1224648
- Lynch, J., & Kaplan, G. A. (2000). Socioeconomic Position. In L. F. Berkman & I. Kawachi (Eds.), *Social Epidemiology* (pp. 13–35). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Maas, A. H. E. M., Schouw, Y. T. van der, Regitz-Zagrosek, V., Swahn, E., Appelman,
 Y. E., Pasterkamp, G., ... Stramba-Badiale, M. (2011). Red alert for women's heart: the urgent need for more research and knowledge on cardiovascular disease in women. *European Heart Journal, 32*(11), 1362–1368. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehr048
- Mackenbach, J. D., Rutter, H., Compernolle, S., Glonti, K., Oppert, J.-M., Charreire, H., ... Lakerveld, J. (2014). Obesogenic environments: a systematic review of the association between the physical environment and adult weight status, the

SPOTLIGHT project. *BMC Public Health*, *14*, 233. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-233

Marquez, D. X., Neighbors, C. J., & Bustamante, E. E. (2010). Leisure time and occupational physical activity among racial or ethnic minorities. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *42*(6), 1086–1093.
doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181c5ec05

Marshall, S. J., Jones, D. A., Ainsworth, B. E., Reis, J. P., Levy, S. S., & Macera, C. A. (2007). Race/ethnicity, social class, and leisure-time physical inactivity. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 39(1), 44–51. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000239401.16381.37

Matthews, K. A., & Gallo, L. C. (2011). Psychological perspectives on pathways linking socioeconomic status and physical health. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *62*, 501–530. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.031809.130711

Mays, V. M., Cochran, S. D., & Barnes, N. W. (2007). Race, race-based discrimination, and health outcomes among African Americans. *The Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 201–25. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.57.102904.190212

McFayden, E. (2009, July 22). *Key factors influencing health disparities among African Americans*. Social Science Research Network. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1437507

McIntosh, P. (1989, August). White privilege: Unpacking the invisible knapsack. Peace and Freedom Magazine, pp. 10-12. Retrieved from https://www.deanza.edu/faculty/lewisjulie/White%20Priviledge%20Unpacking% 20the%20Invisible%20Knapsack.pdf

- McNeilly, M. D., Anderson, N. B., Armstead, C. A., Clark, R., Corbett, M., Robinson, E. L., ... Lepisto, E. M. (1996). The perceived racism scale: a multidimensional assessment of the experience of white racism among African Americans. *Ethnicity & Disease, 6*(1-2), 154–166.
- Mersha, T. B., & Abebe, T. (2015). Self-reported race/ethnicity in the age of genomic research: its potential impact on understanding health disparities. *Human Genomics*, 9, 1. doi:10.1186/s40246-014-0023-x
- Mildestvedt, T., & Meland, E. (2007). Examining the "Matthew Effect" on the motivation and ability to make lifestyle changes in 217 heart rehabilitation patients. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, 35*, 140–147. doi:10.1080/14034940600881930
- Mozaffarian, D., Benjamin, E. J., Go, A. S., Arnett, D. K., Blaha, M. J., Cushman, M., ...
 Turner, M. B. (2015). Heart disease and stroke statistics—2016 Update: A report
 from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 133(4), e38-e360.
 doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000350
- Muennig, P., & Murphy, M. (2011). Does racism affect health? Evidence from the United States and the United Kingdom. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law,* 36(1), 187–214. doi:10.1215/03616878-1191153
- Musa, D., Schulz, R., Harris, R., Silverman, M., & Thomas, S. B. (2009). Trust in the health care system and the use of preventive health services by older black and white adults. *American Journal of Public Health*, *99*(7), 1293-1299. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2007.123927

- Myers, H. F. (2008). Ethnicity- and socio-economic status-related stresses in context: an integrative review and conceptual model. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *32*, 9–19. doi:10.1007/s10865-008-9181-4
- National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS). (2012). *Health, United States, 2011: With special feature on socioeconomic status and health*. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/hus11.pdf
- NIH. (2011). What is physical activity? Retrieved from http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/health-topics/topics/phys/
- Non, A. L., Gravlee, C. C., & Mulligan, C. J. (2012). Education, genetic ancestry, and blood pressure in African Americans and Whites. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(8), 1559–1565. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300448
- Oakes, J. M., & Kaufman, J. S. (2006). *Methods in social epidemiology*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Office of Minority Health & Health Equity (OMHHE). (2014). CDC Black African American - Populations - Racial - Ethnic - Minorities - Minority Health. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/minorityhealth/populations/remp/black.html
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, & Flegal KM. (2014). Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the united states, 2011-2012. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, *311*(8), 806–814. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.732
- Paradies, Y. (2006). A systematic review of empirical research on self-reported racism and health. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 35(4), 888-901. doi:10.1093/ije/dyl056

- Pascoe, E. A., & Smart Richman, L. (2009). Perceived discrimination and health: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 135(4), 531–554.
 doi:10.1037/a0016059
- Payne, T. J., Wyatt, S. B., Mosley, T. H., Dubbert, P. M., Guiterrez-Mohammed, M. L., Calvin, R. L., ... Williams, D. R. (2005). Sociocultural methods in the Jackson Heart Study: conceptual and descriptive overview. *Ethnicity & Disease, 15*(4 Suppl 6), S6–38–48. Retrieved from http://ww.ishib.org/ED/journal/15-4s6/ethn-15-4s6-38.pdf
- Pensola, T. H. (2003). Cumulative social class and mortality from various causes of adult men. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 57(9), 745–751. doi:10.1136/jech.57.9.745
- Peters, R. M. (2004). Racism and hypertension among African Americans. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 26(6), 612–631. doi:10.1177/0193945904265816
- Peters, R. M. (2006). The relationship of racism, chronic stress emotions, and blood pressure. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 38(3), 234–240. doi:10.1111/j.1547-5069.2006.00108.x
- Phelan, J. C., Link, B. G., & Tehranifar, P. (2010). Social conditions as fundamental causes of health inequalities: Theory, evidence, and policy implications. *Journal* of Health and Social Behavior, 51(1 Suppl), S28–S40. doi:10.1177/0022146510383498
- Pieterse, A. L., & Carter, R. T. (2007). An examination of the relationship between general life stress, racism-related stress, and psychological health among black

men. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 54(1), 101-109. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.54.1.101

- PolicyLink. (2007). Why place & race matter PolicyLink. Retrieved from https://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/WHY_PLACE_AND_RACE%20M ATTER_FULL%20REPORT_WEB.PDF
- Pollitt, R. A., Rose, K. M., & Kaufman, J. S. (2005). Evaluating the evidence for models of life course socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular outcomes: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 5(1), 7. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-5-7
- Quinones, A. R., Liang, J., & Ye, W. (2012). Racial and ethnic differences in hypertension risk: new diagnoses after age 50. *Ethnicity & Disease, 22*(2), 175-180. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4084710/pdf/nihms-603146.pdf

- Ratcliffe, C., McKernan, S. M., & Urban Institute. (2010, June). *Childhood poverty persistence: Facts and consequences* (No. 14). Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/alfresco/publication-pdfs/412126-Childhood-Poverty-Persistence-Facts-and-Consequences.PDF
- Reis, E. C., Kip, K. E., Marroquin, O. C., Kiesau, M., Hipps, L., Peters, R. E., & Reis, S. E. (2006). Screening children to identify families at increased risk for cardiovascular disease. *Pediatrics*, *118*(6), e1789–e1797. doi:10.1542/peds.2006-0680

- Rigney, D. (2010). *The Matthew Effect: How advantage begets further advantage*. Retrieved from http://cup.columbia.edu/book/978-0-231-14948-8/the-matthew-effect
- Roberts, C. B., Couper, D. J., Chang, P. P., James, S. A., Rosamond, W. D., & Heiss, G.
 (2010). Influence of life-course socioeconomic position on incident heart failure in Blacks and Whites: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *172*(6), 717–727. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq193
- Roberts, C. B., Vines, A. I., Kaufman, J. S., & James, S. A. (2008). Cross-sectional association between perceived discrimination and hypertension in African-American men and women. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *167*(5), 624-632. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm334
- Roger, V. L., Go, A. S., Lloyd-Jones, D. M., Benjamin, E. J., Berry, J. D., Borden, W. B.,
 ... On behalf of the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke
 Statistics Subcommittee. (2012). Executive Summary: Heart disease and stroke
 statistics--2012 Update: A report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 125(1), 188–197. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e3182456d46
- Roger, V. L., Lloyd-Jones, D. M., Benjamin, E. J., Berry, J. D., Borden, W. B., Bravata, D. M., ... On behalf of the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. (2011). Heart disease and stroke statistics--2012
 Update: A report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation, 125*(1), e2– e220. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e31823ac046

- Romero, C. X., Romero, T. E., Shlay, J. C., Ogden, L. G., & Dabelea, D. (2012).
 Changing trends in the prevalence and disparities of obesity and other cardiovascular disease risk factors in three racial/ethnic groups of U.S.A adults.
 Advances in Preventive Medicine, 2012, 1–8. doi:10.1155/2012/172423
- Rosner, B., Cook, N. R., Daniels, S., & Falkner, B. (2013). Childhood blood pressure trends and risk factors for high blood pressure: The NHANES Experience 1988– 2008. *Hypertension*, 62(2), 247–254.

doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.00831

- Rothman, K. J. (2008). *Modern epidemiology* (3rd ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Safford MM, Brown TM, Muntner PM, & et al. (2012). Association of race and sex with risk of incident acute coronary heart disease events. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 308(17), 1768–1774. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.14306
- Sallis, J. F., Floyd, M. F., Rodriguez, D. A., & Saelens, B. E. (2012). Role of built environments in physical activity, obesity, and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*, 125(5), 729–737. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.969022
- Salsberry, P. J., & Reagan, P. B. (2009). Comparing the influence of childhood and adult economic status on midlife obesity in Mexican American, White, and African American women. *Public Health Nursing*, 26(1), 14–22. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1446.2008.00751.x

- Schiller, J., Lucas, J., Ward, B., & Peregoy, J. (2012). NCHS: Summary health statistics for U.S. adults: National Health Interview Survey, 2010 (No. 10(252)). Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_10/sr10_252.pdf
- Schmotzer, G. (2012). Barriers and facilitators to participation of minorities in clinical trials. *Ethnicity & Disease, 22*(2), 226–230.
- Schootman, M., Andresen, E. M., Wolinsky, F. D., Malmstrom, T. K., Miller, J. P., Yan, Y., & Miller, D. K. (2007). The effect of adverse housing and neighborhood conditions on the development of diabetes mellitus among middle-aged African Americans. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *166*(4), 379–87. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm190
- Schulz, A. J., House, J. S., Israel, B. A., Mentz, G., Dvonch, J. T., Miranda, P. Y., ...
 Koch, M. (2008). Relational pathways between socioeconomic position and cardiovascular risk in a multiethnic urban sample: complexities and their implications for improving health in economically disadvantaged populations. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, *62*(7), 638–646. doi:10.1136/jech.2007.063222
- Schulz, A., Parker, E., Israel, B., & Fisher, T. (2001). Social context, stressors, and disparities in women's health. *Journal of the American Medical Women's Association*, 56(4), 143–150.
- Schulz, A., Williams, D., Israel, B., Becker, A., Parker, E., James, S. A., & Jackson, J.
 (2000). Unfair treatment, neighborhood effects, and mental health in the Detroit metropolitan area. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 41(3), 314–32.

Retrieved from

http://www.isr.umich.edu/williams/All%20Publications/DRW%20pubs%202000/ unfair%20treatment,%20neighborhood%20effects,%20and%20mental%20health %20in%20the%20detroit%20metro%20area.pdf

- Sehgal, A. R. (2004). Overlap between whites and blacks in response to antihypertensive drugs. *Hypertension, 43*, 566–572. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000118019.28487.9c
- Sellers, S. L., Bonham, V., Neighbors, H. W., & Amell, J. W. (2009). Effects of racial discrimination and health behaviors on mental and physical health of middle-class African American men. *Health Education & Behavior*, *36*, 31–44. doi:10.1177/1090198106293526
- Sellers, S. L., Neighbors, H. W., & Bonham, V. L. (2011). Goal-striving stress and the mental health of college-educated Black American men: The protective effects of system-blame. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 81(4), 507–518. doi:10.1111/j.1939-0025.2011.01116.x
- Shapiro, T. M., Meschede, T., & Sullivan, L. (2010). *The racial wealth gap increases fourfold* (Research and Policy Brief). The Heller School for Social Policy and Management: Brandeis University. Retrieved from https://iasp.brandeis.edu/pdfs/2010/RWG FourFold.pdf

Shavers, V. L., & Shavers, B. S. (2006). Racism and health inequity among Americans. Journal of the National Medical Association, 98(3), 386. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2576116/pdf/jnma00190-0078.pdf Shaw-Ridley, M., & Ridley, C. R. (2010). The health disparities industry: Is it an ethical conundrum? *Health Promotion Practice*, 11(4), 454–464.

doi:10.1177/1524839910375612

- Shiroma, E. J., & Lee, I.-M. (2010). Physical activity and cardiovascular health: Lessons learned from epidemiological studies across age, gender, and race/ethnicity. *Circulation*, 122(7), 743–752. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.914721
- Shuey, K. M., & Willson, A. E. (2008). Cumulative disadvantage and Black-White disparities in life-course health trajectories. *Research on Aging*, 30, 200–225. doi:10.1177/0164027507311151
- Sims, M., Diez Roux, A. V., Boykin, S., Sarpong, D., Gebreab, S. Y., Wyatt, S. B., ...
 Taylor, H. A. (2011). The socioeconomic gradient of diabetes prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control among African Americans in the Jackson Heart
 Study. *Annals of Epidemiology*, *21*(12), 892–898.
 doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2011.05.006
- Sims, M., Diez-Roux, A. V., Dudley, A., Gebreab, S., Wyatt, S. B., Bruce, M. A., ... Taylor, H. A. (2012). Perceived discrimination and hypertension among African Americans in the Jackson Heart Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, *102*(S2), S258–S265. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300523
- Sims, M., Wyatt, S., Gutierrez, M. L., Taylor, H. A., & Williams, D. . (2009).
 Development and psychometric testing of a multidimensional instrument of perceived discrimination among African Americans in the Jackson Heart Study.

Ethnicity & Disease, 19(1), 56. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2724869/

- Singleton, G. J., Robertson, J., Robinson, J. C., Austin, C., & Edochie, V. (2008). Perceived racism and coping: Joint predictors of blood pressure in Black Americans. *Negro Educational Review*, 59(1-2), 93-113.
- Subramanian, S. V., Acevedo-Garcia, D., & Osypuk, T. L. (2005). Racial residential segregation and geographic heterogeneity in black/white disparity in poor selfrated health in the US: a multilevel statistical analysis. *Social Science & Medicine, 60*(8), 1667–679. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.08.040
- Subramanyam, M. A., James, S. A., Diez-Roux, A. V., Hickson, D. A., Sarpong, D., Sims, M., ... Wyatt, S. B. (2013). Socioeconomic status, John Henryism and blood pressure among African-Americans in the Jackson Heart Study. *Social Science & Medicine*, 93, 139–146. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.06.016
- Sundquist, J., Winkleby, M. A., & Pudaric, S. (2001). Cardiovascular disease risk factors among older Black, Mexican-American, and White women and men: An Analysis of NHANES III, 1988–1994. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 49(2), 109–116. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2001.49030.x
- Sundquist, K., Theobald, H., Yang, M., Li, X., Johansson, S.-E., & Sundquist, J. (2006).
 Neighborhood violent crime and unemployment increase the risk of coronary heart disease: A multilevel study in an urban setting. *Social Science & Medicine*, 62(8), 2061–2071. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.08.051

Sweet, E., McDade, T. W., Kiefe, C. I., & Liu, K. (2007). Relationships between skin color, income, and blood pressure among African Americans in the CARDIA Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 97(12), 2253-2259. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2006.088799

Tarman, C., & Sears, D. O. (2005). The conceptualization and measurement of symbolic racism. *Journal of Politics*, 67(3), 731–761. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2508.2005.00337.x

- Taylor, A. L. (2015). Racial differences and racial disparities: The distinction matters. *Circulation, 131,* 848-850. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.015358
- Taylor, H. A. (2003). Establishing a foundation for cardiovascular disease research in an African-American community--the Jackson Heart Study. *Ethnicity and Disease,* 13(4), 411–413. Retrieved from http://www.w.ishib.org/ED/journal/ethn-13-04-411.pdf
- Taylor, H. A. (2005). The Jackson Heart Study: An overview. *Ethnicity and Disease, 15*(4 Suppl 6), S6-1-3.
- Taylor, H. A., Wilson, J. G., Jones, D. W., Sarpong, D. F., Srinivasan, A., Garrison, R. J.,
 ... Wyatt, S. B. (2005). Toward resolution of cardiovascular health disparities in
 African Americans: design and methods of the Jackson Heart Study. *Ethnicity & Disease*, *15*(4 Suppl 6), S6–4–17.
- Thacker, E. L., Gillett, S. R., Wadley, V. G., Unverzagt, F. W., Judd, S. E., McClure, L.A., ... Cushman, M. (2014). The American Heart Association Life's Simple 7 and incident cognitive impairment: The REasons for Geographic And Racial

Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) Study. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, *3*(3), e000635. doi:10.1161/JAHA.113.000635

- Mississippi Department of Health. (2005, March). *The 2005 Mississippi state of the heart report*. Office of Preventive Health and Office of Health Services Data Unit and the American Heart Association, Southeast Affiliate.
- Thoits, P. A. (2010). Stress and health: Major findings and policy implications. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *51*(1 Suppl), S41–S53.
 doi:10.1177/0022146510383499
- Thomas, J., Thomas, D. J., Pearson, T., Klag, M., & Mead, L. (1997). Cardiovascular disease in African American and White physicians: the Meharry cohort and Meharry-Hopkins cohort studies. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved, 8*(3), 270–283. doi:10.1353/hpu.2010.0526
- Thorpe, R. J., Bell, C. N., Kennedy-Hendricks, A., Harvey, J., Smolen, J. R., Bowie, J. V., & LaVeist, T. A. (2015). Disentangling race and social context in understanding disparities in chronic conditions among men. *Journal of Urban Health*, *92*(1), 83–92. doi:10.1007/s11524-014-9900-9
- Thorpe, R. J., Kelley, E., Bowie, J. V., Griffith, D. M., Bruce, M., & LaVeist, T. (2015). Explaining racial disparities in obesity among men does place matter? *American Journal of Men's Health*, 9(6), 464–472. doi:10.1177/1557988314551197
- Trivedi, A. N., & Ayanian, J. Z. (2006). Perceived discrimination and use of preventive health services. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 21, 553–558. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00413.x

- Troxel, W. M., Matthews, K. A., Bromberger, J. T., & Sutton-Tyrrell, K. (2003). Chronic stress burden, discrimination, and subclinical carotid artery disease in African American and Caucasian women. *Handbook of Health Psychology, 22*(3), 300–309. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.22.3.300
- Ulbrich, P. M., Warheit, G. J., & Zimmerman, R. S. (1989). Race, socioeconomic status, and psychological distress: An examination of differential vulnerability. *Journal of Health & Social Behavior*, *30*(1), 131–46.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2010). Income & wealth: Income, poverty and health insurance Coverage in the United States: 2010. Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/newsroom/releases/archives/income_wealth/cb11-157.html
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2014). *State and County QuickFacts*. Retrieved from http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/00000.html
- Valdez, R., Greenlund, K. J., Khoury, M. J., & Yoon, P. W. (2007). Is family history a useful tool for detecting children at risk for diabetes and cardiovascular diseases?
 A public health perspective. *Pediatrics, 120*(Supplement), S78–S86.
 doi:10.1542/peds.2007-1010G

Vines, A. I., Baird, D. D., McNeilly, M., Hertz-Picciotto, I., Light, K. C., & Stevens, J. (2006). Social correlates of the chronic stress of perceived racism among Black women. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 16(1), 101-107. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2865131/

- Wamala, S. P., Lynch, J., & Kaplan, G. A. (2001). Women's exposure to early and later life socioeconomic disadvantage and coronary heart disease risk: The Stockholm Female Coronary Risk Study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *30*(2), 275–284. doi:10.1093/ije/30.2.275
- Wang, Y., & Chen, X. (2011). How much of racial/ethnic disparities in dietary intakes, exercise, and weight status can be explained by nutrition- and health-related psychosocial factors and socioeconomic status among U.S.Adults? *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 111(12), 1904–1911.

doi:10.1016/j.jada.2011.09.036

- Watson, K. E. (2008). Cardiovascular risk reduction among African Americans: A call to action. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 100(1), 18-26. doi:10.1016/S0027-9684(15)31170-6
- Weden, M. M., Carpiano, R. M., & Robert, S. A. (2008). Subjective and objective neighborhood characteristics and adult health. *Social Science & Medicine*, 66(6), 1256–1270. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.11.041
- Whitfield, K. E., Neupert, S. D., Bruce, M. A., Sims, M., Aiken-Morgan, A. T., & Thorpe, R. J. (2014). Stress, longevity and cardiovascular outcomes among African American families in the Jackson Heart Study. *Ethnicity & Disease, 24*(4), 456–461. Retrieved from http://www.ishib.org/wp-content/themes/default/journal/24-4/ethn-24-04-456abs.pdf

Wilcox, L. S. (2007). Onions and bubbles: models of the social determinants of health. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 4(4), A83. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2099281/

- Williams, D. R. (2012). Miles to go before we sleep racial inequities in health. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 53(3), 279–295. doi:10.1177/0022146512455804
- Williams, D. R., & Chung, A.M. (2004). Racism and health. Closing the Gap: Improving the Health of Minority Elders in the New Millennium, 69–80.
- Williams, D. R., & Jackson, P. B. (2005). Social sources of racial disparities in health. *Health Affairs (Millwood)*, 24(2), 325–334. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.24.2.325
- Williams, D. R., John, D. A., Oyserman, D., Sonnega, J., Mohammed, S. A., & Jackson, J. S. (2012). Research on discrimination and health: An exploratory study of unresolved conceptual and measurement issues. *American Journal of Public Health*, *102*(5), 975–978. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300702
- Williams, D. R., & Mohammed, S. A. (2008). Discrimination and racial disparities in health: evidence and needed research. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *32*(1), 20– 47. doi:10.1007/s10865-008-9185-0
- Williams, D. R., & Mohammed, S. A. (2013a). Racism and health I: Pathways and scientific evidence. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *57*(8), 1152–1173. doi:10.1177/0002764213487340
- Williams, D. R., & Mohammed, S. A. (2013b). Racism and health II: A needed research agenda for effective interventions. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 57(8), 1200– 1226. doi:10.1177/0002764213487341

- Williams, D. R., Mohammed, S. A., Leavell, J., & Collins, C. (2010). Race, socioeconomic status, and health: Complexities, ongoing challenges, and research opportunities. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1186*, 69–101. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05339.x
- Williams, D. R., & Neighbors, H. W. (2001). Racism, discrimination and hypertension:Evidence and needed research. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 11(4), 800–816.
- Williams, D. R., Neighbors, H. W., & Jackson, J. S. (2003). Racial/ethnic discrimination and health: Findings from community studies. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(2), 200–208. doi:10.2105/AJPH.93.2.200
- Williams, D. R., & Sternthal, M. (2010). Understanding racial-ethnic disparities in health:
 Sociological contributions. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 51(1 Suppl),
 S15–S27. doi:10.1177/0022146510383838
- Williams DR, & Wyatt R. (2015). Racial bias in health care and health: Challenges and opportunities. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, *314*(6), 555–556. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.9260
- Williams, D. R., Yu, Y., Jackson, J. S., & Anderson, N. B. (1997). Racial differences in physical and mental health. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 2(3), 335–351.
 doi:10.1177/135910539700200305
- Williams, R. A. (2009). Cardiovascular disease in African American women: A health care disparities issue. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 101(6), 536– 540.

- Wilson-Frederick, S. M., Thorpe Jr, R. J., Bell, C. N., Bleich, S. N., Ford, J. G., & LaVeist, T. A. (2014). Examination of race disparities in physical inactivity among adults of similar social context. *Ethnicity & Disease, 24*(3), 363. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4351739/
- Winkleby, M. A., Robinson, T. N., Sundquist, J., & Kraemer, H. C. (1999). Ethnic variation in cardiovascular disease risk factors among children and young adults: Findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. *The Journal of the American Medical Association, 28*(11), 1006–1013. doi:10.1001/jama.281.11.1006
- Wise, T. (2007, October). Tim Wise Racism, white denial & the cost of Inequality part 2 [Video file]. Video posted to https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hOB_ix10--I
- Wise, T. (2010). Tim Wise on the Tom Joyner: Health care protests? RACIST! Retrieved from http://video.google.com/videoplay?docid=-7677528555527674049#docid=-852330616834454768
- Wise, T. J., Jhally, S., Young, J. T., Rabinovitz, D., & Media Education Foundation.
 (2008). *The pathology of privilege: racism, white denial & the costs of inequality*.
 Northampton, MA: Media Education Foundation.
- Woodward, M. (2005). *Epidemiology: study design and data analysis* (2nd ed). Boca Raton: Chapman & Hall/CRC.
- World Heart Federation. (2013). Diabetes. Retrieved from http://www.world-heartfederation.org/cardiovascular-health/cardiovascular-disease-risk-factors/diabetes/

- Wyatt, S. B., Akylbekova, E. L., Wofford, M. R., Coady, S. A., Walker, E. R., Andrew,
 M. E., ... Jones, D. W. (2008). Prevalence, Awareness, Treatment, and Control of
 Hypertension in the Jackson Heart Study. *Hypertension*, *51*(3), 650–656.
 doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.100081
- Wyatt, S. B., Diekelmann, N., Henderson, F., Andrew, M. E., Billingsley, G., Felder, S.
 H., . . . Jackson, P. B. (2003). A community-driven model of research participation: the Jackson Heart Study participant recruitment and retention study. *Ethnicity & Disease*, *13*(4), 438–455.
- Wyatt, S. B., Williams, D. R., Calvin, R., Henderson, F. C., Walker, E. R., & Winters, K. (2003). Racism and cardiovascular disease in African Americans. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences, 325*(6), 315–331. Retrieved from http://www.isr.umich.edu/williams/All%20Publications/DRW%20pubs%202003/racism%20and%20cardiovascular%20disease.jackson%20heart%20study.pdf
- Yoon, S. S., Gu, Q., Nwankwo, T., Wright, J. D., Hong, Y., & Burt, V. (2015). Trends in blood pressure among adults with hypertension United States, 2003 to 2012. *Hypertension*, 65(1), 54–61. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.04012

Eligibility Form
ID NUMBER: CONTACT YEAR: 0 1 FORM CODE: ELG URSION A10/11/2000
LAST NAME:
INSTRUCTIONS: This form is to be completed for each eligible person living in the household of the sample person. ID Number, Contact Year, and Name must be entered above. Whenever numerical responses are required, enter the number so that the last digit appears in the rightmost box. Enter leading zeroes where necessary to fill all boxes. If a number is entered incorrectly, mark through the incorrect entry with an "X". Code the correct entry clearly above the incorrect entry. For "multiple choice" and "yes/no" type questions, circle the letter corresponding to the most appropriate response. If a letter is circled incorrectly, mark through it with an "X" and circle the correct response.
"We appreciate your cooperation in this important study. This will involve an interview today. At the end of

"We appreciate your cooperation in this important study. This will involve an interview today. At the end of today's interview, we will schedule an appointment for a physical examination and other tests to be conducted at a later date at the Jackson Heart Study clinic located in the Jackson Medical Mall. Do you have any questions before we begin?"

"Let me record the date and time and we will begin the interview."

1.	Date of Interview:			/			/					
		m	m		d	d		у	' Y	/	у	У
2a.	Time Interview Began:		h	:]	21	o. /	AM		A
		n	n		n	1 11	1			r IVI		r
3.	Interviewer ID #:											
4.	Record Participant's gender:							. Ma	le			М
								Ferr	nale			F

Please give me your complete date of birth. [VERIFY ELIGIBILITY. IF INELIGIBLE, SAY: "Thank you very much for your help but only people who are 35 through 84 years old are eligible for our study. The assistance of many people is important to ensure the success of the study. We would like to place you on our mailing list to receive notification of free community events and educational offerings if you would like. You can help assure the success of the study of ways such as spreading the word about the study, or volunteering a few hours of time. Additional details about how you might help, as well as a contact number, will be included in the mailing." [TERMINATE INTERVIEW. ENTER CODE "S" IN HOME INDUCTION RECORD OF CONTACT.]



ELG/Version A 10/11/2000

5b.	Is re	spondent eligible?	Yes	Y — Go to Item 6
			No	Ν
	5c.	May I send you this information on educational offerings and volunteering in the Jackson Heart Study?	Yes No	Y

IF "YES" CONCLUDE WITH: "Thank you for your time today. We look forward to having you join the Jackson Heart Study family as a supporter. You may call the Jackson Heart Study number on the brochure to discuss how you would like to help."

IF "NO" CONCLUDE WITH: "Thank you for your time today. We will send you information on free Jackson Heart Study community events. Should you decide to volunteer at a later time, feel free to call the Jackson Heart Study number on the brochure for additional information."

"Since the Jackson Heart Study is a long-term study which will include a brief telephone interview with you each year and may include a second clinic examination three years from now, I would like to ask you about your future plans."

6.	Do you have definite plans to move outside of Hinds, Madison, or Rankin county in the next year?	Yes	Y —	Read script and terminate interview
		No	N	

IF "YES" SAY: "Since the Jackson Heart Study is a long term study, and because you will be unable to participate in the follow-up due to your moving plans, we will not be able to include you in the study. Thank you for your help. If your plans change and you remain in the Jackson area, will you call the Jackson Heart Study staff to discuss your participation in the study?" [GIVE RESPONDENT JACKSON HEART STUDY BROCHURE WITH TELEPHONE NUMBER CIRCLED, WITH JACKSON HEART STUDY INTERVIEWER BUSINESS CARD ATTACHED, AND TERMINATE INTERVIEW.]

[ENTER CODE "N" IN HOUSEHOLD INDUCTION RECORD OF CONTACT (IRC)]

7.	Are you currently or have you ever been a participant of the ARIC study?		Yes	Y
		No	Ν	
		Don't know	D	



"Since heart disease often runs in families, the Jackson Heart Study includes studying families, as well as individuals. We would like to include other members of your family in this study if they are eligible. We are looking for families with 11 or more blood relatives living in Hinds, Madison, or Rankin counties. I have a few questions about relatives you might have living nearby."

10a.	Do you have any grandparents living in Hinds, Madison, or Rankin County now?	Yes	Y
	Go to Item 11a	No	Ν
	10b. How many?	(# Live	in tri-county)
11a.	Is your father alive?	Yes	Y
	Go to Item 12a	No	Ν
	11b. Does he live in Hinds, Madison, or Rankin counties?	Yes No	Y

ELG/Version A 10/11/2000

12.a Is your mother alive?			Yes	Y
	Go to Item 1	3 No	Ν	
12b. Does she live in Hinds, Madison, or Ranki	n counties?		Yes	Y
		No	N	
	Aunts (a)	Uncles (b)	# Live in tri-county (c)	# ≥ 21 years (d)
 How many aunts and uncles do you have living who are related to you by blood? 				
14. How many living, biological brothers and sisters do you have, that is with the same mother and father?	Brothers (a)	Sisters (b)	# Live in tri-county (c)	# ≥ 21 years (d)
15. How many living, half brothers and sisters do you have, that is with the same mother OR the same father?	Half Brothers (a)	Half Sisters (b)	# Live in tri-county (c)	# ≥ 21 years (d)
	Sons (a)	Daughters (b)	# Live in tri-county (c)	$\# \ge 21$ years (d)
 How many living, biological sons and daughters do you have? 				
17a. [ASK ONLY IF ITEM 16d IS "01" OR MORE. IF IT IS "00," GO TO ITEM 18.] Does the (mother/fat your children aged 21 years or older live in Hin Madison, or Rankin County?	EM 16d her) of ds,	Yes	Y	
	Go to Item 1	8 No	N	

17b.	Does (she/he) live at this address?	Yes	Y	
		No	Ν	
	17c. Has (she/he) ever been a participant in the ARIC study or Jackson Heart Study?	Yes	Y	
		No	Ν	
	17d. Does most of (her/his) family live in Hinds, Madison, or Rankin county?	Yes	Y	
		No	Ν	
18.	Nieces Ne (a) How many nieces and nephews related by blood are alive?	phews (b)	# Live in tri-county (c)	$\# \ge 21$ years (d)
	N	lumber (a)	# Live in tri-county (b)	$\# \ge 21$ years (c)
19.	How many grandchildren do you have living, who are related to you by blood?			
20a.	If your family is selected for the study, do we have your permission to contact your family members?	Yes	Y	
	Go to Item 21	— No	Ν	
	20b. Are there any family members that we should not contact?	Yes	Y	
	Go to item 21	— NO	IN	
	20c. How many family members shouldn't be contacted?			

"Now, in an effort to make sure that we do everything WITHIN OUR MEANS to make your participation in the Jackson Heart Study possible, I would like to ask you a couple of questions about your decision to take part (or not) in the study. I would also like to know about any expectations that you have as a participant so that we can attempt to better meet your needs."

21.	Before your household received the letter from th Jackson Heart Study, had you heard about the stu	e idy?	Yes	Y
		Go to Item 25	No	Ν

22. How did you hear about the Jackson Heart Study? Please tell me all the ways that apply. [READ ALL CATEGORIES TO PARTICIPANT]

													Yes	No				
		a.	A frier	nd or r	elativ	e tol	d yo	u abo	out i	:			Y	Ν				
		b.	A doct	or or ı	nurse	told	you	abo	ut it				Y	Ν				
		c.	Saw a	billboa	ard								Y	Ν				
		d.	Saw a	poster	or fly	/er							Y	Ν				
		e.	Receiv	ed a b	rochu	ire							Y	Ν				
		f.	Heard	a pres	entat	ion							Y	Ν				
		g.	Heard	about	it at o	chur	ch						Y	Ν				
		h.	Heard	about	it at v	work	C						Y	Ν				
		i.	From a	an info	rmati	ion b	ooth	n at M	/letro	o Mal	I		Y	Ν				
		j.	From a health fair or other community event								Y	Ν						
		k.	Someo you at	one car Dout it	ne to	you	r doo	or or	calle	ed to	tell		Y	N				
		I.	Heard	about	it on	radi	o or	τv					Y	Ν				
		m.	Read a	about i	t in tł	ne n	ewsp	aper					Y	Ν				
		n.	Other	(Specif	fy)								Y	N —	G.	o to Ite	m	
lf ze	ro or one "YES"	o.																
resp Go t	onse to Item 22, o Item 25																	
23.	Of all the ways would you say v decision to (tak LETTER FROM I [*]	that was te pa TEM	you he the MO art/not 22 FOR	ard ab ST imp to take (<u>MOST</u>	out th oortan e part [IMP(ne st nt in)? [R DRT/	udy, your ECOI ANT]	whie RD	: 				 					
24.	Which was the I FROM ITEM 22	LEAS FOR	T impo <u>LEAST</u>	rtant? IMPOR	[RECO TANT	DRD]	LETT	ER					 					
ELG/Vers	ion A 10/11/2000																6 of	9

25.	There are many reasons that people decide to	(take part/not to take part) in studies such as the
	Jackson Heart Study. Using the response card,	please tell me for each of these if it was very important,
	moderately important, or not important in your	decision about taking part. [READ EACH RESPONSE TO
	PARTICIPANT] [RC #1]	

		Very Important	Moderately Important	Not Important
a.	Getting free medical tests and examinations	V	М	Ν
b.	Getting information about your health	V	М	Ν
c.	Curiosity about medical research	V	М	Ν
d.	Thinking it can't hurt to give it a try	V	М	Ν
e.	Concerns about being a "guinea pig"	V	М	Ν
f.	Finding out things you don't want to know	V	М	Ν
g.	Having a regular doctor	V	М	Ν
h.	Taking part will improve your health	V	М	Ν
i.	Taking part will help people in general	V	М	Ν
j.	Not having enough time	V	М	Ν
k.	Seeing nothing in it for you	V	М	Ν
١.	Taking part will help Black people	V	М	Ν
m.	Taking part will help your family in particular	V	М	Ν
n.	Taking part will help the scientists more than your people	V	М	N
0.	Are there any other reasons involved with your decision to (take part/not take part) in studies		N	X
	such as the Jackson Heart Study?		Yes	Y
	Go	to Item 26	— No	Ν

p. Please specify the reason:

 q. Is this reason very important, moderately important, or not important in your decision about taking part?
 [RC #1] Very important

Very important	V
Moderately important	М
Not important	Ν

ELG/Version A 10/11/2000

26.	What as a p	expectations do you have participant in the Jackson Heart Study?	[IN WE	[INTERVIEWER ONLY: WERE EXPECTATIONS EXPRES:						
				Yes	Y					
				No	Ν					
27.	What study	concerns do you have about the v or coming to the clinic examination?	[IN] WE	TERVIEWER ON RE CONCERNS	NLY: 5 EXPRESSED?]					
				Yes	Y					
				No	Ν					
28.	Some with like t a volu study talk a	e people have indicated that it would help to others who have already taken part in resea he Jackson Heart Study. Would you like to h unteer who has taken part in another resear similar to the Jackson Heart Study call you bout what it is really like to be in a study?	talk rch ave ch to Go to Item 30	Yes — No	Y N					
29.	Is the	ere a particular day or time that would be be	st for you?	Yes	No					
	29a.	Weekday morning?		Y	N					
	29b.	Weekday afternoon?		Y	Ν					
	29c.	Weekday evening?		Y	Ν					
	29d.	Week-end morning?		Y	Ν					
	29e.	Week-end afternoon?		Y	Ν					
	29f.	Week-end evening?		Y	Ν					
	29g.	Specific day	Sun	day	S					
			Mon	day	М					
			Tue	sday	т					
			Wed	nesday	W					
			Thu	rsday	н					
			Frid	ay	F					
			Satu	ırday	A					
			Not	indicated	Ν					

30.	Do you have any recommendations for us on how to better recruit people like you to take part in the Jackson Heart Study?	[INTERVIEWER ONLY: WERE RECOMMENDA	TIONS EXPRESSED?]
	Juckson fical county.	Yes	Y
		No	Ν
31.	[COMPUTED FIELD. FAMILY STUDY ELIGIBILITY SCORE.]		

First Year Questionnaire	
ID NUMBER:	VERSION A 11-8-2001
LAST NAME: INITIALS:	

INSTRUCTIONS: This form should be completed during the first year annual follow-up call. ID Number, Contact Year, and Name must be entered above. Whenever numerical responses are required, enter the number so that the last digit appears in the rightmost box. Enter leading zeroes where necessary to fill all boxes. If a number is entered incorrectly, mark through the incorrect entry with an "X". Code the correct entry clearly above the incorrect entry. For "multiple choice" and "yes/no" type questions, circle the letter corresponding to the most appropriate response. If a letter is circled incorrectly, mark through it with an "X" and circle the correct response.

"Now I am going to read a list of negative or stressful events that may happen in one's life. Across America, these events are among the unfortunate things that may happen to people no matter what their circumstances in life. Studies show that these negative or stressful events may have an important effect on one's health. After each one, please tell me if it has happened to you in the last 12 months."

		<u>Yes</u>	<u>No</u>
1.	First, have you had a serious illness or injury that started or got worse in the last year?	Y	N
2.	Have you been the victim of a serious physical attack, mugging, sexual assault or other assault?	Y	N
3.	Have you been robbed or was your home burglarized?	Y	N
4.	Have you lost a loved one due to violence?	Y	N
5.	Has your house been shot at, or has there been gunfire in your neighborhood?	Y	N
6.	Has anyone close to you died?	Y	N
7.	Has a family member or close friend had a major illness or injury?	Y	N

In th	e last 12 months	Yes	<u>No</u>
8.	Have you moved to a worse residence or neighborhood?	Y	Ν
9.	Have you or anyone in your household lost a job?	Y	N
10.	Have you retired from a job when you did not want to?	Y	N
11.	Have you had a divorce or separation from your (husband/wife)?	Y	N

[FOR JHS/ARIC ONLY, SAY:] "Now I have a series of questions that are similar to ones you have just answered about your childhood experiences. Those earlier questions were for your ARIC annual follow up, while these are for JHS. Where questions are nearly identical, I will do my best to first make sure your earlier response applies without asking you the full question. Thank you for your patience."

[OR:]

[FOR JHS ONLY, SAY:] "Some studies suggest that the experiences we have in early life may be related to the occurrence of illness throughout our lives. The following questions are designed to assess some of your early life experiences. We realize these things happened long ago. Please try to remember and answer as best you can."

12.	Were your	you ra natura	aised I par	up t ents	o ag ?	e 16	by a	nyon	e otl	her t	han	 			Ye	es		Y		
															Ν	0		N	-[Go to Item 14a
13a.	Wast	hat be	ecaus	e on	e of	your	pare	ents (died,											
	beca <u>some</u>	use the other	ey <u>div</u> reas	vorce	ed or	sepa	arate	<u>d</u> , or	fror	n 		 Pa	aren	ts di	ed		,	۹ —]	
												P	aren	ts di	vorce	ed				Co to Itam 14a
												0	r sep	arat	ea			в —	TL	Go to item 14a
												0	ther	reas	on		(2		
												D	on't	Kno	w		[o —		
												R	efus	ed			I	R		
13b.	Speci	fy:																		
]		
																		1		

AF1A 11-8-2001 (050106)
[IF YES TO ITEM 12 SAY:] "The following questions refer to the persons whom you consider to be the <u>most important</u> in raising you up to age 16." [THIS CAN BE PARENTS OR ANY OTHER 2 PERSONS/CARETAKERS WHOM RESPONDENT THINKS WERE MOST IMPORTANT].

 14a. Did your father (or other important male caretaker) ever work for pay while you were growing up?
 Yes
 Y

 No
 N
 Go to Item 15a

 There was no father/male caretaker in household
 T
 Go to Item 16a

 Does not know
 D
 Go to Item 15a

14b. When you were growing up, what was your father's (or other important male caretaker's) main job (the most important one)? [PROBE FOR WHAT FATHER DID, NOT WHERE HE WORKED].

14c. What were his most important activities or duties? For example selling cars, hearing legal cases, keeping books or office work, teaching school, etc.

14d. What kind of business or industry was that? [IF UNSURE, ASK:] "What did they make or do where he worked?" [PROBE FOR NAME OF BUSINESS OR INDUSTRY]

inc	 cu.	Li iv	ODL		005	III LS	5 01	0511	· .].		

15a.	Wha (or or v	at is impo /ocat	the ł ortan iona	ighe t ma l sch	est d ile ca iool i	egre areta or co	e or ker) ollege	year <u>com</u> e?	s of plete	scho ed, in	ol yc Iclud	our fa ing t	the rade	r										
						[RE	COR	D NL	JMBE	R OF	YEA	RS F	OR (GRAD	DES 1	-12	:]							
						Sor	ne vo	ocati	onal	or tr	rade	scho	ol, ł	out n	o ce	rtific	ates			14				
						Vo	atio	nal o	or tra	de c	ertifi	cate								15				
						Sor	ne co	olleg	e, bı	ıt no	deg	ree								16				
						Ass	ocia	te de	egree	e, (ju	nior	colle	ge)	(AA c	or AS	5)				17				
						Bac	helo	r's d	egre	e (BA	A, BS	, AB)								18				
						Gra Ma	duat ster'	te or s Do	prof ctora	essio ate, N	onal 1D, J	scho D, Dl	ols DS,	(MA, DVM,	MS, etc.	.)				19				
15b.	[IF I	LESS	ТНА	N 12	2, AS	K:] I	Did h	ie co	mple	ete a	GED	?					Y	es		Y				
																	N	lo		Ν				
16a.	Did care gro	you etake wing	r mo er) ev up?	ther /er w	(or d /ork	othei for p	r imp bay w	oorta /hile	nt fe you	male were	2			Yes						Y				
	5	5	•											No						N·	-	- +- +	1 -	7-
														Thor				thor	,				em 17	a
														fema in ho	ale ca ouse	areta hold	aker	uner	/	т-	 G	o to lt	em 18	8
														Does	s not	kno	w			D -	 G	o to lte	em 17	'a
16b.	Wha gro WH	at wa wing ERE S	up?	r ma [PR VOR	in o OBE KED]	ccup FOR	atior WH4	n or j AT M	job v OTH	vhile ER D	you ID, N	were IOT	•											
					-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-		•	-	-	-	_				

16c.	What were her most important activities or duties?	

For example selling cars, hearing legal cases, keeping books or office work, teaching school, etc.

			~	·	,					
								-		

AF1A 11-8-2001 (050106)

16d. What kind of business or industry was that? [IF UNSURE, ASK:] "What did they make or do where she worked?" [PROBE FOR NAME OF BUSINESS OR INDUSTRY].

17a. What is the highest degree or years of school your mother (or important female caretaker) <u>completed</u>, including trade or vocational school or college?

[RECORD NUMBER OF YEARS FOR GRADES 1-12:]	
Some vocational or trade school, but no certificates	14
Vocational or trade certificate	15
Some college, but no degree	16
Associate degree, (junior college) (AA or AS)	17
Bachelor's degree (BA, BS, AB)	18
Graduate or professional schools (MA, MS, Master's Doctorate, MD, JD, DDS, DVM, etc.)	19
17b. [IF LESS THAN 12, ASK:] Did she complete a GED? Yes	Y N

These next questions are about the place you lived when you were growing up until age 10. I realize this was a long time ago."

18.	When you were growing up, did your parents (persons who raised you) <u>own or were buying</u> their home, <u>pay rent</u> , or had <u>some other living arrangement</u> ,		_
	such as living with relatives, etc,?	Own or buying	В
		Pay rent	R
		Some other living arrangement	0
		Unsure	U

19.	Thinking about the place you lived until you were		
	age ro, ulu it.	Yes	No
	a. have indoor plumbing?	Y	Ν
	b. have electricity?	Y	Ν
	c. and how many rooms did it have?		
20.	When you were growing up, that is up until you were 10 years old or so, did your family own or have:		

10 y	ears old or so, did your family own of have.	<u>Yes</u>	<u>No</u>
a.	a refrigerator?	Y	Ν
b.	a car?	Y	N
c.	a telephone?	Y	N
d.	a television?	Y	N
e.	air conditioning?	Y	N

21. That is all the questions I have. Do you have any other comments or questions?

ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION



Personal Data – Socioeconomic Status	
O NUMBER: O NUM	DS 20/2000
AST NAME: INITIALS:	
Now I would like to ask you a few questions about yourself. In studies like this we often compare the id then and women, young and old persons, and people of different economic backgrounds. The following	eas of

men and women, young and old persons, and people of different economic backgrounds. The following questions are designed to assess some of your current and early life experiences. We realize that many of these refer to events that happened a long time ago. Please try to remember and answer as best you can. We will start our questions by gathering information about your current occupation, education and so forth. These questions are very important to this study. Can you agree to give us this information?"

Where were you born?

Whei	re wer	e you	bor	n?																	
	1a.	City Town	or 1:																		
															 			 	_		,
	1b.	Cour	nty: .	. L																	
	1c.	State	(or	Cour	ntry	if no	t US)								 		 	 		. L	
2a.	Thin peop comi way the h peop Tell i stand in yo	k of the ole sta munit is mea nighes ole wh me a n d at the our com	nis la nd ii y in o aning t sta o ha numl nis ti mmu	adden diffe gful 1 ndin ve th ber t me in	r wit rent to yo ne lo hat r n yo	h ter ways ou. A thei west repre ur lif	n stej uniti s. Pl at ste r con stan sent e, re	ps as es. I ease p 1(nmu iding s wh lative	e repi defin are nity. in tl ere y e to d	rese e de ne it peo At s neir rou t othe	nting fine ple v step com hink r peo	y wh vhate vho 1 ar mun you ople	ere ever have e ity.								
	[SHO	W RC	#1]																		
	Spec	ify ste	ep or	ı lad	der:										 		 	 	.		
	2b.	Peop Wher think	le th າ you c of a	ink o 1 ans as yo	of th swere our co	eir ce ed th omm	omm le las junit	iunit st qu y?	ies ir estio	n dif n, w	ferer hat	nt wa did y	iys. You								
															ļ	 -					

PDS/Version A 09/20/2000

 Working now, full-time Working now, part-time B Go to item if Working now, part-time Employed, but temporarily Sick or on leave for health reasons D Unemployed, looking F Unemployed, not looking F Homemaker, not working Go to item if Retired from my usual job and not working H Retired from my usual job B E E	3.	We would like to know about the kind of work y Looking at this card, [SHOW RC #2] please tell r letter which best describes your current job?	vou do. ne the	
 Working now, part-time B Construction Employed, but temporarily laid off C Sick or on leave for health neasons D Unemployed, looking E Unemployed, not looking F Homemaker, not working Outside the home G Retired from my usual job and not working H Retired from my usual job But working for pay? [RECORD YEAR] [ENTER '9999' IF NEVER HAD A REGULAR JOB FOR PAY] 5. Are you currently working in one or more than one job? One O More than one M 6a. What (is/was) your occupation on your main job? (for example: registered nurse, personnel manager, auto mechanic, accountant, machine operator, etc.) [IF MORE THAN ONE, ASK.] Which do you consider your main coupation or job? (FORE FFOR WHAT RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE]			Working now, full-time	A Go to Item 5
Employed, but temporarily laid off C Sick or on leave for health reasons D Unemployed, looking for work E Unemployed, not looking for work F Homemaker, not working outside the home G Retired from my usual job but working for pay H Retired from my usual job but working for pay I 4. When was your last regular job for pay? [RECORD YEAR] Go to item it y y y y y [ENTER '9999' IF NEVER HAD A REGULAR JOB FOR PAY] 5. Are you currently working in one or more than one job? One O More than one M 6a. What (is/was) your occupation on your main job? (For example: registered nurse, personnel manager, auto mechanic, accountant, machine operator, etc.) IJF MORE THAN ONE, ASK:] Which do you consider your main occupation or job? IPROBE FOR WHAT RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE] Image: Page Page Page Page Page Page Page Page			Working now, part-time	B B
Sick or on leave for health reasons D Unemployed, looking for work E Unemployed, not looking for work F Homemaker, not working C Retired from my usual job and not working H Retired from my usual job but working for pay I 4. When was your last regular job for pay? [RECORD YEAR]			Employed, but temporarily laid off	С
Unemployed, looking for work E Unemployed, not looking for work F Homemaker, not working outside the home G Retired from my usual job and not working H Retired from my usual job but working for pay H 4. When was your last regular job for pay? [RECORD YEAR]			Sick or on leave for health reasons	D
Unemployed, not looking for work F Homemaker, not working G Retired from my usual job and not working H Retired from my usual job but working for pay I 4. When was your last regular job for pay? [RECORD YEAR]			Unemployed, looking for work	E
Homemaker, not working outside the home G Retired from my usual job and not working H Retired from my usual job but working for pay I 4. When was your last regular job for pay? [RECORD YEAR] Image: Content of the pay [ENTER '9999' IF NEVER HAD A REGULAR JOB FOR PAY] Co to item of y y y y y 5. Are you currently working in one or more than one job? One O More than one M 6a. What (is/was) your occupation on your main job? (For example: registered nurse, personnel manager, auto mechanic, accountant, machine operator, etc.) If MORE THAN ONE, ASK:] Which do you consider your main occupation on job? [PROBE FOR WHAT RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE] Image: Content of the part			Unemployed, not looking for work	F
Retired from my usual job and not working H Retired from my usual job but working for pay I 4. When was your last regular job for pay? [RECORD YEAR] Image: Content of the pay? IENTER '9999' IF NEVER HAD A REGULAR JOB FOR PAY] Co to Item of y y y y y 5. Are you currently working in one or more than one job? One O More than one M 6a. What (is/was) your occupation on your main job? (For example: registered nurse, personnel manager, auto mechanic, accountant, machine operator, etc.) If MORE THAN ONE, ASK:] Which do you consider your main occupation or job? [PROBE FOR WHAT RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE] Image: Provide the pay of the pay o			Homemaker, not working outside the home	G
Retired from my usual job but working for pay I 4. When was your last regular job for pay? [RECORD YEAR]			Retired from my usual job and not working	н
 4. When was your last regular job for pay? [RECORD YEAR]			Retired from my usual job but working for pay	I
5. Are you currently working in one or more than one job? One O More than one M 6a. What (is/was) your occupation on your main job? (For example: registered nurse, personnel manager, auto mechanic, accountant, machine operator, etc.) IIF MORE THAN ONE, ASK:] Which do you consider your main occupation or job? [PROBE FOR WHAT RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE] Image: Comparison of the person		[ENTER '9999' II	F NEVER HAD A REGULAR JOB FOR	PAY]
More than one M 6a. What (is/was) your occupation on your main job? (For example: registered nurse, personnel manager, auto mechanic, accountant, machine operator, etc.) IJF MORE THAN ONE, ASK:] Which do you consider your main occupation or job? [PROBE FOR WHAT RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE] Image: Description of the person of the	5.	Are you currently working in one or more than	one job? One	0
6a. What (is/was) your occupation on your main job? (For example: registered nurse, personnel manager, auto mechanic, accountant, machine operator, etc.) [IF MORE THAN ONE, ASK:] Which do you consider your main occupation or job? [PROBE FOR WHAT RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE] Image: Comparison of the person of			More than one	М
[IF MORE THAN ONE, ASK:] Which do you consider your main occupation or job? [PROBE FOR WHAT RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE]	6a.	What (is/was) your occupation on your main job (For example: registered nurse, personnel man auto mechanic, accountant, machine operator,	o? lager, etc.)	
[PROBE FOR WHAT RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE]		[IF MORE THAN ONE, ASK:] Which do you consi your main occupation or job?	der	
		[PROBE FOR WHAT RESPONDENT DOES, NOT WHERE RESPONDENT WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE]		

279

6b. (Are/were) you self-employed for this occupation? Yes

No N

Υ

7. Tell me a little more about your main job. What are your most important activities or duties? For example patient care, directing hiring policies, repairing automobiles, reviewing financial records, operating machinery, etc.)

8. What kind of business or industry (is/was) that? (For example, hospital newspaper publishing, auto repair shop, bank, etc.)

[IF UNSURE, ASK:] What do they make or do where you (work/worked)?

[PROBE FOR NAME OF BUSINESS OR INDUSTRY]

- 9a. How long (have you had/did you have) your main job? (Number of years).....
 - 9b. (Is/was) your job one that (provides/provided) regular steady work throughout the year, (is/was) it seasonal, (are/were) there frequent layoffs, or what?
 Regular, steady work
 R

 Iayoffs, or what?
 Regular, steady work
 R
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Frequent layoffs
 F
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 On't know
 D
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 9c. Specify:
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a
 Image: Go to Item 10a

 Imag

PDS/Version A 09/20/2000

10a.	Thin uner one)	king nploy for 6	over yed (i	your that i nths	r enti is loc or lo	ire w oking ongei	ork l J for ?	ife, a jol	have b bu	you t una	<u>ever</u> able	bee to fir	n 1d				(es		١	(
	0				0. 10	gei						6	io to l	tem	11		No		1	N
	10b	. Ho 6 r	w ma nontl	any ti hs? [imes SPEC	have CIFY	e you NUM	ı bee BER	en ur OF T	nemp TMES	oloye 5]	d fo	r mo	re tl	han					
11.	Ноч	v sati	isfied	l are	you	with	you	job	? Ar	e yo	u									
	10a. Thinking over your entire work life, have you ever been unemployed (that is looking for a job but unable to find one) for 6 months or longer? Yes Y Co to them 11 No N 10b. How many times have you been unemployed for more than 6 months? [SPECIFY NUMBER OF TIMES] Image: Content of the second se		5																	
															DISS	hor	lieu		L	
															Nen	nei				N
12.	Nov you you	v I wo had r <u>firs</u>	ould whei <u>t</u> full	like y n you -tim	/ou t i wer e occ	o thi e yo cupa	nk a unge tion	bout er. P or jo	the leas b wa	kinc e tell as.	l of j I me	obs what	t							
	[PRO NOT OBT	dbe f f wh fain .	FOR V Ere i Job 1	VHAT RESP(FITLE	r res Ondi]	SPON ENT	DEN WOR	t di Ked	D,											
			-												-		-	-		
13.	Pret pos the star Kee of li you you	end sible <u>best</u> ids fo ping fe ar tell are	that step poss or the in m nd ste me th now?	the s s in s sible e wor ind t ep 1 ne ste	teps your way <u>rst</u> p hat s repro	on t life. of lif ossit step esen umbo	his la The e for ole w 10 re ts yo er th	adde ten you ay o epre ur <u>w</u> at be	er sta th st i and f life sent: <u>corst</u> est d	and f ep s l the for s you way escr	or 10 tand first you. ur <u>be</u> of li ibes	0 s for step <u>st</u> wa fe, w when	ay rill re							
	[SHO	OW R	C #3]														Г		_
	Spe	cify s	step o	on la	dder	:												L		
14.	Wou des	ıld yo cribe	ou pl s wh	ease ere y	tell ou w	me t /ere	he st ten y	ep n ears	umb ago	oer tl ?	nat b	est						_		
	Spe	cify s	step o	on la	dder	:												[
PDS/Ve	rsion A	09/20/	2000																	

15.	Will you please tell m describes where you	e the step number that best would <u>like</u> to be next year?		
	Specify step on ladde	r:		
16.	Will you please tell m describes where you	e the step number that best <u>expect</u> to be next year?		
	Specify step on ladde	r:		
17.	How disappointed wo you could never react be <u>very disappointed</u> , <u>disappointed</u> , or <u>not</u> .	uld you be if you found out n (STEP # IN Q#15)? Would y fairly disappointed, slightly at all disappointed?	that you (Very disappointed Fairly disappointed	V F
			Slightly disappointed	S
			Not at all disappointed	Ν
18a.	What is the highest d <u>completed</u> , including [IF CURRENTLY ENRO	egree or years of school you trade or vocational school o	i have or college? -	
	COMPLETED OR HIGH	IEST DEGREE RECEIVED.]	E	
	COMPLETED OR HIGH	[RECORD NUMBER OF YEAR	E IS FOR GRADES 1–12:]	
	COMPLETED OR HIGH	EST DEGREE RECEIVED.] [RECORD NUMBER OF YEAR Some vocational or trade s	E IS FOR GRADES 1-12:] chool, but no certificates	14
	COMPLETED OR HIGH	[RECORD NUMBER OF YEAR Some vocational or trade so	E IS FOR GRADES 1-12:] chool, but no certificates ate	14
	COMPLETED OR HIGH	[RECORD NUMBER OF YEAR Some vocational or trade so Vocational or trade certifica	E IS FOR GRADES 1–12:] chool, but no certificates ate ee	14 15 16
	COMPLETED OR HIGH	[RECORD NUMBER OF YEAR Some vocational or trade so Vocational or trade certification Some college, but no degre Associate degree, (junior co	E IS FOR GRADES 1–12:] chool, but no certificates ate ee ollege) (AA or AS)	14 15 16 17
	COMPLETED OR HIGH	[RECORD NUMBER OF YEAR Some vocational or trade so Vocational or trade certific Some college, but no degre Associate degree, (junior co Bachelor's degree (BA, BS, J	E IS FOR GRADES 1–12:] chool, but no certificates ate ee ollege) (AA or AS) AB)	14 15 16 17 18
	COMPLETED OR HIGH	[RECORD NUMBER OF YEAR Some vocational or trade so Vocational or trade certific Some college, but no degre Associate degree, (junior co Bachelor's degree (BA, BS, J Graduate or professional so Master's Doctorate, MD, JD	E IS FOR GRADES 1–12:] chool, but no certificates ate ee ollege) (AA or AS) AB) chools (MA, MS, , DDS, DVM, etc.)	14 15 16 17 18 19
	COMPLETED OR HIGH	[RECORD NUMBER OF YEAR Some vocational or trade so Vocational or trade certifica Some college, but no degre Associate degree, (junior co Bachelor's degree (BA, BS, a Graduate or professional so Master's Doctorate, MD, JD	E IS FOR GRADES 1–12:] chool, but no certificates ate cee ollege) (AA or AS) AB) chools (MA, MS, o, DDS, DVM, etc.) a GED? Yes	14 15 16 17 18 19 Y

19a.	Have outsic	you de of	com forn	plete nal s	d an choo	y otł ol pro	ner ti ograi	raini ms? .	ng o	r edu	catio	on 			 Ye	s	Y	
												Go	to lte	em 20	— N	0	N	
	19b.	Spec	ify:															

20. [DO NOT ASK; REFER TO SOCIAL SUPPORT FORM]

HAS RESPONDENT EVER HAD SPOUSE OR CURRENT HAS SPOUSE/PARTNER?]	ΈLΥ	Yes	Y
	Go to Item 24	- No	Ν

21. [SELECT APPROPRIATE WORDING]

Is your (husband/wife/partner) presently working for pay?

OR

Did your (husband/wife/partner) ever	work for pay?	Yes, currently	Y
		Yes, in the past	Ρ
	Go to Item 23a	No	Ν

22a. What (is/was) (his/her) occupation or main job? (For example: registered nurse, personnel manager, auto mechanic, accountant, machine operator, etc.)

[PROBE FOR WHAT SPOUSE/PARTNER DOES, NOT WHERE SPOUSE/PARTNER WORKS, OBTAIN JOB TITLE]

22b. What are/were (his/her) most important activities or duties? (For example patient care, directing hiring policies, repairing automobiles, reviewing financial records, operating machinery, etc.)

PDS/Version A 09/20/2000

22c. What kind of business or industry (is/was) that? (For example, hospital newspaper publishing, auto repair shop, bank, etc.)

[IF UNSURE, ASK:] What do they make or do where your (spouse/partner) (works/worked)?

[PROBE FOR NAME OF BUSINESS OR INDUSTRY]

23a. What is the highest degree or years of school your (husband/wife/partner) ever <u>completed</u>, including trade or vocational school or college?

[IF CURRENTLY ENROLLED, MARK HIGHEST GRADE COMPLETED OR HIGHEST DEGREE RECEIVED]

RECORD NUMBER OF YEARS FOR GRADES 1-12	
Some vocational or trade school, but no certificates	14
Vocational or trade certificate	15
Some college, but no degree	16
Associate degree, (junior college) (AA or AS)	17
Bachelor's degree (BA, BS, AB)	18
Graduate or professional school (MA, MS, Master's Doctorate, MD, JD, DDS, DVM, etc)	19

23b. [IF LESS THAN 12, ASK:] Did (he/she) complete a GED?Yes Y No N

PDS/Version A 09/20/2000

_

"The following questions have to do with family finances. We know from other research that financial strain is common and very important to consider in understanding people's health. These questions will help give a picture of the various financial situations experienced by persons in the Jackson Heart Study. I want to remind you that key information you provide is strictly confidential and will never be identified with you as an individual."

24. Are you or your family renting, buying (paying a mortgage), or do you own (paid off) the house or Ρ apartment where you live now? Pays rent Buying (paying a mortgage) В Owns 0 Neither owns nor pays rent Ν Don't know D Do you own or are buying/leasing one or 25. 0 more cars? Yes, one Yes, more than one Μ No Ν Suppose you needed money quickly and you cashed in 26. all of your (and your spouse's/ partner's) checking and savings accounts, cars, jewelry, or other possessions and any stocks, bonds, or real estate (other than your principal home). If you added up what you get, about how much would it amount to? Just give me your best estimate from the list. [HAND RC #4] \$0 – 499 А \$500 - 999 В \$1,000 - 4,999 С \$5,000 - 9,999 D \$10,000 - 19,999 Ε \$20,000 - 49,999 F \$50,000 - 99,999 G \$100,000 - 199,999 н \$200,000 or more I Don't know 1 Refused К

27. In the past year, did you or anyone living in your household receive any income from the following sources?

	YES	NO/ <u>DON'T KNOW</u>	REFUSED
27a. Investments?	Y	Ν	R
27b. Social Security?	Y	Ν	R
27c. Worker's Compensation?	Y	Ν	R
27d. Unemployment Compensation?	Y	Ν	R
27e. ADC or AFDC? (Aid to Dependent Children)	Y	Ν	R
27f. Food Stamps?	Y	Ν	R
27g. Other Welfare Programs?	Y	Ν	R
27h. Supplemental Security Income (SSI)?	Y	Ν	R
27i. Gambling?	Y	Ν	R

28a. Now, thinking of all these sources as well as money from jobs, income from a business, or farm, rent from property, social security or retirement benefits, help from friends or family, or any other income not reported, what was your total combined family income before taxes in (YEAR)? Using this card [RC #5] tell me the letter that most closely matches your total combined family income.





PDS/Version A 09/20/2000

29.	How much of that income do you contribute? Using this card tell me the letter that most closely matches your total income before taxes in (year).			
	[HAND RC #5]	Less than \$5,000	A	٩
		\$5,000 - 7,999	E	3
		\$8,000 - 11,999	C	5
		\$12,000 - 15,999	[)
		\$16,000 - 19,999	E	:
		\$20,000 - 24,999	F	:
		\$25,000 - 34,999	C	5
		\$35,000 - 49,999	ŀ	ł
		\$50,000 - 74,999	I	
		\$75,000 to 99,999	J	
		\$100,000 or more	k	(
		Don't know	L	-
		Refused	Ν	N
30.	On average, how many people, including yourself does your total family income support?			
	Number of persons:			
31a.	Including yourself, how many people lived in your house during the past 12 months?			
	Number of persons:			

31b. Of these, how many are under the age of 18?	
Number of persons:	

PDS/Version A 09/20/2000

32. [SHOW RC #6] Now, think of a ladder with 10 steps representing where people stand in the United States. At step 10 are the people who are the best off—those who have the most money, the most education and the most respected jobs. At step 1 are the people who are the worst off—who have the least money, least education, and the worst jobs or no job. The higher up you are on this ladder, the closer you are to the people at the very top, and the lower you are, the closer you are to the people at the very bottom. Where would you place yourself on this ladder? Tell me a number that represents where you think you stand at this point in time relative to other people in the United States.

Specify number of step:		

ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION

33.	Date of data collection:			/			/					
		m	m		d	d		У	У	У	У	
34.	Code number of person completing th	nis fo	orm:									



Appendix D: JHS Sitting Blood Pressure Form

C. PREL	IMINARY MEASUREMENTS
6.	Right Arm Circumference (cm):
7.	Cuff Size: {arm circumference in brackets} Small adult {<24 cm} S
	Regular Arm {24-32 cm} R
	Large Arm {33-41 cm}
	Thigh {>41cm} T
8.	Heart Rate (30 seconds):
9a.	Time of Day: : : 9b. AM A h h m m PM P
10.	Pulse Obliteration Pressure:
11.	Maximum Zero:
12.	+ 3 0 Peak Inflation Level
	{ComputationItem #10 + Item #11 + 30}:
D. FIRST	
13.	Systolic:
14.	Diastolic:

15. Zero Reading:.....

SBP/Version A 04/03/2000

E. SECOND BLOOD PRESSURE MEASUREMENT

16.	Systolic:		
	•		
17.	Diastolic		
18.	Zero Reading:		

F. COMPUTED NET AVERAGE OF FIRST AND SECOND BLOOD PRESSURE MEASUREMENTS (See Worksheet)

19.	Systolic:		
20.	Diastolic:		

G. ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION

21.	Date of data collection:			/			/				
		m	m		d	d		у	у	У	у

22.	Method of Data Collection:	Computer	С
		Paper Form	Р

23.	Code number of person completing this form:		

SBP/Version A 04/03/2000

WORKSHEET FOR COMPUTING AVERAGE OF 1ST AND 2ND READINGS (ITEMS 19 AND 20)

		SYSTOLIC		DIASTOLIC	
First M	easurement	(#	¢13)		(#14)
1st Zer	o Reading	- (#	¢15) –		(#15)
	First Corrected				
Second Measuren	nent	(#	16)		(#17)
2nd Zero	Reading	(#	18)		(#18)
	Second Corrected				
Average Corrected	d	(#	19)		(#20)

Appendix E: JHS Medication Survey Form

PCK50	Medication Surv	vey Form			
ID N			CONTACT YEAR:	0 1	FORM CODE: MSR VERSION A 09/25/2000
LAST			INI	TIALS:	
INS put and wh inc thr At Me and A.	TRUCTIONS: This form is completed during the particip pose. If the paper form is used for data collection, data Name are entered above. Whenever numerical respon rere necessary to fill all boxes. If a number is entered in prrect entry. For "multiple choice" and 'yes/no" type quough it with an "X" and circle the correct response. The reception station, verify that the medication bag is of dications until the participant has signed the informed dications are coded by trained field center personnel af I coder are recorded in the appropriate locations. RECEPTION	pant's clinic visit in several stages by appropriat a are keyed into the data entry system as soon a ises are required, enter the number so that the l icorrectly on a paper form, mark through the co justions, circle the letter corresponding to the n clearly identified with the participant's name and consent. The transcription section of Section B ter the transcription and interview portions have	tely trained persons at th as possible following its ast digit appears in the rrect entry with an "X". nost appropriate respons d ID number. Do not op- is completed while the pe been completed. Code	e workstations id completion. ID N rightmost box. Et Code the correct code the correct see. If a letter is cil en the medication participant procee: numbers of the i	entified for this umber, Contact Year, iter leading zeros intry clearly above the rcled incorrectly, mark bag or transcribe ds with the visit. nterviewer, transcriber
1.	Did you bring all the medications you used in two weeks, or their containers? This includes prescription medications, all over-the-counte medications, all vitamins, minerals, herbs and supplements?	the past 5 all r dietary Go to Item 3a and transcribe those medications which were brought at this time.	Yes, all Some of No	Go to Item 4: Beg participant procees Y them S N	in transcription while ds with clinic visit.
2.	Is this because you forgot, because you have any medications at all in the last two weeks, o you could not bring your medications?	not taken r because	Took no medication Forgot or was unabl bring medications	is T le to F	Go to Item 31a
MSR/V	rsion A 09/25/2000				1 of 15

 3a. Could we follow up on this after the visit so that we can get the information from the (other) medication labels? [EXPLAIN FOLLOW-UP OPTIONS]
 Yes
 Y

 ATTEMPT TO CONVERT REFUSALS; INDICATE ON ITINERARY FORM
 No or not applicable
 N

 3b. Describe method of follow-up to be used:
 State
 State

"That's alright. Since the information on medications is so important, we would still like to ask you about it during the interview."

	 	 	 	_	_	 _	 	_		
									-	_

B. MEDICATION TRANSCRIPTION

Transcribe the <u>NAME</u> followed by the <u>CONCENTRATION and INSTRUCTIONS FOR ADMINISTRATION</u> of each medication in the spaces below. List all ingredients for nutritional supplements OR make a copy of label and affix to form (continue on the second line if needed).

DON'T KNOW - D	<u>UMBER</u>
4	
Y N D	
5	
YND	

MSR/Version A 09/25/2000

	A MEDICATION NAME	B CONCENTRATION	C INSTRUCTIONS FOR ADMINISTRATION	"Die This <u>IN PAS</u>	D YOU T, MEDICA T 24 HO	E CODE NUMBER	
				YES DON	– Y, NO 'T KNOV	– N V – D	
6				Y	N	D	
7							
-				Y	Ν	D	
8				Y	N	D	
-						5	
9				Y	N	D	
10							
- 10.				Y	Ν	D	
11							
-				Y	Ν	D	
12							
-				Y	Ν	D	

	A MEDICATION NAME	B CONCENTRATION	C INSTRUCTIONS FOR ADMINISTRATION	"Dii This <u>IN Pas</u>	D YOU T, MEDICA ST 24 HC	AKE TION DURS?"	E CODE NUMBER
				YES DON	– Y, NO 'T KNOV	– N V – D	
13				Y	N	D	
14							
_				Y	Ν	D	
15				V			
				Ŷ	N	D	
16				Y	N	D	
17				Y	N	D	
18.							
				Y	Ν	D	
19							
_				Y	Ν	D	

	A MEDICATION NAME	B CONCENTRATION	C INSTRUCTIONS FOR ADMINISTRATION	"DII THIS <u>IN PAS</u>	D YOU T, MEDICA ST 24 HC	AKE TION DURS?"	E CODE NUMBER
				YES DON	- Y, NO I'T KNOV	– N V – D	
20							
_				Y	Ν	D	
21							
_				Y	Ν	D	
22.							
_				Y	Ν	D	
23.							
_				Y	N	D	
24							
				Y	N	D	
25							
25				Y	N	D	
_							
26				v	N	D	
_						D	

27.	Total number of medications in bag:								[
28.	Number of medications unable to transcribe:								[
Cod	e numbers of person transcribing and coding medications:										
	29a. Transcriber code number:										
	29b. Medication coder code number:										
	29c. Date of medication coding:	m	m	/	d	d	/	у	y	у	y
C.	INTERVIEW										
"Nov	v I would like to ask about a few specific medications."										
Were [IF Y	any of the medications you took during the past two weeks for: ES, VERIFY THAT MEDICATION NAME IS ON MEDICATION RECORD.]										Don't
							<u>Yes</u>		<u>No</u>		Know
	30a. High blood pressure?						Y		Ν		D
	30b. High blood cholesterol?						Y		N		D

30c. Angina or chest pain?Y N

MSR/Version A 09/25/2000

6 of 15

D

27.	Total number of medications in bag:									[
28.	Number of medications unable to transcribe:									[
Code	numbers of person transcribing and coding medications:												
	29a. Transcriber code number:												
	29b. Medication coder code number:												
	29c. Date of medication coding:	m	n	ן ו	/	d	d	/	y	y	у	y	
C.	INTERVIEW												
"Nov	I would like to ask about a few specific medications."												
Were [IF Y	any of the medications you took during the past two weeks for: ES, VERIFY THAT MEDICATION NAME IS ON MEDICATION RECORD.]												
								Yes		<u>No</u>		Don <u>Kno</u>	w
	30a. High blood pressure?							Y		Ν		D	
	30b. High blood cholesterol?							Y		N		D	

30c. Angina or chest pain?Y N

MSR/Version A 09/25/2000

6 of 15

D

	<u>Yes</u>	No	Don't <u>Know</u>
30d. Control of heart rhythm?	Y	Ν	D
30e. Heart failure?	Y	Ν	D
30f. Blood thinning?	Y	N	D
30g. Diabetes or high blood sugar?	Y	N	D
30h. Stroke?	Y	Ν	D
30i. Leg pain when walking?	Y	N	D

D. MEDICATION-TAKING BEHAVIORS

"There are many things that keep people from taking medicines exactly as prescribed. I am going to read a list of typical reasons people have for not taking prescribed medicines. For each reason I list, please tell me if you have not taken a prescribed medicine for this reason."

		Reason Indicated	Not a <u>Reason</u>	Don't <u>Know</u>
31a.	You were in a hurry, too busy, or forgot	Y	Ν	D
31b.	It was inconvenient, for example, the medication needed to be refrigerated, or had to be taken with food	Y	N	D
31c.	You thought the medication wouldn't do you any good	Y	N	D

MSR/Version A 09/25/2000

	Reason Indicated	Not a <u>Reason</u>	Don't <u>Know</u>
31d. The medication made you feel bad	Y	N	D
 If you took the medication, you wouldn't be able to carry out your normal activities—for example, driving 	Y	N	D
31f. You thought you might become addicted or hooked on the medication	Y	N	D
31g. You don't like to take medicine	Y	N	D
31h. You were trying to do without it	Y	N	D
31i. You did not have money to purchase the medication (or its refills)	Y	N	D
31j. Did not have the medication available	Y	N	D
31k. Are there any other reasons why you haven't taken a prescribed medication?	Y	N	D Go to Item 32
311. If yes, specify reason:			

E. ASPIRIN AND NSAID USE

32.	During the past two weeks, did you take any aspirin, Alka-Seltzer, cold medicine or headache powder?	Yes	Y
	Co to Item 35a	No	N
	oo to kein ssa	Don't know	D

"Next I would like to ask you about your <u>regular</u> use of aspirin alone or an aspirin-containing medication, for example, aspirin+caffeine+codeine. By regular, I mean at least once a week for several months."

33.	Are you NOW taking aspirin, or a medicine containing aspirin, on a regular basis? This does not include Tylenol nor Advil		. Yes	Y
	٦	Co to Item 35a	No	Ν
	l		Don't know	D
34a.	What is the strength of aspirin in the pill? [CHECK THE PREPARATION, IF AVAILABLE: OTHERWISE SHOW RC #1]	Less than 300 mg (B	aby)	А
		300 – 499 mg (Regu	ar)	В
		500 mg or greater (E	xtra strength)	С
		Don't know		D
	34b. How many days a week, on average, are you taking this medication?			Days
	34c. How many pills are you taking <u>per week</u> , on average?			Pills
	34d. For what purpose are you taking this medication?	Participant menti heart attack or st	oned to avoid roke	н
		Participant did Ne avoid heart or att	OT mention to ack or stroke	0
MSR/V	ersion A: 09/25/2000			

	34e. When did you start taking aspirin, or a medicine containing aspirin, on a regular basis?												m	/	y	y	y	,	у													
35a.	Exce othe arthr inclu Felde	pt fo r no ritis ide l ene a	or asp n-ste medi bupro and C	oirin eroida cines ofen, Clinor	or Tr al an on Adv il	yleno ti-in a rec il, N	ol, ar Iflam gular uprir	e yo mat bas	ou NG tory d sis? I otrin	DW ta drugs Exam , Nap	king or ples	g yn,	 	 								Ye	s					Y				
															[G	o to	ltem	36a	Н		No) 					N				
	35b.	Wh [CF	at is IECK	the b THE	ranc PREF	i nar PARA	ne of TION	f the	e mee AVA	dicine ILABI	e? _E] .		 	 	 					Ibı Ot	ipr her	ofe	n or	Adv	vil			I O	 Go	to Ite	em 3!	ōd
	35c.	lf "(Othe	r", sp	ecify	<i>ı</i> :																										
]											
]											
	35d. 35e.	Hov ave Wh on	w ma rage en di a reg	ny pi ? d you Jular	lls p J sta basi	er w .rt ta s?	eek a	are [IN	you t SERT	akin <u>c</u> NAM	g, or E]	۱ 	 	 	 					m	r	 n	/	у	у	 y	Pill	s y				

F. FOLK MEDICINE

"Other than medicines prescribed by your doctor or health professional, what other home remedies, teas, roots or herbs have you used in the last 2 weeks for medical reasons only: Have you used..."

36a. Vinegar?	Yes	Y
Go to Item 37a	— No	Ν
36b. How many days during the past 2 weeks?		Days
36c. For what purpose?		
37a. Epsom Salts?	Yes	Y
Go to Item 38a	- No	Ν
37b. How many days during the past 2 weeks?		
		Days
37c. For what purpose?		

MSR/Version A 09/25/2000

38a.	Lemo	on ju	lice	or lei	mon?	•						 	 	 		 				····· `	Yes		Y
																Go	to It	em 39	9a -	- 1	No		Ν
	38b.	Hov	w ma	ıny d	lays (durin	g the	pas	st 2 w	/eek:	s?	 	 	 		 						Di	ays
	38c.	For	wha	t pu	rpose	e?			1					1	1				1	T			
39a.	Garlio	c?										 	 	 		 Ga	to It	em 4	0a	, — I	Yes No		Y N
	39b.	Hov	w ma	ıny d	lays (durin	g the	pas	st 2 w	/eek:	s?	 	 	 		 						D	ays
	39c.	For	wha	t pu	rpose	e?						 	 	 		 							

. Teas	?																					
																Go	to It	em 4	la	 No		I
40b.	Hov	w ma	ıny d	ays (durin	g t	the	pas	t 2 v	veek	s?	 	 	 	 					 	. Da	ys
40c.	For	wha	t pui	pose	e?																	
40d.	Spe	ecify	type			_						 	 	 	 					 		
a. Root	s?											 	 	 	 					 Yes		
a. Root	s?											 	 	 	 	Go	o to lt	 em 4	2a -	 Yes No		
a. Root	s?											 	 	 	 	Ga	to It	em 4	2a -	 Yes No		
a. Root 41b.	s? Hov	w ma		ays (durin		the	pas	t 2 v	veek	s?	 	 	 	 	Ga	to It	em 4	2a -	 Yes No	. Da	ys
a. Root 41b. 41c.	s? Hov For	w ma	ıny d	ays o	durin 2?		the	pas	t 2 v	veek	s?	 	 	 	 	Ga	to It	em 4	2a -	 Yes No	. Da	ys
a. Root 41b. 41c.	Hov For	w ma	ıny d t pur	ays o	durin e?		the	pas	t 2 v	veek	s?	 	 	 	 	Ga) to lt	em 4	2a -	 Yes No	. Da	ys

42a.	lave you taken any other home remedies, teas, roots r herbs in the last 2 weeks?		Yes	Y
		Go to Item 43a	- No	N
	22. How many days during the past 2 weeks?		Day	/5
	2c. For what purpose?			
	22d. Specify type:			
43a.	lave you ever used any other home remedies, teas,			
	oots, herbs or other medicines?		Yes	Y
		Go to Item 44	- No	Ν
	3b. Was this for your heart or for other symptoms?		Heart	H — Go to Item 43d
			Other	0
	3c. For what other symptoms?			

	43d. About how often would you say you have used any of these remedies? Would you say <u>daily</u> , weekly, several times a month, monthly, several		
	[SHOW RC #2]	Daily	D
		Weekly	W
		Several times a month	S
		Monthly	М
		Several times a year	т
		Yearly	Y
		Rarely	R
		Almost never	А
		Never	Ν
G.	ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION		

MSR/Version A 09/25/2000
Discrimination For	rm	FORM CODE: DIS									
	NTACT YEAR: 0 1	VERSION A 10/24/2000									
LAST NAME:	INITIALS:										
INSTRUCTIONS: This form should be completed during the participulation of the state	pant's clinic visit. ID Number, Cont red, enter the number so that the la xes. If a number is entered incorre he incorrect entry. For "multiple ch response. If a letter is circled inco	act Year, and Name ist digit appears in the ctly, mark through the oice" and "yes/no" type rrectly, mark through it									
"These next questions have to do with things that may have happened to you and the way you have been treated over your lifetime. We know from other research that experiences of unfair treatment are common and very important to consider in understanding people's health. These questions will give a picture of the various kinds of experiences of people in the Jackson Heart Study. There are no right or wrong answers; only your experiences. I want to remind you that any information you provide is strictly confidential and will never be identified with you as an individual. Let's start with experiences you may have had on a day-to-day basis."											
 Using the responses on this card, tell me how often each of the following things happen to you in your day-to-day life. Just tell me the letter beside the 											
response that most closely matches your experience. [HAND RC #1]	. Several times a day	A									
	Almost every day	В									
	At least once a week	C									
	A few times a month	D									
	A few times a year	E									
	Less than a few times a year	F									
	Never	G									

How often on a day-to-day basis do you have the following experiences? [CIRCLE CODE]

1a.	You are treated with less courtesy than other people A	В	С	D	E	F	G
1b.	You are treated with less respect than other people A	В	с	D	E	F	G

DIS/Version A 10/24/2000

You receive poorer service than others at restaurants	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
People act as if they think you are not smart	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
People act as if they are afraid of you	A	В	с	D	E	F	G
People act as if they think you are dishonest	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
People act as if they think you are not as good as they are	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
You are called names or insulted	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
You are threatened or harassed	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
	You receive poorer service than others at restaurants People act as if they think you are not smart People act as if they are afraid of you People act as if they think you are dishonest People act as if they think you are not as good as they are You are called names or insulted You are threatened or harassed	A - B - C - D - E - G - You receive poorer service than others at restaurants	A - Several B - Almost C - At leas D - A few t E - A few t F - Less th G - Never You receive poorer service than others at restaurants	A - Several times a B - Almost every of C - At least once a D - A few times a E - Afew times a F - Less than a few G - Never You receive poorer service than others at restaurants	A - Several times a day B - Almost every day C - A few times a month E - A few times a year F - Less than a few times G - Never You receive poorer service - A few times a year F - Less than a few times G - Never You receive poorer service - A few times a year F - Less than a few times G - Never	A - Several times a day B - Almost every day C - At least once a week D A few times a month E - A few times a year F - Less than a few times a year G - Never You receive poorer service - A than others at restaurants	A - Several times a day B - Almost every day C - At least once a week D - A few times a month E - A few times a year F - Less than a few times a year G - Never You receive poorer service - A Han others at restaurants

If all responses in Item 1 are "NEVER," Code G, then go to Item 4a

2 of 12

DIS/Version A 10/24/2000

2a. Thinking over these day-to-day experiences, what is the main reason for this treatment?

Your age	Α
Your gender	B
Your race	C Go to Item 3a
Your height or weight	D
Some other reason for discrimination	E

2b. Specify other reason:

3a. And when you receive lesser or unfair treatment in your day-to-day life, do you usually:

Speak up	Α
Accept it	в ———
lgnore it	c
Try to change it	D
Keep it to yourself	Е ———
Work harder to prove them wrong	F Co to Item 4a
Pray	G
Avoid it	н ———
Get violent	ı ——
Forget it	J
Blame yourself	к
Other	L

3b. Specify other:



3 of 12

"Now let's talk about things that may have happened over your lifetime because of such issues as your race, ethnicity, gender, age, religion, physical appearance, sexual orientation, or other characteristics."

4a.	Have train teach were	you ever felt unfairly treated at school or durin ing? (For example, you were discouraged by a ner or advisor from seeking higher education, denied a scholarship, etc.)	g	Yes		Y
			Go to Item	No		Ν
	Over	your entire life, how many times has this happe	ened?			
	4b.	Specify number of times:			times	
	Wher	n was the last time?				_
	4c.	Specify years ago:			years	
	4d.	Specify months ago:		n	nonths	
5a.	Have (For you o	you ever felt unfairly treated in getting a job? example, you were not hired or you were told could not apply.)	Go to Item 6a	Yes No		Y N
	Over	your entire life, how many times has this happe	ened?			
	5b.	Specify number of times:			times	
	Wher	n was the last time?				
	5c.	Specify years ago:			/ears	
	5d.	Specify months ago:		n	nonths	

6a. Have you ever felt unfairly treated at work? DIS/Version A 10/24/2000

	(For example, you were not promoted, you were overworked or hassled, you were fired or you		
	were unable to get health insurance.)	Ye	es
	No	Ν	
	Go to Item 7a Never worked	W	/
	Over your entire life, how many times has this happened?		1
	6b. Specify number of times:		
		times	
	When was the last time?		
	6c Specify years ago:		
		years	
	Γ		1
	6d. Specify months ago:		
		months	
7a.	Have you ever felt unfairly treated in getting housing or finding a place to live? (For example, you were prevented from renting or buying a home in the neighborhood you wanted or you were prevented from remaining in a neighborhood because neighbors made life so uncomfortable.)	s Y	
	Go to Item — No) N	l
	Over your entire life, how many times has this happened?		
	7b. Specify number of times:	times	
	When was the last time?		
	7c. Specify years ago:	years	
	7d. Specify months ago:	months	

 Have you ever felt unfairly treated in getting resources or money? (For example, you were denied a bank loan, DIS/Version A 10/24/2000

5 of 12

Y

	a cre	dit card or some other form of credit.)		.Yes	١
			Go to Item	No	١
	Over 8b.	your entire life, how many times has this happe Specify number of times:	ened?	tir	mes
	Whe	n was the last time?			
	8c.	Specify years ago:		y y	ears
	8d.	Specify months ago:		mo	nths
9a.	Have (For care, getti spec	e you ever felt unfairly treated in getting medica example, you were denied or provided inferior r , you were made to wait long periods of time be ng care or you could not get care from a medica ialist such as a heart doctor.)	l care? medical fore al Go to Item 10a	Yes No	۲ ۲
	Over	your entire life, how many times has this happe	ened?		
	9b.	Specify number of times:			imes
	Whe	n was the last time?			
	9c.	Specify years ago:			years
	9d.	Specify months ago:			onths

10a. Have you ever felt unfairly treated on the street or in a public place? (For example, you were hassled by the

DIS/Version A 10/24/2000

	police, were the target of public ridicule, etc.)	Yes		Y	
		Go to Item	No		Ν
	Over your entire life, how many times has this ha	opened?			_
	10b. Specify number of times:			times	
	When was the last time?				_
	10c. Specify years ago:				
			_	years	_
	10d. Specify months ago:			months	
11a.	Have you ever felt unfairly treated in getting servi (For example, you were denied or provided inferior service by a plumber, in a restaurant, the grocery or by some other service provider.)	ces? or store, 	Yes		Y N
	Over your entire life, how many times has this ha	opened?	_		_
	11b. Specify number of times:			times	
	When was the last time?			times	
	11c. Specify years ago:				
				years	_
	11d. Specify months ago:			months	
				monuis	
12a.	In addition to these areas we have talked about, h you been treated unfairly in any other ways?	nave	Yes		Y
		Go to Item	13a No		Ν
	12b. Specify:				
	Over your entire life, how many times has this ha	ppened?		 	
DIS/Ver	sion A 10/24/2000				

12c. Specify number of times:	times							
When was the last time?								
12d. Specify years ago:	years							
12e. Specify months ago:	months							
If all responses in Items 4a-12a are "NO" or "NEVER WORKED" (Item 6a), go to Item 15								

13a. Thinking about the most recent of these experiences over your lifetime, what was the main reason for the discrimination you experienced?



13b. Specify other reason:

14. What did you do? Did you do that a lot, some, or a little?

DIS/Version A 10/24/2000

8 of 12

	N.	IF YES		
14a. Speak up?	Yes	Y 14a1		GIVEN TO RESPONSE
	No	Ν	A lot	A
			Some	В
			A Little	С
14b. Accept it?	Yes	IF YES Y 14b1	. [CIRCLE VALUE	GIVEN TO RESPONSE]
	No	Ν	A lot	A
			Some	В
			A Little	С
14c. Ignore it?	Yes	Y 14c1	[CIRCLE VALUE	GIVEN TO RESPONSE]
	No	Ν	A lot	A
			Some	В
			A Little	С
		IF YFS		
14d. Try to change it?	Yes	Y 14d1	. [CIRCLE VALUE	GIVEN TO RESPONSE]
	No	Ν	A lot	A
			Some	В
			A Little	С
		IF YFS		
14e. Keep to yourself?		Yes Y	14e1. [CIRO	CLE VALUE GIVEN TO
	No	N	A lot	А
			Some	В
			Some A Little	B C
			Some A Little	B C
14f. Work harder to prove them wrong?	Yes	$\gamma \xrightarrow{IF YES} 14f1.$	Some A Little [CIRCLE VALUE 0	B C GIVEN TO RESPONSE1
14f. Work harder to prove them wrong?	Yes No	Y <u>IF YES</u> 14f1. N	Some A Little [CIRCLE VALUE (A lot	B C GIVEN TO RESPONSE] A
14f. Work harder to prove them wrong?	Yes No	y <u>IF YES</u> 14f1. N	Some A Little [CIRCLE VALUE 0 A lot Some	B C GIVEN TO RESPONSE] A B
14f. Work harder to prove them wrong?	Yes No	Y <u>−IF YES</u> 14f1. N	Some A Little [CIRCLE VALUE (A lot Some A little	B C GIVEN TO RESPONSE] A B C

9 of 12

14g.	Pray?	Yes	Y _	IF YES	14g1.	[CIRCLE VALUE	GIVEN TO RESPONSE]
		No	Ν			A lot	A
						Some	В
						A Little	С
14h.	Avoid it?	Yes	Υ_		14h1.	[CIRCLE VALUE	GIVEN TO RESPONSE]
		No	Ν			A lot	A
						Some	В
						A Little	С
14i.	Get violent?	Yes	Υ_	→	14i1.	[CIRCLE VALUE C	IVEN TO RESPONSE]
		No	Ν			A lot	А
						Some	В
						A Little	С
				IF YES			
14j.	Forget it?	Yes	Υ		14j1.	[CIRCLE VALUE C	IVEN TO RESPONSE]
		No	Ν			A lot	A
						Some	В
						A Little	С
				IF YES			
14k.	Blame yourself?	Yes	Υ	\longrightarrow	14k1.	[CIRCLE VALUE (GIVEN TO RESPONSE]
		No	Ν			A lot	A
						Some	В
						A Little	С
				IF YES			
141.	Other?	Yes	Y _	\longrightarrow	1411.		IVEN TO RESPONSE]
	Go to Item 15	No	N			A lot	A
						Some	В
						A Little	С

Did you do that a lot, some, or a little?

DIS/Version A 10/24/2000

10 of 12

14m. Specify other:

15.	Thinking back over these types of experiences, compared with when you were younger, are the experiences more frequent, less frequent, or			
	about the same?	More fi	requent	A
		Less fr	equent	В
		About	the same	С
16.	When you have had experiences like these over your lifetime, would you say they have been very			
	stressful, moderately stressful, or not stressful?	Very st	ressful	A
		Modera stressf	ately ul	В
		Not str	essful	С
17.	Overall, how much has discrimination interfered with you having a full and productive life? Would you say			
	<u>a lot, some, a little, or not at all?</u>		A lot	A
			Some	В
			A little	С
			Not at all	D
18.	Overall, how much harder has your life been because of discrimination? Would you say a lot, some, a little,			
	or not at all?	· · · · · · · · · ·	A lot	А
			Some	В
			A little	С
			Not at all	D

DIS/Version A 10/24/2000

19.	Because of the shade of your skin color, do you think white people treat you a lot better, somewhat better,		
	other Blacks?	A lot better	А
		Somewhat better	В
		No different	С
		Somewhat worse	D
		A lot worse	Е
20.	Because of the shade of your skin color, do you think Black people treat you a lot better, somewhat better, no different somewhat worse or a lot worse than		
	other Blacks?	A lot better	А
		Somewhat better	В
		No different	С
		Somewhat worse	D
		A lot worse	Е
ADM	INISTRATIVE INFORMATION		

21.	Date of data collection:			/			/				
			m		d	d		У	у	У	У
22.	Method of data collection:					(Comp	outer			С
						F	Paper	forn	n		Ρ
23.	Code number of person completing this	forr	n:								

Appendix G: JHS Mauscript Proposal Form

Jackson Heart Study Manuscript Proposal Form

Please read JHS Publications & Presentations protocol before completing this

proposal.

ADMINISTRATIVE USE

JHS MS #

Date of Submission: ____(mm/yy) Date of Approval: ____(mm/yy)

PART I. OUTLINE OF PAPER

1. Title Information

- **a. Proposal Title:** The Moderating Effects of Socioeconomic Status (SES) Mobility and Lifetime Exposure to Discrimination on Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) Occurrence in the Jackson Heart Study
- **b.** Abbreviated Title: Moderating Effects of SES Mobility and Racism on CVD Occurrence

c. Suggested key words: Childhood SES, Adult SES, SES Mobility, Perceived Lifetime Racism, Hypertension, CVD, African Americans, JHS.

2. Lead Author Name: Nkenge H. Jones-Jack, MPH

Institutional Affiliation: Walden University, School of Health Sciences, Public Health Doctoral Program Address: 155 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 100, Minneapolis, MN 55401 Telephone: 678-524-1147 Fax: N/A Email: nkenge.jack@waldenu.edu

3. Co-authors: (Proposed co-authors email address and/or telephone numbers and proposed <u>responsibilities</u> and/or indicate specific <u>writing assignments</u>. Items not assigned to a co-author are assumed to be the responsibility of the lead author. Non –JHS Lead authors are encouraged to visit the JHS Website

<u>http://www.jsums.edu/~jhs/</u> for information on <u>relevant JHS investigators</u>. JHS may nominate additional author if special expertise for interpreting JHS data is needed).

Name	Contact Information	Responsibilities
Angela W.	angela.prehn@waldenu.edu	Supervise study, assist with the
Prehn, PhD		concept and design of the study,
		critically review and edit draft
		manuscript
Mario Sims,	msims2@umc.edu	Interpret results, reviewing, and
PhD*		editing drafts of the manuscript
Jamuir	JaMuir.Robinson@email.waldenu.edu	Interpret results, reviewing, and
Robinson,		editing drafts of the manuscript
PhD		
DeMarc A.	demarc.a.hickson@jsums.edu	Interpret results, reviewing, and
Hickson,		editing drafts of the manuscript
PhD		

Name(s) of JHS investigators from the writing group list above: Mario Sims, DeMarc A. Hickson

Name(s) of under-represented minorities from the writing group list above: Nkenge Jones-Jack, JaMuir Robinson, Mario Sims, DeMarc A. Hickson

4. Background/Rationale:

Socioeconomic status (SES) has been well-documented as a strong predictor of adverse cardiovascular health outcomes. SES is frequently based on several parameters beyond income and education, and interacts with complex demographic, environmental, and social attributes which further attribute to adverse health outcomes (I. Kawachi et al., 2005; Wamala et al., 2001). Several studies have provided evidence linking economic disadvantage during early life as being strongly linked to adverse adult health outcomes (Hogberg et al., 2011; James et al., 2006; Johnson-Lawrence, Kaplan, & Galea, 2013; Hardaway & McLoyd, 2008; Pollitt et al., 2005). A recent study comparing the SES trajectories of adults from Alameda County for nearly 30 years found that as SES improved over the lifecourse, cardiovascular disease (CVD) mortality risk decreased, even after adjusting for age, race/ethnicity, marital status, and gender (Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013). Another study conducted among a group of Black men in Pitt County, North Carolina found more than 7 times greater risk of hypertension among a stable low SES group compared to a stable high SES group (James et al., 2006). Many studies typically compare only unwavering low and high SES trajectories (Pollitt et al., 2005); little empirical evidence was found to assess how improved or diminished SES mobility is associated with CVD risk factors or CVD morbidity and mortality. In studies that did

assess trends of upward and downward mobility, many researchers agreed that individuals of high and increasing SES had lower health risk (Johnson-Lawrence et al., 2013; Hogberg et al., 2011; James et al., 2006). For example, in the Pitt County study, individuals with downward mobility had almost 6 times greater hypertension risk, whereas those with upward mobility were less than 4 times greater risk of hypertension compared to the stable high SES group (James et al., 2006). However, Hardaway et al. (2008) argued that SES mobility studies have not adequately considered the significance of race in SES mobility or as a proxy of SES. For example, Roberts et al. (2010) found that not only were Blacks more likely to be exposed to low SES during early life, but they were also more likely to experience a higher prevalence of CVD risk factors regardless of early life SES compared to their White counterparts. Meaning that even Blacks of high summary SES experienced greater incidence of heart failure than Whites of low summary SES. This provides evidence that exploring differences SES mobility alone will not explain the Black-White differences observed in CVD health outcomes.

Jones (2000) illustrated that perceived racial discrimination occurs at multiple levels and contributes to inequities in the allocation of services, goods and resources, and health outcomes. Some researchers argue that although lower SES is not definitively responsible for social stressors (e.g., racism), it has been strongly suggested that the stressors associated with lower SES often directly or indirectly influence health and well-being (Thoits, 2010). At all levels of SES, African Americans are impacted by chronic social and economic stressors, such as racial discrimination, more frequently than whites (Hatch & Dohrenwend, 2007; David R. Williams & Mohammed, 2008). Research has shown that African Americans of higher SES more frequently report experiences of perceived racial discrimination (Sims et al., 2012), though gender differences exist (Dailey, Kasl, Holford, Lewis, & Jones, 2010). Researchers have also explored various approaches of how the stress related to experiences of perceived racial discrimination may transcend multiple aspects of an individual's life (e.g., residentially segregated communities; stereotypical or derogatory media portrayals; level of control or flexibility at work; availability, quality, and affordability of resources and services; understanding of cultural differences). Of greater concern are the multiple pathways through which racial discrimination affects health (Brondolo, Gallo, et al., 2009). Two aspects of racial discrimination that will be address in this study are perceived lifetime exposure and burden. Perceived lifetime racial discrimination is the cumulative exposure to either negative or differential treatment or judgement an individual of a certain racial/ethnic population perceives that they have experienced over their lifetime compared to other racial/ethnic groups. Burden refers to the extent to which racial discrimination exposure has made an individual's life stressful, more difficult, and less productive over the course of their lifetime

While several studies have examined the impact of these key constructs on hypertension and CVD outcomes independently, Hardaway et al. (2008) acknowledges the failure to understand that the consequences of racial discrimination on social mobility creates unique challenges for African Americans. Furthermore, there is very little research available to explain the multiple aspects of racial discrimination using a multidimensional instrument. The study conducted by Sims et al. (2012) is one of the first studies to examine the impact of multiple measures of lifetime discrimination exposure and burden on hypertension among Blacks; however this study does not measure lifetime racism discrimination exposure or the burden at different levels of SES mobility. Exploration of these measures of SES mobility can further guide understanding of how CVD health disparities manifest in this population. Because African American may experience different levels of SES mobility and different levels of lifetime racial discrimination simultaneously, it is important to investigate how these factors moderate the extent to which hypertension contributes to the CVD health disparities observed among Blacks in the Jackson Heart Study (JHS) both independently and collectively. The objective of this study is to investigate how African Americans in the JHS cohort experience perceived racial discrimination at different levels of SES mobility, and how the interaction between SES mobility and perceived racial discrimination (SES-Racism Effect) is associated with prevalent and incident CVD.

5. Research Hypotheses/Research Questions:

RQ1: What is the relationship between levels of SES mobility, as measured by the change in SES from childhood to adulthood, and levels of lifetime discrimination attributed to race, as measured by the cumulative occurrence of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race?

Hypothesis 1: Increasing levels of SES mobility will be associated with decreasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race after adjusting for the following covariates, identified based on previous studies and determined to have a statistical association (p<0.20) in the current sample: BMI (kg/m²), smoking status, physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol consumption, diet, total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and John Henryism, financial adversity/stress, and job strain.

Null Hypothesis 1: There will be no association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race after adjusting for identified covariates.

If an association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race is identified, the following subhypotheses will also be tested (Figure 1):

Hypothesis 1b: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race will be inversely moderated by age.

Hypothesis 1c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime exposure attributed to race will be more strongly moderated by males than females.



Figure 1. Causal pathway between Levels of SES Mobility and Levels of Perceived Lifetime Racial Discrimination moderated by Age and Gender.

RQ2: What is the relationship between levels of SES mobility, as measured by the change in SES from childhood to adulthood, and levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race, as measured by the extent of life stressfulness, difficulty, and productivity as a result of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race?

Hypothesis 2: Increasing levels of SES mobility will be associated with decreasing levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race after adjusting for identified covariates.

Null Hypothesis 2: There will be no association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race after adjusting for the following covariates, identified based on previous studies and determined to have a statistical association (p<0.20) in the current sample: BMI (kg/m²), smoking status, physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol consumption, diet, total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and John Henryism, financial adversity/stress, and job strain.

If an association between levels of SES mobility and levels burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination is identified, the following subhypotheses will also be tested (Figure 2):

Hypothesis 2b: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race will be inversely moderated by age.

Hypothesis 2c: The association between levels of SES mobility and levels of burden of lifetime discrimination attributed to race will be more strongly moderated by males than females.



Figure 2. Causal pathway between Levels of SES Mobility and Levels of Burden Attributed to Lifetime Racial Discrimination moderated by Age and Gender.

RQ3: Do the levels of the SES mobility, cumulative perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, or burden moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease?

Hypothesis 3: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is inversely moderated by increasing levels of SES mobility. Null Hypothesis 3: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is not moderated by increasing levels of SES mobility.

Hypothesis 3b: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is positively moderated by increasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race.

Null Hypothesis 3b: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is not moderated by increasing levels of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race.

Hypothesis 3b: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is positively moderated by increasing levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination.

Null Hypothesis 3b: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is not moderated by increasing levels of burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination.



Figure 3. Causal pathway between hypertension and CVD outcomes moderated by levels of the SES mobility, perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, or burden.

RQ4: If a relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime discrimination exposure attributed to race is found, does the interaction of these variables (i.e., SES-Racism Effect) moderate the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular disease?

Hypothesis 4: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is positively moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.

Null Hypothesis 4: The relationship between hypertension and CVD is not moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.



Figure 4. Causal pathway between hypertension and CVD outcomes moderated by the SES-Racism Effect.

6. Data: (Visits and variables to be used, sample inclusions/exclusions)

Data from the baseline examination (Visit 1) and CVD events (2000-2010).

Inclusion criteria include participants who attended the baseline examination conducted between September 2000 and March 2004 of the JHS.

Exclusion criteria include participants with missing discrimination, hypertension, CVD outcomes, and demographic data will be excluded from this study analysis. In addition, participants that were identified by Sims et al. (2012) to attribute their lifetime discrimination exposure to nonracial factors were also excluded from analysis to align with the research questions, which are specifically centers around factors related to racial based discrimination.

Dependent variables

In this study, we will examine the following outcomes:

RQ1: Cumulative perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure is the frequency of discrimination exposures, as a measure of the number of times discrimination is perceived, will be summed across nine domains (i.e., school, getting a job, at work, getting housing, getting money or resources, getting medical care, in a public place, getting services, or in some other environment).

RQ2: Cumulative burden attributed to perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure will be determined by combining scores for perceived burden to racial discrimination for the three domains: stress experienced, interfered with having full life, and made life difficult.

RQ3 and RQ4: CVD events observed during the period of risk (2000-2010), including fatal and nonfatal myocardial infarction, coronary insufficiency (prolonged angina with documented electrocardiographic changes), heart failure, and stroke;

Independent variables

The independent variables used in analysis are based on a calculated measure of varying time periods. These variables will be measured at baseline only, and therefore specified as fixed and assumed to maintain a consistent value throughout the duration of the study period.

2. Childhood Socioeconomic Status (Collected during Year 1 Annual Follow Up)

- 1. Childhood material resources (number of rooms, availability of plumbing, TV, Car, air conditioning, phone, electricity, and refrigerator)
- 2. Father's and Mother's education
- 3. Father's and Mother's occupation

3. Adult Socioeconomic Status (Collected during Baseline Exam)

1. Adult education (<high school, high school/GED, some college, and college graduate)

- 2. Adult income (low, lower-middle, upper-middle, and affluent)
- 3. Adult occupation (Production/construction, sales, services, and professionals)

4. SES or SES Mobility

SES mobility will be determined by combining scores for childhood SES and adulthood SES, and then dichotomizing as high or low to create four non-overlapping SES mobility scores as follows:

- 1. Stable High (HH) (Childhood high, Adult high)
- 2. Diminishing (HL) (Childhood High, Adult low)
- 3. Increasing (LH) (Childhood low, Adult high)
- 4. Stable Low (LL) (Childhood low, Adult low)

The Stable High group is expected to have the lowest risk, followed by Increasing, and Diminishing. The Stable Low group is expected to have the greatest risk. In studies that assessed trends of upward and downward mobility, researchers agreed that individuals of high and increasing SES had lower health risk. If review of the data indicates that inadequate sample sizes are available for testing each of these subgroups, categories will be collapsed into High (including Stable High and Increasing) and Low (Stable Low and Diminishing).

5. Cumulative Racial Discrimination

Cumulative discrimination values will be determined for exposure to lifetime discrimination attributed to race and burden of lifetime discrimination independently.

Cumulative Lifetime Racial Discrimination Exposure - The frequency of discrimination exposures, as a measure of the number of times discrimination is perceived, will be summed across nine domains (i.e., school, getting a job, at work, getting housing, getting money or resources, getting medical care, in a public place, getting services, or in some other environment) to create the cumulative racial discrimination score. A scatterplot will be used to examine the distribution of the scores before determining categorical levels.

Cumulative Burden Attributed to Lifetime Racial Discrimination - A burden score will be determined by combining scores for perceived burden to racial discrimination for the three domains: stress experienced, interfered with having full life, and made life difficult. The cumulative value for burden due to racial discrimination, ranging between 4 and 16 will be dichotomized into lower and upper strata (based on the median). These strata for discrimination burden represent the potential overall impact of racism burden (low vs. high) on JHS participants.

6. Hypertension Status

Hypertension is determined as the presence or absence of elevated blood pressure based on whether or not the average systolic blood pressure was 140mmHg or greater, and diastolic blood pressure was 90mmHg or greater, or using of anti-hypertensive meds (Sims et al, 2012).

Covariates

The following variables will be used as covariates in this study: BMI (kg/m²⁾, smoking status, physical activity score, diabetes status, alcohol consumption, diet, total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and John Henryism, financial adversity/stress, and job strain.

Each covariates will independently be tested for collinearity. Variables determined to have high multicollinearity may be either eliminated or combined to create a composite index variable, depending on empirical justification. Covariates will be added last to each model to determine the presence of confounding.

7. Brief Statistical Analysis Plan and Methods: (Including power calculations, if necessary.)

Similar to a previously conducted study, participants will be excluded from analysis if all discrimination data (n=283), education (n=20), or hypertension (n=59) are missing, providing a final sample size of 4939 participants (Sims et al., 2012). To align with the research questions, participants that were identified by Sims et al. (2012) to attribute their lifetime discrimination exposure to nonracial factors were also excluded from analysis (n=1626). Preliminary "posteriori" power analysis was conducted using G*Power 3.1.7 to determine the feasibility of the JHS sample in addressing the proposed research questions. Given that the sample size for the study is known (n=3313), a posteriori power analysis was used to determine whether or not the sample provides adequate power for the study. A multiple regression design was selected to solve for power based on a sample size of 3300, and using a two-sized ttest with an alpha significance level of 0.05 (JHS Coordinating Center, 2008). The analysis controlled for SES and racism as independent variables, and accounted for the adjustment of the 12 identified covariates. The analysis revealed that this study has more than adequate statistical power (80%) to detect a small effect (0.10) of SES mobility and racial discrimination on the relationship between hypertension and CVD (Research Question 3). Further study analysis (including central tendencies) will be conducted using SPSS.

Analysis for Research Questions 1 and 2

RQ1 aims to explore the relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, and factors (i.e., age and gender) that may moderate the relationship. Similarly, the aim of RQ2 is to explore the relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime racial discrimination burden. As such, the following analysis plan will be applied to both questions. Multinominal logistic regression will be used to measure the linear relationship between the levels of perceived lifetime racism and levels of SES mobility, and how the relationship is influenced by age and gender. First, a chisquare test will be applied to the categorical variables, based on the appropriate degrees of freedom (df), to determine whether or not the distributions of SES mobility levels and racial discrimination patterns are statistically independent, with p-values (0.05) included to illustrate significance. This strategy will be applied to each moderator and covariate to evaluate the contribution in the overall relationship. Only covariates with a bivariate association with the dependent variable at p<0.20 will be included in the multivariate model, suggested to be a standard practice. Moderators and covariates will be fit to the logistic model in a stepwise fashion. Model 1 for both research questions includes the independent and dependent variables (i.e., SES mobility and perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure/burden, respectively). The evaluated covariates will be introduced as blocks in successive models; the stepwise addition will begin with demographics followed by adjustment for lifestyle behaviors, risk factors, and then other social stressors. Included in the output will be a parameter estimates table, which generates the B coefficient and p-value, and a classification table, which determines the accuracy of the model. If the p-value is less than the significance level of p < 0.05, the H1a_{Null} hypothesis will be rejected; it will be concluded that a relationship between levels of SES mobility and levels of perceived lifetime racism exists.

Finally, if the regression analysis produces a large standard error or B coefficient, additional analysis will be conducted to investigate problems that may not be detected by SPSS version 21.0 (e.g., multicollinearity). A scatterplot will be used to detect whether or not the relationship between the independent and dependent variables monotonically increases or decreases (i.e., in a manner may or may not be linear), and to identify possible outliers.

Analysis for Research Questions 3 and 4

RQ3 aims to explore if the relationship between hypertension and CVD end points is moderated by levels of SES mobility, perceived lifetime racial discrimination, or burden. Each of these moderators will be modeled separately. In addition, RQ4 investigates whether the relationship between hypertension and CVD cumulative incidence is moderated by the SES-Racism Effect. Since the hypotheses for both research questions have the same independent and dependent variables, the overall plan of analysis (Cox regression) will be the same. Cox regression of CVD cumulative incidence observed during the period of risk will be used to explore the influence of multiple variables on survival time. Estimating the potential impact of social constructs over the lifecourse (i.e., levels of SES mobility, levels of perceived lifetime racial discrimination, burden, and SES-Racism Effect) will provide increased understanding of for whom or under what conditions relationship between hypertension and CVD outcomes may change.

For RQ3, Cox regression models will be used to analyze the association between all independent variables (levels of SES mobility, levels of perceived lifetime discrimination attributed to race, and burden due to racial discrimination) to determine which of these factor has the most robust relation to risk for CVD events, adjusting for covariate factors. Additional Cox regression models will examine the extent to which SES-Racism Effect determines the occurrence of CVD events. Bivariate analysis will be conducted to describe the direction and extent of each association, statistical significance, and intercorrelations among independent and dependent variables. Only covariates with a bivariate association with the dependent variable at p<0.20 will be included in the model. Moderators and covariates will be fit to the cox regression model in a stepwise fashion. Three primary models will be analyzed including the independent and dependent variables (i.e., hypertension and CVD, respectively), with each model examining the independent interaction of each moderator (i.e., levels of SES mobility, levels of perceived lifetime racial discrimination exposure, and burden attributed to lifetime racial discrimination). In addition, the evaluated covariates will be introduced as blocks in successive models; the stepwise addition will begin with demographics followed by adjustment for lifestyle behaviors, risk factors, and then other social stressors. The hazard ratios for risk of CVD will be presented in a table will be used to illustrate differences across models. Consideration for time-dependent effects will be made. If the p-value is less than the significance level of p<0.05, the H1a_{Null} hypothesis will be rejected; it will be concluded that a relationship between respective independent and dependent variables exists.

8. References: (Maximum 15)

PART II. AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

- 9 Have all co-authors reviewed and approved this document? $\underline{\mathbf{X}}$ Yes (required)
- 10. Does the lead author (or designee) agree to present findings at a JHS Colloquium or Seminar? <u>X</u> Yes (required)

Note: <u>A lay summary</u> is required when submitting the completed manuscript draft for JHS and NHLBI approvals.

PART III. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

11. Type of Study: X Full Cohort Family Study Ancillary Study Case Control Other (list):
12. Type of Data:
\underline{X} Longitudinal \underline{X} Cross-Sectional Other (list):
13. Location of Statistical Analysis: X Central (by Jackson Heart Study Staff) Local (list site)
14. Genetic Information:
 a. Do you propose use of data from a participant's DNA? Yes (see b) X No
 b. If yes, for a primary aim or secondary aim of JHS? (check one or both) Primary Aim (heart, vascular disease) Secondary Aim (other conditions)

15. Conflict of Interest

a. Are these analyses to involve a for-profit corporation? ____Yes X_No b. Do you or any member of your Writing Group intend to patent any process, aspect of outcome of these analyses? ____Yes X_No

16. Data Sharing Agreement

Do you agree to have the Lead Author and any co-authors who will have direct access to JHS data sign the JHS Data Sharing Agreement once it has been approved? X_Yes (Required)

17. JHS Manuscript Overlap

The Lead Author has reviewed all existing JHS manuscripts / manuscript proposals and found:

a. No similar manuscripts / proposals <u>X</u>Yes

b. The following manuscripts / proposals with similarities: (List MS # title and Lead Author below)

18. Note: Completion of manuscript preparation is expected in <u>less than three years</u>. The manuscript proposal will expire if no manuscript draft is submitted for JHS review at the end of the three years from date of approval. If additional time is needed after three years, please contact JHS for extension.

Appendix H: Reprint Permission from Annual Review of Public Health



Permission Not Required

Material may be republished in a thesis / dissertation without obtaining additional permission from Annual Reviews, providing that the author and the original source of publication are fully acknowledged.



Copyright © 2016 <u>Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.</u> All Rights Reserved. <u>Privacy statement</u>. <u>Terms and Conditions</u>. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>

Appendix I: Reprint Permission from Sage Publications



Gratis Reuse

Permission is granted at no cost for use of content in a Master's Thesis and/or Doctoral Dissertation. If you intend to distribute or sell your Master's Thesis/Doctoral Dissertation to the general public through print or website publication, please return to the previous page and select 'Republish in a Book/Journal' or 'Post on intranet/password-protected website' to complete your request.



Copyright © 2016 <u>Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.</u> All Rights Reserved. <u>Privacy statement</u>. <u>Terms and Conditions</u>. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>